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Introduction

David Colburn

FEW READERS are likely to realize that Africans were the among the first nonnative peoples to set foot in Florida. The free black conquistador Juan Garrido arrived with Juan Ponce de Leon’s expedition in 1513, after having served with other Africans in the earlier explorations and the conquest of Hispaniola and Puerto Rico. Africans were, in fact, part of all the Spanish expeditions in Florida, and they helped assure the success of the Spanish settlement established at St. Augustine in 1565. Almost two hundred years later Africans and African Americans developed the first free black town within the present boundaries of the United States, Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose, which stood two miles north of St. Augustine and was for some time the northernmost outpost of the Spanish empire.

African American history in Florida continued to be a rich and diverse one in the post-Spanish era. With the advent of a United States territorial government, and later statehood, and with the growth of plantation agriculture, African Americans experienced a decline in their living conditions and had fewer opportunities for freedom. But they struggled, nonetheless, to negotiate the terms of their labor and the ways in which they conducted their lives. During the Civil War, for example, enslaved Floridians fled bondage and joined Union forces in order to secure freedom of those still enslaved. Despite the restrictions imposed by postwar segregation, black Floridians shaped their own lives and helped develop communities in the new urban centers of Tampa, Jacksonville, and Miami during the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries. While continuing to constitute the main source of labor for the citrus, agricultural, and timber industries, they also entered the new urban service industries in growing numbers. During the 1940s they joined the statewide and national struggle for civil rights against extraordinary obstacles.

For centuries the African American heritage in Florida has been ignored by a white population unwilling to acknowledge that people of color had been instrumental in the creation of this state, that they governed themselves responsibly as free and independent people, and that they contributed in a variety of meaningful ways to the development of Florida and the United States as a whole.

In fact, the history of the African American experience in Florida has only recently begun to be examined, and it will take at least another generation of historical research and writing to bring citizens of the state and students of Florida history to a reasonably full understanding of the African American contribution. The standard textbook on Florida for over twenty years, for example, contains almost no reference to the role played by African American peoples in the development of the state. In the nearly five hundred pages of text in Charlton Tebeau’s History of Florida, black Floridians appear only occasionally, as slaves and as people whose lives were shaped by white Floridians. Tebeau’s recounting offers very little understanding of Florida’s African American heritage. In fairness to Tebeau, it should be noted that he depended upon the scholarship of others. As he himself said in the preface, “This book is a synthesis of what we know about Florida’s past.” Few historians, however, had written about the state’s African American heritage or its African American people prior to the revised 1980 edition of Tebeau’s study. Indeed, Florida’s history as it appeared in earlier textbooks has been a white man’s story, portraying black Floridians as little more than a mass of humanity that stood somewhere in the background, contributing principally their physical presence and physical labor.

It was first ethnohistorians and anthropologists, and later historians in the 1960s, who began to recognize African American agency in shaping the history of the Americas and the American South. Still, research on the African American history of Florida has lagged. Scholars of the colonial era and of slavery, like John TePaske and Peter Wood, have long recognized the importance of Florida and its African American history, and more than twenty years ago they called for studies of the state’s early Spanish and British periods. Historians, however, have been slow to undertake this research. Part of their reluctance has been due to the obstacles in consulting the early documents on the African American story and on Florida, which are in Spanish and are held in the Spanish Archives. The other difficulty is that any study of early Florida has to come to terms with its connection to the Spanish Caribbean world and to the colonial South. Florida’s early history and especially its African American heritage is closely linked to both. This is at once the appeal and the challenge of Florida’s early history.

In fact, throughout its history, Florida’s African American heritage has typically differed from that of its southern neighbors, and it is these differences that make the state’s past an important area for historical research. The political scientist V. O. Key, Jr., observed in 1949 that Florida was a unique state in his classic study Southern Politics in State and Nation, but Florida’s differences long preceded the twentieth century. Its linkages to the Spanish and Caribbean worlds as well as to the British and the American South gave it a unique character in the colonial era. In addition, from its earliest years Florida has been a multiracial society of Native Americans, Hispanics, and Africans. The Spanish settlement in St. Augustine incorporated various Native American groups as well as free and enslaved people from several African nations. This multiethnic heritage has attracted the contributors to this volume, who see the opportunity to revisit the arguments of such historians as Frank Tannenbaum, Eugene Genovese, and Peter Wood and to examine the recent work of historians Gwendolyn Hall, Michael Mullin, and Daniel Unser, whose comparative and interdisciplinary scholarship has reshaped our understanding of the early Americas.1

In addition to its multiracial cast, Florida offers historians another attraction. Unlike most other sections of the South during the eighteenth and the first half of the nineteenth centuries, Florida had a number of free black communities, including the Mose site and African, African American, and maroon villages in and around present-day Gainesville, Tallahassee, Apalachicola, and Sarasota. Florida served as a haven for African American and African slaves from the British areas to the north who desperately sought freedom in Spanish Florida and fled there in substantial numbers, despite enormous obstacles. The role of Spanish Florida as a sanctuary for slaves was extraordinarily important for African Americans, but it also greatly concerned the British and Americans, who saw Florida as a major threat to their plantation economies. Even after Florida was ceded to Britain, the Seminoles who offered African Americans a refuge from slavery threatened the aims of white southerners in the United States.

The history of Florida and especially of the African American experience is thus one of considerable complexity and importance. Throughout the two Spanish periods, the British period, and finally the American era, Africans and African Americans adjusted to many political and cultural transitions. In the process, they were both agents of and respondents to change. Despite the dramatic changes experienced by African Americans during this period, there was a surprising amount of continuity in race relations as Florida went from Spanish hands to British hands in 1763, back to the Spanish in 1784, and then to the United States in 1821. As a number of the contributors to this volume note, Spanish racial traditions continued to influence race relations in Florida, in obvious and not so obvious ways, long after the Spaniards departed for the Caribbean and Spain.

For these reasons, Florida provides an important environment in which to examine the policies and cultural practices of different nations and different peoples with respect to race. It raises important questions as scholars try to understand the nature of race relations of the respective nations that occupied and governed the region. To what extent, for example, did Spain’s multiracial tolerance differ from that of the British and the Americans? In what ways did African Americans adjust to and restructure their lives and their environment as the governments of Florida changed? How did the Spanish racial policies influence those of the British and the Americans in Florida? In what ways were British and American policies toward their slaves influenced by the presence of Spain and Native American nations on their southern borders?

The uniqueness of Florida’s racial traditions continued well beyond its early history, as V. O. Key has argued. During the postbellum period and into the twentieth century, Florida became much more a part of the American South and its racial patterns, but even during the Reconstruction and Jim Crow periods, some Florida cities had a multiracial cast that made their race relations distinct from those of their southern neighbors. Moreover, since World War II, Florida, besides remaining part of the South, has reestablished its ties to the Caribbean world and developed characteristics similar to those of the Sunbelt states that stretch from California to the Florida coast. It is this difference in perspective that has encouraged the contributors to this volume to reexamine the historiographical arguments about urbanization, race, and crime made by such scholars as Edward Ayers, Dan Carter, Arnold Hirsch, Roger Lane, Jacqueline Jones, Howard Rabinowitz, and Joel Williamson.2

The Florida story is a record of what might have been in American race relations. It is also the story of human failing, of shifting international and national struggles, of African American agency, of multiracial linkages, and of a series of decisions to oppress a people principally because of their color, even though the historical record demonstrated their capacity for self-government and their desire for freedom for themselves and their children. Florida’s racial heritage belongs not only to the past; indeed, it continues to influence our views of one another and to place race and color at the forefront of today’s social and political agenda.

The twelve essays in this volume examine the African and African American experience in Florida, from the earliest period of Spanish settlement and the establishment of the free African settlement at Fort Mose to the late twentieth century’s racial and multiracial developments in Miami and their impact on African American residents. Along the way, the essays examine the African American heritage and experience through the colonial, revolutionary, antebellum, Reconstruction, post-Reconstruction, and segregation eras. As in all collections of this kind, this volume is not intended to tell the entire story of the African American experience in Florida, nor is it capable of doing so, given the limited scholarly research in several areas. Instead, it is meant to be an introduction, to chart the terrain rather than explore specific themes, and to suggest lines of inquiry that other scholars might pursue in search of further insight into Florida’s past and into the African American experience.

Jane Landers begins this collection by examining “Traditions of African American Freedom and Community in Spanish Colonial Florida.” Noting the importance of Frank Tannenbaum’s book, Slave and Citizen, The Negro in the Americas, in initiating a comparative analysis of slavery, Landers contends that “Spanish Florida allows an alternative test of Tannenbaum’s thesis since both Spanish and Anglo planters held slaves in the colony and competing concepts of slavery coexisted.”

Relying on records in the Archivo General de Indias in Seville, in Cuba, and in the East Florida Papers, Landers traces black activism from the establishment of the free black town of Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose through the second Spanish period. In the process, she finds that Spanish Florida offered Africans and African Americans greater opportunities for freedom and participation in society, the economy, government, and military service than they enjoyed under the British. The Spaniards, for example, recognized that slaves had a moral and juridical personality as well as certain rights and protections that were not found in other slave systems. She also notes the key role played by “personalism” in Spanish Florida, which linked slave masters to slaves as godparents and which engendered a greater sense of responsibility and accountability for the existence of slaves by owners. The British, by contrast, “restricted free blacks, adopted a slave code based on that of South Carolina, and often subjected slaves to brutal punishments.” They also made it difficult for free blacks to obtain any but unskilled work, while the Spanish allowed free black men and women to compete for jobs with whites.

Landers notes that, under the Spanish system, Africans participated in many arenas of economic, political, and military life. Along the way they built extended family networks and a strong community linked by church, economic, and military ties. These social institutions were valued by Spaniards and thus, while they served to enhance African American lives, they also facilitated incorporation into the Spanish community.

Robert Hall’s focus in “African Religious Retentions in Florida” centers on two issues: the degree to which African culture survived the slave experience and the question of whether slave religion was, essentially, a docile one or rebellious in nature. Hall, like Melville Herskovits, believes that these issues were not dichotomous but complementary.

Hall argues that it was through the church, in particular, that Africans became African Americans and that it was the church that enabled them to do so without surrendering their African heritage. Examining the work of historians and anthropologists from Herskovits, Ira Berlin, and Mechal Sobel to Peter Wood, J. Leitch Wright, and William Bascom, Hall carefully documents the persistence of distinctive cultural patterns among Florida’s black population up to the late nineteenth century.

Hall characterizes the church as both a sanctuary and a portal for African Americans. It offered an institutional mechanism that sheltered them from the oppression of race and also enabled them to become Americans without losing their cultural identity.

In “‘Yellow Silk Ferret Tied Round Their Wrists,’” Dan Schafer examines the experiences of African Americans in British East Florida in the period from 1764 to 1785. Utilizing the British records on East Florida and the papers of British Governor James Grant, Schafer reassesses Bernard Bailyn’s contention that the region’s economic development efforts were a failure.

Schafer demonstrates that the British established a successful plantation system in Florida involving rice and indigo, and he examines the lives of African American slaves in this British economic and social enterprise. In his description of relations between whites and slaves and of relations between slaves, he offers new evidence about work experiences, plantation management, ethnic origins of slaves, and the slave trade between Africa and Florida. In finding examples of interethnic jealousies between African-born and American-born slaves, Schafer builds upon the work of Gwendolyn Hall and David Geggus. These tensions among slaves, Schafer believes, help to explain why there was not more violence against plantation owners and their property when only one overseer supervised the activities of many slaves. He also notes, however, that when provoked, slaves resorted to violence on occasion, as when they drowned an overseer for his capricious and heavy-handed mistreatment.

Despite sporadic violence and the loss of many runaway slaves who fled to lands occupied by the Indians, the plantation system in Florida, Schafer argues, was not only large and complex but also functioned very profitably for its British owners. He notes that in only seven years’ time, several major plantations had started operating in East Florida. Profitable though it was for the British, the plantation system took a tragic toll on Africans and African Americans, Schafer writes. After enduring enslavement in Africa and the harshness of the British plantation system, their lives were once again uprooted by the vagaries of international politics. As their masters prepared to retrocede Florida to the Spaniards in 1784, some slaves found themselves on a long and convoluted journey from British East Florida to the Caribbean and, in some cases, back to South Carolina.

George Klos assesses the relationships among Seminoles, blacks, and whites in Florida in “Blacks and the Seminole Removal Debate, 1821–1835.” According to Klos, the status of blacks among whites and Indians played a crucial role in the efforts of the United States to remove the Seminoles from Florida. As he notes, blacks moved much more freely in the Seminole world than they did elsewhere in the white South, and it was this relationship that concerned whites. They feared, in particular, that blacks who lived with the Seminoles were aiding slaves to flee to the Seminole tribes. Klos states that this was, in fact, happening.

Not all blacks enjoyed equality and freedom in the Seminole community, but even the lowliest of blacks, according to Klos, felt they were better off with the Seminoles than as chattel slaves in plantation Florida. Klos finds that white efforts to remove the Seminoles became quite complicated because blacks often acted as interpreters in negotiations between Seminoles and representatives of the United States, and blacks were anxious to maintain the Seminole presence in Florida as a buffer against the oppression of plantation slavery.

Southern whites, however, were determined to eliminate any variance in slave patterns in the region, and they demanded that military officials force the sale or seizure of black Seminoles and remove the Seminoles from the region. Klos points out that such negotiations were doomed because the Seminoles refused to surrender the black members of their tribe. The demand for racial conformity by southern whites led to one of the longest and costliest Indian wars in American history and one of the most ironic for the United States. Blacks and their Seminole allies opted for war to secure their freedom; white Americans chose war to secure the bonds of slavery.

Larry Rivers’s essay, “Troublesome Property: Master-Slave Relations in Florida,” examines racial developments during Florida’s territorial and early statehood period, from 1821 to 1865. Rivers finds, as Landers and Schafer do in their essays, that the master-slave relationship in Florida was both complicated and steadily evolving. He notes that American planters moved quickly into the north-central area of the region, which extended from north of Gainesville to south of Tallahassee, after it was acquired from Spain in 1821, and they established through their territorial council severe slave codes to secure control over the slaves in the region.

But Rivers observes that these codes provide only a limited, occasionally distorted picture of the master-slave relations that subsequently emerged. By examining the records of the plantations, Rivers finds that there was great flexibility in these relationships. Even when slave owners were inclined to exercise a heavy hand, for example, slaves resisted through feigned illness, work slowdowns, poor performance, violence, and escape.

In analyzing the practices of plantation owners, Rivers finds that they did not necessarily adhere to the slave codes. Many found it wise and profitable to permit slave marriages, to allow for some mobility on weekends, to agree to town visitations and religious services on Sundays, and generally to treat their slaves in a humane fashion. In some cases, the actions of masters were motivated by their own decency, in others by their interest in improving the productivity of their slaves. Whatever the policies of plantation owners, they often found that even those slaves they considered most loyal or those who were closest to the family opted to run away to secure their freedom—to the utter shock and dismay of the owners.

Making extensive use of the records of the Union and Confederate armies as well as personal correspondence, diaries, and newspapers, Dan Schafer reconstructs the experiences of African Americans in the Jacksonville area during the Civil War in “Freedom Was as Close as the River: African Americans and the Civil War in Northeast Florida.” Schafer finds that most slaves hesitated to flee slavery in the first year of the war because of the personal risks. But when Union troops arrived in Jacksonville and it was reasonably safe to cross their lines to freedom, slaves abandoned their masters in droves. Plantation owners commented that it was “impossible to keep negroes” on the plantation. Most of the departing slaves, according to Schafer, took their families with them.

Initially, Union forces were not sure how to handle the slaves, Schafer writes, even returning some to their former owners. But as the war continued, with no end in sight, Union officers saw the wisdom of recruiting African Americans and assigning them to specific military actions. Building on the work of Ira Berlin and James McPherson, Schafer points out that the former slaves responded enthusiastically to the opportunity to participate in military action and to help free others.

Schafer also provides a brief synopsis of the readjustment of the African American soldiers after the war. Supplementing the work of Leon Litwack in Been in the Storm So Long, Schafer finds that those who returned to the Jacksonville area “made diverse and individual adjustments to postwar life,” ranging from economic pursuits to efforts to enhance family and community life.

Patricia Kenney’s essay is an important local study of the establishment and development of a free African American community in LaVilla, Florida, during the post-Civil War period that builds on Schafer’s study of Jacksonville during the war years. Entitled “LaVilla, Florida, 1866–1887: Reconstruction Dreams and the Formation of a Black Community,” her essay describes the efforts of blacks who had relocated in the Jacksonville area to secure freedom, autonomy, land, and opportunity.

Kenney’s study adds to the writings of historians Howard Rabinowitz, Robert Engs, and John Blassingame and their analyses of broad social, economic, and political trends among blacks in the urban South. But it also goes beyond their work by offering a particular examination of the process of black community formation, self-government, job creation, and social organization. Kenney’s study also examines the African American experience as it took place in relative isolation from white interference during the immediate post-Civil War period.

Even though they were geographically separated in their own community, and perhaps because of it, black Floridians from LaVilla, Kenney notes, still could not escape the pressures of racism and segregation that mounted in Florida and the rest of the South in the latter part of the nineteenth century. The residents of LaVilla struggled to hold onto their community but found that their economic and financial needs brought them increasingly under the influence of white Jacksonville. With the intrusion of the predominantly white community into their lives, they gradually lost control of their local government and with it their own destiny. Indeed, in many ways, LaVilla was too dangerous an example for whites to allow during the age of segregation, for it demonstrated that blacks had the ability to govern themselves and to shape their own futures.

In “Black Violence in the New South: Patterns of Conflict in Late-Nineteenth-Century Tampa,” Jeffrey Adler explores the rising tide of black violence in a southern city and tests the validity there of Roger Lane’s hypothesis about northern black violence. Adler points out that Tampa and the South as a whole were generally more violent than northern communities at this time, with rates of violence averaging more than three times those found in the North. He notes significantly that whites in the South used allegations of “mounting black violence” to justify acts of retribution and lynching against blacks.

Were white contentions about black violence, in fact, remotely accurate? In a sophisticated answer that explores the nuances of this question, Adler finds high levels of black violence in Tampa. But he adds that black violence arose out of an environment in which the legal system functioned for whites only, leaving blacks to look elsewhere for equity. To protect themselves against the lawlessness and social conflicts that authorities allowed to take place within their community, blacks bore arms to defend themselves and also occasionally to seek retribution. The results contributed to a significant level of violence in their lives.

In “No Longer Denied: Black Women in Florida, 1920–1950,” Maxine Jones brings to light the history of African American women in Florida. Relying on census data and a variety of primary and secondary accounts, Jones reconstructs the daily life of these women, from leaders like Mary McLeod Bethune to those who toiled in virtual anonymity. Until Jones’s research, the story of African American women in Florida had been a record buried within the poorly told history of the African American experience. Her essay recounts the activities of these women, their investment in their families, and their role in the development of Florida.

As Jones’s study reveals, African American women were central providers in their homes and took jobs in nearly every sector of the Florida economy: from schools to medical care to farming to industry, and to domestic work. Despite the pervasive racism in Florida during this period, they found employment in a variety of unskilled and skilled areas, and they struggled to balance work and family life.

Jones also reveals that a few prominent black women in Florida participated in the emerging civil rights effort to change the racial culture that suppressed opportunities for black men and women. They constituted an important, and generally ignored, element in the black community that took up the banner for freedom and opportunity in the post-World War II era.

In “Under a Double Burden: Florida’s Black Feeble-Minded, 1920–1957,” Steven Noll examines the impact of the color line on Florida’s invisible minority. Throughout most of this period, racism and segregation shaped the state’s approach to addressing the needs of the black feeble-minded. Adding to the burden on African American families was the general poverty of Florida for much of the early twentieth century, which made it difficult for state officials to provide for even the most basic needs of its white population. Under such circumstances, Florida policy makers simply refused to provide any facilities or treatment for the black feeble-minded.

Noll utilizes regional, state, and local records to examine both southern area and Florida state policies toward the black feebleminded and the role of the federal government in care and treatment. He finds that the care provided by southern states for much of this period can be described at best as primitive. Noll observes that the federal government gradually became involved in the supervision of the feeble-minded in the 1930s and slowly expanded its role, until by the 1950s it was establishing minimum standards of care for both races in all southern states. In the process, federal authorities took steps to eliminate segregation in public facilities for the mentally handicapped. When Florida finally constructed facilities for the black feeble-minded in 1953, it did so not to meet the needs of these residents but to avoid being forced to provide integrated facilities for them. Without a facility of any kind for blacks, state officials worried that the federal courts would require them to provide one facility for all.

In “Florida’s Little Scottsboro: The Groveland Story,” Steven F. Lawson, David Colburn, and Darryl Paulson examine race relations during the period from the end of World War II to the Brown decision in 1954, through the prism of an alleged rape of a white woman by four black men. Encouraged by their involvement in the war, black residents in central Florida fought for the removal of segregation barriers in the South. From a voter registration campaign to resistance to resuming low-wage jobs in the citrus groves, black Floridians demonstrated their opposition to the racial customs of the past during this postwar era.

Building upon Dan Carter’s work on racial violence in the prewar era, the authors note that whites in the central region of Florida had no intention of allowing the segregation barriers to be removed, and the Groveland rape charge against four black men revealed how far whites were willing to go to keep blacks in their place. The authors write, “With racial barriers under attack throughout the South, whites felt extremely anxious and . . . inclined to preserve their supremacy through violent means if necessary.”

Groveland involved the intersection of race and gender in which both traditional racial customs and gender roles were called into question. In contrast to the lynch law of the prewar era, the authors find that the community turned increasingly to the sheriff’s department and the courts in the 1940s and 1950s to maintain these artificial standards of the past.

In the Groveland story, the NAACP and the Workers Defense League, a Socialist organization, were involved in the struggle to represent the needs of the black community. In the end, however, no amount of representation could save the accused defendants. Two were killed, one during the course of arrest and the other while being transported by the sheriff to trial. The extraordinary efforts of some whites to suppress the rights of the accused and to prevent a fair trial revealed the extent of their commitment to the region’s racial barriers.

Raymond Mohl concludes this series of essays by examining the rise of multiculturalism in the state and its impact on black Floridians in “The Pattern of Race Relations in Miami since the 1920s.” Mohl focuses particularly on the relationships among blacks, whites, and Hispanics in Miami from the perspective of its black residents. Despite the city’s prominence as an area of settlement for people of color from the Caribbean and Latin America, Mohl finds that multiculturalism has done little to ease the plight of Miami’s black population.

At the same time that the community began to accept the civil rights reforms of the 1960s, it became a refugee center for Cubans fleeing Castro. As Cubans settled into the city and sought employment, economic opportunities that would otherwise have gone to black Miamians in the aftermath of the civil rights reforms quickly evaporated as employers showed a preference for Cuban workers. Moreover, as the Cuban immigrants established their own businesses to meet the special needs of their ethnic group, blacks found themselves frozen out of these jobs.

Mohl tells a devastating story of blatant and subtle discrimination that has left the promises of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 unfulfilled in Miami and has raised serious questions about such matters as fairness and equity for black residents of the community. These findings for Miami parallel those of Arnold Hirsch in his study of Chicago. Like Hirsch, Mohl notes that Miami’s political leaders often acted in concert with real estate developers to isolate local blacks and to deny them the opportunity to obtain more than menial work.

The Miami experience underscores concerns of black Americans more generally about their continuing place in American society. Despite being one of the first groups to settle in Florida and despite their contribution to the state’s development at every stage in its evolution, blacks remain at the bottom of the economic ladder. Bypassed by one of the state’s more recent immigrant groups, African Americans understandably see race and color as the sources of their continuing deprivation.

These essays suggest that African Americans are historically correct in their assessment and that Florida has yet to come to terms with its racial heritage, in part because the public remains so ignorant of it. Perhaps these essays will help to inform Floridians more fully about their multiracial past and contribute in a small way to a new age for the state’s African American citizens.

Historians often end their books and articles with the words “much research still remains to be done on this subject.” This is a subtle way of establishing the importance of their study, justifying their ongoing work on the topic, and encouraging others to join them in enhancing the significance of the topic. Jane Landers and I and the other contributors to this volume believe this statement has particular relevance (and we don’t want to be subtle about it) for the study of African American history in Florida. As noted earlier, Florida and its African American story are at once part of the South and part of a larger world. In the seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth centuries, the region stood within the Spanish empire, the antebellum South, and the Caribbean world. In the twentieth century, it stands as part of the South, the Sunbelt, and the sphere of the Caribbean and Central America. The opportunity for comparative study of the African American experience can only be suggested by this volume. As for the complex multiracial aspects of the African American story, remarkably little has been written about the interconnection between blacks and other racial and ethnic groups. And finally, every stage in the African American record in Florida needs further elucidation. Such studies will not only help us understand the African American experience in Florida; indeed, they will also contribute to our knowledge of the larger world of which Florida and its African American population are a significant part.
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Traditions of African American Freedom and Community in Spanish Colonial Florida

Jane L. Landers

FRANK TANNENBAUM’S important book Slave and Citizen: The Negro in the Americas initiated a long historiographic debate about the relative severity of slave systems and the transition from slavery to freedom in the Americas. Many subsequent studies examined these themes in plantation areas, where rapid development of export economies meant deterioration in slave life and reduced opportunities for freedom, and these works clearly demonstrated the flaws in Tannenbaum’s analysis.1 However, to examine the origins of the significant free black class that intrigued Tannenbaum, and to focus on the agency of African Americans in the emancipation process, one must look beyond the plantation. Spanish Florida provides a perfect laboratory to test Tannenbaum’s thesis, since both Spanish and Anglo planters held slaves in the colony and competing concepts of slavery coexisted.

Tannenbaum’s critics correctly noted that the institutions that he claimed made Spanish slavery less severe—the church and the law—were not commonly accessible to field hands in remote agricultural settlements; this restriction, however, does not mean that his argument was equally flawed for an urban setting or for a plantation system where slaves were able to connect to the economy and institutions of a city such as St. Augustine. Michael Mullin’s recent study of slavery in the contemporary British Caribbean demonstrates how geographic context and the organization of labor and the slave market also shaped the institution of slavery. Slavery in Florida exhibited a number of the features that Mullin contends mitigated the oppressive nature of slavery: it was generally organized by the task system, and slaves had free time to engage in their own social and economic activities; slaves were able to utilize the resources of both frontier and coast to advantage; the trade in slaves was never massive, and the paternal model of plantation management prevailed, even on Florida’s largest commercial plantation.2 In addition, the geopolitical pressures exerted by Spain’s southeastern and Caribbean rivals gave slaves additional leverage and made the Spanish more dependent upon free people of color. Tannenbaum’s contention that a lenient attitude toward manumission was crucial in a slave society, and that it foreshadowed the former slave’s role in freedom, is also borne out in Spanish Florida.3

As Tannenbaum documented, Spanish law and custom granted the enslaved a moral and juridical personality, as well as certain rights and protections not found in other slave systems. Slaves had a right to personal security, and there were legal mechanisms by which to escape a cruel master. A slave could legally own and transfer property and initiate lawsuits—a significant provision that in the Caribbean evolved into the right of self-purchase. Social and religious values in Spanish society promoted honor, charity, and paternalism toward “miserable classes,” a category that included the enslaved. Although legal and social ideals did not always obtain, slaves in Spanish Florida made good on the institutional promises of freedom through creative and persistent individual efforts, aided by community support. The exceptionally rich documentary evidence on African Americans in Florida, demonstrates how, given the proper conditions, the enslaved could actually “work” the system. This is not to suggest that Spain and its colonies were free of racial prejudice; however, acknowledgment of a slave’s humanity and rights and a liberal manumission policy made it possible for a significant free black class to exist throughout the Spanish world.4

It is not surprising, then, that African-born people, free and slave, played important roles in Florida’s Spanish history. Indeed, their history dates to the earliest Spanish explorations of the colony. Several free Africans, including Juan Garrido, accompanied Juan Ponce de León when he “discovered” Florida, and by then they were already veterans of the Spanish conquest of Hispaniola, Puerto Rico, and Cuba. Other Africans, free and slave, took part in the expeditions of Lucas Vásquez de Ayllón, Pánfilo de Narváez, and Hernando de Soto, and slaves helped Pedro Menéndez de Avilés establish St. Augustine, the oldest European city in what is today the United States.5
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African-born explorer Juan Garrido, ca. 1519. The free African Juan Garrido participated in the Indian wars in Hispaniola and Juan Ponce de León’s “discovery” of Florida and is shown here accompanying Hernando Cortés on his campaign in Mexico. (Reprinted from Fray Diego Duran’s, Historia de las Indias de Nueva España y yslas de tierra firme. Courtesy of the Florida State Museum of Natural History.)



Florida’s race relations and the patterns of African American society in Florida evolved during Spain’s first tenure in the province (1565–1763). They were both shaped by complex interethnic relations and international political factors. Like other areas in the Spanish Caribbean, Florida suffered from early and dramatic Indian depopulation and a shortage of European manpower, and this demographic imperative created a demand for black labor, artisan, and military skills. Florida’s first slaves came from Spain, but thereafter royal officials and private owners imported slaves from nearby regions of the Caribbean, primarily Cuba. The Crown considered slave labor indispensable in Florida, noting that the work of cutting and sawing wood for fortifications and ships was unceasing, and the entire government subsidy would not have been sufficient had wages to be paid. The government found many other uses for its royal slaves, such as quarrying coquina from Anastasia Island, making lime, loading and unloading government ships, and rowing government galleys. Private owners of slaves employed them in domestic occupations, as cattlemen and overseers on Florida’s vast cattle ranches, and in a myriad of plantation jobs. In times of crisis slaves were also incorporated into militia units and expected to help defend the colony.6

The hard and dangerous work demanded of them and various “pests and contagions” kept the slave and free black populations of Florida low through the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. Population figures are scarce for the early years, but a census of 1600 counted only twenty-seven royal slaves in a non-Indian population of 491 people.7 By the end of the seventeenth century, however, numbers were up—augmented by imports from Cuba and incoming runaways from Carolina. By 1683 the free black militia boasted a complement of forty-eight men, and numbers of both free and enslaved blacks rose slowly through the early eighteenth century.8

During Great Britain’s interregnum in Florida (1763–84) the colony’s black/white ratio increased dramatically; however, many of the slaves introduced by the English departed with their masters.9 Hoping to encourage immigration and settlement of its vacant frontier, in 1790 Spain instituted a head rights system. Within a few months three hundred whites had moved into the province bringing with them almost a thousand slaves.10 Florida censuses from 1784 to 1814 show that the black population was never less than 27 percent of the total throughout these years, and by 1814, blacks represented 57 percent of the total population of Spanish Florida. Free blacks averaged 10 percent of the black population and sometimes approached 20 percent of that population.11

By the late eighteenth century, entrepreneurs in Spanish Florida had developed significant plantations with sizeable slave labor forces of fifty to one hundred slaves. These were often diversified operations managed by the task system, sometimes employing black overseers. Some plantations, such as those of Francisco Xavier Sánchez, were devoted to cattle, which required a mobile and fairly autonomous workforce, as did the timbering operations Sánchez and others managed in Spanish Florida.12 By 1815 a workforce of 250 slaves labored in the various Panton Leslie establishments, which included trading stores, agricultural plantations, and cattle ranches.13
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A modern rendering of Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose in 1760, by Albert Manucy. This village, located about two miles north of St. Augustine, was built by Africans in 1752. Courtesy of the Florida State Museum of Natural History.



In most cases, several generations of slave families lived and worked together, and the paternal model of slave management was reinforced by religion, law, and community norms. Slave masters were often linked to their slaves as godparents, further underscoring paternal obligations. Urban slaves also could benefit from the strength of “personalism” and popular understandings of justice and honor in the Spanish community. Slaves used these intangible, but very real, assets to improve their conditions, petitioning the courts when they were ill-treated, not materially provided for as required, or when they wanted to change owners. They also employed these assets to achieve freedom.14

Slaves of Spanish masters in Florida became free through a variety of mechanisms including manumission by their owners, coartación, or gradual self-purchase, and judicial process.15 Other enslaved people adeptly exploited Anglo-Spanish rivalry in the Southeast to achieve freedom. In 1670 English planters challenged Spanish territorial claims to the entire Atlantic seaboard and established a settlement at Charles Town. Shortly thereafter, their slaves began escaping to St. Augustine, claiming they desired baptism in the “True Faith.” Rather than return the runaways as English owners demanded, the Spaniards offered them religious sanctuary. A royal decree of 1693 granted “liberty to all . . . the men as well as the women . . . so that by their example and by my liberality . . . others will do the same.”16
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St. Christopher’s medal discovered at Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose. One of the Africans living at Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose in the eighteenth century made this pewter medallion, which was probably worn on a thong around the neck. St. Christopher is the patron saint of travelers and of Havana, Cuba. Courtesy of the Florida State Museum of Natural History.



During the next decades more fugitives from Carolina straggled into St. Augustine, and in 1738 the Spanish governor established the runaways in the free black settlement of Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose, about two miles north of St. Augustine. While conditions were harsh on this frontier, the black homesteaders were at least free to farm their own lands, build their own homes and live in them with their families—in short, free to begin the process of community formation. Spaniards commonly administered subject populations through indigenous leaders, as they did at Mose. Florida’s governor recognized the group’s spokesman and the captain of their militia, Francisco Menéndez, as the “chief” of Mose and referred to the others living at the village as his “subjects.”17 This degree of autonomy and Mose’s distance from the Spanish city also served to develop black community identity. The residents of Mose established complex family and fictive kin networks over several generations, and successfully incorporated into the founding group incoming fugitives, Indians from nearby villages, and slaves from St. Augustine. Community and familial ties were further reinforced by a tradition of militia service at Mose.18

The freedmen and freedwomen in Spanish Florida represented many different cultures and experiences, but over time they formed a fairly cohesive community. This process was assisted by a variety of mechanisms. Some ex-slaves shared previous work experiences and geographic origins. Others were related by blood or had formed affinal bonds prior to entering Florida. In St. Augustine these bonds were consecrated in the church, and families were also joined in ritual kinship through compadrazgo, or godparentage networks. Such networks not only linked families horizontally, but in many cases compadrazgo also functioned to link clients vertically to important patrons in the Spanish community. In both cases the fictive kin were linked by mutual obligations, and they shared a pool of resources and talents greater than that enjoyed by individuals in the community.19 Free blacks testified in each other’s behalf, working collectively to seek legal remedies in the courts and to obtain the freedom of their enslaved kin and friends. They also fought together in the free black militias and enjoyed certain privileges associated with military corporatism, including exemption from tribute and civil prosecution. The loyalty and effective service of Florida’s black militia in defending St. Augustine against British invasions in 1728 and 1740 and against later British-inspired Indian attacks earned them the gratitude of the governors and, perhaps, the Spanish citizenry.20 However, even their valor was not sufficient to prevent Spain’s loss of Florida, for in 1763 the Treaty of Paris awarded Florida to Britain and required Spain to evacuate the province. Spaniards, slaves, free blacks, and allied Indians all boarded ships for Cuba, where the Spanish government resettled the multiracial Floridians.21
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St. Augustine Cathedral parish record of the 1744 marriage of the free African Juan Fernández, of the Carabalí nation, and the enslaved Flora de la Torre, of the Congo nation. Fernández was a resident of Gracia Real de Santa Teresa de Mose, while Flora lived in the home of her owner in St. Augustine. On microfilm at the P.K. Yonge Library of Florida History, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida. Courtesy of the Florida State Museum of Natural History.



Under British rule (1763–84), black freedom in Florida became only a remote possibility. Anglo planters established vast indigo, rice, sugar, and sea-island cotton plantations modeled after those in South Carolina and Georgia, and wealthier planters, such as Richard Oswald, imported large numbers of African slaves to work them.22 Soon blacks were the most numerous element of Florida’s population. The American Revolution accelerated that trend, for after the Patriots took Charleston and Savannah, planters shifted whole workforces into East Florida, the last Loyalist haven in North America. The colony’s population grew by about 12,000 persons, over half of whom were black, and the black/white ratio was approximately three to one. Although a small number of the blacks were free, for example those who had performed military service for George III, most were not. British Floridians restricted free blacks, adopted a slave code based on that of South Carolina, and often subjected slaves to brutal punishments.

At the conclusion of the American Revolution, Florida was retroceded to Spain, and many slaves took advantage of the chaos of war and the subsequent colonial transfer to escape British control. Untold numbers found sanctuary among the Seminole nation, which had established flourishing villages in the central plains of North Florida. Others, however, claimed a refuge among the incoming Spaniards, and although the Spanish governor doubted the religious motivation of the latter-day supplicants, he was forced to honor the sanctuary policy, which was still in effect. After appearing before notaries to be documented and to show proof of work, at least 251 individuals were manumitted under the sanctuary provisions. Their declarations identify family relationships as well as other linkages that existed when apparently unrelated slaves ran away from the same owner. Some had been on the run together for several years. Some were searching for family members from whom they had been separated. Many reported bad treatment by former owners. These individuals formed the nucleus of the free black community in the second Spanish administration of Florida (1784–1821), and it is possible that having experienced a much more restrictive form of slavery, they were all the more motivated to test the limits of freedom among the Spaniards.23 By this time the Spaniards had abandoned the peripheral mission-village system that had given rise to the free black settlement at Mose, but despite a more dispersed residential pattern, the free black community in Florida still demonstrated vitality and cohesion, absorbing refugees from the American and Haitian revolutions and adapting to changing economic, social, and political pressures as needed over time.

Prince Witten, his wife, Judy, and their children, Polly and Glasgow, were among those presenting themselves to be manumitted, and their lives demonstrate how exceptional and ambitious persons were able to maximize the benefits of free status in Spanish Florida. Notices from Georgia reported that Prince had run away to Florida “to avoid a separation from his family to which he is much attached.”24 Once Witten and his family were granted sanctuary in Florida, they adapted to the civil, religious, and military expectations of successive Spanish governments and prospered. The family’s freedom was dependent upon religious conversion, and the children were baptized within a year of entering the province. Adult baptism required prior religious instruction and usually took somewhat longer to accomplish, but in 1792 Prince and Judy were also baptized. Later Prince and Judy had their marriage of twenty-one years legitimated by the Catholic church and became choice godparents for the black community, free and slave. Prince served as godfather to twenty-three children, and Judy was godmother to thirty-one children, including the child of her slave. When Polly and Glasgow grew older, they, too, were popular godparents.

Witten was a skilled carpenter and hired himself out to a variety of employers. He also earned money by working on government construction projects, and by 1793 he and his family were living between prominent white neighbors in the city. In the following year, Judy, a laundress and cook, acquired a female slave. Prince joined the free black militia, defended St. Augustine from attacks by the State of Muskogee from 1800 to 1803, and eventually attained the rank of lieutenant and heroic status during the so-called Patriot rebellion of 1812.25
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Petition of the free African, Prince Witten (a.k.a. Juan Bautista Wiet), 1795. Although unable to write, Witten asked the Spanish governor in St. Augustine to grant him and other blacks land on the basis of their citizenship. Governor Quesada granted the request. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Treasury accounts, census returns, notarized instruments, and civil petitions provide insights into the lives of less notable members of the free black community as well. Antonio Coleman was a skilled tailor who also supported himself by playing the fiddle at dances. Manuel Alzendorf fished for turtles when he was not barbering, and several other free blacks reported that they worked at “whatever presents itself.”26 A variety of economic opportunities existed in this Atlantic port city, and as they had in the first Spanish period, many free black males worked for the government: on fortifications projects, in the royal armory, unloading ships at the wharf, delivering the mails, cutting timber, and as pilots and oarsmen on government boats. Although in some major cities blacks were forbidden to compete with whites in the marketplace, no such restrictions operated in St. Augustine. Free blacks were cartwrights, jewelers, shoemakers, tanners, butchers, and innkeepers, to name but a few of their varied occupations. One entrepreneur, Juan Bautista Collins, had mercantile links to South Carolina, Havana, New Orleans, Pensacola, and the Seminole nation in the heart of Florida. He bought and sold everything from butter to large herds of cattle, acquired property, and like other ambitious free men of color in St. Augustine, observed the Catholic faith and joined the black militia.27

Although the lives of women are more difficult to document, records show that free black women in St. Augustine were laundresses or cooks or had small businesses, selling crafts or foodstuffs.28 Others advanced themselves through unions with, and sometimes marriages to, white men of property. They managed homesteads and even sizable plantations, bought and sold property, including slaves, and entered into business agreements with both black and white townspeople.29 Miscegenation was a common and accepted feature of life in St. Augustine, and although most white men did not marry the black mothers of their children, they routinely acknowledged their children at baptism and in their wills. Children of interracial unions in St. Augustine often received education, training, or property from their white fathers.30 Free black parents also left properties, more modest, to their children. They tried to arrange good marriages for their daughters and sought to advance their sons by enrolling them in St. Augustine’s parochial school or by apprenticing them to tradesmen.31

While their former slaves went about creating new lives for themselves, Georgian slaveowners complained bitterly about the provocation inherent in Florida’s sanctuary policy. Finally in 1790, Spain bowed to the protestations of the new U.S. government, delivered forcefully through Secretary of State Thomas Jefferson, and abrogated the policy, but all who had already claimed freedom in Florida remained free.32

Enslaved people could no longer utilize Florida’s religious sanctuary provision to achieve freedom, but they still had the possibility of purchased or granted freedom. Access to work opportunities and a cash economy were requisites for achieving purchased freedom. Equally important, however, was access to the Spanish legal system, located in St. Augustine. Slaves had to be able to visit St. Augustine to approach the court. Slaves resident on outlying plantations were sometimes brought into the city for baptism or sent on plantation business. Others were assigned to work for certain periods in their owners’ town houses. If they could not get to town any other way, some slaves ran away from the plantation to seek legal recourse in St. Augustine. There, the administration of justice was the responsibility of the governor, assisted by a counsel and a notary. The governor’s tribunal heard the slaves’ memorials when they reported abusive behavior, petitioned to change masters, objected to the terms of their sale, complained about manumissions promised but denied, or when they challenged the price an owner asked for self-purchase or purchase of family members. Specialists assessed the fair market value of slaves petitioning for self-purchase or resale, and in cases involving the manumission of a minor child, a special advocate was assigned to protect the child’s interests. Slaves commonly complained to the court that they were denied adequate food, clothing, or access to church, all of which, by Spanish law, the master owed them. Usually these charges preceded a request for the court to establish their value and to permit them to seek new owners. Owners were required to answer the charges before the tribunal, and usually, if the price was satisfactory, they agreed that the slave could, in effect, sell himself or herself to a new owner or buy personal freedom.33

Purchased emancipation was not common in St. Augustine, where most of the studied cases involved self-purchase. In five cases, however, husbands bought the freedom of their wives, and five parents bought the freedom of their children. In some cases, persons not acknowledged as relatives paid for a slave’s freedom. Average prices for adult slaves were between 200 and 300 pesos and children were usually freed for less than 100 pesos. The average day’s pay for a man was a half peso and women commonly earned about half that, if they were lucky enough to have access to the city and paid employment. It would have been an arduous process to save a few hundred pesos, much less what it would have required to free several family members. From 1784 to 1800 only thirty-four requests to purchase freedom were considered by the governor’s tribunal, although some cases included more than one individual. However, of the cases reaching the court, in only one case was freedom denied, and slaves were not reluctant to pursue legal avenues, even given the occasional opposition from powerful masters.34

The lengthy coartación case of Francisco Phelipe Sánchez, also known as Edimboro, illustrates this point and provides unique insights into the black community of St. Augustine. Edimboro, and his wife, Filis, who were (like Prince) Guinea-born, were the slaves of Francisco Xavier Sánchez, East Florida’s wealthiest rancher and the government’s meat and timber contractor (and creditor). Edimboro was a valuable asset to the Sánchez operations, for he butchered cattle, harvested timber for sale, and acted as an overseer on the ranch when Sánchez made periodic trips to Havana. At certain times of the year, Sánchez sent Edimboro to St. Augustine, where he was hired out as a butcher and lived unsupervised. Filis was also sent into the city to serve as a laundress at the Sánchez town house. This access to the St. Augustine economy allowed the couple to earn money and begin the process of freeing their family. Edimboro and Filis served Sánchez for almost twenty years before Edimboro petitioned to secure their manumission gratis, in return for saving Sánchez’s life.

Although Spanish courts sometimes freed slaves for such acts, Sánchez wanted 250 pesos apiece for the couple. Edimboro found the sum exorbitant, especially after he had just paid forty pesos to purchase the freedom of his infant daughter, and he then argued that, since Sánchez had received all his services for more than twenty years, he had been more than sufficiently reimbursed. In this argument Edimboro employed the concepts of contract, just price, and moral economy in seeking his freedom without paying. His master, however, then exercised his legal right to ask how much money the couple had and how they had obtained it. Edimboro had saved 312 pesos earned since childhood through hunting, fishing, butchering, and doing other odd jobs. Later Filis added to this nest egg by washing clothes and selling baked goods and hand-crafted toys. The couple had also rented the top floor of a home on the main street of St. Augustine to put on dances for the black community, for which Filis provided refreshments, and the party-goers paid admission. Sánchez depicted the dances Edimboro hosted as depraved affairs where “throughout the night the Blacks loudly toasted the courtesy of Don Francisco Sánchez’s slave, Edimboro.”

Despite Sánchez’s wealth and standing in the community, his attempts to defame Edimboro with racial stereotypes and to impede his emancipation were unsuccessful. Edimboro was well known to the people of St. Augustine as a hard and honest worker, and since Sánchez himself had so often entrusted him with responsibility and had never before lodged any complaints against him, Sánchez’s last-minute charges did not convince the court. Meanwhile, Edimboro and Filis took steps to improve their position by being baptized in the Catholic church, and shortly thereafter they married. When the court met again, one assessor noted of Edimboro that “his conduct, abilities, love of work and presence recommend him,” and although Sánchez argued that Edimboro was worth much more than the quoted 500 pesos, and that he himself had rejected offers of 800 pesos for the slave, the rancher seemed to understand that continued resistance was useless and finally accepted the price. With the down payment of 312 pesos, Edimboro became a coartado, and within four months after initiating his suit, he made his final payment to the court. The notary then gave Edimboro a certificate of freedom, “in virtue of which he shall be free, and reputed as free, and can enter into contracts, appear as a witness, and engage in all legal acts which the laws permit free persons.”35

Like the Wittens, Edimboro and Filis became reputable citizens of the community. They acquired property (and debts), baptized their twelve children in the church, and served repeatedly as godparents and marriage witnesses for other members of the free and slave communities, including slaves who belonged to their former owner, as well as Prince and Judy Witten. One of the couple’s sons attended the free school taught by the town priest, and Edimboro and his sons joined the militia. Edimboro reached the rank of sergeant, commanding a unit of fourteen men, including his sons. They were often posted among the Seminoles (perhaps because of the Seminole connections to cattle), and over the years Edimboro and his sons served honorably against a variety of Spain’s North American and Native American enemies.36

Service against Spain’s enemies constituted another avenue to freedom. During the slave revolt in Saint Domingue, thousands of the rebels allied themselves to the Spanish Crown and were organized into a force known as the Black Auxiliaries of Carlos IV. Among its leaders was Jorge Biassou, who commanded an army of 40,000 men and who outranked the famous Toussaint Louverture. When Spain concluded a peace treaty with the Directory of the French Republic, the Black Auxiliaries were disbanded and dispersed to various locations in the Caribbean and Spain.37 The decorated and well-pensioned Biassou, and his “family” of kin and dependent troops, chose relocation in St. Augustine, where they were absorbed into the polyglot black community.38

The Spanish governors were not pleased by the “proud and vain character” and “high temper” Biassou displayed, and they worried about the bad example he and his band might set. Still, they had no choice but to receive him. Biassou and his men were quick to remind Florida’s governors and the captain general of Cuba of their service in various campaigns in Hispaniola, of the promises made them by the king, and of their status as his loyal and free vassals.39 Biassou retained the title of Caudillo in St. Augustine, and the governors employed him and his battle-hardened men in guerrilla operations against hostile Indian groups terrorizing the colony from 1800 to 1803.40

Despite major differences in language and culture, Biassou’s “family” quickly blended into the free black community. Within three months of their arrival in St. Augustine, Biassou’s brother-in-law and heir apparent, Jorge Jacobo, married Prince Witten’s daughter, María Rafaela (aka Polly), effectively linking the leading families among the North American and Haitian refugee communities. Witnesses at the church ceremony and at the later baptisms of the couple’s children included members of both families, along with other members of the black militia.41

When Biassou died, his friends and extended family arranged a wake, an elaborate mass, and a church burial with full honors. The governor and other persons of distinction accompanied the cortege to the church graveyard, as did drummers and an honor guard of the black militia.42 This ceremony was a dramatic display of the military corporatism and the many family and social linkages uniting the disparate free blacks in Spanish St. Augustine. These ties were also evident at other communal events, such as masked balls and parties, militia reviews, parades and commemorative processions, feast day celebrations, church ceremonies such as baptisms and weddings, and even court appearances.

Toward the end of the second regime, Spain’s costly European wars and efforts to contain independence movements throughout Spanish America left it financially unable to support Florida adequately. Deteriorating economic conditions in St. Augustine, and the rising prices of slaves, meant that fewer owners were willing to manumit slaves without payment.43 Nevertheless, the judicial process was effective and might even be regarded as sympathetic to the goal of liberty, and slaves continued to pursue coartación. And despite reduced circumstances, some owners still freed their slaves for good services or reasons of affection until the Spanish left Florida.

When Spain turned over the province to the officials of the U.S. territorial government, it did not abandon its free black citizens. As in Louisiana, cession treaties required that the legal status and property rights of free blacks be respected by the incoming government. Some free blacks, like Edimboro and Prince, who had acquired property and invested years of hard work in improving it, decided to stay in Florida and risk trusting the newcomers to honor their treaty promises. But Prince’s daughter, Maria, joined her husband and most of the free black community in a second exodus to Cuba. Like their predecessors from the 1763 exile, they received government assistance as they remade their lives in Cuba. Finding the racial climate in Florida increasingly restrictive, other free blacks left for Cuba in the following years, and in 1857 another community of free blacks living in Pensacola departed for Mexico.44

African Americans who had made their free lives among the Seminoles, rather than among the Spanish, were also at risk from the incoming Americans, who brought with them chattel slavery and a firm conviction of their racial superiority. These new homesteaders had long objected to the free blacks living in Florida, fearing their militancy, their alliance with Native Americans, and the dangerous example they set for plantation slaves. Georgia’s governor, David Mitchell, had warned President Monroe that the Spaniards “have armed every able-bodied negro within their power . . . our southern country will soon be in a state of insurrection.” Patriot leader John McIntosh echoed these sentiments in his own letter to Monroe, complaining that Florida was a refuge for fugitive slaves and that its emissaries “will be detached to bring about the revolt of the black population of the United States.”45

In response, Monroe’s government had covertly supported a number of hostile actions in direct violation of Spain’s territorial sovereignty, including the Patriot War of 1812, a naval attack on the black and Indian fort and settlement at Prospect Bluff on the Apalachicola River in 1815, and Andrew Jackson’s devastating raids against Seminole villages along the Suwannee in 1818. The same hostility toward free blacks living among the Seminoles, and the Seminoles’ refusal to return their allies and family members to slavery, lay at the heart of the three Seminole wars that took place from 1818 to 1859.46 As they had since the sixteenth century, Florida’s free black communities continued to shape international geopolitics in the Southeast, yet their existence and their impact has been obscured by traditional historiography.

This brief review of the possibilities for freedom and community life for blacks in Spanish Florida demonstrates that African Americans created viable and vibrant free communities when circumstances permitted. The institutional framework in place was sufficient for determined slaves to pursue freedom through legal channels, and Spanish Florida’s particular geographic, demographic, economic, and political factors enabled them to do so. Enslaved Africans adeptly manipulated a variety of political contests, as well as the demographic exigencies of the Spaniards in Florida, to secure their freedom in ways not anticipated by older Spanish law or by Tannenbaum. Through their own initiative, Africans expanded the emancipatory potential of Spanish law and reshaped their lives. In effect, they judged Anglo slavery by “voting with their feet” and by risking their lives repeatedly to forestall its advance into Florida, and their political actions seem to confirm at least the basic tenets of Tannenbaum’s comparative analysis.

Contemporary ethnohistorical studies such as those of Daniel Usner, Gwendolyn Hall, Kimberly Hanger, and Peter Wood show that Florida is not an anomaly, and that African Americans, free and slave, made pragmatic and astute political decisions based on their understanding of a variety of European and Native American political, economic, and social systems. These works also confirm that African Americans exercised more important and varied roles in the colonial history of the Spanish frontiers of the United States than has previously been appreciated.47 New archaeological studies such as those of Kathleen Deagan, Theresa Singleton, and Leland Ferguson are also unearthing the lost cultural and material past of African Americans in Florida and the rest of the Southeast, although many of the sites discussed in this essay have yet to be investigated.48 Together these new, more sensitive inquiries and methodologies tell us that the history of the United States and its race relations is seriously distorted by neglecting the complex and sometimes more empowered past that Africans experienced in Florida and in the colonial Americas.
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African Religious Retentions in Florida

Robert L. Hall

KNOTTY ISSUES in African American culture and religion are raised by an examination of the religious experiences of blacks living in Florida from the founding of St. Augustine in 1565 through the early twentieth century. This essay addresses the cultural distinctiveness of African Americans by placing spirit possession and ritual ecstatic dance at the heart of the controversy over African cultural survivals in the United States.

Because the cultural transformation of African Americans is best viewed as a dynamic process that occurred over a long period, a consideration of the eighteenth century is critical to an understanding of the relevance of African cultures to American culture. The bulk of the essay, however, describes African survivals in nineteenth-century Florida. Although ritual scarification, naming practices, magical beliefs, and material culture are mentioned, emphasis is on religion as the matrix of nineteenth-century African American life and the centerpiece of African cultural influences in Florida.

Revisiting a Controversy

In discussions of African American religious life, two troublesome and interlocking concerns usually emerge. First is the question of the degree to which African culture survived in slave communities. Second, and closely linked, is the question of whether slave religion was essentially docile or basically rebellious. Too often, as David E. Stannard observed, historians have confronted these issues with a “sharply dichotomous approach”: a given element of antebellum or postbellum black American culture either is or is not considered African.1 Such an approach creates several problems. The assumption that a particular aspect of black culture can be neatly pigeonholed as either African or European in origin obscures a fundamental similarity in the general pattern of the cultures of Africa and Europe that anthropologist William Bascom believed “justifies the concept of an Old World Area which includes both Europe and Africa.”2 This approach also obscures the cultural blending process that Melville J. Herskovits illuminated.3

One unconquered problem of the African survivals theory advanced by Herskovits is identifying, as precisely as possible, the cultural and geographical core areas in Africa that are relevant to the particular local New World black populations being studied. That is where earlier theorists went astray or were stymied by the truncated state of African historical studies in the United States at the time they were working. A significant part of the problem derives from imprecise or shifting labeling of the coastal and geographical areas from which the African ancestors of U.S. blacks came. Some writers and speakers who say that the African ancestors of black Americans came from “West Africa” mean the entire Atlantic coast, from the Senegal River to Angola. Others use the same term but then proceed to cite ethnographic examples only from the area between the Senegal River and the Cameroons, omitting Kongo-Angola almost entirely, as did George R Rawick.4 But recent research has shown that Angola and the Kongo are relevant to studying retentions, not only in the Caribbean and Brazil but also in the southern United States. Robert Farris Thompson, citing linguistic and artistic evidence, raised serious questions about the primacy of Dahomean and Yoruba groups in the New World and suggested that the Kongolese and Angolan influences were scarcely less important in either South America or the United States.5 As Bennetta Jules-Rosette suggested, “Many of the ambiguities concerning African musical retentions may be clarified when the Central African cultural complex [as distinguished from the narrowest definition of West Africa] is viewed as a source for Black American expressive form.”6 Linguistic evidence and data summarizing the origins of African newcomers to the lower South during the middle of the eighteenth century suggest that Central African Bantu influences were more prominent in the coastal zones of Florida, Georgia, and South Carolina than heretofore recognized.7

The study of African American religious practices and magical beliefs is central to the controversy over African cultural retentions. In The Myth of the Negro Past, Herskovits wrote that “African religious practices and magical beliefs are everywhere to be found in some measure as recognizable survivals, and are in every region more numerous than survivals in other realms of culture,” such as material aspects of life or political orientation.8 In Herskovits’s scheme of things, then, if one cannot find African survivals or influences in African American religious practices and magical beliefs, one cannot find them anywhere. Although subsequent research by historical archaeologists has forced reconsideration of Herskovits’s statement that “Africanisms in material aspects of culture are almost lacking,” it remains accurate to say that religion constitutes the centerpiece of his tapestry of African survivals.

The Eighteenth Century

As Mechal Sobel indicated, “It seems likely that during the eighteenth century large enclaves of several tribal peoples existed from Maryland south, although among each group many languages were spoken.”9 Eighteenth-century planters in the lower South had clear ethnic preferences among African groups and appear to have attached greater importance to origins than did their counterparts in the Chesapeake area.10 Ira Berlin argued persuasively that during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries three distinctive slave systems evolved in North America: the northern nonplantation system, the Chesapeake Bay system, and the Carolina and Georgia low-country plantation system. According to Berlin, “The mass of black people, however, remained physically separated and psychologically estranged from the Anglo-American world and culturally closer to Africa than any other blacks on continental North America.” Low-country blacks, Berlin argued,

incorporated more of West African culture—as reflected in their language, religion, work patterns, and much else—into their new lives than did other black Americans. Throughout the eighteenth century and into the nineteenth century, low country blacks continued to work the land, name their children, and communicate through word and song in a manner that openly combined African traditions with the circumstances of plantation life.11

The experience of blacks in Florida during the colonial period was closer to Berlin’s Carolina and Georgia low-country slave system than to the two other systems. Indeed, well into the nineteenth century several Florida slaveholders perceived a particular style of speech among slaves as “low country.” It was said that Primus, a runaway from Conecuh County, Alabama, “speaks after the manner peculiar to most negroes raised in the low country.”12 Jacob, who escaped from E. T. Jankes in Florida in 1841, spoke “thick like an African negro.”13 And John, a stout, dark-complexioned man who ran away from Gadsden County, Florida, in 1852, was described as “slow and low country spoken, having been raised in East Florida.”14

The evidence provided by language and naming practices strongly supports Sobel’s notion that “several African languages may well have survived the initial slave trade into the Americas.”15 The “Nine New Negroe Men” from the Gold Coast who were advertised for sale near Savannah in 1764 surely spoke their mother tongues.16 Over one-fourth of the advertisements for runaways printed in the Georgia Gazette during 1765 indicated that the fugitives in question spoke no English.17 Since more than 40 percent of the African slaves who arrived in the British colonies of North America between 1770 and 1775 arrived in South Carolina, the Carolina experience has direct relevance to the history of blacks living in Florida during the eighteenth century. Black fugitives from South Carolina and later Georgia established a maroon tradition in Florida that persisted well into the nineteenth century.18 Other fugitives from colonial South Carolina sought and received asylum, nominal freedom, and Catholic religious instruction near St. Augustine during the first period of Spanish rule.19 Fugitive blacks from the Carolinas and Georgia had been finding refuge in Florida since the late 1600s because, as John D. Milligan pointed out, the area’s semitropical climate, sparse white settlement, and chronic political instability made it an ideal haven for runaway slaves.20 Asserting the particularly aggressive character of the Florida maroon, Milligan concluded: “Quite clearly, if in the first place newly imported Africans had been encouraged by a propitious environment to found the maroon and to mold its activist character, once they had established the tradition, American-born fugitives took advantage of that same environment to continue the maroon.”21

The peak of the colonial import trade in slaves was probably reached between 1764 and 1773, a period that overlaps nine of the twenty-one years of British occupation of Florida. More narrowly, more than 8,000 black newcomers were landed in Charleston alone between November 1, 1772, and September 27, 1773.22 Thus the most recently purchased among the slaves brought to Florida by refugee Loyalists during the American Revolution were likely to have come directly from Africa. By 1767 Richard Oswald had more than one hundred blacks on his East Florida plantation, many of them shipped directly from Africa. Probably most of the Africans were secured through Charleston slave traders such as Henry Laurens.23 It was in 1767 that the first cargo of seventy slaves arrived from Africa in British East Florida.24 In the same year Governor James Grant estimated that six hundred slaves were working in the province.25 Thus, even in the unlikely event that none of the remaining 530 slaves was born in Africa, no fewer than 11.7 percent of the blacks in East Florida in 1767 were shipped directly from Africa. Between 1764 and 1772 two ships from Africa arrived at St. Augustine (one in 1769 and the other in 1770).26 Then on the night of November 18, 1773, the Dover, with one hundred Africans aboard, wrecked near New Smyrna, losing two mariners and about eighty of the Africans.27 We also know that at least a few slaves residing in Pensacola in the 1760s and 1770s spoke African languages. A fugitive escaping Pensacola early in 1770 was described by his master as speaking African and Indian languages but no English.28

The persistence of African naming practices during the era of British control of East Florida (1763–84) underscores the probability that African religious patterns exerted continuing influence among St. Augustine’s black population. J. Leitch Wright, Jr., discovered the names of fifty East Florida blacks from the British era, roughly half of whom were clearly of African origin, including Qua, who was publicly executed for robbery in St. Augustine in 1777. Qua was a popular West African day-name (Akan group), meaning male child born on Thursday.29 Even as late as 1840 an occasional Ashanti day-name appears in advertisements for runaway slaves, including another Qua, who had “one front tooth a little shorter than the others.”30

When the government of East Florida was transferred back to the Spanish in 1784, 450 whites shifted their allegiance to the new Spanish government and remained in the colony. Remaining with them were two hundred blacks, the surviving nucleus of an East Florida black population that may have numbered more than 9,000 at the peak of the Loyalist refugee period. The immediate geographical and cultural roots for most of them were in the English-speaking colonies of Georgia and South Carolina, especially the coastal region stretching from Cape Fear to Cumberland Sound. They partook of the Creole cultures developed during the eighteenth century in those regions.

Evidence of the persistence of African naming practices during the second Spanish period is contained in a 1792 inventory of the estate of Dona Maria Evans, an Anglo-American who had migrated to Florida from South Carolina in 1763. The inventory lists a total of twenty blacks, organized into three nuclear family units of four, six, and two members, respectively, and eight unattached individuals. Some had African-sounding names: Zambo, Pender, Sisa, Fibi, Ebron, Congo.31

The eighteenth century, then, was not only the century in which the United States was launched politically; it was also the incubation period for what some historical linguists have called the creolization of African American culture.32 Religiously and intellectually, the question of whether to convert the African and African American slaves to Christianity was a focal point of debate among white clergy and slaveowners. Peter H. Wood suggested that the controversy over African American conversion was also a topic of heated debate among African Americans themselves and hence constituted “a forgotten chapter in eighteenth-century southern intellectual history.”33

The Nineteenth Century

In 1804 about fifty Africans, almost evenly divided between men and women, arrived in Florida and were settled on the St. Johns River, where their importer and owner, Zephaniah Kingsley, consciously eschewed the imposition of Christianity and other aspects of European culture. Kingsley, who generally purchased slaves directly from the African coast, adopted a policy of nonintervention in all areas of slave culture except manual training: “I never interfered with their connubial concerns, nor domestic affairs, but let them regulate these after their own manner.”34 If these Africans continued their native dances for a number of years after their arrival, as Kingsley asserted, the likelihood is great that they also continued African styles of worship. In fact, most of the “native dances” that they perpetuated were probably part of their indigenous religious patterns.

Although “salt water Negroes” from Africa became less numerous following the official close of the overseas slave trade by the U.S. Congress in 1807, illegal imports from Africa continued. Some of the Africans entered the United States through Florida, which remained under Spanish control until 1821. In October 1812 Richard Drake, an Irish-American and a U.S. citizen, made a slaving voyage from Rio Basso on the Windward Coast to Pensacola Bay.35 During the waning years of Spanish jurisdiction over Florida, a considerable stir arose over slaving activities from Amelia Island. Toward the middle of January 1818, two privateers, carrying a combined total of 120 slaves, arrived at Amelia Island. A week later a committee of the U.S. House of Representatives issued a report on the illicit introduction of slaves into the United States from the island.36

Besides the black populations concentrated around St. Augustine and, to a lesser extent, Pensacola, there were maroons who had managed both to escape their owners in South Carolina and Georgia and to avoid the areas of Florida that were effectively controlled by the Spaniards. Large, quasipermanent maroon communities thrived in border areas that generated international rivalry. Close relations that had developed between blacks and American Indians in Florida when it was a Spanish territory continued into the American period. These black fugitives frequently settled among the Indians of northern Florida, usually living in “Negro towns” associated with Indian villages. Although sources describing their religious behavior are scarce, provocative linguistic clues to their cultural status exist in the form of Florida place names conventionally described as being of unknown origin. The river and town of Aucilla are near the site of the old Negro Fort (now known as Fort Gadsden). Variant spellings include Assile, Agile, Axille, Aguil, Ochule, Ocilla, and Asile. Winifred Vass, for twelve years editor of one of the largest and oldest vernacular periodicals in Central Africa, suggested that Aucilla might derive from the Bantu verb ashila, which means “to build or construct a house for someone else.”37 Vass also suggested that the name of the Suwannee River might derive from the Bantu word nsub-wanyi, which means “my house, my home.” A large black settlement along this river was destroyed in 1818 during the Seminole Wars. Perhaps as many as twelve hundred African American maroons were living in the Seminole towns by 1836. Because the black fugitives were better acquainted with the language, religion, and other ways of whites than were their Indian hosts and nominal masters, the blacks served as cultural go-betweens for Native Americans and whites. That this was the case in matters of religion is strongly suggested by the Reverend Isaac Boring’s stratagem of preaching to the blacks of an “Indian town” as a way of gaining missionary access to the Indians themselves, the principal aim of his visits.38

Even after Florida became a part of the United States in 1821, it was not unusual to find Africans bearing tribal marks. In 1835, for instance, Charles, aged forty, who ran away from Henry W. Maxey near Jacksonville, bore “the African marks on his face of his country.”39 While some “illegal aliens” from Africa may have been shipped directly, others probably arrived in Florida in the clandestine Cuba-to-Florida trade. Despite wildly clashing estimates of the extent and significance of the trade, there is no doubt that some Africans bound for Cuba ended up in Florida. Milo, one of eight slaves transported to Florida on the schooner Emperor in 1838, said not only that he was from Africa but “that he was brought here from Havana.”40 There is also the example of the lucumi slave encountered by the Swedish novelist Fredrika Bremer during her visit to Florida in the 1850s. When Bremer asked the middle-aged African whether he had “come hither from Africa,” he replied yes, “that he had been smuggled hither from Cuba many years ago.”41 Illegal slave trading persisted in South Carolina as late as 1858, when the slave yacht Wanderer arrived and small parcels of its cargo of four hundred Africans were sold into Florida.42

The African roots of modern African American culture in Florida had weakened considerably even as early as the Reconstruction era, especially in terms of the presence of individuals who had actually been born in Africa. By the middle of this era, we clearly are dealing primarily with a U.S.-born black population in Florida, as elsewhere in the South. Only eighty-eight African-born persons were enumerated in Florida in the 1870 U.S. census. Among the more elderly of these Africans was Jeff Martin, aged 102, who had been born around 1768 in an unidentifiable region of Africa. Martin, who resided in Jefferson County at the time of the census, was the sole black Floridian who listed his occupation as “root doctor.” He was one of twelve African-born persons residing in Jefferson County in 1870. Of seventeen other Florida counties having African-born residents, only Leon had as many as twelve. Of the 9,645 blacks counted in the entire 1870 census who were born outside the United States, 1,984 (20.6 percent) were born in Africa. Eighty-eight (4.4 percent) of all the African-born residents of the United States in 1870 lived in Florida.43 If Martin reached American shores at age ten, he would have arrived legally in 1778, the year Virginia outlawed the overseas slave trade. If he arrived legally between the ages of ten and twenty, he may have entered a port in Pennsylvania, Maryland, South Carolina, or Georgia, which abolished the slave trade after Virginia did.

Martin was by no means the only practitioner of herbalism or the occult. Both before and after the Civil War, black and white Christians were embedded in a cultural milieu in which “conjur” and other rural folk beliefs exercised considerable power. In her memoirs, Ellen Call Long mentioned Delia, a slave who “began to droop at about age 18” and soon died.

After death the nurse (a character on every plantation), brought to my mother a small package of dingy cloth, in which was wrapped two or three rusty nails, a dog’s tooth, a little lamb’s wool, and a ball of clay. Trembling with awe, she said: “This is what killed Delia, ole Miss, I most knowed it was jest so. I most knowed as how she was conjured, and jest found dis under her matrass where she die.”

On inquiry we found that she was the cause of jealousy to a companion negro girl, who had made threats towards her; and moreover, we learned, that every negro on the plantation had known all the time what power was at work upon Delia, but dared not, as they expressed it, “break the spell,” for the evil spirit would have turned on the one that told it.44

The slaves on this Leon County plantation obviously believed in the potency of the medicine man who had cast the spell on Delia. If all others in this slave community knew of the spell, it is very likely that the victim also knew. The combination of knowledge that a root doctor was working magic against her and the belief in the power of such magic may have caused her literally to lie down and die. Such appears to be the case in voodoo death as described by anthropologist W.B. Cannon.45

Folk belief in sympathetic magic did not disappear overnight after the end of legal slavery. In an account set down in 1892, Ellen Call Long noted that “negro witchcraft” was thriving in Leon County during the early 1870s. The occasion for her observation was the tragic death of five black children between the ages of four and six.

Thus it was that near the end of the first decade of freedom to the negro, I saw one of the most remarkable exhibitions of superstition ever beheld by intelligence—the more so, that what I shall relate occurred in what was considered the purlieu of those most cultured and educated of the middle Florida country.46

During and after Reconstruction, black ministers contended with the power of both Divine Providence and folk beliefs. When in 1880 the horse of a black drayman died after the fellow had “cussed out” his preacher, the minister interpreted the man’s misfortune as “a visitation of Divine Providence for his cussedness.”47 Equally powerful was belief in the abilities of special individuals to cast spells on people who had wronged them. A man in Tallahassee, assisted by an elderly woman, astounded onlookers by appearing to vomit nails, moss, and other debris. “His friends believe strongly in the reality of it all,” noted the Floridian, “and insist that he had had ‘a spell’ put upon him by a woman to whom he was engaged but whom he jilted and who now protests that she intends to pay him off for his base desertion.”48

Most blacks living in Florida during the last half of the nineteenth century had been born neither in Africa nor in the Caribbean but in six southeastern states: Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, Virginia, Alabama, and North Carolina. In 1890, 122,170 individuals, making up 76.3 percent of Florida’s total black population, were native Floridians. Only 5.7 percent (7,411) of all Florida-born blacks lived outside the state of their birth in 1890, whereas between 11.1 percent and 25.9 percent of the blacks born in North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and Virginia did so. Between 1880 and 1890 Florida experienced a net gain of 30,528 black inhabitants through interstate migration. During the same decade Georgia, South Carolina, Alabama, North Carolina, and Virginia experienced net losses in the black population. Put another way, a hefty 23.7 percent of the blacks living in Florida in 1890 had been born in other states, compared with percentages of 1.7 in South Carolina, 2.8 in North Carolina, 2.9 in Virginia, 6.6 in Georgia, and 10.0 in Alabama.49

If distinctive cultural patterns bearing traceable African origins are found in postbellum Florida, they cannot be explained simply by the presence of large numbers of African-born individuals in the state’s black population. Other explanations must be found for the persistence of such culturally distinctive and widely acknowledged African-influenced elements of culture as basket-making styles, grave markers, mortuary customs, and shouting (spirit possession) in African American religious rituals in the latter half of the nineteenth century. These Africanisms had become Americanisms and persisted in Florida and elsewhere in the Deep South as integral parts of an interconnected circum-Caribbean Creole culture that had been forged in Florida, Georgia, and South Carolina during the previous century and had alternately influenced and been influenced by the customs and lifeways of southern whites and Indians.

Although native Africans still alive during the 1870s and 1880s lacked any significant influence because of their minuscule numbers and proportions, indirect and even direct African influence was possible. Some of Florida’s older American-born black adults, such as the Reverend Eli Boyd, remembered deceased African-born parents and grandparents. A self-designated “Geechee” interviewed in Miami during the 1930s, Boyd recalled, “My grandfather was brought directly from Africa to Port Royal, South Carolina.”50

The possibility of vivid memories of African-born parents and grandparents was underscored strikingly in a conversation I had with Richard McKinney, son of a black Baptist minister who figures prominently in the history of Live Oak’s African Baptist Church. The McKinney family oral tradition posits links of kinship stretching from Jacob, an Ashanti African born around 1820, to the present.51 And while the proportion of Florida’s black population born in Africa had diminished to statistical insignificance by 1870, personal memories of African family ancestors had not disappeared even as late as the 1930s, when Shack Thomas, born a slave in Florida in 1834, recalled that his father had come from the Congo: “Pappy was a African. I knows dat. He come from Congo, over in Africa, and I heard him say a big storm drove de ship somewhere on de Ca’lina coast. I ‘member he mighty ‘spectful to Massa and missy, but he proud, too, and walk straighter’n anybody I ever seen. He had scars on de right side he head and cheek what he say am tribe marks, but what dey means I don’t know.”52

From these and other African ancestors, no longer alive when the census takers made their rounds in 1870, some older country-born black Floridians like Mrs. Lucreaty Clark of Lamont (Jefferson County) may have learned African basket-weaving techniques handed down across several generations, as did George Brown in South Carolina.53 Although South Carolina’s African American basket-weaving tradition, which Peter H. Wood said “undoubtedly represents an early fusion of Negro and Indian skills,”54 is widely known and highly visible to tourists along the roadsides of the low country, less attention has been focused on the traditions of basket weaving still practiced by some African American craftspeople in Florida today. In describing the white oak baskets made by Lucreaty Clark, James Dickerson wrote: “Within her fingertips is carried the memory of an ancient African craft fast disappearing from the face of the Florida Panhandle. African slaves, once brought to the Panhandle to work on plantations, made baskets to hold cotton picked from the fields.”55

The tendency once was to assume that in those instances when Africans did not bring African-made artifacts with them in the slave ships, there was no possibility of reproducing the ancestral material culture. That conception of how diffusion, even of material culture, works is entirely too physicalistic. The specific materials from which the artifacts are made is one thing; the form and design concepts are another matter altogether. The artifact might be most appropriately viewed as the analogue of a phenotype and the ideal traditional form as the genotype. What we see is not necessarily what the craftsworker has in his or her head. It is, rather, the end product of an interaction among the craftsperson’s image of the cultural tradition or ideal; the materials available to work with; and the craftsperson’s skill, practice, and ability to shape the materials in conformity with the ideal image. The ideal image is carried, not in the hands or on the backs of the African bondsmen, but in their heads. The reappearance of artifacts conforming reasonably well with African cultural ideas for pot, basket, chair, or door is therefore a mental feat before it becomes a physical reality. One archaeologist called the idea of proper form, which exists in the mind of the craftsperson who is fashioning an artifact, “the mental template,” an apt phrase.56

Spirit Possession and Ritual Ecstatic Dance

A high degree of emotionalism has often been considered characteristic of black religious life.57 The frequency, long duration, and emotional nature of black church services in Florida have drawn comment from a number of observers. The image of black religionists as vocally demonstrative in their worship was so widespread that finding a group of black worshipers during Reconstruction that was “not noisy” was cause for comment.58 While traveling in Florida in 1870 G. W. Nichols visited St. Augustine and Jacksonville, where he witnessed “shocking mummeries, which belonged to the fetich worship of savage Central Africa and not of Christian America.”59 If we substitute “traditional African religion” for the ethnocentrically loaded “fetich worship” and bracket the obviously biased adjective savage, an important kernel of historical truth may remain in this jaundiced account. What did Nichols mean by Central Africa in geographical terms? Was he making a distinction between West Africa and Central Africa or was this simply his verbal shorthand for “primitive Africa” in general? In 1871 the Jacksonville Courier reported the complaints of local whites about the duration of demonstrative services in a revival that continued several weeks.60 The same year Miss E. B. Eveleth, an American Missionary Society instructor at Gainesville, wrote that “many of those old church goers, still cling to their heathenish habits, such as shouting and thinking the more noise and motion they have the better Christians they are.”61 Eveleth and a colleague attended a service at which a woman jumped up in the middle of a sermon, clapped her hands, screamed, danced up to the pulpit, and whirled around like a top before throwing herself back into her seat. She was followed by another woman with similar motions. In an 1879 article entitled “Begin Worship Earlier,” the Tallahassee Weekly Floridian reported that white citizens residing in “the neighborhood of the colored people’s churches” had complained about “the singing and exhorting at a late hour.” Ever helpful, the Floridian suggested that “the colored people begin services earlier and preach short sermons.”62

In 1873 Jonathan Gibbs, a Dartmouth-educated Presbyterian minister who became Florida’s first black secretary of state, was apologetic about the ecstatic religious behavior of blacks. They “still preach and pray, sing and shout all night long,” said Gibbs, “in defiance of health, sound sense, or other considerations supposed to influence a reasonable being.”63 One seeming example of how some black worshipers shouted in defiance of health was described by James Weldon Johnson. A woman known as Aunt Venie, out of respect for her age, was “the champion of all ‘ring shouters’” at St. Paul’s Church in Jacksonville, Johnson recalled:

We were a little bit afraid of Aunt Venie, too, for she was said to have fits. (In a former age she would have been classed among those “possessed with devils.”) When there was a “ring shout” the weird music and the sound of thudding feet set the silence of the night vibrating and throbbing with a vague terror. Many a time I woke suddenly and lay a long while strangely troubled by these sounds, the like of which my great-grandmother Sarah had heard as a child. The shouters, formed in a ring, men and women alternating, their bodies close together, moved round and round on shuffling feet that never left the floor. With the heel of the right foot they pounded out the fundamental beat of the dance and with their hands clapped out the varying rhythmical accents of the chant; for the music was, in fact, an African chant and the shout an African dance, whole pagan rite transplanted and adapted to Christian worship. Round and round the ring would go. One, two, three, four, five hours, the very monotony of sound and motion inducing an ecstatic frenzy. Aunt Venie, it seems, never, even after the hardest day of washing and ironing, missed a “ring shout.”64

Johnson’s speculation that the sounds of the ring shout resembled the sounds his great-grandmother had heard in childhood is noteworthy because his maternal great-grandmother, Sarah, was born and raised in Africa. She was aboard a slave ship headed for Brazil when the ship was captured by a British man-of-war and taken to Nassau.

It is fairly well known that African Methodist Episcopal Bishop Daniel Alexander Payne opposed the ring shout and tried to eliminate all forms of religious dance. One shocking spectacle that Payne observed at St. Paul’s A.M.E. Church in Jacksonville (where Aunt Venie shouted) left such an impression upon him that he recorded his frustrations in his personal journal in 1892. His frustrations were intensified by the realization that even the parishioners of a Wilberforce-educated pastor (who should know better) danced at an A.M.E. “Love Feast.”65

Another eyewitness account may serve as a definitive example of this persistent, ritually induced and culturally patterned behavior known as shouting. Charles Edwardes, a white traveler, observed the event on a freezing January day some time in the early 1880s in an unspecified black church in Jacksonville. The building was filled with three to four hundred adults who initiated a “bread-and-water forgiveness festival” with the singing of this verse, repeated again and again:

While Heaven’s in my view,

My journey I’ll pursue;

I never will turn back,

While Heaven’s in my view.

Then the spirit possession began:

One woman—she was almost a girl—cried herself into what might have been a fit. But if a fit, it was of a kind well known to the other women, her neighbors, for two of these stood up by her side, and taking, each of them, an arm of her, they guided or supported her through all her contortions, with faces showing their amusement rather than concern. Even when she wrenched herself away from them, and threw herself backward, so that her head and the upper part of her body hung over into the next pew, they pulled her back and tightened their hold, while a third lady tried to put order into the dress and hair of the girl—and not one of the three was so absorbed by her task that she would devote her eyes and ears to it exclusively.66

The foregoing descriptions have in common the depiction of religious hysteria or possession-like behavior, popularly known as “shouting,” “getting happy,” or “getting the spirit.” Observed in certain black churches, it has been variously attributed to innate primitive emotionalism, residues of African culture, or just the simple emotionalism of the unwashed and uneducated masses. In 1930 Herskovits raised the question of the relation of “religious hysteria” among peoples of African origin in the United States, Haiti, the Guianas, and the West Indies to similar African phenomena. But, as Herskovits pointed out, few answers were forthcoming in 1930 because little systematic study of the religious practices of blacks in the United States had been conducted from the point of view of the ethnologist.67

Certainly not all black churchgoers exhibit the same degree or type of demonstrativeness in religious ceremonies. The amount of heat and emotional ecstasy generated seems to be closely related to social position. “It is of no little significance,” wrote Louis Lomax, “that these mulatto Negroes of the ‘genteel tradition’ were Episcopalians, Presbyterians and Congregationalists while the black masses were members of the ‘common’ churches, such as the Baptist and Methodist congregations.” The difference between the “genteel tradition” and the “common” tradition was to be found in the nature of the services. Those who claimed to be of the “genteel” group considered their services to be of a “higher order,” which, according to Lomax, made their services “a good deal less exciting.” The association of the black masses with denominations having the more exciting brand of services led the Reverend Thomas Lomax, a black Georgia Baptist firebrand of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries and grandfather of Louis, to crack: “If you see a Negro who is not a Baptist or a Methodist, some white man has been tampering with his religion.”68

Some writers viewed the ritual known as the ring shout, or simply the shout, as a phenomenon found only among the Gullah-speaking blacks of the Sea Islands off Georgia and South Carolina.69 It is true that some of the most vivid eyewitness accounts of shouts originated in that region. Laura M. Towne, for example, described the shout as a religious ceremony representing possibly a modification of “the negro’s regular dances; which may have had its origin in some native African dance.”70 Bernard Katz wrote that the antebellum and Civil War era shout usually came after the praise meeting was over, and no one but church members were expected to join.71 The musicologist Eileen Southern considered the shout, held after the regularly scheduled service, to be “purely African in form and tradition,” arguing that “it simply represented the survival of African tradition in the New World.”72 If this argument is accepted, there can be little doubt that the religious-musical-dance-drama form called the shout exhibited a remarkable stability over time. The ring shout described by James Weldon Johnson probably happened in the late 1870s or early 1880s. In antebellum times, when most of the furnishings of the praise houses in which the shouts occurred were movable, the physical form of the shout was rather literally a ring. Wooden chairs or benches that were not nailed to the floor of the cabins were easily moved to the side, leaving empty floor space in the center of the building. After the Civil War the circular form of the shout probably persisted longest in churches with movable seats. With the appearance of heavy wooden pews, which were usually permanently riveted to the floor, the circular form of the shout had to be either modified or abandoned altogether.
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Pastor George Morgan calls on parishioners to be baptized in the San Sebastian River, near St. Augustine, in the summer of 1944. The staff he holds bears a resemblance to Yoruba staffs from West Africa. Photograph by J. Carver Harris. Courtesy of the St. Augustine Historical Society.
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Members of the Shiloh Baptist Church on King Street in St. Augustine gather at Fiddler’s Flat, on the banks of the San Sebastian River, to watch a baptism in 1944. Photograph by J. Carver Harris. Courtesy of the St. Augustine Historical Society.



Spirit possession pushes us toward direct confrontation with what has been called the Frazier-Herskovits debate over the extent and impact of African cultural influences in various parts of the Western Hemisphere. Two kinds of altered states of consciousness are pertinent here—drug trance and possession trance, both of which are widespread. In a survey of altered states in 488 societies, Erika Bourguignon found possession trance to be prevalent in (but of course not limited to) continental Africa. Bourguignon and others influenced by Herskovits argued, “It is clear that possession trance in Haiti is historically related to what is essentially the same phenomenon in West Africa and in other West African-derived societies in the Americas.”73 If so, there is every reason to expect that similar behaviors exhibited by Western and Central African-derived black populations in the United States are historically related to those parts of Africa. Possession behaviors are learned in both formal and informal ways, along with beliefs and associated ritual action. In human communities that view possession as a peak religious experience, the behavior is widely interpreted as a communal event, an act that helps cement a spiritual and social community.

One universal aspect of spirit possession is the accompaniment of drumbeats or drumlike rhythms. Although little systematic research has been conducted, Andrew Neher offered a tentative physiological explanation of the behavior found in ceremonies involving drums. “This behavior,” he wrote, “is often described as a trance in which the individual experiences unusual perceptions or hallucinations. In the extreme case, twitching of the body and generalized convulsion are reported.” Neher found support for the notion that “the behavior is the result primarily of the effects of rhythmic drumming on the central nervous system.” Drumbeats are made up of many frequencies that are transmitted along different nerve pathways in the brain. Since low-frequency receptors of the ear are more resistant to damage than high-frequency receptors, “It would be possible to transmit more energy to the brain with a drum than with a stimulus of a higher frequency.” In a second part of his study, Neher obtained responses to drumming that were similar to responses observed with rhythmic light stimulation of the brain. He argued that possession takes place when drum, or drumlike, pulses are used deliberately in rituals to bring about a state of dissociation, or trance. Analyses of the drum rhythms of the beer dance of the Lala of Northern Rhodesia, the Sogo dance of the Ewe of Ghana, the beer dance of the Nsenga of Central Africa, and of Vodoun, Ifo, and Juba dances in recorded Haitian music found that the agitated possession behavior occurred at beats between seven and nine cycles per second. Polyrhythmic percussive techniques, such as the ones described for the Jacksonville ring shout by James Weldon Johnson, tend to heighten the intensity of the response.74

Death, Burial, and Funeral Rites

Numerous ethnographic accounts underscore the assertion of Fortes and Dieterlen that in many traditional African systems, “death alone is not a sufficient condition for becoming an ancestor entitled to receive worship.” A proper burial, they said, is “the sine qua non for becoming an ancestor deserving of veneration.”75 While the precise number of African-born individuals who arrived illegally in Florida after 1821 is not known, we do know from specific descriptions of “salt water” Negroes who arrived in antebellum Florida that they were not hit with cultural amnesia the moment they stepped off the slavers. Accounts of the arrival of cargoes of Africans confiscated in midpassage on the seas and of their behavior upon landing in the United States clearly establish the carrying over of such cultural items as burial ceremonies. In May 1860, for example, the illegal slavers Wildfire and Williams were captured on the seas by two U.S. gunboats, the Mohawk and the Wyandotte, and taken to the port of Key West. Shortly after the arrival of the three hundred Africans aboard these two ships, one of the children died. Jefferson B. Browne described the burial ceremony:

The interment took place some distance from the barracoon, and the Africans were allowed to be present at the services, where they performed their native ceremony. Weird chants were sung, mingled with wails of grief and mournful moanings from a hundred throats, until the coffin was lowered into the grave, when at once the chanting stopped and perfect silence reigned, and the Africans marched back to the barracoons without a sound.76

Some slaves in the lower South made a semantic distinction between “burying” and “preaching the funeral.” James Bolton, a former slave in Oglethorpe County, Georgia, said: “When folkses on our plantation died, Marster always let many of us as wanted to go lay off work ’til after the burying. Sometimes it were two or three months after the burying before the funeral sermon was preached.”77 Among the African societies that traditionally practiced “second burial” was the Igbo:

Greater complications arose when many children of many family heads became Christians, and were forbidden by the teaching of the missionaries to perform the second burial of their fathers. The Igbo practice was to bury an elderly person soon after death, with preliminary ceremonies. Then after a year or less, sometimes more, the second burial would take place with a lot more elaborate ceremonies than the first. It was believed that this second burial was the one that helped the spirit of such departed elderly persons to rest comfortably with the ancestors in the land of ancestral bliss, from where they plead effectively with the gods for the well-being of their children on earth.78

In the traditional Igbo setting, the matter of the inheritance of the father’s property could not be properly settled until after the second burial. Being slaves, the community was not likely to have found this consideration significant. One real-world element that reinforced the practice of second burial in its traditional Old World cultural setting was thus stripped away from the Igbos who were imported into the American colonies. A second consideration in the traditional context was the belief that without a proper second burial, the extended family would be harassed and victimized by the hovering restless spirit of the dead person. This notion probably lost little weight in the transition from Africa to North America, and there is considerable evidence among late antebellum slaves, as recounted in WPA narratives and published narratives and autobiographies, that belief in roaming, restless spirits was still something to contend with long after the majority of the slaves were American-born.79

The distinction between burial and “second burial” or “preaching the funeral,” a concept in many African societies from which slaves were extracted, is important to an understanding of how Africans adapted to the restrictions on funeral attendance in the Old South. The deceased might be buried at night during the work week (so as not to disrupt farm work), leaving days or even weeks or months to pass before the public funeral was performed. The funeral ritual, then, as distinguished from the physical act of burying the body, is a public phenomenon. Funeral rites in traditional African societies were often occasions for celebration, creating an intensely renewed sense of family and communal unit among the survivors. It was perhaps an analogous sense of celebration that, during the Reconstruction era, gave Ambrose B. Hart the mistaken impression that services among blacks were held more for recreation than for religion. Among the events reinforcing Hart’s impression was an incident that bears a striking resemblance to the Igbo “second burial.” Hart observed a group of Florida freed slaves gather to “repreach a funeral service for a child that had been ‘buried prayed for and preached over two months ago.’”80 It is conceivable that immediate interment of the corpse was necessitated by the limitations of embalming techniques at the time. Both blacks and whites in the antebellum period buried rather soon after death. If burial waited until the nearest Sunday, it would not preempt a scheduled day of work, and the maximum number of people in the neighborhood would be able to attend. But after slavery the patterns began to diverge between blacks and whites to the point where one Leon County resident in the 1970s perceived that “white people don’t have no respect for their dead . . . they bury them so quick.” With the advent of improved methods of embalming, the physical necessity of nearly immediate burial declined, but the possibility of delay was perhaps even the preference, among rural blacks. It is not unusual for more traditionally oriented and rural-based families to delay “preaching the funeral” for weeks, even now.

Richard Wright recognized in the 1930s that there was “a culture of the Negro which has been addressed to him and to him alone, a culture which has, for good or ill, helped to clarify his consciousness and create emotional attitudes which are conducive to action. This culture stemmed mainly from two sources: (1) the Negro church; and (2) the fluid folklore of the Negro people.” According to Wright:

It was through the portals of the church that the American Negro first entered the shrine of Western culture. Living under slave conditions of life, bereft of his African heritage, the Negro found that his struggle for religion on the plantation between 1820–60 was nothing short of a struggle for human rights. It remained a relatively progressive struggle until religion began to ameliorate and assuage suffering and denial. Even today there are millions of Negroes whose only sense of a whole universe, whose only relation to society and man, and whose only guide to personal dignity comes through the archaic morphology of Christian salvation.81

By focusing on blacks living within the confines of present-day Florida, this essay has depicted the entrance of African Americans “through the portals of the church” into what Wright called “the shrine of Western culture.” By this entry, they not only transformed themselves into African Americans without totally losing their African past but also helped transform and enrich Western culture itself.
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“Yellow Silk Ferret Tied Round Their Wrists”

African Americans in British East Florida, 1763–1784

Daniel L. Schafer

GOVERNOR JAMES GRANT arrived in St. Augustine on August 29, 1764, determined to transform Britain’s new East Florida colony into a plantation province through the labor of African slaves. Earlier experiences in South Carolina had convinced Grant that plantations could only be developed in warm-climate colonies by black workers. White migrants from Europe could be utilized later, the governor reasoned, but only after the enormous burdens of initial development had been completed.1

Historian Bernard Bailyn has recently concluded that the inability of James Grant and his successors to recruit adequate numbers of white settlers was the major reason why British East Florida was an expensive and exotic two-decade failure. Bailyn believes a significant reason for the success of the northern British American colonies, which was not replicated in East Florida, was a labor system based on family farms. But there is little evidence that the governing establishment in Florida intended to follow that pattern, nor that they would have agreed with Bailyn that the dominant labor system that emerged, “plantations, large and small, worked by gangs of black slaves,” was necessarily a sign of failure. Bailyn’s contention that “this outcome had not been predicted and had not been expected” is at odds with both the plans and actions of James Grant, the principal architect of East Florida’s plantation society.2

Governor Grant’s model was South Carolina, the only British mainland colony with a black majority. Historian Peter Wood has shown that during South Carolina’s first three decades, 1670–1700, its laborers were primarily white migrants from Barbados engaged in small-scale agriculture and exports of corn, livestock, and lumber. After discovering that rice could be a profitable export crop, and that Africans were generally experienced rice farmers and cattle drovers and were less susceptible than white settlers to malaria and yellow fever, the Carolina planters turned increasingly to black slaves. By 1735 a Charles Town (later Charleston) resident expressed what had already become a common belief: “[Rice] can’t (in any great quantity’s) be produced by white people. Because the Work is too laborious, the heat very intent, and the Whites can’t work in the wett at that Season of the year.”3

Historian David Galenson’s comparison of colonial servitude and slavery established that all the southern British American provinces depended on white indentures during the initial decades of development, but that Africans predominated after a staple crop was established. The changeover in South Carolina came in the first decades of the eighteenth century, when rice became the staple export crop. Servants that arrived in the colonies after staple crops prevailed tended to be skilled tradesmen. When the expense of white skilled labor continued to climb, however, planters began training their slaves, especially those born in America.4

Decades before East Florida became a British colony, therefore, black slaves had become the laborers of choice in the rice and indigo fields of British America and had replaced whites as carpenters and coopers and in the other artisan trades. “By 1740,” Charles Joyner has written, “two-thirds of South Carolina’s settlers were Africans, nearly 40,000 people. On the Waccamaw [a coastal rice region] the proportions were even more lopsided.”5 When James Grant arrived in South Carolina in 1760, he found a long-established, distinctive racial demography that prompted one man to say that the colony “looks more like a negro country than like a country settled by white people.”6

Grant encountered a dramatically different settlement pattern in East Florida in 1764. St. Augustine was an empty town with a garrison force of fewer than two hundred men, and outside the town walls, the new governor found only “a State of Nature when I landed . . . , not an acre of land planted in the Country and nobody to work or at work.”7 The exchange of flags between Spain and Britain had precipitated the evacuation of approximately 3,000 St. Augustine residents in January 1764, leaving only three families as transition settlers. After touring the province in September 1764, Grant complained that he had not found “ten acres of corn in the country,” although “some straggling woodsmen already [were] upon [the St. Johns River].”8 It was vital that land be cleared and crops planted immediately and that roads and other public improvements be attended to soon, and these tasks could only be accomplished if large numbers of workers moved into the province. But Grant was determined that workers would not be American frontiersmen, or “crackers,” as he contemptuously referred to them.

Grant turned immediately to South Carolina, recruiting among the leading planters for men who could fill government offices and, not coincidentally, also bring into the province large numbers of Carolina-born slaves. John Moultrie was lured with promises of the lieutenant governorship and grants of free land. Moultrie, a graduate in medicine from Edinburgh University in Scotland, had written his thesis on the South Carolina yellow fever epidemic of 1745, finding that Africans were the least likely group to contract the disease. Calling Moultrie “a very well informed planter who makes the best Indigo in Carolina,” the governor predicted that he would become an “oracle” in Florida, a man who would be consulted by other planters and who would recruit “some of [his] friends to come and live amongst us.”9 The bonus would be Moultrie’s 180 slaves, who were already familiar both with the slash-and-burn techniques necessary to clear virgin lands and with the cultivation of rice, indigo, and other provisions projected for Florida. Some of his friends had even larger slave forces. His brother James Moultrie and William Drayton, Duke Bell, and Francis Kinloch were among many Carolinians who established Florida plantations through the labors of their slaves.

“only . . . by the labor of slaves”

Some of the first plantations attempted in East Florida by British absentee owners employed white indentures, but the results were so unsuccessful that James Grant warned others against using them. Even German immigrants, so prized in the northern colonies, “won’t do here” Grant told one absentee in 1766. He conceded that they were “industrious” when self-employed, but he warned that when contracted to work for others, they routinely absconded: “Upon their landing they are immediately seized with the pride which every man is possessed of who wears a white face in America and they say they won’t be slaves and so they make their escape.”10

Grant elaborated on this theme in the many letters he sent to the absentee landowners. He alerted Thomas Thoroton that transporting white workers to Florida would be costly: daily wages of at least four shillings per day for common laborers and six for tradesmen were customary. Even at these wages, Grant observed, Germans in Florida were likely to conclude that “it is below the dignity of a White Man to be a slave to anybody, and that Negroes are the proper people to do the work.”11 He told the Earl of Cassillis, “No produce will answer the expense of white labor”; artisans sent from estates in Scotland, especially those accustomed to living in towns, became in Florida “generally drunk and idle.”12

Grant’s letters also contained encouraging news: Although white workers were prohibitively expensive, there was a moderately priced alternative in Carolina-born slaves, common field hands who could be purchased for between £40 and £50 sterling each and provided with food, clothing, and tools at an annual cost seldom as high as thirty shillings each. At these prices, and given that black slaves generally increased in number and value, it seemed only logical to the governor that “work in this new world and indeed in every warm climate must be carried on by Negroes.”13

In June 1768 Grant visited an estate being prepared for John Perceval, the second Earl of Egmont, at Mount Royal on the St. Johns River and witnessed the work of white craftsmen sent from Egmont’s estates in Britain. They appeared to be skilled and willing to work, Grant thought, but they tired so quickly in the heat that the governor concluded: “Settlements in this warm climate must be formed by Negroes. Our indented white people can hardly be prevailed upon to work for their own subsistence”—much less for the well-being of a master. Only after plantations were established and profitable could white laborers and small planters be introduced, “but such a plan my Lord is not to be thought of till this new world has in some means been created . . . [and] this country can only be brought to that rich and plentiful state by the labor of slaves.”14 Grant urged Egmont to discharge his expensive white tradesmen and replace them with skilled slaves trained in South Carolina.

“Country born” or “new Negroes”?

Grant advised the absentee owners to start plantations with “country born” Negroes available in South Carolina who were familiar with the planting practices and the language of their owners. “Seasoned” Africans—residents of South Carolina for several years and familiar with the crops and the language—could also be included among the slaves designated to start a new plantation. After these experienced workers had cleared the land, planted provisions, and constructed shelters, “new Negroes” direct from the coast of Africa could be merged into the labor force, at savings of one-third or more in purchase costs.

Grant brought ten domestic servants to St. Augustine, including Francois, a butler; Baptiste, a cook; Ragout, an assistant cook; and Alexander, a baker.15 Over the following years he and his agent purchased many more slaves. In 1764 Grant bought eight slaves from Henry Laurens to start a 350-acre farm immediately adjacent to the northern boundary of the town. The five men and three women, purchased at an average price of £62, were “country born.”16 Included were Will and his son Charles, who had been the property of William Simpson. In 1767 Simpson wrote from South Carolina asking the governor to purchase Will’s wife and four other children: “The fellow writes his wife frequently . . . in great distress for want of her; he disobliged me, otherwise I would not have parted with him; but he is now sufficiently punished. . . . A separating of those unhappy people is adding distress to their unfortunate condition.”17 It is not possible to tell from the records if the family was reunited, but Will stayed with Grant for two decades. He was occasionally hired out to other planters as a plowman, and he became manager of all planting activities at one of Grant’s estates.

Grant continued to purchase country-born slaves when he found bargains at probate and other sales and when he was in need of laborers with special skills. Among the “seasoned” Africans he bought were Jimmy Lowe, Harford, and Adam, who were described by Henry Laurens as “used to water works” and “good hands. The first two speak and understand English pretty well.”18 The three men were put to work on the provincial schooner.

“New Negroes” were sent to the farm in April 1765 when Laurens shipped five “Angola boys” for £30 each, considerably less expensive than the Carolina-born men and women they joined. Apparently men in their late teens, they became field laborers under the tutelage of Will and the established crew. Within six months, one of these Africans was added to Grant’s staff of domestics.19 Dick must have learned the craft quickly, since he was sold as a cook in 1769 for £70. Robin, another “Angola boy,” also joined Grant’s domestic staff as a worker in “marsh grasses,” probably a basket maker.20

In 1768 Grant opened an indigo plantation a few miles north of St. Augustine. Intended to “put a spur” to absentee grantees to speed up development, “Grant’s Villa” became a training school for the province’s inexperienced overseers. “New Negroes” made up 66 percent of the fifty-one laborers who initiated the villa.21 Grant boasted that his first indigo crop brought a modest profit, and that he expected his second crop to “clear a good 15 percent for all the money I have laid out. . . . All my expense was upon Negroes who are walking about, no white face belonging to the plantation but an overseer.”22 He told Lord Egmont: “My Negroes, about 40 working hands, live in Palmetto huts for the time in the course of winter without putting me to any expense but the first cost of the boards and a few nails. The Negroes after doing their tasks will find scantling and shingles or clapboards and will build their houses themselves without any assistance.”23

“Ebo’s . . . don’t go off well”

Sales of slaves to East Florida were arranged primarily by two colonial merchants, Henry Laurens of Charles Town and John Graham of Savannah. Little has been written about Graham, who shipped hundreds of slaves to Florida, including Africans he purchased in Savannah and Charles Town from African traders, “refuse” Africans bought in the West Indies and sent to Savannah, and seasoned and country-born Negroes from plantation sales and probate sales in Georgia, South Carolina, and Antigua and other West Indies locations. In the latter category were field laborers, sawyers, artisans, domestics, and even black drivers and plantation managers.

In January 1766 Graham warned Grant to be wary of the Africans being sold in St. Augustine by a Mr. Rogers, whose low price (£34) disguised his “lack of orthodox principles.”24 Grant ignored the advice and purchased from Rogers “an able fellow and a very handsome wench,” but he also placed an order with Graham for “a few men boys for my farm. I should like them well lookt.”25 Graham was selective when purchasing Africans, looking at their health, age, and appearance. When a shipment of ninety-six Africans sold for only £16 on average, Graham refused to buy “such wretches as I never saw before.”26 He also rejected a shipment of healthy and attractive Africans, “nearly all boys and girls, only 27 grown men in all,” but too expensive at £48 each.27

In December of 1767, Grant placed an order with Graham for 100 to 115 Africans, to be delivered “the sooner the better for they are much wanted.”28 He said he would trust the merchant to set a fair price, but “since it is our first purchase [Grant was ordering on behalf of seven other planters] you will bring that as low as you can.” The only other condition of sale set by the sociable governor was that “the business must be finally concluded in my house over a bottle of Madeira.”

Three days later Graham sent thirty-five slaves he had purchased from merchants “in the islands.” He also sent a “young lad in sailor’s jacket, eight months on vessel, speaks good deal English and clever. You may want him on the Province schooner, . . . if he fails a tryal, put him in the field.”29 Grant named the young sailor Adam and placed him in charge of the boats at his indigo plantation.30

Two vessels arrived in Savannah in July of 1768 with cargoes of slaves from the Windward Coast of West Africa. Nearly ninety were sent to East Florida, including six males for Governor Grant at a price of £43 each. Graham said, “I think I never saw finer people.”31 One month later the merchant shipped thirty-five men from the Gold Coast for Lord Egmont and six for James Moncrief.32

Late in January of 1769, Graham sent Grant four “black ladies . . . [including] two very strong and able wenches, and will do as much work as any man, and are also young . . . [and] a very likely, young smart girl goes by her country name Sulundie. Your Tom speaks her language.”33 Look for the ship, Graham told Grant, and for “your four wenches . . . [marked] with yellow silk ferret [ribbon] tied round their wrists.” He also advised Grant that few African ships were arriving at that time of the year. There had been some imports from the West Indies, but they had been mainly “Ebo’s, who don’t go off well.”34 Charles Town would probably draw the first of the shipments in spring and summer, when prices would be £50 for adult men and £39 for women. Graham predicted prices would fall to about £37 for “choice” men in August and October, when “the fiery edge of the Carolina planters will be off and in general all of them pretty well supplied.”

Graham described the “fiery edge” after returning from a Charles Town sale of Africans from the Grain Coast and Windward Coast. With great difficulty, and even with the assistance of seven men, Graham had been able to claim only fifty-three Africans (including five men for James Grant and eighteen for a new St. Johns River plantation). The problem at the sale had been that “people were pulling, hawling and pushing one another down as if they had been to gott for nothing.”35

“exceeding good Carpenter and Boatbuilder”

The enterprising merchant also searched the countryside for country-born slaves with the special skills Florida buyers requested. He sent two “excellent Sawyers and Squarers, absolutely a bargain” at £54 each, to a Halifax River planter in March of 1769.36 When a Georgia man sold five hundred head of cattle to a Florida planter in 1767, Graham arranged the sale of his slave drover for £105. He described the man as a “Cowpen Keeper Negro” who was “bred up from his infance in this business . . . [and] is remarkably clever and can manage any stock.”37

Several families of skilled slaves were sent to Florida in 1768 from the plantation of Jonathan Bryan, a prominent planter in Georgia who had fallen on hard times. Four of the men were skilled sawyers who had each earned Bryan £18 a year in rental income; they sold for £61 each. All the men were “good on rice and every kind of plantation work and are capable of the management of a plantation themselves.”38 Graham thought the best bargain was a “a remarkable choice family” of husband and wife and two “fine grown boys and a girl.” He described the man as an “exceeding good Carpenter and Boatbuilder, also a good planter, having for two years past managed Mr. Bryan’s plantation himself without any overseer, and is perhaps one of the most valuable Negroes in the two provinces.” Graham said he did not want “to buy the family but I could not get him [the husband and father] without them. The wench likewise very valuable, is a good washer and ironer, has for years past cut out and made herself all the Negroe cloaks for Mr. Bryan’s people and is otherwise a good House Wench.” The entire family, including sons who worked as house servants, waited on their master, and cared for the horses, sold for £290.

The correspondence of Graham and Laurens provides evidence that skilled slaves, drivers, and plantation managers from Georgia and Carolina plantations were available to Florida planters. When a Florida planter placed a standing order in 1768 for a black driver capable of “managing Rice & Indigo,” Laurens attended auctions until he found a satisfactory person. Laurens wrote in February of 1768 that he had “purchas’d at a Publick Sale a Negro of a good Character & who was said to have been a driver for the last five Years Constantly which I thought much In his favor but he has a Wife tack’d to him; however I believe you will think the Couple cheap at £710 [Carolina currency; approximately £101 sterling].”39

Laurens also supplied the laborers for Mount Oswald, a 20,000-acre plantation on the Tomoka and Halifax rivers that was to be established for wealthy Scotsman Richard Oswald. Oswald was part owner of Bance Island, a slaving fortification in the Sierra Leone River, and he had previously shipped consignments of African slaves to Laurens in Charles Town.40 Grant advised Oswald that thirty Carolina-born slaves with at least one year’s experience in indigo fields would be needed to start Mount Oswald. Work was to begin in 1765 during fall season and continue through the winter; shelters were to be built and land cleared and prepared for spring planting of provisions. Oswald’s black pioneers would also be expected to clear ground for indigo planting and to build houses for thirty additional Carolina-born slaves who would arrive in the second year at the site. During the third year Oswald would send sixty “new” Africans, for a total of 120 laborers. The goal was to become self-sufficient in food-stuffs during the first year and to establish four separate plantations by the end of the third, devoted respectively to indigo, cotton, sugar, and rice.41

Grant selected and surveyed a promising 20,000-acre site on the Tomoka River while Henry Laurens assembled a labor force for Oswald’s new estate.42 Laurens advertised in the South Carolina Gazette for “two Negro Carpenters, two Coopers, three pair of Sawyers, forty Field Negroes, young men and women, some acquainted with indigo making, and all with the ordinary course of Plantation work in this country.”43 In 1765 Laurens shipped twenty-four men, seven women, and three children to work on Oswald’s new plantation. Nine of the men were “new” Africans, billed at an average price of £29. Of the seven women, four were described as capable of a variety of domestic skills, including Silvia, a “wench highly recommended as a quick and willing slave” for housework and gardening; Lucy, the mother of two young children, who could “wash very well, iron and cook tolerably”; and Maggy, who could wash, iron, and cook, “but loves Rum.” Mary, the least expensive at £20, was a “stout, able new Negro, middle-aged, bought when low in flesh, would sell for 50 percent more now.” Chloe was born in Carolina and bought “of a transient person” for about two-thirds of her value. The most costly was Jenny, “a young woman used to drudgery about house and garden,” bought for £48.44

The last of the seven women, Nanny, is of particular interest. Governor Grant transferred her to another planter because he judged her too valuable for plantation work. Laurens described Nanny as eighteen or nineteen years old, able to wash and iron “exceeding well, is very orderly and can do any house work.”45 She carried with her to St. Augustine a “pretty child named Minto in arms.” Nanny and the child were billed at £64. Laurens said about Grant:

The Governor does not understand Plantation affairs so well as some of us Southern folks. I have not less than ten Negro Women upon 3 Plantations that would sell for more than Nanny but I do not think them too valuable. Such Negroes for their ability in making Negro Cloths, attending sick people, & a hundred things which new or Ship’s Negroes cannot perform are invaluable. Nanny is a breeding Woman & in ten Years time may have double her worth in her own Children. Mrs. Laurens had a great covetousness for her [as a house servant] when I first bought her but knowing her value I would not convert the property. I shall take the Liberty to hint this to His Excellency.46

“be discreet & carry a steady command”

The twenty-four male slaves Laurens bought for Oswald were primarily field hands, but several had additional skills like sawing, attending horses, butchering, and driving carts. Caesar was a “very stout well made young man, orderly, country born, about 19,” a cooper who had served four years as an apprentice. Caesar was evaluated at £65. Harry, with five years’ experience as a carpenter, was the most costly, at £71.

Laurens found it difficult to fill Grant’s order for the second round of laborers for Oswald. With Carolina-born slaves hard to find, he advised that Grant accept “fine young Gambians or Gold Coast [imports]. They are fit to work immediately and the next year will be as good hands as any and less inclined to wander.”47 In November he sent, as replacement for Nanny, a “truly promising New Negro” named Liberty.48

The workers Laurens selected were healthy and well behaved, “fine specimens” according to Grant. Since they arrived too early in the year to begin the Mount Oswald settlement, Grant put them to work at his own farm near St. Augustine, clearing brush, planting corn, and digging a ditch around the entire three hundred acres.49

Despite Oswald’s fears of high mortality rates in the Tomoka area, and his concerns that Carolina-born slaves were then relatively expensive, Grant was able to persuade him to accelerate development and to augment the workforce with “new” Africans. He also approved the purchase of thirty additional Carolina-born workers, and began speculating on acquiring from Antigua or St. Christopher a “few old Negroes who know how to raise and clean cotton.”50

The arrival of Oswald’s new overseer, identified only as Mr. Hewie, was delayed until mid-1766, prompting Grant to postpone sending the “Negroes alone into the Wilderness.” When Hewie arrived from South Carolina in June, the governor “immediately” ordered him to Tomoka with twelve male slaves. The women and younger slaves stayed behind at Grant’s farm.51

Henry Laurens had sent Hewie to Florida after receiving strong recommendations of his managerial abilities. Yet Laurens remained concerned about the isolated location of Mount Oswald, fearing that if provoked by “the arbitrary power of an Overseer,” the slaves might become “tempted to knock him in the head & file off in a Body.”52 His fears were heightened by reports of Hewie’s quarrels with the governor and his difficulties in controlling the slaves.

The governor objected to Hewie’s episodes of drunkenness, his excessive and abusive labor demands, and his unreasonably severe punishments, which led some slaves to run away. Still, Grant could report at the end of August that work was progressing as expected and that none of the laborers had died.53

Before the year ended, however, the slaves rebelled and drowned Hewie. Laurens was moved to lament:

The catastrophe of the wretched [Hewie] & the poor Negroes is affecting. He might have been, according to his credentials a good Servant, but I see clearly that he was unfit for the sole management of a Plantation. His successor the Indian Johnson must behave above the rank of common Carolinian Fugitives, to save his Scalp a whole year. He must be discreet & carry a steady command otherwise the Blacks will drown him too, for of all Overseers they love those of their own colour least.54

There is no surviving record of Oswald’s reaction to the death of his overseer, beyond his decision to send additional whites to Mount Oswald for security.55 The success of “Indian Johnson,” the overseer who replaced Hewie, may also have convinced Oswald to accelerate the pace of development. Laurens implied that Johnson was a black man, or of mixed Indian and African ancestry; others have concluded from Laurens’s remarks about Johnson that he was Indian. But whether African American or African Indian, Johnson was one of several nonwhite managers that capably discharged their duties in East Florida.56

“sending such a number of Africans”

Oswald planned to use John Graham, of Savannah, to broker a regular slave trade from Bance Island and reduce the cost of slaves for his Florida plantation. He also anticipated occasional trips to “Barbados to buy Refuse Slaves at half the money, which with a little care would be as good as any we could get on ye coast.”57 In 1767 Oswald notified Grant that Captain Richard Savery was sailing for Bance Island to secure approximately one hundred Africans for Mount Oswald and would anchor the St. Augustine Packet off St. Augustine in September. Worried that “it might be of bad consequence if the men slaves now on the Plantation remained longer unprovided with wives,” Oswald had “ordered 30 young women to be shipped and 30 more lads and large girls of such as they may be fit for field labor in about two years.” He also directed his agents in Africa “to send a few full grown men, not exceeding ten in number, . . . [who were] used to the Trades of their country believing they will become soon useful and handy in a new plantation.”58

Savery delivered seventy Africans for Mount Oswald, but only twenty were old enough to be considered working hands. The other fifty were excellent-quality boys and girls not yet mature enough for field work, but Oswald predicted that if raised at Tomoka they would eventually be “worth two imported at full age.” With approximately 120 men, women, and children to feed, however, Oswald worried that stores of provisions might be inadequate. He advised Grant to consider selling the “smallest [children] for good bills or cash,” but if the food supply was satisfactory, he wanted the governor to “sell none.”59

Oswald soon organized a trade involving the Florida plantations, the Caribbean, Africa, and Britain.60 His vessel, the Charlotte Cape, sailed from St. Augustine to St. Croix to pick up rum for sale in Africa before “returning to St. Christophers with about 100 Negroes.” Oswald promised that if a satisfactory trade plan could be “settled among the Florida gentlemen” the Charlotte would “be at their service in any shape they please.”61

Despite the threat of late season storms Captain Savery brought another “cargo of very fine Slaves . . . from the coast of Africa” to St. Augustine in December.62 The entire cargo was sold by early January at prices lower than Savannah merchants were then charging. Between 1767 and 1770 Oswald delivered at least four shipments of Africans to St. Augustine, providing much-needed laborers for the East Florida plantations.63 Let other grantees grumble about “money laid out and nothing returned but accounts of inundations, caterpillars, etc.,” Oswald wrote to Grant. “I hope you will allow I have done my part for getting things forward by sending such a number of Africans, with whom I hope everybody is pleased.”64

Oswald’s ships continued to carry slaves to East Florida in 1771 and 1772, probably the peak years for the trade. Thomas Taylor believes that in 1771 at least a thousand slaves were imported.65 In July 1772 David Yeats rejoiced that “Mr. Oswald’s vessel . . . is expected next month from the Coast of Guinea, tis to be hoped she will dispose of her cargoe here as Negroes are much wanted at the present.”66 Three planters had orders for ninety Africans, but Yeats hoped there would be at least 120 aboard.

The number of slaves at Mount Oswald grew from more than 100 in 1767 to 240 in 1780.67 Most of the thirty workers who initiated the plantation had been country-born in South Carolina; the remainder were shipped from Oswald’s trading establishment at Bance Island. In 1774 Laurens announced that Oswald planned to send to East Florida “about one hundred of the Grametas or Island Slaves” employed at Bance Island. Oswald had promised “not to expose them to public Sale in the manner of African Cargoes, but if possible & with their liking & good behaviour to keep them together to work on his plantation.” Fearing “the Neighbouring King & his people would immediately Seize & Sell them to the next Trading Vessel” if discharged from their duties in Africa, Oswald decided to send the “Island Slaves” to East Florida. Laurens stated: “Mr. Oswald is desirous of keeping them all together or in plantations near each other, & objects to hiring any of them out.”68

By 1776 there were fifteen other major plantations in the general vicinity of Oswald’s estate, in what came to be called the Mosquito District. It can be assumed that a significant percentage of the Africans in the district were transported by Oswald’s ships, but there was also an East Florida-based slaving firm that began business as early as 1767. In November 1767 Laurens wrote two letters of credit for Penman and Co. for £2,000 each to the leading African merchants in St. Christopher and Barbados. Laurens commented on January 15, 1768, that the firm had sold ninety “new” Africans in East Florida the previous November and December. James Penman became a rice planter on the St. Johns River and a leading merchant in St. Augustine; his partners in the slaving firm, William Mackdougall and Robert Bissett also became prominent planters. Few records survive to document their involvement in the slave trade to East Florida.69

James Grant returned to London in 1771 for treatment of a painful gout condition, leaving behind a thriving core of East Florida plantations. The new governor, Colonel Patrick Tonyn, who arrived in 1774, found estate owners still eager to buy Africans. Even in 1776, after the American Revolution had begun and Georgia rebels and privateers had destroyed plantations, disrupted indigo exports, and raided for slaves, Tonyn could report that optimistic planters were “purchasing new Negroes.” Moreover, shipments to the West Indies of naval stores and lumber for shipbuilding led to a new boom and expansion in the province that lasted until the British evacuation in 1784.70

“as happy as the nature of their servitude will admit”

British Florida’s slave population was quite diverse. Carolina- and Georgia-born blacks were in the majority in the 1760s, but Africans took the lead in the 1770s. Specific ethnic origins are seldom identifiable, but it is safe to generalize that most “new” Africans came from homelands in interior Senegal, Mali, Gambia, Guinea, and Sierra Leone, with additional numbers from Nigeria and Angola.71

Their labor proved to be as diverse as their origins. Slaves engaged in indigo, rice, and provisions production, and later in lumbering, naval stores, and turpentine extraction. They were also domestics, drovers, sailors, hunters, basket makers, carpenters, coopers, wheelwrights, sawyers, indigo makers, dairymaids, weavers, washerwomen, drivers, and plantation managers. Some worked for wages in town and on plantations.72

As slaves created indigo, rice, cotton, and sugar plantations from virgin soils in wilderness woodlands and swamps, they constructed their own shelters, at minimal cost to their owners. Moreover, unless drought intervened, the produce of their provisions fields typically exceeded household demands, and the surplus was sold in St. Augustine. John Moultrie’s slaves harvested two crops from his rice fields at Tomoka River in 1775, with “the second cutting . . . very little inferior to the first.” They also constructed his “handsome stone house at Bella Vista” on the Matanzas River. Moultrie planned to retire there, thinking the house “will last forever, a good country house with ten rooms, plows & carts going in the fields . . . , more rice than I can beat out . . . fine stock of cattle & hogs & plenty of . . . fish, butter & cream, cheese, everything.” Everything that Moultrie thought he would need in life was entirely the result of the hard work and remarkable productivity of his black slaves.73


[image: image]

Slave labor on a rice plantation. This illustration from Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper, October 20, 1806, shows the variety of skills required to grow rice. Richard Oswald’s African-born slaves performed the grueling labor of establishing new rice plantations at several northeast Florida locations.



What cannot be defined with certainty are the specific conditions of life and labor imposed by Moultrie and the other Florida planters. The daily lives of East Florida slaves are seldom mentioned in the primary sources, beyond obscure hints and references filtered through the perceptions of white male slaveowners. There are rare comments like one overseer’s description of bondsmen “obliged to be upon foot night and day in order to save as much of the indigo from the worms as possible,” but the implication elsewhere in the letter is that this was atypical.74 In general, there are insufficient data to generalize on hours of labor, daily food rations, incidence of illness, medical care, and treatment of slaves by their owners.
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The main house at the Kingsley Plantation, Fort George Island. Zephaniah Kingsley settled in East Florida in 1803. He moved to this home in 1814 with his African-born wife, Anna Madgigine Jai. From here they supervised Kingsley’s numerous plantations. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Information on rebellions or other types of large-scale disorders is almost nonexistent in the records, which, given the paucity of whites in the plantation regions, is puzzling. With only a single white man supervising the slaves at James Grant’s indigo plantation, why did the blacks not replicate the fate of poor Mr. Hewie at Mount Oswald. But such did not happen again at Oswald’s estate, nor at Grant’s Villa and the other plantations in the province. Oswald raised the number of white overseers as a deterrent to uprisings, but other planters used slaves as drivers to direct field work and even to manage all plantation activities. Perhaps the skills of these black drivers as mediators and leaders explains the minimal incidence of recorded violence. Another factor worth consideration is the practice of setting up plantations with Carolina-born slaves before adding “new” Africans to the workforces, which may have served as a social control mechanism while at the same time providing an acculturative transition for the newcomers.

On the latter point, however, there are hints of conflicts among the slaves, perhaps prompted by interethnic jealousies and by something resembling class antagonisms. The poisoning of two of James Grant’s slaves, for instance, may have been the work of “new” Africans brought to his indigo plantation. Grant’s agent, Dr. David Yeats, informed him June 5, 1780, of

a most shocking affair that has lately happened at your plantation. Leander, one of your best Negroes, and Jack his brother, old Carolina’s sons, have been poisoned and are both dead. They died suddenly within two days of one another in great agony and all the symptoms of poison. What makes this matter still worse, three of your own Negroes have been accused of it. Two fellows and a wench and one of the fellows (Walley), has since shot himself. . . . I should be happy to have this fellow punished as he deserves for so atrocious a deed and to deter others from the like, if we can fix it upon him, but [it is] a difficult matter to come at the truth where none but Negroes are concerned.75

Leander and his brother and mother had been in Grant’s employ since 1765. During that time the workforce had changed from majority-born in Carolina to majority-born in Africa. Leander, the plantation carpenter, and the other Carolina-born men had become the elite of the slave quarters; they were the skilled tradesmen, plowmen, drivers, and managers. It is possible their lengthy tenure also gave them the privilege of spouses, which could have sparked further envy and resentment.76

The planters believed that balancing sex ratios was an effective way to control the behavior of their male slaves. In 1771, Yeats wrote to Grant: “The plantation negroes are all healthy and behave well except Jack, who has got such a liking to this town that there is no keeping him out of it unless he is constantly chained.”77 Ten years later, with a larger workforce and a higher percentage of Africans, Yeats encountered this problem again, with added intensity. He urged Grant to purchase “young wenches for the plantation which suffers so much by having so few, for you not only lose by your Negroes not increasing, but frequently the labour of the young fellows, who are either absenting themselves after the wenches in Town, or inducing them to run away and concealing them in the woods in the neighborhood of the plantation. I have frequent complaints on this head, and their guise is what must they do for wife?”78
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Slave cabins built in the 1820s at the Kingsley Plantation. The two-room tabby structures with brick fireplaces were still inhabited by African American families at the time this photograph was taken (ca. 1870). Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Security had been Richard Oswald’s reason for sending African women to his Tomoka plantation in 1767. Social control was also on John Tucker’s mind when he decided to “make all my black servants as happy as the nature of their servitude will admit. I have added ten women more to the twenty mentioned [previously] to provide each of the men slaves with a wife as a means of keeping them at home and to do their work cheerfully.”79

In 1769 the Earl of Egmont ordered young African women for male laborers in Florida, hoping to render the Negroes I now have happy and contented, which I know they cannot be without having each a Wife. This will greatly tend to keep them at home and to make them Regular and tho the Women will not work all together so well as ye Men, Yet Amends will be sufficiently made in a very few years by the Great Encrease of Children who may easily [be trained] and become faithfully attached to the Glebe and to their Master.80

Some owners offered incentives to labor that may also have served as control mechanisms. One owner gave Sundays off, then paid for cutting wood, making indigo boxes, and other work performed on that day. Governor Grant paid wages to slaves who did extra work like carting and cutting stones for his garden wall and making seed baskets, as well as to “Dick the fisherman” and “Black Sandy the hunter.”81

Others believed that the way they treated their slaves made a difference in how they behaved and worked. James Grant, for example, described the work routine at his estate as “very strict” and regular as “clockwork.” Looking back on his slaves in 1784, he judged that “the Negroes . . . served me well and faithfully. . . . I dare say there are no better slaves anywhere, they have always been well fed and cloathed.”82

John Moultrie considered himself “a patron and protector as well as master to my Negroes” and pledged to make them “happy” as they aged “and wore out,” as long as they “continued faithful, diligent, industrious and well behaved, attentive to my wishes.”

Quamino has never behaved amiss, always sweet, has never had a blow and . . . he never may, he will I think never deserve it. I desire to make him independent of the overseers. He must be allowed to go about among my people giving them good advice and seeing that they do not do amiss. He is an old planter and may be of service in directing the Negroes, but he must not be struck by any manager or overseer. He is trusty and so is old Frank, and may keep the keys of any stores, etc.83

There is, of course, a clear implication that some Moultrie slaves were believed by authorities to have behaved amiss and that whippings were not unheard of.

After hearing in 1783 that East Florida would be returned to Spain, Moultrie became concerned about “a number of faithful servants brought up for several generations in our family,” and he contemplated freeing them, burning his houses, and becoming “a real philosopher.” Instead, he sent them to the Bahamas, from where Quamino wrote in 1795, long after Moultrie had settled in England.

“My Dear Master

This will be delivered you by Doctor Bailey who was on your plantation since we left St. Augustine. I have had pretty good health but now am growing very old and weak and if you had not placed us in the care of such good men as Mr. Moss’s are I don’t know what would have became of us. When we are sick we are attended by a Doctor and everything we can in reason expect. I had the misfortune about three months ago to lose my wife Margaret which I feel a great deal at a loss for. We have long been looking for some of our young masters who you said should come and be amongst us but am sorry to hear of their only coming about half way, and I have now given up hopes of ever seeing you or any of your family. But please to give my kind love to my old mistress, Miss Sally, Bella and Martha, Master Tacky, George and Timmy, and I will wish God may bless you and give you your health. Brother Andrew also joins me in love too. I remain dear master,

your ever faithful Servt, Quamino”84

“mismanagement and a capricious cruelty”

While Moultrie was seen by his peers as a paternalistic slave manager concerned about the welfare of his bondsmen, there was at least one prominent East Florida official whom contemporaries condemned for cruelty to his black servants: the second governor of East Florida, Colonel Patrick Tonyn.

Multiple informants—including Frederick George Mulcaster, surveyor general of the province, a member of the Royal Engineers, and reputedly an illegitimate half-brother of King George III; the Reverend John Forbes, Episcopal cleric; Dr. David Yeats, secretary of the province; and Alexander Skinner, an overseer and government agent to the Indians—all accused the governor and his wife of brutal treatment of Alexander, Peg, and Sue, three of Grant’s slaves whom Tonyn had hired. Yeats informed Grant that the three were “greatly complaining about bad usage, which indeed is no fault of his but the WOMAN’S, who appears to be of a hard-headed disposition, at least to the servants.”85 Reverend Forbes heard similar complaints and investigated. He told Grant: “They plead hard and the town says [they] have Iron Caps. . . . Alexander complains that Madam is the devil, he told me the governor was well enough, but since I saw him he has had the cap above mentioned and been flogged.”86 Within two days, Forbes had investigated further and sent an urgent appeal: “Your Negroes, from the mismanagement and a capricious cruelty of a fine lady, are considered as being in a state of the most abject slavery. Alexander has got an iron cap with which he walks the streets.”87

James Grant was in Halifax, Nova Scotia, at the time, having traded his place in Parliament for service in the British army. When he heard of the floggings and the cruel imposition of an iron mask clamped about the head of Alexander—a punishment that caused great pain and prevented slaves from feeding themselves through its iron bars—he reacted decisively. He scolded Dr. Yeats for permitting Tonyn to subject the “poor creatures” to a “degree of severity which they had never been accustomed to meet with in my house,” and for acquiescing when Tonyn sent Sue to work as a field slave at his St. Johns River plantation. Bring Sue home immediately, Grant told Yeats, and added, “If Alexander and Peg are still in the woods [runaways], which I wish them to be, you are publickly to make it known that Governor Tonyn has nothing to do with them, that they have nothing to fear, and are to live in the future at Grant’s Villa.”88 He also notified his overseer, Alexander Skinner: “I will neither sell or hire Alexander, Peg and Sue to Governor Tonyn, and have directed him . . . to send them to the Villa within twenty-four hours after he receives my letter . . . where they are to live in future in peace and quiet.” He promised to disguise Skinner’s involvement: “Tis a cross talk if the Governor sees it, but I care not a farthing about him.”89

Four eyewitnesses, all important and credible people with more to lose than gain by reporting the incidents, sent the former governor corroborating accounts of Tonyn’s cruel treatment. That Grant believed them, and denounced Governor Tonyn in public view, prompts questions about the daily lives and treatment of the other slaves working at Tonyn’s St. Johns River plantation.

“in the woods some time”

Florida slaves, like slaves elsewhere, ran away to escape mistreatment, and some found refuge among the Indians.90 Grant wrote that four slave runaways crossed the St. Johns River and joined a band of Indian hunters, “who were very fond of them, and employed them as Servants, but immediately gave them up when they were applied for.”91

Another Indian hunting party assisted a “stout Negro fellow of . . . the Ebo country named Boatswain” to escape from James Penman’s estate.92 Boatswain had been seen stealing corn and ran away to escape punishment. Penman went looking for him, and for Peter, a runaway from another plantation who had been “in the woods some time.” Penman was unable to find Peter, but he returned with Boatswain and three other runaways. Ten days later Penman scoured the wilderness five miles south of Mount Oswald until he found a runaway who had “constantly lived without fire, or any nourishment but the Palmetto Berry” for several months.93

The continuing tendency of the Indians to shelter runaways prompted a bounty of £2 for every escapee returned to British authorities. When Indians turned in seven runaways in June 1771, Moultrie said: “It has been a practice for negroes to run away from their Masters and to get into the Indian towns, from whence it proved very difficult and troublesome to get them back.”94 Although the Indians denied it, Moultrie insisted they often “sequestered or rescued” slaves who escaped to their villages. The return of seven escapees would hopefully send a strong message to Florida slaves that refuge among the Indians had ended and would “soon put a stop to runaway Slaves flying into their towns.” Moultrie gladly paid the £14 in bounties, and also compensated a Georgia man for returning eight other runaways captured near the boundary of Indian lands. Slaves absconding to the Florida Indians would be a familiar theme for decades, whether Britain, Spain, or the United States controlled the province.95

“the common frontier quite abandoned”

The closing years of the province’s brief history must have been traumatic for the black slaves of East Florida. Georgia privateers and border marauders frequently raided for cattle and slaves. Andrew Turnbull was so fearful of Georgia raids in 1776 that he made plans to “sneak” his slaves down the Indian River and into hiding spots in the woods. Turnbull’s estate was indeed raided, on November 29, 1779; eighteen slaves were carried off by privateers, believed at the time to be Spaniards.96 London merchant John Wilkinson’s plantation west of the St. Johns River was destroyed in July 1777, and the raiders abducted more than thirty of his slaves. Next they proceeded to sack a neighboring estate and steal a slave family.97

The military threat from Georgia resulted in a degree of freedom for some East Florida black men. In 1776 Governor Patrick Tonyn created four black militia companies to join in defense of the province. The governor, anticipating rebelliousness, appointed “double or treble white officers” for each company. Even so, it seems improbable that armed black slaves could have been controlled so easily under frontier military conditions, or that they would have fought with enthusiasm unless freedom was the incentive. But fight they did, as members of the St. Johns Rangers, a mixed regiment of whites, Indians, and blacks who ranged widely within the province and participated in attacks on enemy fortifications in Georgia. They also became adept border marauders who brought thousands of cattle to St. Augustine. John Moultrie summarized these guerrilla raids in October 1776: “Georgia began to plunder us, we retaliated, the common frontier quite abandoned on both sides, horses and crops destroyed, people and cattle moved away.”98

For other slaves the war meant only an exchange of overseers and a switch from field work to construction of fortifications. The General Assembly passed a labor draft law in 1781 requiring each planter to send one in ten of his slaves to work under the direction of military engineers. Recompense for owners was one shilling per day, which Tonyn estimated at one-fourth or one-fifth the true value. Six months later, the General Assembly drafted one in every five slaves. Tonyn acknowledged that slaveowners were making major sacrifices through loss of labor at a time of great profitability in agriculture and naval stores. He also commented on the “immense labor” demanded of drafted slaves.99

Some planters resorted to drafting measures of their own in futile efforts to protect their property. The exposed location of Jeremyn Wright’s estate led him to arm fifty slaves. In 1771 Wright had purchased a rice plantation established in the previous decade by South Carolina planter Andrew Way on a “tide river swamp, on St. Mary’s River.”100 Wright accumulated more than 1,000 acres and eventually imported 170 black slaves. After constructing dwellings and barns, clearing and planting extensive fields of corn and peas, as well as a four-hundred-acre rice field, Wright found himself the target of rebel attacks. His company of armed slaves was used by provincial troops to help repel attacks on Amelia Island in August 1776, but the following July they were overwhelmed by vengeful Georgians, who abducted twenty slaves and destroyed the plantation. Survivors escaped into the woods and made their way to St. Augustine.101

“till this new world has in some means been created”

Visitors to the Amelia Island plantation of Lord Egmont in 1773 and 1774 recorded large fields of potatoes, 140 acres of corn and peas, over 200 acres of indigo, and a herd of “fat and well” cattle pastured on the island. The estate was self-sufficient in foodstuffs and sent 1,000 bushels of corn to market in 1773. Wandering naturalist William Bartram, whose own plantation at Picolata on the St. Johns River had failed, also admired the excellent indigo fields and the “cotton, corn, batatas, and almost every esculent vegetable” that he saw at the Amelia Island plantation.102

To defend the Egmont estate from attack, plantation manager Stephen Egan armed twelve slave men to join provincial troops patrolling the St. Marys River, but in 1777 raiders destroyed the estate, sending the Egan family and more than one hundred slaves in flight to an undeveloped tract east of the St. Johns River, two miles south of the cow ford (today’s Jacksonville). For the third time in a decade the Egmont slaves would begin carving a new plantation from the East Florida wilderness. Starting in 1768 as a force of thirty-five Africans from the Gold Coast, they had built shelters, cleared land, and planted corn, rice, and indigo at Mount Royal on the St. Johns River. They later established the 10,000-acre tract at the north end of Amelia Island, abandoned after the 1777 raids. At the third site, named Cecilton, the well-seasoned laborers began anew the exhausting and dangerous burdens of creating a Florida plantation. As productive and versatile as before, they drew from the forests a bountiful harvest of timber, tar, pitch, and turpentine.103

Prior to the British evacuation, Governor Tonyn inventoried Cecilton plantation. Living at the estate were Egan and his wife and three sons, along with twenty-two of Egan’s slaves and seventy-eight slaves belonging to the Egmonts. Three men had died at Cecilton: Peter of old age, Nero of “dropsy,” and Robin of drowning. Juba, Joe, Nestor, Hannibal, and Pan had escaped to the Indians, and others had been abducted by the Georgia rebels, but there were still fourteen slave families, totaling fifty-nine men, women and children, and nineteen single males working under Egan’s supervision. The women’s occupations included field slave, washer, needleworker, cotton spinner, and midwife. The men were described as sawyers, squarers, makers of turpentine and pitch and tar and adept at all lumber and naval stores, carpenters, coopers, drivers, and cattle-keepers. Charles was listed as: “sawyer, squarer, hunter, field slave, understands management of horses and cattle.” After the Treaty of Paris returned East Florida to Spain in 1783, the Egmont slaves were evacuated in 1785 to start new lives yet again at coffee plantations in Dominica.

“realising something out of the wreck”

Evacuation forced John Moultrie to make some disposition of his slaves, and the choices he faced were troubling. “I cannot think,” Moultrie wrote, “of selling a number of faithful servants brought up for several generations in our family. . . . I sometimes think I had better turn a real philosopher; burn my house, give freedom to my Negroes and get rid of all encumbrances which I find property really to be at this period.” Moultrie may have become a philosopher after settling in Shropshire, England, at an estate inherited by his wife, but he did not emancipate his slaves. Instead, he sent them to cotton fields in the Bahama Islands.

One absentee planter feared he would suffer great losses during the evacuation. Henry Strachey realized that his 10,000-acre estate would not sell during a time of mass exodus, but slaves represented his most valuable property, and since they could be moved to markets where prices might be better, he instructed Governor Tonyn: “My object is to get rid of them at the most advantage consistent with Humanity; If Georgia or Carolina would take them and pay for them on delivery, I hold that to be the most advisable mode—if not you must do the best you can, but, in all Events secure the payment that I may be sure of realising something out of the wreck.”104

“safe in harbour”

There would be many “wrecks” during these turbulent and traumatic times, none more dramatic than the experiences of the inhabitants of Mount Oswald. Prompted by the violence and economic uncertainty of the American Revolution, Oswald transferred 240 slaves and other movable property to Savannah in 1781. En route, privateers attacked the transport and abducted seventy slaves. Those not taken stayed only briefly in Georgia before being sent back to Oswald’s Tomoka River estate in July 1782. Within two years the slaves were evacuated to Charles Town, where Henry Laurens witnessed their arrival and informed Oswald: “The poor Negroes are safe in harbour.”105 Destined to work rice fields at Santee River, South Carolina, 170 survivors of a tragic intercontinental migratory odyssey, a mixture of country-born and “new Negroes” who had carved an important plantation from the New World wilderness of British East Florida, were temporarily “safe in harbour.”

James Grant’s slaves went briefly to the Bahamas and were later sold to a consortium of Santee River rice planters—at prices almost double their cost to Grant in the 1760s. For Robin, a driver, Cain, a jobbing carpenter, and George, an indigo maker, the journey to Santee River would pass through Charles Town Harbor, their second arrival in these waters. The first time, they had been victims of the African slave trade, “new Negroes” about to be purchased and reshipped to St. Augustine. The second time they were veterans of nearly two decades of plantation development in East Florida. Not until eight decades later would their descendants be emancipated under the Thirteenth Amendment to the Constitution, free to start their own estates.
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A Troublesome Property

Master-Slave Relations in Florida, 1821–1865

Larry E. Rivers

THE PROFUSION of historical studies on antebellum southern slavery eloquently testifies to the long, continuing interest that the subject commands. The literature ranges from early-twentieth-century “happy-slave-on-the-old-plantation” portraits to quantitative analyses of the size and numbers of slave revolts, to psychological reflections on “social death” and the results of the exercise of absolute power by one human being over others. One particularly important body of research has addressed the dynamics of the master-slave relationship, which scholars such as John W. Blassingame and Eugene D. Genovese, among others, have argued was the defining feature of the southern slave system.1 Despite the proliferation of these studies, scant attention has been given to the subject as it relates to antebellum Florida.

Florida differed in several respects from other states in the Old South. As a Spanish colony, it represented a haven for runaway slaves from the southern United States. Fugitives, free blacks, and Seminole Indians formed alliances and lived together in East Florida as well as in remote sections of the peninsula. Among these groups, the tradition of resistance flourished.2 Regarded from 1821 as a lawless territorial outpost and after 1845 as a frontier state, Florida remained sparsely settled through the Civil War. In 1860, for example, only three of its towns claimed a population of more than 2,000 inhabitants.3 However, the region lying between the Apalachicola and Suwannee rivers developed early a slave-based plantation economy similar to that of other southern states. The area—which consisted of present-day Jackson, Gadsden, Leon, Jefferson, and Madison counties—was called Middle Florida. There, well-heeled planter families from Maryland, Virginia, North and South Carolina, and Georgia established substantial plantation operations.

Planters from other states began moving into Middle Florida with high expectations shortly after the territory was acquired in 1821, but they clearly understood the potential for troubled relations with their slaves in the new locale. To maintain and shore up their power, territorial planters soon enacted severe slave codes and other race-related statutes designed to ensure physical and psychological dominance over their laborers. Slaves, however, resisted the absolute power of their masters, leading many owners to view their slaves as, indeed, “a troublesome property.”4

This essay examines three arenas in which the tensions between masters and slaves were manifested: religious behavior, interpersonal relations, and work. Planters and managers varied in their attitudes toward religious expression. Some believed it represented autonomy and, therefore, threatened the domination of slaves, while others felt religion should be used as an instrument of control. Zephaniah Kingsley, one of Florida’s most flamboyant slaveholders, was skeptical about allowing any type of religious worship on his Duval County plantation. “All the late insurrections of slaves,” he claimed, “are to be traced to influential preachers of the gospel.” However, when Kingsley attempted to eliminate black religious activity on his plantation, he was largely unsuccessful. The slaves resisted efforts to disband their church and continued to hold “private nightly meetings” once or twice a week. In fact, Kingsley noted that one slave, “calling himself a minister,” had completely taken “all authority over the negroes” from the overseer and himself. Kingsley may have exaggerated this point, but he continued to complain that slaves were harder to manage, disobeyed his orders more frequently, and stole more of his food after the minister’s arrival.5

In Madison County, Judge Wilkerson would not permit slave gatherings of any sort. Despite their owner’s noted cruelty and their own awareness of the consequences of their actions, some of Wilkerson’s slaves continued to meet and conduct religious services in secret. Wilkerson’s ex-slave Charlotte Martin reported that her brother had paid the ultimate price for such defiance, being “whipped to death for taking part in one of the religious ceremonies.” Thereafter the secret religious meetings ceased. Unlike Kingsley, Wilkerson was willing to use brutal force to assert hegemony over the slaves in this regard.6

Slave religion also proved a source of conflict on one of two Jefferson County plantations owned by George Noble Jones, an absentee landlord. The overseer of the El Destino plantation believed that the slave church was at the root of his disciplinary problems, which included acts of insubordination, flight, and low productivity. In a letter to Jones, overseer D. N. Moxley stated, “I have heard since I came to town that Jim Page [El Destino’s free-black minister] and his crew has bin the cass of all the fuss.”7 A month later Moxley announced that he had “stopped Page from coming to the plantation.” During the remainder of the overseer’s three-year tenure he made no further mention of the plantation church. Since El Destino slaves had Sundays off, however, some bondsmen may have continued their “religious activities” without James Page’s assistance.8

Some planters actively encouraged religiosity in their slaves, believing it facilitated slave control. Leon County planter Thomas Randall allowed bondsmen to build a church before they built their own cabins. He then generously offered a “helpful” hand in selecting their preacher.9 Susan Bradford Eppes recalled that on her father’s Leon County plantation, the “negroes were preached to every Sunday,” although by a white preacher.10 A former bondsman on the Bradford plantation, Claude Augusta Wilson, remembered that the slaves were allowed to gather at “a poorly constructed frame building which was known as the Meeting House,” to give praise to “their” God.11 Similarly, Bolden Hall, who grew up on a Jefferson County plantation, noted that his master “did not interfere with [slaves’] religious quest” and that he and many other bondsmen “were permitted to attend church with their masters to hear the white preacher and occasionally . . . an itinerant colored minister preached to the slaves instructing them to obey their master and mistress at all times.”12

Planters like Jackson County’s James Carr often sought to gain the confidence and loyalty of their slaves by allowing or requiring them to worship with plantation whites. However, Carr’s ex-slave Margaret Nickerson recalled that “de white preachers . . . tole us to mind our masters and missus and we would be saved; if not, dey said we wouldn’. Dey never tole us nothin ‘bout Jesus.” Carr’s wife, Jane, served as the plantation church’s Sunday school teacher, but was careful not to allow the slaves to touch her books for fear that some might learn to read and write. Despite her precautions, however, the slave Uncle George Bull did learn to read and write from the weekly lessons and was subsequently beaten for his impudence.13

Former slave Douglas Dorsey echoed Nickerson’s skepticism concerning the type of religious instruction delivered by whites. He reminisced that “slaves were order[ed] to church to hear a white minister, . . . [and he would tell] them to honor their masters and mistresses, and to have no other God but them, as ‘we cannot see the other God, but you can see your master and mistress.’” The ex-slave also stated that the slave driver’s wife, who could read and write a little, would tell the slaves that what the minister had just said was “all lies.”14

Even black preachers who were paid by planters encountered skepticism from slaves. James Page, who had been “freed by the Parker Family” of Tallahassee and selected by planters to preach to bondsmen and -women on various Middle Florida plantations, found that some slaves rejected his ministry and did not “accept Christ” at his behest. At least, ex-slave Louis Napoleon insisted that such was the case.15 However, such resistance did not deter masters from continued attempts to direct the religious expression of their slaves.

Slaveholders even sought posthumously to exert religious control over their slaves. In their wills, William Bailey and John Bellamy stipulated that their slaves be instructed in religion at least “once or twice a month on the Sabbath day.”16

Another private arena of slave life that masters sought to control was the interpersonal relations of their slaves. Although neither federal nor state laws sanctioned slave marriages, masters usually allowed slaves to marry and maintain families, believing that the practice led to good behavior and higher productivity. Zephaniah Kingsley noted that slaves were attached to their homes, wives and children, and domestic life and that “they were less troublesome, more productive and a growing property” when they could live in their own “cabins as married couples.”17 Thomas Randall, the overseer of Wirtland plantation, also believed that family ties were critical to happiness and productivity. He feared that one of his bondsmen, David, “would infect the whole body of the black community with his despondence” if his children and wife were not purchased and brought to Wirtland. To keep harmony in the slave community, Randall secured permission from the owner, William Wirt, to effect the purchase.18 When the Wirtland nurse, Betsy, asked to marry Noah, a slave living on a nearby plantation, that request was also honored.19
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The Reverend James Page. Page was a traveling slave preacher who was freed by his owner in 1851. He became the first black ordained minister in Florida and was the first pastor of the Bethel Missionary Baptist Church in Tallahassee, Florida, in the late nineteenth century.



Not all planters were so lenient about spouses or visitors from other plantations. Douglas Dorsey’s master was uncompromising concerning slave visitations. A slave who was caught off plantation, Dorsey remembered, would be tied to a whipping post and “lashed on the bare back.”20 Although planters such as Zephaniah Kingsley, John and Robert Gamble, William Wirt, George Noble Jones, and others tried to discourage their slaves from visiting or marrying slaves from other plantations, they were forced to compromise as the population of male slaves on some of their properties began to outnumber females. Still, they used the possibility of marriage as a reward. Slaves were permitted to marry off the plantation in exchange for loyalty and efficient work.21

Absentee planters like George N. Jones often permitted overseers to make decisions concerning slave marriages. After facing disciplinary problems, John Evans, the overseer of the Chemonie plantation in Jefferson County, refused to allow any slave to marry off the plantation. Later, Evans compromised by allowing Chemonie’s workers to marry slaves from Jones’s other plantation, El Destino. In 1851 Evans informed Jones that he had given Peggy permission to marry Ansler at El Destino provided that he took her to El Destino with him to marry. The next year, the overseer permitted two couples, James and Martha and Lafayette and Lear, to marry. Eventually so many slaves married that Jones directed Evans to send him a list of “all the names of the Negroes on Chemonie in Famleys.”22

Even among planters who objected to visitations and marriage off the plantation, some seemed willing to allow their slaves to marry bondsmen from plantations owned by the planters’ family members. John and Robert Gamble gave several slaves from their Waukeenah and Welaunee plantations permission to marry on the Wirtland plantation of their brother-in-law William Wirt. Wirt reciprocated. Although a black minister usually performed the marriage ceremony, Wirt’s son Henry performed several himself. Slave weddings allowed planters to demonstrate their paternalism. George N. Jones had a cabin built for Chesley and his wife, and the Gamble brothers purchased articles for housekeeping, as well as new dresses, trousers, and shirts for their newly-married slave couples.23
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Former slaves from northeast Florida, ca. 1875. This family of six included both parents, three small children, and a nursing child. Courtesy of the St. Augustine Historical Society.



On occasion gifts were given for less honorable reasons. An uproar ensued at El Destino, for example, when slaves learned that Jonathan Roberson, the sawmill overseer, was courting favors from one of the slave women. The woman admitted that Roberson had given her “gifts of whiskey on several occasions in exchange of certain favors.” Since slave men of marrying age outnumbered such women at El Destino and Chemonie, male bondsmen saw Roberson as an unfair competitor and an intruder in the plantation courtship rituals. Roberson’s authority was compromised after this incident. Slaves working at the mill became overtly resistant and so unproductive that the owner considered dismissing Roberson as his agent, an action urged by overseers on both plantations.24

Just as slaveholders tried to control the religious behavior and interpersonal relations of the slaves, they also sought to regulate their work patterns. Even though it gave planters absolute power, the legal system could not ensure effective control of the quality or quantity of work performed. Alteration of entrenched patterns and customary levels of production often proved difficult because slaves resisted. When El Destino’s overseer, Moxley, flogged many slaves for “coming up short” on their cotton picking, four slaves fled from the plantation.25 Planter Jones asked Evans, the overseer at Chemonie, to investigate. Not surprisingly, Evans supported his colleague although he admitted to Jones that the whippings had been rather severe. Evans could hardly judge Moxley’s actions objectively since he was having his own slave problems and also had resorted to frequent floggings. As Evans wrote in frustration to Jones, “I am doeing all I knoe [to make the slaves work].”26

Poor supervision exacerbated problems. Both Evans and Moxley blamed their difficulties in punishing slaves on Jonathan Roberson, the sawmill overseer, who seemed incapable of supervising or masking his dependence upon the fifteen or more slaves under his control. This group took every opportunity to challenge his power. In an effort at compromise, Roberson allowed the slaves to report to work after sunrise and to work under less immediate supervision than was permitted other bondsmen on the two plantations.27 Since the slaves had permission to visit either plantation and to party together on occasion, they likely discussed their newly won autonomy with the other slaves. The outcome was predictable. “If they see negroes around them Ideling,” Evans reported, “why they want to doe so two [sic].”28

Evans and Moxley followed the path trod by many other overseers and were unyielding in pushing slaves to work more efficiently. In time, Chemonie and El Destino slaves tried to undermine their overseers’ authority by communicating directly with their owner during his intermittent visits. This practice so frustrated Evans that he wrote to his employer in 1856, “Your negroes behave badly behind my back and then run to you and you appear to beleave what they say.” After serving Jones for over a decade, Evans tendered his letter of resignation that year.29

The methods used to make slaves work productively and efficiently varied from place to place. In the eastern and southern areas of Florida, where sugar, cotton, and tobacco were grown, planters employed the task system; in Middle Florida, where most of the larger plantations were located, they used the gang system. Of the two systems, slaves seemed to prefer the former. Zephaniah Kingsley wrote that his slaves were pleased with the task system, worked more efficiently, and were less rebellious when allowed to complete the assigned tasks by two or three o’clock each day. No records suggest disciplinary problems among Kingsley’s workers.30 Achille Murat also employed the task system. He claimed that his workers were usually finished with their work around three or four o’clock and were then allowed to attend to their private concerns.31

In Middle Florida some plantations, such as Wirtland, were sizable enough to employ both systems, but this duality led to power struggles over the work regime and the type of activity that slaves found appropriate.32 A new Wirtland slave, Henry Minor, was accustomed to a degree of independence since he had previously been hired out. When Minor was instructed to plant trees, he complained about outdoor work and finally asked to be sold. Mrs. Wirt was compelled to remind her agent that she had absolute power over Henry’s life and that “he is not his own master, to come and go as he pleases, to the arrogance [sic] of his owner.”33

Despite such assertions, owners sometimes acknowledged slaves’ attempts to define the terms of their labor. In 1843 Ellen Wirt discussed Lucy’s proposed assignment in the field and noted that she was “unfit for the field, yet, she makes no objection to cooking.” When Ellen attempted to sell Charles, who had worked at the sawmill as a field hand, Charles “took it upon himself to tell [the prospective buyer] that he had never been in the field and done any hard work.” Ellen noted, “Of course, Mr. Crong decline[d] closing the bargain.”34 Another of Wirt’s slaves, Eliza, believed that her task was to cook, “and [she had] the notion that nothing else [is] to be expected of her.” The slave never completely fulfilled her owners’ expectations even after repeated corporal punishment.35 The Wirts finally threatened to sell Eliza to “Cherokee Planters without one feeling of regret.”
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Advertisement for the sale of slaves belonging to the estate of planter Ben Chaires, Leon County, Florida, 1842. African and Spanish names appear in the list of slaves to be sold.



When planters failed to allow a degree of autonomy, slaves resisted with patterns of poor performance. Not only did they challenge the gang system repeatedly, but they even challenged less demanding assignments. One owner complained that a house servant worked to her own “liking” and that another, Emaline, “has turned out so badly that she has been ejected from the kitchen. She was not only impudent to Rosetta [the white worker] and unmanageable . . . [but] dishonest.” John, who took care of the carriage and horses, was “lazy and inefficient,” the same frustrated owner accused.36

In the face of such challenges, some owners and overseers used force to enhance their authority. Louis Goldsborough whipped a disgruntled slave who packed cotton poorly. “The packer has been punished severely, and too in as formal and inspiring a manner as I thought the occasion deserved,” Goldsborough recorded. “The punishment I inflicted in the presence of all the colored people on the plantation . . . and by telling them of the offense committed, and giving them to understand what each and all might expect for such a similar conduct.”37

But even fear of severe punishments did not coerce all bondsmen. Former slave Margrett Nickerson remembered that her sister Holly, who worked on William Carr’s plantation, refused to be driven at any pace other than the one she had established for herself. “Holly didn’ stand back on non’ uv em,” Nickerson recalled, “when dey’d git behin’ her, she’d git behin’ dem; she wuz dat stubbo’n and when dey would beat her she wouldn’ holler and jes take it and go on.”38

When corporal punishment failed, as it often did, slavemasters were left with few options except threatening to sell rebellious blacks. Former slave Acie Thomas of Jefferson County recalled that it did not take “tearing the hid[e] off” a slave to get him or her to behave; instead, the suggestion that the master would “sell him to some po’ white trash . . . allus brougt good results.”39

Over time many slaveholders learned that neither severe punishment nor threat of sale would modify behavior or work patterns of some bondsmen. They learned that their laborers, at least occasionally, required positive inducements. Rewards for good work or good behavior might include extra days off during the holidays, additional food allotments, additional free time, or money. According to Douglas Parish, his master “fed his slaves well, [and] gave them comfortable quarters in which to live . . . and if the slaves failed to do their work, they were reported to him and not to the overseer for punishment.” Acie Thomas recalled, “Slaves were often given time off for frolics, dances, and quilting-weddings.” She also claimed that some Jefferson County slaveholders prided themselves on giving their slaves “the finest parties.”40

Rewards and inducements varied widely and often were tailored to address personal needs and special circumstances. Wally, one of the Wirtland overseers, gave money to an old slave named Quak as a reward for work well done. In 1850, he presented Jud Poll with $2 to purchase an outfit for his wife-to-be. A year later, he purchased cooking utensils for certain slaves for good conduct. Laura Randall gave two of her father’s slaves dresses for them to wear when they married men on her uncle John Gamble’s plantation in Jefferson County.41 As a cooperative gesture, J. K. Gibbs, Kingsley’s nephew and overseer at Fort George, gave bondsmen time off to plant and harvest their crops, noting that it “is a rule which we have, to give all the Negroes one day in the Spring to plant and one in the fall to reap.” Gibbs also gave the slaves extra rations and four days off during the Christmas holidays. “[I] got the Beef for the people on yesterday,” he recorded on December 25, 1841, “and gave out double allowances of corn and salt also, so that the Negroes could feed their holliday visitors—of course, no work for anybody.”42

While slaves no doubt welcomed such gifts, they also worked hard to lessen their dependence on their masters. When assigned tasks were completed, slaves on the Kingsley plantation, for example, tended their gardens and fished as a way of feeding themselves and their families. According to Murat, blacks on his plantation raised poultry and pigs for themselves, grew their own vegetables, and could sell them at market.43

Other slaves stole food and other items. One overseer claimed that a slave named Mugin was up to his “old trade of stealing chickens [at night].”44 A slave named Dick was noted for stealing watermelons and stopped his thefts only after a dog seized him by the “seat of his pants.”45 Two “trusted” slaves of the Eppes family, Molly and Randall Junior, conspired to steal bacon from the smokehouse to exchange for whiskey when Randall journeyed to Tallahassee with a delivery of cotton. The theft was discovered and although the slaves’ punishments are not known, Eppes noted that “this may not have been Randall’s first offense, but it was certainly his last.”46 Planters regularly punished thefts by slaves but failed to prevent further losses or the repeated challenges to their authority.

Realizing that overt opposition to a master’s control would lead to punishment, slaves developed alternative, less easily countered forms of resistance. They learned early that feigning illness was one simple, yet difficult-to-disprove evasion. According to the overseer of the El Destino mill, four or five of the slaves under his control normally were “sick.” During one four-month period about one-third of the workforce was confined to the quarters because of illness. The Wirt plantations were likewise afflicted. Chemonie’s overseer, A. R. McCall, reported that Ellen was not sick but trying to “deceive” him.47 Alexander Randall reflected McCall’s sentiments when he said that Nelly “is not much sick . . . and supposes herself privileged [by not having to work].”48 The number of slaves who became ill rose during the planting and harvesting seasons. In September 1839 Ellen Wirt Voss complained that “almost every man, woman, and child with two exceptions have been sick.”49 Louis Wirt recorded that his mother’s bondsmen were constantly sick during the warm season. Henry Wirt summed up the illness on the Wirtland plantation in 1843 by stating, “I think Charlotte [a slave] told me there was more sickness during the months of May, June, and July among the negroes that she had ever known.”50

In addition to feigning illness, slaves found other means of manipulating their masters. When Squire Jackson’s master came upon him reading, the bondsman quickly turned the paper upside down and began to shout, “The Confederates don won the War.” The master laughed at what he heard and walked away without disciplining the slave.51 A quiet-acting slave at Chemonie was so overjoyed by the news of her freedom that she dropped her crutches and began to walk. The former master was quite disgusted with this revelation since he had excused her from doing any “real work” for seven years.52 Some apparently compliant bondsmen showed different sides of their personalities when there was little chance of being punished. According to the daughter of a Middle Florida planter, the cook and faithful servant, Emeline, changed overnight after learning of her freedom. When asked to cook for her former master, Emeline replied, “Take dem keys back ter yer mother an’ tell her [I] don’t never ‘spects ter cook no more, not while I lives—tell her I’s free, bless de Lord!” Despite repeated requests, Emeline refused to change her mind.53

Not all resistance was covert, however. Some slaves openly defied the power and authority of their masters, sometimes by attempts to physically harm owners and overseers. Laura Randall claimed in 1832 that three of her slaves had conspired to poison their overseer. One of the accused, Sally, was “banished” from the house and two other slaves were sold. After witnessing the brutal treatment of his mother, another slave, Douglas Dorsey, plotted to serve his master strychnine with his coffee. Fortunately for both, as Dorsey remembered, “Freedom had saved him of this act which would have resulted in his death.”54 When four women from the El Destino plantation who had run away to escape flogging were captured and returned, the overseer started to whip one of the runaways. Her brother, Aberdeen, then attacked the overseer with an axe. Aberdeen afterwards was given a “genteel floging” in front of the entire slave community.55 When Chemonie’s overseer attempted to whip Winter, the slave confronted him, saying that he “would not take it,” and ran off to the neighboring plantation of El Destino, where he stayed for at least four days before returning.56

Every member of the planter class knew that running away was the disgruntled slave’s immediate and most effective way of resisting his master’s control. Donorena Harris noted in her study of Florida runaways between 1821 and 1860 that only a small percentage of slaveowners regularly advertised their runaways because those who frequently absconded were usually caught within a few days.57 Of 742 identified slaves who fled Florida farms and plantations, 148, or 20 percent, were repeaters, and a few were habitual offenders. Those slaves who had been on a plantation for only a brief period were most prone to escape. Of the 742 runaways, 77 percent were males, averaging twenty-nine years of age. Some left when new masters or overseers took control of the enterprise; others fled out of anger or frustration. Still others ran away because of the separation of a family member, and some absconded out of a simple desire to be free.58 Slaves ran away throughout the year, and although Harris concluded that more left the plantation in February, April, May, and June than at any other time, other contemporary sources indicate that most escapees fled during June, July, August, and September.59
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“Mauma Mollie,” ca. 1850s. Mauma Mollie was brought from Africa to South Carolina on a slave ship and became nursemaid for the children of John and Eliza Partridge of Jefferson, Florida, in the 1830s. Henry Edward Partridge wrote in his diary in 1873 that “We buried either in 57 or 58 our faithful old ‘Mauma’ Mollie—her who had nursed nearly all of the children of the family; been a friend as well as a faithful servant to my Mother; in whose cabin we had often eaten the homely meal of fried bacon & ash cake and where we always had welcome and sympathy and whom we loved as a second mother. Black of skin but pure of heart, she doubtless stands among the faithful on the right of the King.” Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.
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Runaway slave advertisement from the Jacksonville Courier, April 16, 1835, in which planter Henry Maxey described the facial scarification of his African-born slave Charles, who escaped with a female companion, Dorcas. Courtesy of the Florida Historical Society.



Interestingly, many planters revealed a gross misperception of their chattel’s personality in describing their runaways. Susan Bradford Eppes expressed great surprise when a trusted and reliable plow-hand, Laurence, left the Bradford plantation. She remembered that he was not provoked in any way but had just “disappeared” one day.60 Another slave master insisted that Tom was “usually very polite and pausible when spoken to” but displayed more insight when he added that Tom was an “artful scamp, if he thought it to his advantage might deny he belonged or knew me or even change his name.”61 Edward Houston admitted that his runaway was “forward in speaking and not timid,” as well as being well-dressed when he escaped.62 Although only a tiny portion of Florida’s slave population resorted to illegal flight in any given year, the problem nonetheless plagued slaveholders throughout the period.63

Once a slave had fled his master’s control, his or her destination varied according to several factors. Young, married slaves were more likely to remain within Florida. Ties of family and affection rated high as a cause of slave flight, as bondsmen and -women often left in search of family members or loved ones. One runaway, Hannah, was “believed to be headed for Tallahassee where her mother lives.” Other slaves like George and John were thought to be “lurking at Black Creek where they have Wives.” One owner offered a handsome $200 reward for the return of two children who had run away to seek their “freed mother.” Abram, a Leon County slave, was at large looking “for his wife.” Levenia left Tallahassee for Quincy where “she has a husband.” In some cases entire families vanished, as did Nelson, his wife Jinny, and their son and daughter.64

Those runaways with fewer familial ties to bind them did not linger in Middle Florida, but moved on to central or southern Florida or to the Bahamas. Aware of traditional alliances forged between slaves, free blacks, and Seminole Indians during the late-eighteenth and early-nineteenth centuries under both Spanish and British rule, slaves from the plantations throughout Florida logically made their way to black and Indian settlements scattered throughout the peninsula. Slave hunters such as John Winslett pursued runaways living among the peninsular maroons at the risk of their lives.65

Some runaways looked beyond the peninsula for a haven in the Bahamas. In 1842, several slaves escaped from St. Augustine on boats belonging to the local pilots of the harbor. They headed to the Bahamas, robbing and murdering a Key Biscayne man en route to their destination. After arrival in the islands, the runaways remained safe under British jurisdiction despite pleas from planters for their return to Florida.66

Inevitably, some planters came to believe that their runaways were being assisted by abolitionists in Florida, although these reformers were never a threat to the institution of slavery in the territory or state. White assistance to slave flight often was an individual act, not a well-planned conspiracy to aid in the escape of “large” numbers of slaves. In many such cases no records exist on the sentence of the guilty party, although many offenders were not punished to the highest extent of the law. According to former slave Shack Thomas, some alleged abolitionists were simply run out of town.67 One celebrated 1844 case involved Jonathan Walker, a Boston abolitionist, who abetted the escape of seven Pensacola slaves. All of the culprits were apprehended and returned. The slaves went back to their respective masters, while Walker stood trial and was found guilty of “aiding and abetting” runaways. The court ordered that he be placed in the pillory, branded on the hand with the letters SS, imprisoned for fifteen days, and fined $150.68

Not all master-slave relationships were characterized by conflict—at least according to the WPA accounts of elderly Florida freedmen. Some bondsmen seemed to identify with the master as a father figure, while others may have remained loyal in hopes of manumission. Bolden Hall recalled that his master had been “very good to his slaves . . . and provided them with plenty of food and clothing, and always saw to it that their cabins were liveable.”69 Louis Napoleon stated that “his master and mistress were very kind to the slaves and would never whip them”; if a black was whipped, the slave had only to report the incident to the “master and the ‘driver’ was dismissed.”70 Willis Williams reminisced that his master was kind, and that he had no “unpleasant experiences as related by some other ex-slaves.” He was never flogged, and he was pleased to sit in the balcony at the same church attended by his owner.71 The promise of eventual freedom kept Cato loyal to his master, Jesse Potts, until his death. Other Middle Florida planters also freed loyal slaves in their wills, provided they “left” the country upon their owner’s death.72

Slaves in Middle Florida were, indeed, a “troublesome property,” and the master-slave relationship was continually contested. The master, who was supported by law, social institutions, and established regional values, demanded obedience. Although slaves had no legal redress and few social supports, they nevertheless realized that the master’s reliance upon slave labor was an effective source of power for them. Despite their “social death,” Florida slaves creatively and persistently used this knowledge to modify the conditions of their enslavement.
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Blacks and the Seminole Removal Debate, 1821–1835

George Klos

THE RISE OF Jacksonian democracy in the United States during the 1820s and 1830s led to a national program of Indian displacement for the benefit of white settlers and land speculators. Disputes between whites and Native Americans over the possession of black slaves was a very prominent feature of Indian removal from Florida. Unlike Indian removal in other parts of the United States, land was not the main issue; thousands of acres of public land could be had in Florida without dispossessing the Seminoles. Mediation of white-Seminole disputes over slaves failed, in part, because the federal Indian agents often owned and speculated in slaves themselves and thus were compromised by personal interests. Also, many blacks worked for the Seminoles as influential interpreters and advisers.

Even before the acquisition of Florida by the United States in 1821, blacks were involved in white-native conflicts. The combination of blacks and Seminoles was important in the international affairs of the region from the 1810–14 plot to take East Florida from the Spanish by force to the 1816 Negro Fort incident on the Apalachicola River and Andrew Jackson’s Florida campaign of 1818.1 After 1821, the problems between whites, Seminoles, and black allies of the Seminoles changed from an international issue to an internal one; the Florida Indians could now be dealt with unilaterally by the United States.

Settlers coming into Florida found, according to a in Niles Weekly Register, “the finest agricultural district within the limits of the United States.” He described the area between the Suwanee and St. Johns rivers as “combining the advantages of a mild and healthy climate, a rich soil, and convenient navigation.”2 William P. DuVal, Jackson’s successor as territorial governor of Florida, warned Secretary of War John C. Calhoun that “it will be a serious misfortune to this Territory if the Indians are permitted to occupy this tract of country.” DuVal recommended moving the Indians of Florida to the domain of the Creeks, “to whom they properly belong,” or to land west of the Mississippi River.3 Writing to Florida Indian agent John R. Bell, Calhoun noted, “The government expects that the Slaves who have run away or been plundered from our Citizens or from Indian tribes within our limits will be given up peaceably by the Seminole Indians when demanded.” Calhoun instructed Bell to convince the Seminoles either to join the Creeks or “to concentrate . . . in one place and become peaceable and industrious farmers.”4

Governor DuVal, along with Florida planters James Gadsden and Bernard Segui, met with Indian representatives in September 1823 at Moultrie Creek south of St. Augustine. The Seminoles agreed to cede their land in north Florida to the United States and to receive a large tract with recognized boundaries farther south. Part of the negotiations required the listing of Indian towns and a census of their inhabitants. Neamathla, the leader of the Seminole delegation, listed thirty-seven towns with 4,883 natives. He objected, however, according to Gadsden, to specifying “the number of negroes in the nation.”5

The Moultrie Creek agreement reserved for the Seminoles the area from the Big Swamp along the Withlacoochee River south to the “main branch of the Charlotte [Peace] river,” some fifteen to twenty miles inland from the coasts. The Indians were to receive $5,000 per year for twenty years. Article 7 bound the Indians to be “active and vigilant in preventing the retreating to, or passing through, of the district assigned them, of any absconding slaves, or fugitives from justice” and to deliver all such people to the agent, when they would be compensated for their expenses.6

The U.S. government representatives, in their report accompanying the treaty, recommended that military posts be established around the contours of Indian country “to embody such a population within prescribed limits, and to conquer their erratic habits . . . [and to] further induce an early settlement of the country now open to the enterprise of emigrants.”7

In giving up their North Florida land, the Indians were relinquishing an area of fertile soil, good rainfall, and temperate climate. Many of the early settlers migrated from elsewhere in the South and, with slaves that they brought with them, established cotton, sugar, and tobacco plantations and farms. Many Piedmont and Tidewater elites moved to Florida and created a new hierarchy in the territory.8 Between 1825 and 1832, 433, 751 acres of public land were sold in Florida; some 5 million acres were still available in 1833. The territorial Legislative Council, in an 1828 resolution to Congress, requested that the price per acre for public land be reduced so as to attract more settlers. The legislators argued it was a national security move to increase population.9

The 1830 census listed 34,730 Floridians, of whom 15, 501 were slaves and 844 “free colored.”10 The Comte de Castelneau, a French visitor to Florida in the 1830s, observed the local planter as being “accustomed to exercise absolute power over his slaves [;] he cannot endure any opposition to his wishes.” Whites of modest means, he said, were “brought up from childhood with the idea that the Indians are the usurpers of the land that belongs to them, and even in times of peace they are always ready to go hunting savages rather than deer hunting. . . . These men know no other power than physical force, and no other pleasure than carrying out their brutal passions.”11

Blacks living with the Seminoles became a point of contention for whites because the Seminole system of slavery was not as harsh or rigid as the Anglo-American system; a comparatively lenient system in such close proximity might offer slaves of whites an alternative that their owners could not tolerate. A Seminole was more of a patron than a master; the Seminole slave system was akin to tenant farming. Blacks lived in their own villages near Indian villages and paid a harvest tribute, a percentage of the yield from their fields, to the chief. Blacks, an Indian agent reported, had “horses, cows, and hogs, with which the Indian owner never presumed to meddle.”12

In the 1820s, when there were approximately four hundred blacks living with the Seminoles, only some eighty could be identified as fugitive slaves. Jacob Rhett Motte, an army surgeon stationed in Florida in the 1830s, noted, “They had none of the servility of our northern blacks, but were constantly offerring their dirty paws with as much hauteur and nonchalance as if they were conferring a vast deal of honor.”13 They could “speak English as well as Indian,” the trader Horatio Dexter reported, “and feel satisfied with their situation. They have the easy unconstrained manner of the Indian but more vivacity, and from their understanding of both languages possess considerable influence with their masters.”14 Only a few black Seminoles were bilingual, and those who were became influential in Indian councils. Although much has been made of the “equality” of the black Seminoles, it would be more accurate to say that some blacks were more equal than others. Seminole society had blacks of every status—born free, or the descendants of fugitives, or perhaps fugitives themselves. Some were interpreters and advisers of importance, others were warriors and hunters or field hands. Intermarriage with Indians further complicated black status. But even a black of low status among the Seminoles felt it was an improvement over Anglo-American chattel slavery.

People living near the Seminoles usually became acquainted with the Indians and their black interpreters through trade. Seminoles visited stores and plantations despite the legal prohibition on leaving the reservation. Blacks often crossed the prescribed boundaries, and some white-owned slaves had spouses and other relatives living in Indian country. John Philip, a middle-aged “chief negro” to King Philip, leader of an Indian band, had a wife living on a St. Johns River plantation. Luis Fatio, owned by Francis Philip Fatio, one of the most prominent planters in East Florida, made his first contact with the Seminoles on the plantation. His older brother ran away to Indian country, and Luis learned one of the Indian languages during his brother’s periodic visits to the slave quarters. One day Luis went on a visit to Seminole country and never returned.15

There were others like Luis. Alachua County slaveowners estimated one hundred runaways among the Seminoles, complaining that the black Seminoles (the planters apparently saw a difference between them and runaways) “aided such slaves to select new and more secure places of refuge.”16 Owen Marsh, who visited several “Negro Villages” looking for runaways, noted that the number of runaway slaves among the Seminoles could not be determined “from the Circumstances of their being protected by the Indian Negroes. . . . These Indian Negroes are so artfull that it is impossible to gain any Information relating to such property from them.”17
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Gopher John, Seminole Interpreter. Reprinted from Joshua R. Giddings, The Exiles of Florida (Columbus, Ohio, 1858). Africans living among the Seminoles in Florida adopted Seminole dress and ways of life.



Governor DuVal admonished the Seminoles in January 1826 for not returning runaway slaves.

You are not to mind what the negroes say; they will lie, and lead you astray, in the hope to escape from their white owners, and that you will give them refuge and hide them. Do your duty and give them up. They care nothing for you, further than to make use of you, to keep out of the hands of their masters. Thus far the negroes have made you their tools, and gained protection, contrary to both justice and the treaty, and at the same time, laugh at you for being deceived by them. Your conduct in this matter is cause of loud, constant, and just complaint on the part of the white people. . . . Deliver them up, rid your nation of a serious pest, and do what, as honest men, you should not hesitate to do; then your white brothers will say you have done them justice, like honest, good men.

Should the Seminoles refuse, DuVal warned, the army will take the blacks by force, “and in the confusion, many of you may lose your own slaves.”18

Tuckose Emathla (John Hicks), a principal spokesman for the Indians, replied, “We do not like the story that our people hide the runaway negroes from their masters. It is not a true talk. . . . We have never prevented the whites from coming into our country and taking their slaves whenever they could find them and we will not hereafter oppose their doing so.” At another meeting that year, Tuckose Emathla voiced the main Indian complaint regarding slaves: “The white people have got some of our negroes, which we expect they will be made to give up.”19

Besides the black communities on Seminole land, other groups of blacks and Indians lived outside the treaty boundaries, and still others left Florida altogether. Owen Marsh, in his investigation of Seminole country, reported that many runaway slaves had departed for the Bahamas and Cuba, and a Darien, Georgia, slaveowner complained to the secretary of war that his escaped slaves left Florida via “West India wreckers” working the Atlantic coast.20 Two other settlements in southwest Florida were described by John Winslett, who was tracking three slaves of a Georgia planter. He was told at Tampa Bay that “it would not be safe to pursue them much farther without force; that a band of desperadoes, runaways, murderers, and thieves (negroes and Indians, a majority runaway slaves)” lived on an island south of Charlotte Harbor. Blacks and Indians who had been there told Winslett of “another settlement of lawless persons (Indians and absconded slaves) on a creek between Manatia [Manatee] River and Charlotte’s Harbor, some miles west of the latter.”21 The island community was a haven for some survivors of the Negro Fort on the Apalachicola River, and existed until the war for Seminole removal.22 The residents cut timber and fished, shipping their goods to Havana, where they were traded for rum and firearms. The Seminoles also traded with Cuban fishermen, and Indian agent Gad Humphreys reported that runaway slaves were shuttled to Havana this way, sometimes bound for freedom and sometimes for sale.23

The legal mechanisms for settling slave disputes between whites and Indians failed. DuVal proposed that the government buy Seminole slaves, as individual whites were prohibited from slave trading with Indians, but he was told by the superintendent of Indian Affairs that agents should not involve themselves in slave trade with their charges. When whites took slaves from Indians, Florida agents were instructed to use due process to get the slaves back. When Indians held slaves claimed by whites, the burden of proof was on the whites. In accordance with the Moultrie Creek treaty, the Seminoles did return some runaway slaves, and in other cases, Humphreys explained to the representative of a Georgia slaveowner, they welcomed investigation “by a competent tribunal.”24 For the most part, however, the Seminoles refused to surrender the slaves in question before the trial. “Their own negroes that have been taken from them are held by white people who refuse to dilliver them up,” DuVal told the superintendent of Indian Affairs. “I have felt asshamed while urgeing the Indians to surrender the property they hold, that I had not power to obtain for them their own rights and property held by our citizens. . . . To tell one of these people that he must go to law for his property in our courts with a white man is only adding insult to injury.”25

Indians resisted surrendering slaves to public (white) custody as a precondition for resolving disputes because they knew they had no rights in court. “The Indian, conscious of his rights, and knowing that he paid the money, though incapable of showing the papers executed under forms of law, as he had received none, and relying upon the honesty of the white man, protested most earnestly against these demands, and resolutely expressed a determination to resist all attempts thus to wrest from him his rightfully acquired property,” explained John T. Sprague in his history of the Second Seminole War. “Deprived as they were of a voice in the halls of justice, the surrender of the negro at once dispossessed them, without the least prospect of ever getting him returned.” The commander of the army post at Tampa Bay, Colonel George M. Brooke, observed in 1828 that “so many claims are now made on them, that they begin to believe that it is the determination of the United States to take them all. This idea is strengthened by the conversations of many of the whites, and which they have heard.”26

Whites, however, saw it differently. Samuel Cook, Abraham Bellamy, and other planters complained that “whilst the Law furnishes to the Indians ample means of redress for the aggressions of Whitemen, we are Constrained to look with patience, whilst they possess and enjoy the property most justly and rightfully Ours.” They also objected to being prevented from taking from Indian country “even those negroes that are unclaimed and unpossessed by the Indians.”27 Cook also voiced another frontier slaveowner’s complaint, that slaves purchased from the Seminoles often slipped back to Indian country. DuVal reported to McKenney that “the persons who have been most clamorous about their claims on the Indians and their property are those who have cheated them, under false reports, of their slaves, who have since gone back to the Indians.”28 Alfred Beckley, an army lieutenant stationed in Florida in 1825, noted that planters sought any opportunity to use force against the Seminoles “so that the whites might possess themselves of many valuable negroes.”29

DuVal favored withholding treaty annuities until the Indians returned runaway slaves, and the Indian Office did so in 1828 but later reversed the policy and forbade it in the future. Since some white claims were indisputable, DuVal said, the slave in question ought to be given by the Indians to the agent, or the owner “ought to receive the full value of him from the nation.”30 Local slaveowners, however, advocated “adequate military force” to “recover pilfered property” from the Seminoles.31
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Billy Bowlegs and Chiefs of the Seminole Indians: Billy Bowlegs, Chocote Tustenuggee, Abram [sic], John Jumper, Fasatchee Emanthla, Sarparkee Yohola, on a state visit to Washington, D.C., in 1826. Abraham, fourth from the left, escaped from slavery and became an adviser to Chief Micanopy. He helped negotiate the treaties of Paynes Landing and Fort Gibson and urged the Seminoles to resist deportation to the Indian Territory. He was eventually exiled with them in 1839. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



If, in the critical role of the agents as mediators between Indians and frontier whites, “the success of the work depended upon the character of the man,” then the agents assigned to the Seminoles exacerbated rather than allayed conflict.32 Ample evidence shows that, contrary to orders, Gad Humphreys engaged in slave trade with his charges, and planters accused him of dragging his feet on their complaints about runaways. In one case, a woman in St. Marys, Georgia, claimed that a slave and the slave’s children were living with the Seminoles. A man dispatched to retrieve them found it “next to an impossibility” to get them back due to the Seminoles’ “natural reluctance to give it up and the wish of their agent to speculate.”33 “The negroes this man is after are ours, and the white people know it is so,” said the subchief Jumper to Humphreys.34 When Humphreys reported the Seminoles’ determination not to allow the contested slaves out of their possession, interested parties petitioned Washington for an investigation, charging Humphreys with colluding with a local planter to prevent transfer of the slaves, in the expectation that the claim would be abandoned with the passage of time, as expenses mounted.35

McKenney also received accusations that Humphreys had worked fugitive slaves on his own land for several months before returning them to their owners. Secretary of War Peter B. Porter informed President John Quincy Adams of allegations that Humphreys had “connived with the Indians in the concealment of runaway slaves, and in that way affected purchases of them himself, at reduced prices.”36

Humphreys explained to Alex Adair, the investigator of the allegations, that he bought slaves from Indians so that claimants could prove ownership in court, an impossibility as long as the slaves were in Indian possession.37 Adair concluded that while Humphreys in fact probably had billed the government for sugar kettles installed on his land, the other charges were difficult to prove since “those who had been most clamorous appeared most disposed to evade the inquiry.” Humphreys apparently had made reasonable settlements with his accusers when he learned that he was to be investigated. Zephaniah Kingsley, who claimed that Humphreys had held one of his slaves for over a year, “stated he had settled his business with the Agent in his own way. . . . His property had been surrendered to him some months back and he cared no more about it.”38

An Alachua County resident reported to Governor DuVal that Humphreys possessed blacks belonging to Indians, and that he bought Indian cattle with IOUs he later refused to honor. Humphreys was a liability, McKenney noted, because those opposing him in Florida “make his services in that quarter of but little, if any, use to the Government, whilst his dealing in slaves is in direct violation of an express order forbidding it.” Both Governor DuVal and the territory’s Congressional Delegate Joseph White wanted Humphreys replaced, and he was dismissed in March 1830.39

Humphreys’s slave problems, however, continued, as DuVal had received complaints from Indians that Humphreys held their slaves. Humphreys’s replacement, John Phagan, attempted to return the slaves, but Humphreys refused to release them unless Phagan was willing to purchase them.40 In another case, stemming from his role as Indian agent, Humphreys sought government assistance in recovering two black men claimed by an Indian woman named Culekeechowa. She had inherited from her mother a slave named Caty, who later bore four children. Horatio Dexter, a trader, persuaded Culekeechowa’s brother and Caty’s husband, to sell Caty and her two daughters and two sons in exchange for whiskey. Humphreys, as agent, who had agreed to help the Indian woman, went to St. Augustine, where Dexter was offering the slaves for sale. Humphreys maintained that he had to buy them to prevent their sale to a Charleston buyer. But then, instead of returning them to Culekeechowa, he kept the slaves for himself. When the boys grew older and became aware of what had happened, they left for Seminole country in 1835.41

Slave disputes between Seminoles and whites frequently went unresolved because the interpreters in these negotiations were sometimes former slaves themselves. DuVal observed that the blacks were “much more hostile to the white people than their masters,” and were “constantly counteracting” advice to the Indians. In several instances, he said, chiefs had agreed to a white demand in council but later were talked out of compliance by their black advisers.42 The problem, as Humphreys saw it in 1827, was that “the negroes of the Seminole Indians are wholly independent, or at least regardless of the authority of their masters; and are Slaves but in name.” Indians considered blacks “rather as fellow Sufferers and companions in misery than as inferiors,” Humphreys wrote, and the “great influence the Slaves possess over their masters” enabled them to “artfully represent” whites as hostile to people of color.43 The first step in moving the Seminoles out of Florida, DuVal told the commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1834, “must be the breaking up of the runaway slaves and outlaw Indians.”44

When Andrew Jackson was elected president, public opinion in the South was demanding stricter control over Indians. Whites wanted land, of course, but they also saw Indians as possible allies of foreign powers (as in the War of 1812), and the presence of fugitive slaves among them was viewed as a threat to internal security. Jackson urged Indian removal legislation in his December 1829 annual message to Congress, and he tried to sooth opposition by assuring that removal would be voluntary and peaceful. In May 1830, Congress appropriated $500,000 for the negotiation of removal treaties. The territory north of Texas and west of Arkansas that was designated for resettlement was considered at the time the only available location where the Indians would not be in the way of white expansion.45
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Ben Bruno, Harper’s Weekly, June 12, 1858. Like Abraham, Bruno served as interpreter and adviser to the Seminoles. He was a confidant of Chief Billy Bowlegs. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Floridians had been voicing removal sentiment since early in the territorial period.46 As indicated in a message to Congress, the main reason for ousting the Seminoles from Florida was unchanged through the years: “A most weighty objection” to the presence of Indians in the territory was “that absconding slaves find ready security among the Indians and such aid is amply sufficient to enable them successfully to elude the best efforts by their masters to recover them.”47

Territorial government wholeheartedly supported the white slave interests. The Legislative Council requested removal in July 1827, and Acting Governor James Westcott asked the council to strengthen the militia because “we have amongst us two classes who may possibly at some future period, be incited to hostility, and . . . it behooves us always to be prepared.” He believed the only humane solution was to move the Indians away from whites, without moving their slaves.48

An 1826 Florida law to regulate Indian trade in general imposed the death penalty on anyone who “shall inveigle, steal, or carry away” any slave or “hire, aid, or counsel” anyone to do so. That this section—which does not mention Indians—appears in a bill relating to Indian trade shows slaveowners’ concern over the black-Indian connection. In 1832, the territory prohibited “Indian negroes, bond or free,” from traveling outside the Indian boundaries. Also, in light of the Gad Humphreys episodes, the council set limits to the amount of the reward Indian agents could collect for capturing runaway slaves, established accounting requirements in slave cases, and required agents to advertise fugitive slaves in their custody.49

In January 1832 Secretary of War Lewis Cass instructed James Gadsden, Florida planter and Jackson supporter, to arrange a treaty with the Seminoles providing for their removal west to the new Creek country, with all annuities in the West to be paid through the Creeks.50 Gadsden met with the Seminole leaders at Paynes Landing on the Ocklawaha River. Among the first orders of business was selection of interpreters satisfactory to the Seminoles. Gadsden brought along Stephen Richards for that purpose, while the Seminoles chose Abraham, “a faithful domestic of Micanope, the Head Chief. In addition the interpreter of the agent, Cudjo, was present.”51 As advisers and interpreters in Indian-white negotiations, these two men were perhaps the most influential blacks in Florida at the time.

Abraham was regarded as more than an interpreter; he was frequently called a “chief Negro” in official dispatches, and army surgeon Jacob Rhett Motte described him as “a perfect Tallyrand of the savage court.”52 How he arrived among the Seminoles is speculative, but judging by his manners and knowledge of English, he may have been an Englishman’s house servant prior to the U.S. acquisition of Florida. His wife was Bowleg’s half-black widow, by whom he fathered three or four children.53 Abraham’s influence is usually described in comparison to that of his “master” or patron, Micanopy, “a large, fat man, rather obtuse in intellect, but kind to his people and his slaves.”54 Micanopy was described by McCall as “rather too indolent to rule harshly”; he tended to leave official business to what he called his “sense-bearers,” one of whom was Abraham.55 Despite the prevailing opinion of Micanopy, no one underestimated Abraham. John Lee Williams, one of the first Florida historians and a figure in territorial politics, said Abraham had “as much influence in the nation as any other man. With an appearance of great modesty, he is ambitious, avaricious, and withal very intelligent.”56 Thin and over six feet tall with a broad, square face and a thin moustache, Abraham was “plausible, pliant, and deceitful,” according to Mayer Cohen, who also noted, “and, under an exterior of profound meekness, [he] cloaks deep, dark, and bloody purposes. He has at once the crouch and the spring of the panther.”57 Captain John C. Casey, who spent much time with Abraham during the war and knew him better than most whites, described him as having “a slight inclination forward like a Frenchman of the old school. His countenance is one of great cunning and penetration. He always smiles, and his words flow like oil. His conversation is soft and low, but very distinct, with a most genteel emphasis.”58

Cudjo was described as a “regular interpreter at the Seminole agency,” although it is not known when his relationship with the government began. As late as 1822 he was “one of the principal characters” of a black Seminole town in the Big Swamp area, according to William Simmons, who spent a night in his house.59 One Indian agent complained of his “very imperfect knowledge of the English language,” yet John Bemrose, a soldier in Florida in the 1830s, described his speech as “the common negro jargon of the plantation.”60 Bemrose mentioned that partial paralysis afflicted Cudjo, while another contemporary caustically remarked on the “little, limping figure of Cudjoe . . . with his cunning, squinting eyes; and his hands folded across his lap, in seemingly meek attention to the scene around him.” Of all the blacks to figure prominently in Seminole removal and the ensuing war, Cudjo was the first to side with the government. Porter attributes this to “his physical deficiency of partial paralysis [that] predisposed him toward association with those who could give him the medical attention and comforts which his condition called for and which would have been inaccessible among the hostile Indians and Negroes.”61 By the time of the meeting at Paynes Landing, Cudjo was drawing a salary and rations from the Indian agency at Fort King and probably living there as well.

Gadsden’s main obstacles to a successful conclusion of the treaty negotiations were slave claims and the idea that the Seminoles should combine with the Creeks. He told the assemblage that as bad as emigration sounded to them, their situation would only be worse under local jurisdiction, which would be their fate if they refused to sell their land. He offered to include in the treaty an article earmarking $7,000, over and above the main payment for relinquishing their land, for the government to settle property claims against them. The sum “will probably cover all demands which can be satisfactorily proved,” Gadsden said. “Many claims are for negroes. . . . The Indians allege that the depredations were mutual, that they suffered in the same degree, and that most of the property claimed was taken as reprisal for property of equal value lost by them.”62 Finally, Gadsden conferred privately with Abraham and Cudjo and added $400 to the Seminole payment specifically for the two black men. It was “intended to be a bribe,” recalled one disgusted army captain; Gadsden “could not have got the treaty through if he had not bribed the negro interpreter.”63

The Seminoles believed they had forestalled giving up their land. All they had agreed to, they thought, was to send a delegation to the Indian territory to examine the proposed new land. The group would report back to the larger body of Seminoles, and then the final decision would be made. This interpretation was also held at the highest levels of the federal government. The secretary of war, in his annual report to the president, said the treaty was “not obligatory on [the Indians’] part” until a group examined the land “and until the tribe, upon their report, shall have signified their desire” to move. “When they return, the determination of the tribe will be made known to the government.”64

Seven Seminoles, Abraham, and agent John Phagan went to the proposed new Seminole land during the winter of 1832–33. At Fort Gibson on the Arkansas River, Phagan and three other federal agents prepared a document for the group’s signatures. It stated that the group was satisfied with the country to be assigned to the Seminoles, that they would live within the Creek nation but have a separate designated area, and that they would become “a constituent part of the Creek nation.”65 The Seminoles balked. They had no authority to sign anything, and it is reasonable to assume that Oklahoma in the winter was not very appealing to natives of Florida. According to one version, Phagan threatened to refuse to guide them home until they signed. Jumper, Holata Emathla, and Coi Hadjo later claimed never to have signed, but they probably said that to protect themselves from Seminoles violently opposed to removal. Abraham’s part at Fort Gibson went unrecorded and is unclear, but obviously a combination of trickery and duress was employed to hasten emigration. Hitchcock, who later had to fight in the resulting war, called the Seminole treaty process “a fraud upon the Indians.”66

When the group returned and reported to the Seminole council what they had seen, Micanopy informed agent Wiley Thompson that the Seminoles had decided to decline the offer. Thompson told him that the delegation had signed away Florida and to prepare his people for emigration. Abraham brought the chief’s answer the next day. “The old man says today the same he said yesterday, ‘the nation decided in council to decline the offer.’” Captain McCall, with several years service in Florida, knew the interpreter to be “crafty and artful in the extreme” and thus did not doubt that he had “as usual, much to do in keeping the chief, who was of a vacillating character, steady in his purpose.”67 Abraham, however, was not the only influence on Micanopy; “not an Indian would have consented to the relinquishment of their country” had the Paynes Landing agreement worked the way they thought it would, according to Sprague. The Seminoles who had signed at Fort Gibson were, in fact, “ridiculed and upbraided by all classes, male and female, for being circumvented by the whites.” Resistance sentiment was so strong that the Fort Gibson signatories feared for their lives.68

Aside from the overt fraudulence of the recent treaties, the two major obstacles to Seminole removal remained their opposition to living with the Creeks and their rejection of the designs of others on their slaves. The first problem was destined to continue as a part of the removal treaties; the second was supposedly settled by the stipulation that the United States settle property claims against the Seminoles. Nevertheless, plans were still afoot to keep the Seminoles’ blacks in Florida as the Indians were moved out.

The Seminoles gradually separated themselves from the Creek Confederacy, a process virtually complete by the Red Stick War, but the Creeks often included the Seminoles in their treaties even though no Seminoles were signatories.69 The Seminoles, in fact, adamantly denied the Creeks’ right to do so. These treaties usually had articles indemnifying American citizens for slaves taken by Indians as part of the Creek annuity; thus the Creeks claimed black Seminoles as their own, and their demands for the “return” of slaves further complicated Indian removal. Though the Seminoles recognized a political separation between themselves and the Creeks, clan ties bridged the two groups.70

Even Seminoles who favored emigration objected to uniting with the Creeks. The Creeks wanted, according to Lieutenant Woodbourne Potter, to bring the Seminoles into their nation “evidently with a view to dispossess the Seminoles, in the easiest manner, of their large negro property, to which the former had unsuccessfully urged a claim.”71 Colonel Duncan Clinch, leader of the U.S. forces in the 1816 Negro Fort battle and by the 1830s owner of 3,000 acres in Alachua County, explained that the Seminoles feared for their property because the Creeks greatly outnumbered them. They also believed they would have no justice in the West if there were no separate agent to attend to Seminole interests. However, the authorities in Washington, ignoring the advice of those at the scene, continued to plan for combining the Creeks and Seminoles on the same land, under one agency.72 The Seminoles argued that the slave claims made by the Creeks were covered by the sixth article of the Paynes Landing treaty, in which the United States agreed to pay for such claims. “As it would be difficult, not to say impossible, to prove that the negroes claimed by the Creeks, now in the possession of the Seminole Indians, are the identical negroes, or their descendants. . . . I cannot conceive that the Creeks can be supposed to have a fair claim to them,” said agent Thompson.73

The Creeks were but one group asserting the right to enslave black Seminoles. After President Jackson agreed with his Florida supporters that it might be a good idea for the government to permit the selling of the black Seminoles to whites, Thompson expressed his fear to the acting secretary of war that such a policy would “bring into the nation a crowd of ‘speculators,’ some of whom might resort to the use of improper means to effect their object, and thereby greatly embarrass our operations.”74

Governor Richard Keith Call, who had served under Jackson in the Florida campaign of 1818, initiated the plan to sell the blacks. “The negroes have a great influence over the Indians; they are better agriculturalists and inferior huntsmen to the Indians, and are violently opposed to leaving the country,” he explained to Jackson. “If the Indians are permitted to convert them into specie, one great obstacle in the way of removal may be overcome.” Carey A. Harris, head of the Office of Indian Affairs, explained to Thompson that such a move would rid the Seminoles of one certain point of conflict in the West “which . . . would excite the cupidity of the Creeks.” Harris believed, furthermore, that it would not be an inhumane act as “it is not to be presumed the condition of these slaves would be worse than that of others in the same section of the country.”75 To Thompson, a policy of allowing Seminole slave sales was yet one more problem blocking peaceful removal. He had to counteract rumors spread by “malcontent Indians” that he had his own designs on the blacks, “and the moment I am called upon to meet this new difficulty, a party of whites arrives at the agency with what they consider a permission from the War Department to purchase slaves from the Indians.” Should this continue, he warned, “it is reasonable to suppose that the negroes would en masse unite with the malcontent Indians.” Instead, he proposed that the government persuade the blacks “to exert their known influence” on behalf of removal by assuring the security of their existing relations with the Indians and not “classing them with skins and furs.” In the end, Thompson was permitted to deny any trader entry to Seminole country by refusing him a license, and Thompson could issue licenses at his own discretion.76

Army officers in Florida agreed with Thompson that black opposition to being sold to whites would bring energy to the Seminole resistance, as blacks did not see themselves benefiting under white control. The commander of U.S. troops in Florida, Lieutenant Colonel A. C. W. Fanning, worried that “the cupidity of our own citizens” might ruin removal plans because the blacks, “who are bold, active, and armed will sacrifice some of them to their rage.”77 When Thompson asked chiefs friendly to removal to conduct a preremoval census of their people, including slaves, blacks became alarmed that the compilation of their names and numbers was the first step in the effort to put them under white control. At the same time, Thompson said, whites came to the agency with the War Department’s affirmative response to Call’s inquiry about Seminole slaves.78

The majority of Indians opposed emigration, regardless of the agreement made by a handful of chiefs. As General Thomas S. Jesup explained in the midst of the war, “Even when a large portion of the heads of families should assent to a measure, those who dissented did not consider themselves bound to submit to or adopt it.” Some headmen, including Jumper, Coi Hadjo, Charley Emathla, and Holata Emathla, knew that U.S. power made resistance futile and thus privately favored emigration, but their people so opposed it that they threatened the lives of any Indians who complied with the removal plan. Osceola emerged as a leader of the militant resistance and, though not a hereditary Seminole leader, he collected followers who agreed with what he said. His ascent to leadership also owed as much to action as talk; Thompson jailed Osceola briefly for threatening him with a knife, and in 1835, a month before the onset of the Second Seminole War, Osceola killed Charley Emathla for preparing for removal regardless of the sentiment of the people.79

Thompson tried to explain to the Seminoles how much worse their condition would be if they remained in Florida without federal protection. He also offered assurances that the government would protect their property from the Creeks. Micanopy held firm on the twenty-year term of the Moultrie Creek treaty, which would not expire for nine more years. Other Indian speakers complained that the Paynes Landing Treaty had not been explained to them correctly, that they had meant only to evaluate the western land, which had turned out to be no good. Nothing was resolved at this October 1834 meeting, and Thompson noticed that the Indians, “after they had received their annuity, purchased an unusually large quantity of powder and lead.”80

Duncan Clinch, who met with the Seminoles in April 1835, got no further than had Thompson. Jumper proceeded to make a lively two-hour speech, and Bemrose recorded “Cudjo’s short and abrupt elucidation of doubtless a noble harangue. . . . ‘When he look upon the White man’s warriors, he sorry to injure them, but he cannot fear them, he had fought them before, he will do so again, if his people say fight.’ . . . When asked to elucidate more fully the speaker’s meaning, it tended only to his imperfect grunt of ‘he say he no go, dat all he say.’” Clinch, exasperated, finally told the council if they did not emigrate voluntarily, they would be removed by force. A number of chiefs agreed, but not Micanopy or Jumper.81

Abraham, who had interpreted the removal treaties, was now counseling resistance, and Thompson believed the cause lay in the actions of Thompson’s predecessor at the Seminole agency, John Phagan.82 Abraham fumed that he had never been paid, as Thompson explained: “He has (in my possession) Major Phagan’s certificate that he is entitled for his service to $280 for which Major Phagan, on the presentation of Abraham’s receipt at the Department received credit. Abraham says he never gave a receipt; that he has been imposed upon; and he is consequently more indifferent upon the subject of emigration than I think he would otherwise have been. I have little doubt that a few hundred dollars would make him zealous and active.” The money, Thompson said, should be given only “on the production of the effect desired.”83

Secretary of War Cass declined this opportunity to influence a useful ally. “Major Phagan having filed here the proper receipt for Abraham for his pay as interpreter, and received credit for the amount, it would be unsafe and inconsistent with the rules of the Department to set aside the receipt, and pay the claim now presented,” he told Thompson.84
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“Aunt Jane” and her charge, Sarah Walker Palmer, ca. 1850s. Jane, nursemaid for the children of Dr. J.D. Palmer of Fernandina, was a survivor of the Seminole attack on Indian Key during the Second Seminole War. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



While the blacks, especially the influential ones, sided with the resistance, the murder of Charley Emathla by Osceola frightened those Indians inclined to cooperate with removal, and there was sudden abandonment of the Seminole communities. Clinch and Thompson perceived that trouble was imminent. The Florida frontier might be destroyed, Clinch told the adjudant general of the army, “by a combination of the Indians, Indian Negroes and the Negroes on the plantations.” Reinforcements arrived in December, and a plan was made to move by force on the Seminole country after New Year’s Day to round up the Indians for emigration.85
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Abraham, adviser to Chief Micanopy, ca. 1830s. From Joshua R. Giddings, The Exiles of Florida (Columbus, Ohio, 1858).



The eruption of hostilities in the last week of 1835 owed much to the alliance of blacks with the Seminoles. Luis Pacheco, the former slave of the Fatio family who had subsequently lived in Indian country, was the guide for Major Francis L. Dade’s fateful encounter with the Seminole warriors who were determined to resist removal. Whether or not he colluded with the attackers, as he denied to his death, other blacks assisted the warriors who ambushed Dade’s troops. Major F. S. Belton published in the Niles Register his account of the battle, in which he stated that “a negro . . . named Harry, controls the Pea Creek band of about a hundred warriors, forty miles southeast of [Fort Brooke] . . . who keep this post constantly observed, and communicate with the Mickasukians at Wythlacoochee.”86

At the same time that Dade’s force was wiped out, blacks and Indians assaulted plantations near St. Augustine, and approximately three hundred slaves joined them. One leader of the raids, John Caesar, was a black Seminole with family connections on one plantation. Another was John Philip, who lived with King Philip and had a wife on Benjamin Heriot’s sugar plantation.87

Thus began the longest and most expensive Indian war the U.S. government was to wage. Ultimately the war for removal could not be resolved without a guarantee by Major General Thomas Jesup that blacks would be permitted to go to the West with the Seminoles rather than being sold into slavery. Obviously, the events leading up to the war were distinctly influenced by blacks sympathetic to Seminole resistance.
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Freedom Was as Close as the River

African Americans and the Civil War in Northeast Florida

Daniel L. Schafer

FOLLOWING THE Federal occupation of northeast Florida in March and April of 1862, slaveowners in the region began complaining of slave runaways. Although Union forces stayed only briefly in Jacksonville during this first of four occupations, navy gunboats remained on station at the mouth of the St. Johns River and regularly patrolled upriver as far as Lake George. African Americans in the region immediately identified the gunboats as a path to freedom. Waving white flags from shore, paddling canoes and poling rafts out into the currents, slaves and free blacks alike hailed the vessels and embarked on journeys to liberty. For black Floridians, freedom became as close as the St. Johns River.1

This chapter examines slaves who escaped from bondage in northeast Florida during the Civil War, particularly those who enlisted in Federal regiments and returned to Florida to fight for Union. Also discussed is the influence of slave runaways on Confederate and Union activities in the region. Evidence is drawn from contemporary newspapers, personal correspondence and diaries, census data and plantation records, and from the records of the 1st, 2d, and 3d South Carolina Volunteers, later mustered into regular service as the 33d, 34th, and 21st regiments of the U.S. Colored Infantry (USCI). More than a thousand slaves and free blacks from northeast Florida joined these regiments during the war. The records of their military careers and of their subsequent efforts to obtain pensions provide valuable insights into the lives of black soldiers and the world of slavery in northeast Florida at the time of its demise.

Beyond the occasional standard newspaper advertisements for runaways, there is little evidence that slaves were absconding in sufficient numbers to prompt unusual anxiety among their owners during the early months of the war. In May 1861 sawmill owner Samuel Fairbanks criticized Confederate training officers for concentrating on marching drills rather than high-visibility picket duty intended to intimidate slaves contemplating escape.2 The Federal seizure of Port Royal in November and the ensuing activity of the Union naval blockading squadron off the Florida coast prompted some planters to send their chattels away from the coastal zone for security.3 When rumors of slave insurrection plots spread throughout the region in December, owners accelerated security measures, but the surviving evidence indicates that northeast Florida slaveowners were not unduly alarmed that their chattels might escape—at least not in 1861.4

The editor of Jacksonville’s Southern Confederacy, for example, had appeared unconcerned on February 1, 1861, when he commented on free blacks who volunteered to help build Fort Steele at the mouth of the St. Johns River: “We understand that their patriotic example will be followed by all the other free colored men in this place. What will Messrs. Seward, Greeley, and Co. say to this? Gentlemen, are we not reposing on a mine?” With only thirty-one males between the ages of fourteen and ninety, Jacksonville’s free blacks made at best a minimal contribution to the work, as Captain Holmes Steele recognized in May when he solicited “the contribution of slave laborers, for a week or 10 days, for most important work on the fort at the mouth of the river.”5 According to soldier Willie Bryant there was still plenty of “dirty smutty work going on” at Fort Steele on October 1, when an officer left for Jacksonville with a conscription list for slave laborers.6

The alarm bells sounded for northeast Florida’s slaveowners in March 1862 when Yankee troops captured Fernandina, St. Augustine, and Jacksonville. For weeks preceding departure of the thirty-three-vessel flotilla under command of Flag Officer Samuel Du Pont, escaped slaves and white Union supporters had been arriving at Port Royal carrying valuable information about northeast Florida’s coastal defenses. Isaac Tatnall, a former slave pilot of the steamer St. Marys, proved to be the most effective informant. As the Confederate defenders had recently been ordered to the west by General Robert E. Lee to stop Union penetration in Kentucky and Tennessee, U.S. forces captured the northeast Florida ports while facing only scattered and disorganized resistance.7

As soon as Brigadier General Horatio G. Wright and the Third Brigade, U.S. Expeditionary Force, reached Fernandina, runaway slaves began crossing their picket lines. Wright observed on March 10: “Some of these people are left behind, and others are presenting themselves daily, coming in from different directions.”8 From St. Augustine, Lieutenant J. W. A. Nicholson sent a similar report on March 21: “Several contrabands have delivered themselves to, or been arrested by, the guard at the entrance to the city. They have fled their masters who are in rebellion.”9

Lieutenant Thomas Holdup Stevens was sent to Jacksonville with orders to “examine the condition of things” but not to “occupy any point on the St. Johns River.” But once in the town, Stevens became so impressed by the numbers and sincerity of the remaining Unionists that he decided to take possession of the town. General Wright also concluded it would be wise to hold the town, as did the senior commander, General Thomas W. Sherman, who saw in Jacksonville the germ of a regeneration policy that might bring Florida back into the Union. Flag Officer Du Pont was willing to use naval force to protect the Jacksonville Unionists even if the infantry companies were withdrawn. This strong Union presence, coupled with the wide-ranging patrols of the gunboats, galvanized the black slaves of the region into action.10

Samuel Fairbanks hurriedly took his Negroes upriver when he learned of the Union incursion, and left them at what he thought to be a secure location in Clay County. After Fairbanks departed, however, his slaves John and Frank, a sawmill engineer and a laborer, stole a boat and paddled back to Jacksonville. Fairbanks tracked them down, but they refused to return to Clay County. Jacksonville’s still-functioning civil authorities, many of them slaveowners, jailed the slaves for their “saucy behavior.” Within days, John and Frank escaped from the jail and found refuge with naval vessels at Mayport, managing somehow to bring along John’s wife, Charlotte.11

Frank continued on to Fernandina, but Fairbanks located John and Charlotte before they left Mayport and persuaded a Union officer to return them to his custody. While Fairbanks looked for a boat to carry the couple back to Clay County, however, the Federals evacuated Jacksonville and carried Unionists and runaway slaves along with them. When the navy transports departed the St. Johns River on April 8, they carried away nine of Fairbanks’s slaves. John and Frank later joined the Union army and died while serving their country.12

Friends of Fairbanks suffered even heavier losses, prompting planters to resort to harsh measures. In one escape, twenty-three men and women from three neighboring plantations fled together, pursued by an armed vigilante posse. One escapee was shot in the head and killed during the chase, prompting Confederate cavalry officer Winston Stephens to inform his slaves of the draconian measures being used to discourage runaway attempts. He also warned his wife to watch for three fugitives thought to be lurking near Welaka searching for the wife of one of the men. Stephens wanted them shot if recapture efforts failed.13

Union military records provide the names of some of the escapees. Joseph Cryer and his son Andrew escaped to Union lines from the Palm Valley plantation of Jacob Mickler, while James and Henry Adams fled Francis Richard’s plantation on the St. Johns River. Andrew Murray, a native of St. Augustine, belonged to Joseph Finegan when he fled to Fernandina after hearing rumors of Federal forces there. Thomas Long and Charles McQueen made their way to Jacksonville and were aboard the Union transports when the city was evacuated on April 9, 1862. Each of these men later volunteered for service in the Union army.14

The free African American population of northeast Florida also sought protection behind Union lines. Benjamin Williams was living in Jacksonville in 1860, listed in the census as a native of Maine. Alonzo H. Phillips, born in Jacksonville, became a commissary sergeant in Company A, 3d South Carolina. Henry Hanahan, born free in 1833 at Pablo Beach, became a sergeant-major in the same company. Lewis Forester, born a slave but freed as a boy when purchased by his father, escaped to Fernandina in 1862. He volunteered for service in Company A, 1st South Carolina, on June 3, 1863. His brother, George Forester, joined the U.S. navy in 1862, as did Henry Johnson and James P. Lang. Other Duval County free Negroes who joined Union regiments were Albert Sammis, George Floyd, Frank and Alexander Hagen, John Lacurgas, Charles Lang, Levi and William H. McQueen, Samuel Petty, John B. Richard, Walter Taylor, James Simmons, and Henry and James Williams.15

Union volunteers from St. Augustine in Company D, 1st South Carolina, included Samuel Osborn and his son Samuel, Jr., free black residents since at least 1850. In an unusual occurrence, another Osborn son, Emmanuel, volunteered for the St. Johns Grays, a Confederate militia company formed in St. Augustine. It appears that free black families, like white families, could be divided by Civil War loyalties.16

Abraham Lancaster enlisted in Company F, 1st South Carolina, in 1863. Other free blacks from St. Augustine who joined Union regiments were Pablo Rogers, James Lang, James Hills, James Ash, George Garvin, William Morris, Alexander Clark, and the Pappy brothers, Antony, Frank, and William.17

By the time the Jacksonville evacuation fleet reached Fernandina in April 1862, the exodus of black laborers had reached alarming proportions. But local slaveowners still thought they could regain control of their chattels. Fairbanks and Stephen Bryan, a wealthy Clay County planter, sailed to Fernandina on April 21 to test Union policy on this issue. They carried a letter from Lieutenant Stevens that described them as “gentlemen of character and influence” and urged Union officers to “give them whatever facilities your official position may afford toward securing the object of their mission.”18 Disdaining the letter, an “abolitionist Lt. Colonel” refused to grant an interview. The slaveowners remonstrated that General Wright had “afforded every facility for masters to claim and take away their negroes” in Jacksonville, even “towing boats up the river with them.” And in fact, two of Fairbanks’s slaves had been aboard a Union vessel that returned from Fernandina to Jacksonville after the evacuation, under orders from General Wright to return fifty-two slaves to their owners.19

Before July 1862 Union policy on slave refugees had often been confusing and inconsistent, depending on whether the officer in charge opposed or favored slavery. Logs of the St. Johns River gunboats document that black refugees picked up during patrols were routinely considered property of Confederates and were not returned to their owners. On April 1 and 2, 1862, for example, the Seneca picked up eleven “contrabands” and carried them to freedom at Hilton Head. Yet Lieutenant Stevens, naval commander on the St. Johns, tended to be extremely cooperative with Unionist slaveowners.20

General Wright also cooperated with Unionist slaveowners who remained behind Federal lines. Rebels were not accorded these privileges, with the exception of Wright’s action in returning fifty-two slaves to Confederate command at Jacksonville. Before the transports left Jacksonville on April 10, 1862, Wright had ordered every runaway removed and left at the town wharf. But his own men smuggled the escapees back aboard the ships and hid them during the journey to Fernandina.21 When Wright discovered the stowaways, he ordered they be returned to Jacksonville and left at the wharf to await their owners.

At this late point in the war, such variations in policy should not have existed. The original congressional confiscation act of August 6, 1861, had authorized commanders to refuse requests for the return of slaves, but only if they had been utilized by Confederate forces. Abolitionist officers interpreted this act with wide latitude, while their conservative colleagues sometimes excluded all black refugees from Union lines. By March 13, 1862, the growing power of radicals in Congress brought a tougher policy, which barred return of slaves to any claimant, even to Union loyalists. If guidelines were subject to individual interpretation before March 13, they were as clear as the possibility of court martial after that date. If the orders had not traveled as far as Jacksonville by April 10, they had certainly reached Admiral Du Pont by July, and henceforth no runaway slaves would be returned in northeast Florida.22

Until that time, Jacksonville slaveowners attempted to exploit the individual interpretations of Union policy. In late April, they sent Judge Burritt to Hilton Head to confer with General Hunter, hoping to obtain the return of slave runaways. Hunter, an avowed abolitionist, was not encouraging. The audacious Burritt continued on to Washington, where he arranged to meet with President Lincoln. According to Fairbanks, Burritt found the president still a reluctant emancipator who would “not commit himself. But Burritt says that he thinks Lincoln is not an abolitionist and that the negroes will be returned at the end of the war.”23

Burritt must have been surprised to discover later that year that he had misjudged the president. At the time of their interview, Lincoln was still worried about losing the border states. In August 1861 he had rescinded John C. Fremont’s declaration of martial law in Missouri, which freed the slaves of Confederates in that state, while commenting on the importance of holding on to Kentucky. In October 1861 he forced Secretary of War Simon Cameron to retract a statement advocating the freeing of rebel-owned slaves and arming them to fight for the Union. As late as May 1862 Lincoln rebuked General Hunter and revoked his order abolishing slavery in Florida, South Carolina, and Georgia. Lincoln was playing a cautious hand so as not to alienate slaveowners in the border states.

But the president was also being pressured by radicals in Congress to free the slaves as a military necessity. For months Lincoln privately contemplated an emancipation proclamation, but in public he attempted to persuade the border states to accept gradual and compensated emancipation. When that policy was emphatically rejected by congressmen from the border states on March 13, 1862, Lincoln embraced the more radical position, still privately, and began working on a preliminary emancipation statement. He finally issued it in September, following the Northern victory at Antietam. In his address, Lincoln declared that all slaves in regions still in rebellion on January 1, 1863, would be forever free. On New Year’s Day he made it official and announced that the United States would begin enlisting blacks in its armed forces. Samuel Burritt need not ponder again the vagaries of Union contraband policy; in the future Federal armies would free his slaves. If Burritt had misread the president, so had many Northern abolitionists.

In the meantime, slaves in northeast Florida continued to run away from their owners, even after Jacksonville was evacuated on April 10, 1862. Late in May, a gunboat anchored off Stephen Bryan’s plantation on Doctor’s Lake, galvanizing “twenty-four of his negroes to escape and take refuge.” The next day Bryan drove the remainder of his chattels, along with sixty-two from neighboring estates, to unoccupied land in the interior. Although Winston Stephens was able to capture two runaways from Ocala who were trying to get to the gunboats near Jacksonville, he estimated that 1,500 black refugees had gathered in Fernandina by July 1862.24

Fairbanks predicted that 15,000 to 20,000 bushels of corn in the coastal area would go unharvested for lack of laborers. Winston Stephens agreed, saying planters would “not be able to save their crops.” Late in August, Fairbanks was still complaining that “Negroes are gradually getting away—singley and by two’s and three’s—the coast is pretty near drained.” Union military records attest to Fairbanks’s accuracy. One of the singles escaping in July was David Flemming, who made it safely to Mayport, where he found freedom in a gunboat.25

In Tallahassee, Ellen Call Long received a letter from a friend in Jacksonville, saying her father had decided it was “impossible to keep negroes on the river now.” After he “discovered our servants about to bid farewell to the place [the] next morning he packed them all off to the interior. Can you imagine how we get along without a single servant? . . . Father determined it was better to have a home without servants than servants without a home. So we stay here living on cornbread and hope, our only consolation that we are no worse off than our neighbors.”26

All the Jacksonville area slaveowners could share the anguish of a former St. Augustine merchant who lost fifteen slaves to the Union. Christian Boye wrote to his son:

Those slaves of mine were worth to me a year ago, seventeen thousand dollars and there was some 10 young ones among them who increased in value every day. My yearly income from them was not less than $2000.00 to $2500.00. I could afford to send you and your sister to expensive schools. . . . This income is stopped, and God knows when it will begin again. I am obliged to use strictest economy, turn a penny a dozen times before I spend it. The loss of our slaves forces me to take Mary from school . . . as I cannot make enough to pay her school bills.27

Confederate General Joseph Finegan was one who sympathized. A long-time slaveowner in northeast Florida who had lost bondsmen to Union gunboats, Finegan understood the importance of slavery to Florida’s economy and was willing to tailor Confederate strategy to protect that vital connection. In May 1862 Finegan began moving men and artillery to the lower St. Johns in an effort to stop the Union gunboat incursions. If he was successful future escapees, forced inland, would encounter military security and vigilantee patrols.

Finegan had never accepted the truce delivered at the town wharf to Lieutenant Colonel John Maxwell of the 3d Florida as Union forces left Jacksonville on April 10. The terms presented by gunboat commander William Budd called for the U.S. navy to move its gunboats to the mouth of the St. Johns River to avoid further confrontation, but the Union intended to retain control of the major waterway in northeast Florida. Two or more gunboats would be based at Mayport to guard against blockade runners and to patrol upriver as far as Palatka. Residents were free to move in and out of Jacksonville providing that Confederate forces did not fortify the town nor harm Union loyalists who remained.28

Following the evacuation, three Confederate infantry companies moved into Jacksonville. Among the ranks of Company C of the 4th Florida was Washington Ives, an eighteen-year-old from Lake City. Until May 27, Ives’s duty was on the waterfront, where he counted five gunboats pass the town with guns at the ready. In his diary, Ives recorded an uneasy truce, with armed pickets patrolling the town and cavalry and infantry companies drilling in camps to the west, while along the waterfront armed adversaries watched each other suspiciously across the water. But there was no fighting and people began returning to the town.29

Union officers tolerated these Confederate activities in Jacksonville but were alarmed when bands of regulators began organizing throughout the countryside and harassing Unionists. There were newspaper reports of “bands of guerrillas” conducting a “reign of terror” in the area, “murdering and destroying property.”30 Lieutenant Daniel Ammen’s investigation in late April confirmed that Unionists were in peril; he said of the refugees at Mayport: “They are wholly destitute, and I am obliged to feed them or see them starve.”31

Late in June, Union Lieutenant J. W. A. Nicholson met in Jacksonville with Colonel John C. Hately of the 5th Florida Infantry to discuss violations of the truce. He warned that the navy would retaliate if the town was fortified or if the gunboats were fired upon. General Finegan later repudiated the agreement with a rebuke of Federal terms: “The threat of shelling our undefended town, containing only women and children, is not consistent with the usages of war between civilized nations.”32

These events had a marked effect on the future conduct of the war along the St. Johns. Until then, the Federals had tended to respect private property, including slaves, except when the owners were suspected of maltreating Unionists or engaging in guerrilla activities. But the increased guerrilla activity placed this Federal policy in a questionable light. On June 17 Lieutenant Nicholson reported to his superiors that “the whole of the banks of the river as far as one can see is planted with corn. They say corn enough is in Florida for all of the Southern rebel States. If we carry their darkies off they can not gather it.”33

Admiral Du Pont was in agreement. After considering the matter for several weeks, he made his decision on July 3.

In reference to the contraband question, my instructions are to surrender none, no matter whether the parties asking for them profess to be loyal or not. There has been so much abuse of this privilege that it can no longer be granted. A glaring instance of it occurred in the case of the regulator Huston, whose slaves were returned to him on the false pretense of a neighbor that they belonged to a Union man. Even supposing the claimant may be loyal, yet if he takes his slaves among the rebels . . . [they are] liable to be seized at any moment and put to work erecting fortifications against our forces.34

By the time Du Pont came to this conclusion, the Confederate plan to close the St. Johns River to Union gunboats was already underway. Aware that he could succeed only if he was able to “evade the vigilance of the enemy,” and convinced that Union sympathizers were the main source of enemy intelligence, General Finegan ordered all small boats belonging to Unionists confiscated or destroyed and decreed that anyone suspected of harboring a Union loyalist was to be moved inland at least ten miles.35

With great ingenuity Finegan pulled together a rag-tail military force from around the state and during the first week of September installed it at St. Johns Bluff to “relieve the valley of the St. Johns from the marauding incursions of the enemy and . . . to establish a base for operations against St. Augustine.” It was a promising beginning, but Finegan was plagued by a shortage of men and arms, and despite repeated requests he was not to receive reinforcements.

When the Union gunboats next came up the river, they were stopped by Finegan’s batteries on St. Johns Bluff. Samuel Fairbanks was ecstatic. Had this action been taken sooner, Jacksonville would not have fallen to the Yankees in March and the slaves would never have escaped, Fairbanks proclaimed. He did, however, “hope that the negroes will go along without too much trouble.”36

Finegan’s measures proved only a temporary respite. On October 1, 1862, as gunboats bombarded the Confederate gun installations, Yankee troops landed along the Pablo River and marched toward St. Johns Bluff from the land side, led by “Israel, our faithful Negro guide who ran away from Jacksonville a few weeks since and is thoroughly acquainted with all the country.”37 The bluff was hastily abandoned while rebel troops retreated towards the interior. Union forces continued upriver to occupy Jacksonville again on October 5.

During the second occupation of Jacksonville, the navy scoured the St. Johns for small boats and rafts, destroying several hundred in order to prevent their use by Finegan’s troops. During these operations the gunboats roamed at will along the St. Johns, shelling the potentially dangerous structures along the river banks. Rebel-owned property was destroyed and confiscated, and endangered Union supporters were evacuated. At Palatka, Commander Maxwell Woodhull of the Cimarron was concerned for the safety of several black refugees who volunteered as river pilots and guides. Threats had been issued that they would be hanged and their families abused if the gunboats abandoned them. Woodhull thus evacuated several families of “about thirty persons.”38

While Finegan worked feverishly to regroup his demoralized troops and establish lines west of the town, slaves in the region realized that the chaotic conditions again favored escapes to freedom. Recognizing this, Samuel Fairbanks announced: “They shall probably steal what few negroes there are left and destroy at will.”39 Fairbanks was furious to learn that the Federals had destroyed a thousand boats along the St. Johns, but after reconsideration he welcomed the act, saying that it might keep blacks from rowing to the gunboats.

One group of enterprising contrabands found it possible to gain freedom without small boats. Lieutenant S. S. Snell and a small naval force worked in the Palatka area for two days to raise two barges sunk by the rebels. As soon as the barges were floating, forty-nine runaway slaves appeared on the shore, boarded the barges and were towed to Mayport.40

Most escaped alone or with their families. Men like James Bagley, James Bagley, Jr., Henry Harrison, Jackson Long, Lewis McQueen, and Benjamin Turner made their escapes to Jacksonville. Thomas Holzendorf escaped with his family to Fernandina. All of these men would later join Union regiments.41

At A. M. Reed’s Mulberry Grove plantation south of Jacksonville, a mass runaway attempt was thwarted when the conspirators were discovered by a white neighbor. A family friend said of the event:

All of Mr. Reeds negroes had packed up to go off at night and they were seen by [Peyre] Pearson and he ordered one of the men to stop and he then got Mr. Reed up and he went in the kitchen and there everything was ready and Perry attempted to run off and he was shot in the legs and I think they are sent off to be sold. Long legged Jake got to the Gunboat and the Yankees went back with him after his family but they had moved out in the country and Jake made a terrible fuss.42

A. M. Reed recorded the same event in his diary: “About 12 p.m. found my negroes preparing to leave. In the melee, Jake and Dave escaped carrying off my boat, the Laura Shaw.”43 Reed acted swiftly to save his remaining slaves. His diary entry for October 6 states: “Started all the negroes . . . for the interior.”

Reed must have been astonished on October 7 when the “U. S. Gunboat, Patroon, stopped at my wharf. Sent up Lieutenant Potts of the flagship, [and] Captain Steadman, with a file of men bringing the runaway, Jake, to get his family and things.” Learning that his wife, Etta, had been sent into the interior, Jake could only remonstrate and return with the gunboat. But A. M. Reed had not seen the last of Jake.

Union troops stayed in Jacksonville less than a week during the second occupation, leaving on October 11, 1862. As the transports steamed downriver, they carried what one naval officer judged to be “the most tangible result” of the entire expedition: the 276 “contrabands” who had reached Union lines. Looking back from one of the decks was the man A. M. Reed knew as “long-legged Jake.” He would return the following summer wearing the uniform of the U.S. army.44

After the second occupation terminated, Finegan lamented: “The Yankees have taken all the negroes, free and slave, they could find in the place.”45 He ordered cavalrymen under Captain J. J. Dickison to round up all blacks—free or slave—and to remove them “from the St. Johns River into the interior at a safe distance from the enemy.” Winston Stephens complained that the Yankees stole and vandalized, acting “more like black hearted scamps in Jacksonville than they ever have on the river.”46 He also reported in mid-October that several blacks had been shot in Jacksonville, and that others were being harassed by Confederate cavalry. Samuel Fairbanks finally gave up in despair; concluding that slave property was no longer safe on the St. Johns, he took his two remaining slaves to be sold in Georgia. Other planters followed his example.47

Fairbanks, Finegan, Stephens, and the coastal African American slave population had all learned that freedom was no longer an impossible dream. It was as close as the St. Johns River and as sure as the power of the Federal gunboats that stood ready to receive and protect escapees. General Finegan would work diligently to keep runaways from reaching the gunboats, but his range of options had narrowed substantially. After the attempt to bar the gunboats from the St. Johns River had failed at the bluffs south of Jacksonville, Finegan knew that Uncle Sam was on the river to stay.

While Finegan and his Confederate command struggled to reassert control, contrabands flocked into Union-occupied Fernandina, St. Augustine, and Key West. Many found their way to Beaufort, South Carolina, where Union officers had been attempting since May 1862 to organize an experimental phalanx of black soldiers from the swelling ranks of refugees. On August 25, 1862, Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton, prompted by a shortage of men for operations in the South, issued orders to General Rufus Saxton to arm and equip up to five thousand “volunteers of African descent.”48

By November 3, 1862, Saxton was ready to test the men of the 1st South Carolina Volunteers, sending Company A to raid the Florida and Georgia coasts. Saxton called the expedition a “perfect success. . . . The negroes fought with a coolness and bravery that would have done credit to veteran soldiers. . . . They seemed like men who were fighting to vindicate their manhood and they did it well.”49 The commander of the raid, Lieutenant Colonel Oliver Beard, said: “I started from Saint Simon’s with 62 colored fighting men and returned to Beaufort with 156 fighting men (all colored). As soon as we took a slave from his claimant we placed a musket in his hand and he began to fight for the freedom of others.”50

General Saxton saw in the expedition the germ of a larger war policy, one that could cripple plantation production and force the Confederate command to divert manpower from northern battlefields. Calling the raid “one of the important events of the war, one that will carry terror to the hearts of the rebels,” Saxton proposed to arm and barricade a number of light draft vessels, each manned by one hundred black soldiers, to run up the coastal rivers and capture plantations. Expecting hundreds of slaves to flock to the gunboat whistles, Saxton could “see no limit to which our successes might not be pushed [,] up to the entire occupation of States.”51

Lieutenant Colonel Beard led his black troops on another Georgia coastal raid on November 13, but further application of Saxton’s plan was delayed by the arrival of a new regimental commander. The man chosen to lead what would become the first black regiment officially mustered into the Union army was Thomas Wentworth Higginson, famed abolitionist, novelist, Unitarian preacher, and a captain in the Fifty-first Massachusetts Regiment. Sensing that a dramatic chapter in the history of the nation was about to be written, Higginson said: “I had been an abolitionist too long, and had known and loved John Brown too well, not to feel a thrill of joy at last on finding myself in the position where he only wished to be.”52

A stickler for drill and discipline, Higginson put his troops through a rigorous training schedule that stressed order and military discipline. But he was also able to implement some of his abolitionist ideals through daily talks to the troops on the meaning of freedom. They often followed the theme of his November 25 speech: “You are fighting for your own liberty and the liberty of your children. Nobody can make you free unless you have the courage to fight for your own freedom. And if you resolve to be free nobody can make you slaves.”53

In his diary on December 2, 1862, Higginson wrote: “Today General Saxton has returned from Fernandina with seventy-six recruits, and the eagerness of the captains to secure them was a sight to see.” The following day he commented on a special company of “all Florida Men” who appeared to be “the finest looking company I ever saw, white or black; they range admirably in size, have remarkable erectness and ease of carriage, and really march splendidly. Not a visitor but notices them; yet they have been under drill only a fortnight.”54

Higginson probably referred to Company G, which included fifty-seven Florida-born men among the first 106 enrollees. Samples from the regimental muster rolls indicate that the three loyal South Carolina regiments enlisted more than a thousand men who had lived in northeast Florida before the war. Considering that the 1860 Census listed 11,756 slaves, of both sexes and all ages, for Clay, Duval, Nassau, and St. Johns counties, and that many owners either sold their chattels or moved them to more secure locations in the interior of the state prior to the arrival of Union troops, the 1,000 volunteers represent a significant percentage of the adult male slaves living in the region in 1862.55

The volunteers came from surprisingly diverse circumstances. Based on a sample of 364 recruits from the region, the median age was twenty-four, yet forty-two gave their ages at the time of muster as forty through sixty years. The majority of the recruits, 65 percent, were engaged in some form of agricultural enterprise. Ten percent were employed in skilled crafts: twelve were carpenters, two were machinists, two were tailors, one was a shoemaker, and one was a bricklayer. Two who had been free before the war were engineers. Fourteen men gave teamster, drayman, wagoneer, hosteler, or coachman as their occupations, while nine said they had been lumbermen or sawyers, and twelve said they were boatmen or sailors. Fifty-seven said they had been cooks, waiters, or servants in towns that drew business travelers and tourists. From St. Augustine alone came twenty-five waiters and three cooks.

The loyal South Carolina regiments were often on duty in northeast Florida. Higginson’s first expedition into Florida came in January 1863 in the form of a raid up the St. Marys River on a mission to carry the Emancipation Proclamation into the interior, to plunder lumber mills, ransack the countryside, and gain needed supplies. It was a highly successful mission called by a Confederate in the Second Florida Cavalry a “general thieving expedition.” Following a skirmish in which the Confederates were forced to withdraw, the soldier wrote: “What makes it more maddening is they are all nigger soldiers, officered by white men.”56

The St. Marys River raid convinced General Saxton to send Higginson and his black troops up the St. Johns River. Saxton wrote: “I have reliable information that there are large numbers of able-bodied negroes in that vicinity who are watching for an opportunity to join us. The negroes from Florida are far more intelligent than any I have yet seen. . . . They will fight with as much desperation as any people in the world.”57

The Second South Carolina would be formed primarily from soldiers recruited during this Florida campaign. Colonel James Montgomery recruited his first two companies at Key West, where numerous northeast Florida refugees had congregated. In March 1863 Montgomery took his “raw recruits” north for military training “at the mouth of the St. Johns River where they were allowed to fire a few shots to get used to their guns.”58

On March 9, 1863, Higginson’s expedition arrived off the mouth of the St. Johns, waiting until 2 A.M. on March 10 before starting upriver for Jacksonville under a bright moon. As they approached the city the Florida men became, in Higginson’s words: “wild with delight” and called out: “‘too much good.’”59

To the surprise of everyone, Jacksonville was occupied without a shot in opposition. There were about five hundred civilians in the town at the time, mostly whites who regarded the occupation by their former slaves as the “crowning humiliation” in their wartime experiences. The black soldiers were insulted and sworn at, particularly by the women of the town. After claiming to be in “perpetual fear,” several hundred people were permitted to leave the town in one forty-eight-hour period.60

Some residents had good reason to be fearful. Hattie Reed was frightened by a soldier who had only recently been the property of her father. She wrote to a family friend that Jake had returned a “bold soldier boy” after escaping to a Union gunboat in October 1862. Jake was looking for Hattie’s father, threatening to take vengeance for the sale of his wife to buyers in Georgia. Hattie said that Jake wanted “to meet Pa face to face to teach him what it is to part man and wife.” Reed was so frightened that he would not stay at his town residence. “We are moving away as many things as possible,” Hattie said. Jake also put a gun to the head of a man who had helped deter the October runaway attempt by the Reed slaves. Later, when Jake was overheard threatening to burn the Reeds’ home, he was arrested and confined for the duration of the Union occupation.61

Another slaveowner savored the misfortunes of his former chattels who returned, writing: “Our negro Ted was among the troops at Jacksonville, also Mrs. Duval’s boy Henry. Henry was mortally wounded in one of their skirmishes and has since died. So out of five who left our plantation last year only two are well and strong. . . . Does this not seem a just retribution?”62

Higginson realized that many of his men “had private wrongs to avenge,” but he kept a tight discipline, noting that they rarely talked of revenge. He later wrote: “I shall never forget the self-control with which one of our best sergeants pointed out to me, at Jacksonville, the very place where one of his brothers had been hanged by the whites for leading a party of fugitive slaves. He spoke of it as a historic matter, without any bearing on the present issue.”63

While the 33d USCI held Jacksonville against Confederate forays during the third occupation, Colonel Montgomery’s incomplete 34th regiment took part in numerous skirmishes and battles, all the while recruiting heavily in the field to fill their ranks. Higginson vividly described these forays:

In Colonel Montgomery’s hands these upriver raids reached the dignity of a fine art. His conceptions of foraging were rather more Western and liberal than mine, and on these excursions he fully indemnified himself for any undue abstinence demanded of him when in camp. I remember being on the wharf, with some naval officers, when he came down from his first trip. The steamer seemed an animated hencoop. Live poultry hung from the foremast shrouds, dead ones from the mainmast, geese hissed from the binnacle, a pig paced the quarter deck, and a duck’s wings were seen fluttering from a line which was wont to sustain duck trousers.64

On March 27 Montgomery and 120 black troops started on an expedition upriver toward Palatka, raiding plantations along the way. Planter Thomas T. Russell reported that six landings were made while the black troops carried off slaves, horses, carts, poultry, hogs, cotton, salt, and “everything else they could lay their hands upon.”65

The raids were anything but amusing to the Confederates. “They are robbing and plundering everything on the east bank,” Finegan wrote, “[and plan] to occupy Jacksonville with white troops and send the negroes . . . to Palatka and then attempt to move amongst the plantations.”66

But Abraham Lincoln was delighted. On learning of the northeast Florida troops’ activities, Lincoln wrote to General Hunter: “I am glad to see the accounts of your colored force at Jacksonville. . . . I see the enemy are driving at them fiercely, as is to be expected. It is important to the enemy that such a force shall not take shape and grow and thrive in the South, and in precisely the same proportion it is important to us that it shall.”67

Shaken by the “celerity and secrecy” by which Lincoln’s “abolition troops” seized Jacksonville, Finegan ordered troops from around Florida to concentrate to the west of the town to check Federal progress into the interior. “To do this,” he wrote, “I am compelled to leave with entirely inadequate protection many important points on the coast where negroes may escape in large numbers to the enemy and where they have easy access to the interior.”68 Recognizing that once again freedom was as close as the St. Johns River, Finegan warned the Confederate command that if a means to hold the river were not found, the entire slave population would be lost. He wired Richmond:

The entire negro population of East Florida will be lost and the country ruined . . . unless the means of holding the St. Johns River are immediately supplied. . . . To appreciate the danger of the permanent establishment of these posts of negro troops on the St. Johns River I respectfully submit to the commanding general that a consideration of the topography of the country will exhibit the fact that the entire planting interest of East Florida lies within easy communication of the river; that intercourse will immediately commence between negroes on the plantations and those in the enemy’s service, that this intercourse will suffice to corrupt the entire slave population of East Florida.69

Well aware of Confederate reactions to the black troops, General Saxton informed Secretary of War Stanton: “The Negroes are collecting in Jacksonville from all quarters.”70 Saxton was convinced that “scarcely an incident in this war has caused a greater panic throughout the whole Southern coast than this raid of the colored troops in Florida.” In tallying the successes of the mission, Saxton noted that two regiments had been augmented in numbers, that the occupation had received extensive coverage in the Northern press, and that white and black troops had served together for the first time during the war.

Despite these successes the Union command decided to terminate the third occupation of Jacksonville. The troop transports steamed back to Beaufort carrying battle-tested veterans alongside raw recruits. Fernandina’s burgeoning black population swelled beyond 15,000, prompting Colonel Milton S. Littlefield to recruit the first 101 volunteers for the 3d South Carolina (21st USCI) from the refugee camps.71

The USCI regiments continued fighting for freedom in South Carolina until the war ended. The 34th regiment returned to Jacksonville in February 1864 and took part in the tragic battle of Olustee, suffering heavy casualties alongside black and white regiments from the North. Following Olustee the regiment stayed in Jacksonville, continuing to raid plantations for supplies and recruits.72

On September 4, 1864, for example, Colonel William R. Noble led men from the 34th, the 35th, and the 102d USCI and white troops of the Ohio Mounted Infantry, along with the 3d Rhode Island Artillery on a four-day raid from Black Creek to the north of Lake George. The previous day, Dr. Esther Hill Hawks witnessed the concluding scenes of a mass runaway: thirty black refugees were seen south of Magnolia on the banks of the St. Johns River. They waved a flag until one of the gunboats picked them up and carried them to freedom in Jacksonville.73

The military record of the African Americans from northeast Florida is impressive. By escaping they had passed a test of courage; for the lure of freedom some would-be escapees paid with their lives at the hands of Confederate troops and vigilantees. Not content to have broken their personal chains of slavery, many who escaped joined the U.S. army and fought for the freedom of others, even knowing that the Union government paid them substantially less each month than it paid the white soldiers.

The black troops also knew that they and their white officers were subject to execution by Confederate authorities if captured and detained as prisoners of war, and to reenslavement if the Union cause failed. “They had more to fight for than the whites,” Colonel Higginson felt. “Besides the flag and the Union, they had home and wife and child. They fought with ropes round their necks.”74
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Black soldiers in the Union Army. This illustration from Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper, January 16, 1864, shows the variety of wartime functions performed by African Americans serving in the Union Army. Hundreds of Florida slaves escaped from plantations along the St. Johns River to join the Union forces.



Private Thomas Long of northeast Florida, serving in the 33d USCI, captured in a brief speech the spirit of the black refugees that joined Union forces. Speaking to his regiment as lay chaplain for the day, Long said that becoming soldiers had had helped prepare them for American citizenship.

If we hadn’t become sojers, all might have gone back as it was before; our freedom might have slipped through two houses of Congress and President Linkum’s four years might have passed by and notin’ been done for us. But now tings can neber go back, because we have showed our energy and our courage and our naturally manhood.

Anoder ting is, suppose you had kep your freedom witout enlisting in dis army; your children might of growed up free and been well cultivated . . . but it would have been always flung in dere faces, ‘Your fader never fought for he own freedom’—and what could day answer? Neber can say dat to dis African Race no more.75

Private Long settled in Jacksonville after being discharged from the army, became a preacher, and served three terms in the Florida Senate.

Many other veterans of the loyal South Carolina regiments came back to northeast Florida after the war, settling in the towns and farms of the region. These veterans entered civilian life with a rudimentary education provided by their abolitionist officers to prepare them for a life of responsible citizenship. Throughout the fourth occupation of Jacksonville, which began February 7, 1864, hundreds of black soldiers attended the flourishing “free school” run by Dr. Esther Hawks and the American Missionary Society. Dr. Hawks began teaching the men of the 33d in Beaufort on January 15, 1863. She founded another free school for children, which was racially integrated until the white women of the town withdrew their children.76

Some of the black veterans joined in a communal farming venture on the northern outskirts of Jacksonville founded by a surgeon with the 34th USCI, Dr. Daniel Dustin Hanson. Leasing or selling plots to soldiers and other black families, Hanson also helped the freedmen market their crops and pool their earnings for further land purchases. Today, this section of Jacksonville is still known as Hansontown.77

Hanson later joined with Colonel William W. Marple and Lieutenant Colonel William L. Apthorp, both of the 34th USCI, in the purchase of several thousand acres of land for the establishment of a larger communal settlement for freedmen in what became known as Arlington. Little is known about the fate of the colony.78

Evidence in the military pension records indicates that most black veterans from the region made diverse individual adjustments to postwar life. South Carolina-born Henry Allen mustered out of the 34th USCI and settled in Jacksonville and later in Pablo Beach, working variously as a laborer, oysterman, fisherman, raftsman, and porter in a store. Silas Forman made his living snaring rattlesnakes and milking their venom for home remedies. David Hall became a drayman, William Johnson became a farmer at Chaseville, and Henry Adams returned to Jacksonville to resume his work in area sawmills. William Josey, a carpenter before the war, became a mechanic after, while James Lang settled in Fernandina as a grocer, oysterman, and carpenter. William Pappy returned to St. Augustine to work as a barber. Charles Wilson cut timber across northeast Florida, Simon Primus returned to the Mandarin area as an agricultural laborer, and James Lain worked as a blacksmith. Charles Knabb returned to Nassau County and became a successful cotton farmer and agent for a wealthy landowner. Thomas Holzendorf gave up shoemaking and farming at Kings Ferry to become a preacher. Harry and Smart Tillman invested in Union surgeon John Milton Hawks’s Florida Land and Lumber Company at Port Orange in Volusia County.79

Veterans who had been free men before 1861 also returned to northeast Florida, many to jobs not unlike those they had worked at before the war. Henry Hanahan of Pablo Beach resumed his life on the area waterways, working as a steward on the steamer Dictator. Alonzo H. Phillips returned to Jacksonville to work again as a merchant. Lewis McQueen found employment as a mason. Lewis Forester and his wife, Affa, went back to Magnolia to the farm they had worked before the Yankee gunboats came upriver in 1862. Nearby, George Floyd farmed along the St. Johns opposite Black Creek. Samuel Osborn II, a waiter in St. Augustine before the war, afterward became a waiter at the Pulaski House in Savannah, then returned to St. Augustine in 1884.

By fall 1865, black veterans in Jacksonville had organized a series of public meetings to discuss the needs of the poor in the community. They also purchased a farm outside the town to use as a home for the aged and infirm. Other issues discussed were rights and duties of black citizens and their educational needs. On September 22, 1865, the Jacksonville Herald reported that black soldiers were planning to circulate petitions to help them gain the right of suffrage. During Reconstruction many of the veterans participated actively in the affairs of the Republican party, some filling appointive and elective offices.

These trained soldiers, veterans of bloody battles throughout the Southeast, equipped with rudimentary educations and an expectation that they were to become equal citizens of the nation soon after the guns stopped firing, would not acquiesce easily to the white supremacist politics that came to Jacksonville after 1865. The extent to which their lives reflected a spirit of “hope and encouragement” is worthy of a separate study, one that could benefit from perusal of the military pension records kept in the National Archives. The roles played played by the black veterans in the dramatic events of the immediate postwar years would be an interesting sequel for researchers concerned with the few successes and many failures of Reconstruction.
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LaVilla, Florida, 1866–1887

Reconstruction Dreams and the Formation of a Black Community

Patricia L. Kenney

EMPTY LOTS, boarded-up and condemned buildings, sagging houses, litter and debris scattered along the streets, locks and iron bars protecting the businesses of those who have chosen to stay: This is the LaVilla of today, a mile-square, blighted area adjacent to downtown Jacksonville, Florida. It has been in decline for a long time, the origins of its slow death deep in the history of this predominantly black neighborhood. Indeed, the roots of decline are tangled in the decade of the 1880s, when LaVilla, along with the town of Fairfield and eight unincorporated suburbs, was annexed to Jacksonville during a political expansion linked to a need to fund the growing demands for public works improvements in that burgeoning city. The physical deterioration of LaVilla today, however, belies a period of vitality and growth in the two decades following the Civil War—a time when the need for economic redevelopment intersected with the emancipation of black slaves.1

Prior to the Civil War LaVilla was sparsely settled and its few black inhabitants were slaves. But the war dramatically altered the social composition of the area. Freedmen, seeking shelter and work, took advantage of the inexpensive housing and proximity to employment offered by nearby Jacksonville and, by 1870, became the majority population. In 1869 LaVilla incorporated, an act that provided a political dimension to the freedmen’s future. When LaVilla lost its political autonomy in 1887, it lost as well a symbiotic relationship that had developed between the freedmen and whites, primarily focused on interaction in local government. Together, black freedmen and whites had enacted laws, set and collected taxes, controlled crime, voted public improvements, and formed a community.
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LaVilla, Florida. The black community of LaVilla was formed in the postwar years and is shown at the far left of the grid on this map of Jacksonville, Florida. Courtesy of the P.K. Yonge Library of Florida History, Gainesville, Florida.



In LaVilla, as in other southern communities, prewar patterns of paternalism meshed with but oftentimes were challenged by the newly acquired independence of black urban dwellers—an independence reinforced by a tightly knit web of black relationships.2 The social dimension of freedmen’s and -women’s lives was articulated through segregated social networks of family, kin, and friends. These social networks were anchored in and strengthened by the black church, school, and voluntary associations. Although blacks in the main worked for white employers, the workforce was frequently integrated. But, unlike most white workers, blacks found themselves restricted to the lower level of urban occupations—a condition that severely inhibited their ability to advance in the urban economy. Participation in local affairs, however, brought blacks and whites together and afforded black males power and influence in the civic decisions of their community.

Most studies of the black experience in the urban South have concentrated on social, economic, and political trends. This study of LaVilla, from its inception in 1866 through its demise as an independent entity in 1887, examines the details of that experience: from choosing a place to settle, finding work, securing shelter, and creating political organizations.3

The Civil War was a wellspring of change in Jacksonville, and the change subsequently affected LaVilla. At war’s end the city teemed with newly freed slaves, former Confederates, and northern entrepreneurs. Like other southern cities, Jacksonville attracted freedmen because the Federal forces headquartered there offered safety, the Freedmen’s Bureau offered education and welfare services, and a postwar commercial boom offered employment. Jacksonville, on the St. Johns River, was ideally located for a quick economic recovery through port development to supplement existing rail and steamship connections to major cities.4 While the city had suffered extensive damage during the war years, its need to rebuild stimulated the construction and timber industries.5 Jacksonville was also acquiring a reputation as a health and vacation resort. The opening on January 1, 1869, of the plush St. James Hotel signaled a new era of prosperity for entrepreneurs. Thus, this bustling city in northeast Florida assured a variety of job opportunities for hundreds of hopeful freedmen.

The earliest recorded black residents of LaVilla were forty-one freedmen who received ninety-nine-year leases in 1866 from Francis F. L’Engle, a prominent lawyer who had purchased a portion of the area in 1856. The quarter-acre lots were located in the southeast quadrant, immediately south of Spring and Mansion streets, where L’Engle and other white families lived. L’Engle played an important role in the development of black LaVilla: Not only did he provide the initial opportunity for the freedmen to secure housing, but as the first mayor of LaVilla, he was instrumental in creating political ties between blacks and whites. It is not clear why L’Engle, a former slaveowner (perhaps of some of the lessees), opted to encourage black settlement in LaVilla. An ardent Confederate, L’Engle was prepared to emigrate to Brazil in 1865 rather than remain in Florida under “enemy” Republican rule. An opportunity to cut crossties for the Pensacola and Georgia Railroad altered his plans, and possibly L’Engle hoped to employ the freedmen in his new business venture.6

Inexpensive housing and LaVilla’s close proximity to employment favored rapid development; by 1870 the community numbered nearly eleven hundred, of whom 77 percent were black. Over the next ten years, LaVilla’s black population nearly doubled.

The rapid rise in the number of African Americans resulted from immigration.7 Arriving blacks were largely Florida-born. For example, Samuel Spearing, a former slave owned by Elisha Green of neighboring Baker County, brought his wife Percilla, six children, and one grandchild to LaVilla in 1866, purchased a lot, and settled on Bay Street.8 Frank Andrews moved to LaVilla with his wife and five children and leased two lots from L’Engle. Other newcomers, like James Johnson, came from distant places. Johnson, a free black born in Virginia, had moved to Nassau at the onset of the Civil War and had become headwaiter at the Royal Victorian Hotel. Informed by American guests of the economic opportunities to be found in the winter resort of Jacksonville, Johnson moved his wife, infant daughter, in-laws, and the family nurse and cook to the “small, insignificant, and, for the most part, crude and primitive” town of LaVilla, because he was aware that northern people and capital were interested in Jacksonville.9 For $300, Johnson purchased a corner lot with a “four- or five-room dwelling, old, rough, and unpainted” on Lee Street.10


[image: image]

This unidentified African American family of six was photographed outside their log cabin in St. Augustine in 1893. Archaeologists have theorized that chimneys were deliberately constructed to lean away from wooden cabins so that in the event of fire they could be easily pushed away. Courtesy of the St. Augustine Historical Society.



An additional source of immigration was the Union army. As Daniel Schafer’s essay in chapter 7, “Freedom Was as Close as the River” points out, many male slaves from northeast Florida had joined the three black regiments originating in Beaufort, South Carolina, in 1862.11 Black soldiers from the 33d and 34th Regiments had occupied Jacksonville for a brief time in March 1863, and at war’s end the 34th Regiment was headquartered there until September 1865.12 Conceivably, the black soldiers’ military experience affected their decision to settle in the Jacksonville area.13 Thirty-five LaVilla residents have been identified as former soldiers.14 An examination of pension records of the black soldiers indicates the existence of friendship among those who had lived as slaves on the same or nearby plantations. In addition, the records document friendships that continued as male slaves joined the Union army in groups or that were created out of common military experience. Thomas Holzendorf, Company D, 34th Regiment, is a representative case. Born a slave in Fernandina, Florida, Holzendorf had several owners before Samuel Sweringen purchased him and brought him to Kings Ferry. At age twenty he married Harriet, a slave from a neighboring plantation, and they had two children before the war. Harriet subsequently testified that “my said husband and I ran away from our masters and went to the white federal soldiers who had come into the King’s Ferry neighborhood [and they] took us to Fernandina where my husband enlisted right away.” Discharged from service in Jacksonville, Holzendorf leased a lot from L’Engle, began preaching, and remained in LaVilla with his family until 1872.15


Table 1. Social Network of Fred Hamilton, LaVilla
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Source: PR 575.251, Pension Records, Veterans Administration, National Archives, Washington, D.C.

Note: †Numbers listed in table correspond to individual connections listed below.

1 William Benjamin

2 Augustus Dorsey

3 Abram Grant

4 David Hal

5 William Baker

6 John Ryals

7 Benjamin Turner

8 Joseph Holder

9 Chancey Jones

10 Richard Masters

11 Isaac Middleton

12 Scipeo Middleton

13 Florida Singleton

Other freedmen arrived in LaVilla in kin groups. Brothers and their respective families frequently settled near one another. Stacio and Stephen Benjamin leased a single lot from L’Engle. Scipeo and Lymus Middleton, brothers who served together in the army, moved from Fernandina and leased adjacent lots. Benjamin, another Middleton brother, moved in with Lymus’s young family. William McRae leased a lot three streets south of his brother Absolom.

Friendship networks also brought settlers to LaVilla.16 Fred K. Hamilton’s network exemplifies the paths of such connections among residents of LaVilla (table 1). Hamilton, a mulatto, was born in Nassau County, Florida, in 1830 and mustered into Company G, 33d Regiment, in 1862. Discharged from the service, Hamilton moved his family to LaVilla. Hamilton’s friendships were an important part of his life in LaVilla. Four of Hamilton’s connections—to William Benjamin, Augustus Dorsey, David Hall, and Florida Singleton—had been established during slavery and continued in military service. William Benjamin, who had known Hamilton for more than thirty years, “lived near him in this country about six years and saw him nearly every day during that time.” Florida Singleton had known Hamilton’s wife, Fanny, for fifty years and “knew them both before they were married.” Augustus Dorsey “knew Fred Hamilton in 1862 before he enlisted . . . [and] was with him all during the war . . . [and in LaVilla] lived about three blocks or so apart.” Frederick Hamilton met Isaac Middleton “soon after my enlistment” and “kept up my acquaintance with [him] at the brickmason trade and we met each other most every Sunday at Church.”17

Each of the former soldiers leased lots from L’Engle in LaVilla and maintained contact with one another through friendship, work, church, and leisure activities. The social networks of other soldiers revealed similar links. Networks based on kinship, friendship, and comradeship not only influenced the process of settlement, but structured the social web of relationships that defined LaVilla’s black community as well. During times of need family, friends, and neighbors came to the aid of one another with food, shelter, and occasionally money.

The social web, moreover, was shaped by demographic factors. In 1870 the average age of all residents in LaVilla was twenty-one. This youthful population was nearly evenly distributed by sex, with black women slightly outnumbering black males. The age structure of blacks in 1870 indicates a large number of children from birth to fourteen years, suggesting that young families resided in LaVilla, and the nuclear family was the predominant household unit in LaVilla from 1870 to 1885 (table 2).


Table 2. Black Household Composition, LaVilla

[image: image]

Source: LaVilla Database.

Note: Nuclear: one or both parents and children; extended: nuclear family with kin; augmented: nuclear with nonkin members; irregular: single or nonkin. Percentages in parentheses.



Uneducated and largely unskilled, LaVilla’s newcomers were dependent upon a white social structure that controlled access to jobs and home ownership. While a small number of black entrepreneurs became financially secure and bought homes, the majority of LaVilla’s black residents relied on low-paying jobs and rented their homes. Tax records for Duval County, Florida, from 1866 to 1877 indicate that blacks paid taxes on property in LaVilla, but such payments do not necessarily imply ownership of property.18 Moreover, the property of the majority of black taxpayers was valued below $500, whereas the majority of white taxpayers had property valued above $600.

During LaVilla’s incorporated period, job opportunities steadily improved. Entry into the expanded economy, however, did not necessarily translate into improved social conditions: Low wages, unemployment, and poor housing plagued the lives of most former slaves.19 Both the type of work open to them and the quality of housing available not only affected the workers’ livelihood, but defined the character of the urban black community. Freedmen generally found employment as day laborers, earning between $1.50 and $2.00 per day when work was available.20 Throughout the period, the majority of black workers were relegated to unskilled or personal and domestic service (table 3), but by the 1880s options for work had improved greatly. More blacks were successful in securing skilled and semiskilled jobs and the number of black professionals and businessmen increased. This socioeconomic change occurred as black workers from LaVilla found employment in the hotel, timber, port, construction, and railroad industries (table 4). For example, only one black male was employed by the railroad in 1870; seventeen years later, 114 (14 percent) of LaVilla’s black males worked for railway concerns such as the Florida Railway and Navigation Company, Jacksonville Tampa and Key West Railway, or Savannah Florida and Western Railroad, Wharves, and Warehouse.


Table 3. Occupational Status of Black Workers, LaVilla
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Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, Ninth Census, 1870, and Tenth Census, 1880; Richards’ Jacksonville Duplex City Directory (Jacksonville, Florida: John R. Richards Co., 1887). Occupational status from Kenneth L. Kusmer, A Ghetto Takes Shape: Black Cleveland, 1870–1930 (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1976), 275–80.

Note: Percentage figures given in parentheses.



Between 1870 and 1887 the spatial landscape of LaVilla changed dramatically. Extant maps and city directories show the addition of family dwellings, boardinghouses, tenements, churches, schools, small manufactories, and neighborhood businesses. A commercial district had developed along Bay Street, in part as an extension of Jacksonville’s business district. The shift toward commerce and manufacturing in the southeast quadrant of the town enhanced LaVilla’s place in the larger urban economy and provided additional employment for the town’s residents, but at the same time reduced the availability of housing.


Table 4. Black Workers Employed in Local Industry, LaVilla
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Ninth Census, 1870 and Tenth Census, 1880; Richards’ Duplex Jacksonville Directory, 1887.

Note: Percentage figures given in parentheses.

*Includes twenty-nine farmers and farmhands, †lncludes three farmers.

‡Day laborers.

LaVilla’s businesses and manufactories were owned principally by whites, but by 1886 a small number of black businessmen had emerged: Wyatt J. Geter and his brothers, Jacob and Madison, owned a blacksmith and wheelwright shop on Forsyth Street; Robert F. Comfort owned the New Palace Shaving Saloon and Bathrooms on Bridge Street, which was “opened to the public, both white and colored”; Thomas Claiborne owned a saloon and a furniture store; other blacks operated grocery stores and restaurants.21 The addition of black-owned businesses represented an important alternative in work relations, as black workers could now work for black employers.

While male workers were able to expand into various industries in the urban economy, black females who lived in LaVilla, with few exceptions, remained in domestic service. But between 1870 and 1885 the composition of the labor force in LaVilla changed. In 1870 no female over the age of twenty-five worked outside her home; by 1885, however, 73 percent of all black working women were twenty-five years of age or older (table 5). And while 80 percent of all black female workers were single in 1870, ten years later married women dominated the workforce. Moreover, by 1885 a significant number of widows were employed (table 6). A survey of black working females in 1885 reveals that 46 percent headed households without husbands, while the remainder either lived with their husbands and family or boarded. Male absence in the black household has been attributed to death, desertion, or out-of-town employment.22
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Middle-class African American family in Gainesville, circa 1900s. Like LaVilla, Gainesville’s black community flourished following the Civil War. The relative prosperity of this unidentified black family is evident by the dress of the mother and children and the toys arrayed for the photograph. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Job security was tenuous for many urban black workers, and unemployment was a common reality in the financial burdens on the household. Urban black males compensated for the precarious nature of employment by working out of town or changing occupations. In 1887 Isaac Middleton, a brickmason, traveled to Key West because “work had got dull here and he could get work there and better wages.” Middleton’s wife, Diana, and his two children from a previous marriage remained in LaVilla.23 James Johnson adjusted his employment according to the tourist season. During the winter months he worked as headwaiter for the St. James Hotel, but during the summer months he often worked in northern hotels.24 Unemployment was especially harsh when more than one worker in a family went without work. In 1885 Jack Butler, a sixty-one-year-old carpenter, was unemployed for three months. Living in his household were his wife, Maria, and their three sons, Jonathan (24), William (20), and Samuel (15). Jonathan, a laborer, was unemployed for half the year, and William, a fireman, for two months.


Table 5. Employment of Black Females, by Age Groups, LaVilla
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Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, Ninth Census, 1870, and Tenth Census, 1880; Florida Census, 1885 (incomplete).

Note: Percentage figures given in parentheses.

During its eighteen years of incorporation, LaVilla experienced many of the problems found in other urban areas during the late nineteenth century. Jacksonville’s rapid growth and economic development benefited LaVilla, but it also contributed to poverty, unemployment, health hazards, municipal corruption, and crime. By 1885 a significant number of black males between the ages of twenty and twenty-four were living in LaVilla. Most of them were single, a change that modified the otherwise family-oriented community. In addition to the economic and demographic changes, an increase in the number of saloons, gambling houses, and houses of prostitution strained the community infrastructure and its ability to cope.


Table 6. Marital Status of Black Female Workers, LaVilla
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Sources: 1870 Federal Census; 1885 Florida State Census; Jacksonville City Directory, 1871 and 1876–77; Webb’s Jacksonville Directory, 1880; Richards’ Jacksonville City Directory, 1887.

Note: Data were accumulated for seven elections. Percentage figures given in parentheses.

The black response to such urban problems can be viewed on two levels: social and political. On the social level, blacks functioned independently from the whites. Blacks looked to family, kin, friends, and neighbors in time of personal need, and they had established an institutional framework of churches, schools, and voluntary associations to undergird their collective needs. On the political level, blacks allied with whites and shared in decision-making with respect to the civic needs of the community. Thus, in the first twenty years of freedom, blacks had organized a duality in their associational life. When annexation to Jacksonville in 1887 shut them out of political power in their community, they came to rely even more heavily on the existing social institutions.

Black institutions cushioned the harshness of urban life by providing a means for religious expression, education, aid, and social interaction. After emancipation, blacks throughout the South established their own churches, and LaVilla followed this pattern. After the family, the church became “the central and unifying institution in the postwar black community,” serving not only religious needs, but political and educational needs as well.25

The freedmen also built schools to educate their children. In 1868 leading blacks from Jacksonville and its suburbs organized as the Trustees of the Florida Institute, with the intent of establishing a school in LaVilla. With financial assistance from the Freedmen’s Bureau, the Trustees purchased land, and within a year Stanton Normal School was dedicated. Throughout the year recitals, plays, and lectures held at the school brought black members of the community together.

In addition, black benevolent associations, many of which met in Jacksonville, responded to the social and welfare needs of the black community of LaVilla. Among them were the Daughters of Israel, who assisted in the burial of the poor; the Benevolent Association of Colored Folks, who cared for the aged; the Colored Law and Order League, which encouraged “orderly conduct”; and the Colored Medical Protective Health Association.26 Blacks also associated less formally through festivals, picnics, excursions, dances, and parades.

Black voluntary associations served one set of social needs for LaVilla’s blacks. Their participation in local government served another. Throughout LaVilla’s incorporated period, blacks held political office, fulfilling an aspiration born in freedom.27 In 1867 Samuel Spearing, member of the Union Republican Club, publicly addressed “the colored citizens of Jacksonville” and urged the crowd to “be united in support of the Republican party.” In addition, he eloquently enumerated the political goals of the freedmen: “We have not the right to sit in the jury box. On every jury there should be six white and six colored men. . . . We have a right to appointments on the police, for we have lives and property as well as white men, and an equal right to protect them. We also have a right to hold a few offices. . . . we have a right to colored Justices of the Peace.”28 In LaVilla, black males served not only as marshal and policemen but at all levels of public office.

When LaVilla incorporated in 1869, it severed itself from Jacksonville politically. Thereafter, annual elections filled the offices of mayor, marshal, tax collector, tax assessor, clerk, treasurer, and alderman. In six of the seven elections for which results are known, the office of mayor was held by a white resident who figured prominently in LaVilla’s social and economic hierarchy (table 7).29 But on at least one occasion a black was elected mayor: Alfred Grant, an Alabama native, who held the mayor’s office in 1876.

Aldermen on LaVilla’s city council were frequently black, and, like their white counterparts, represented a cross section of occupations (table 8). The office of alderman conferred status and power on those elected. Described as the “voice” of the neighborhoods, aldermen served neighborhood needs and became “the means by which residents obtained services, improvements, permits, exemptions, and sometimes jobs.”30 In LaVilla, for example, Alderman Jones requested permission for Squire English and Thomas Clairborne to grade the streets in their neighborhood; Dinah Tucker brought a complaint, through the president of the council, “that the prisoners were suffering considerable in the LaVilla jail for the want of blankets”; and Captain J. W. Fitzgerald asked permission, through Alderman Jones, “to lay water pipes on Adams Street to Bridge Street from the City of Jacksonville.”31


Table 7. Elected Officials, by Race, LaVilla, 1870–1871, 1876, and 1884–1887
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Sources: 1870 Federal Census; 1885 Florida State Census; Jacksonville City Directory, 1871 and 1876–77; Webb’s Jacksonville Directory, 1880; Richards’ Jacksonville City Directory, 1887.

Note: Data were accumulated for seven elections.

Aldermen were especially powerful in recommending and approving various municipal jobs for local constituents. They controlled the hiring of policemen who, in 1886, were paid between $30 and $40 dollars per month. Other city jobs included sanitary inspector, street lamp lighter, scavenger, and jail guard. For a few of the aldermen, power resulted from longevity in office; for others power was temporary. Fifty-nine males held positions on seven LaVilla city councils examined. The majority (61 percent) served only one term, 25 percent two terms, 10 percent three terms, and 3 percent at least five terms. But the offices of marshal and treasurer were held by individual blacks for an extended period, and their length of service generated considerable influence within the community.


Table 8. Occupations of Elected Officials, by Race, LaVilla, 1870, 1871, 1876, 1884–1887
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Sources: LaVilla Database; city directories.

Note: Occupations are a select representation of officeholders.

The town council saw to LaVilla’s day-to-day needs. Street lamps were installed, water and sewer pipes laid, sidewalks constructed, trash and dead animals removed from the streets, and police protection ensured. On certain occasions, the LaVilla Council undertook philanthropic efforts. For example, in 1886 donations and a letter of condolence were sent to the earthquake victims of Charleston, South Carolina. Despite such activities, LaVilla seemed beset with problems, from governmental corruption to malfeasance to annexation attempts.
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Jonathan C. Gibbs. Gibbs was born free in Philadelphia and after the Civil War opened a school to teach the newly freed slaves. He moved to Florida in 1867 and was appointed secretary of state during the Radical Reconstruction. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Annexation was a constant threat to LaVilla’s political autonomy. As early as 1873, movements were afoot to enlarge Jacksonville’s tax base. The editor of the Weekly Florida Union complained that “the city needs ten times the capital and energy it now possesses and all public spirited citizens should endeavor to promote this step.” To this end, he recommended that “the city should now take steps for extending its limits.”32 Ten years later, to finance public health improvements, the Jacksonville Board of Sanitary Trustees recommended the “annexation of the suburbs in order to broaden the city’s tax base to pay for ongoing municipal services.”33

During Jacksonville’s 1887 municipal elections, annexation was promoted by the Citizens’ Ticket, a coalition of reform Democrats, Republicans, and the Knights of Labor, who advocated municipal reform. This time support from LaVilla’s prominent property owners, who saw the move as “an absolute necessity for the protection of their property, etc.,” guaranteed the success of annexation.34 By the 1880s, LaVilla was notorious as an unsavory place to live and had become the locus for gambling, drunkenness, prostitution, and frequent fighting. By 1885 Florida’s Democrats had gained sufficient power to abolish the 1868 Constitution and write a new state constitution that allowed annexation by means of a simple majority in the state legislature. Jacksonville’s Board of Trade, eager to boost economic growth and development as well as broaden the tax base, submitted a bill to the state legislature that would allow for a new city charter and concomitantly abolish the charters of both LaVilla and Fairfield. By aligning with Jacksonville’s reform movement for annexation, law and order, a full-time mayor, conservative fiscal policies, and a paid fire department, many of LaVilla’s residents hoped to rid the town of its problems.35

Annexation in 1887 dealt a severe blow to the African American residents of LaVilla. Participation in the political sphere was dramatically reduced, to a single representative on the Jacksonville City Council who would have to compete with other wards for services. This fact, in conjunction with newly passed Jim Crow legislation, restricted the leadership roles available for blacks.

The freedmen who arrived in Jacksonville following the Civil War had hopes and dreams for their future: job and home security, education for their children, and social and political equality. In LaVilla, as elsewhere, they struggled to act upon their aspirations. They entered “freedom” unskilled, uneducated, and poor. But their social networks became rooted in the grid of the urban landscape and matured into relationships that would mitigate the harsh realities that fractured their dreams. In the city, the freedmen structured their lives around family, kin, friends, neighbors, and wartime comrades, while the political organization of LaVilla served as the locus of joint efforts by both white and black residents. The gains made during the first two decades of freedom were small, however, and blacks found their lives still controlled by white society.

Black participation in government was essential to the freedmen’s dream and to the success of Reconstruction in the South. Twenty years in LaVilla had fulfilled this dream, but when removed from the political arena, the blacks of LaVilla were disjoined from the civic decision-making process. Although supported by strong social institutions and networks of family, friends, and neighbors, blacks lost the ability to control both their own fate and the ultimate fate of LaVilla when they lost direct political participation in community affairs.
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Black Violence in the New South

Patterns of Conflict in Late-Nineteenth-Century Tampa

Jeffrey S. Adler

VIOLENCE PERMEATED urban life in the New South. Like other late-nineteenth-century Southerners, white Floridians believed that blacks were prone to sudden, unprovoked bursts of violence and that such behavior posed a growing threat to social order—particularly to the safety of white women. Conservative southerners justified segregation, at least in part, as a response to their concern that blacks might at any moment become savage and vicious. Moreover, many whites argued that lynching, which became increasingly common at the end of the century, was a reaction to mounting black violence. Although influential newspaper editors and public officials often denounced vigilantism and affirmed their belief in the rule of law, they were also quick to defend lynching as a necessary evil—as long as black violence persisted.1 In short, the perception that blacks were unusually violent sparked aggressive white efforts at racial control, thus reordering race relations in Florida.

Urbanization, according to many whites, exacerbated the problem. As Florida cities grew at the end of the century and blacks migrated to the state’s urban centers, black violence, according to whites, became more common. Many prominent observers suggested that blacks were somehow better suited to rural life; the thrall and confusion of city life, white commentators argued, overwhelmed members of a group long accustomed to the slower and more regulated rhythms of the country.2 Others proclaimed that the social and racial controls that had maintained “harmony” and inculcated “civilized ways” in the region for over a century collapsed—or at least became more relaxed—when blacks migrated to urban centers.3 Freed from the constraints that had operated under the slave system and emboldened by the inflammatory efforts of northern radicals, blacks, according to this line of reasoning, “degenerated” during the late nineteenth century, becoming more aggressive and more violent.4

Historians have devoted relatively little attention to black violence in the South during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.5 Much of the best research on southern violence has focused on the Old South.6 Historians and criminologists of the New South, by contrast, have more often studied white responses to changes in race relations, producing important studies of lynching, white-capping, and the Ku Klux Klan.7 Although white fears of black violence triggered lynchings and related campaigns of repression, southern historians have seldom analyzed the nature or the level of black violence.8

The most sophisticated studies of the history of black violence have focused on northern cities. The leading authority on the subject, Roger Lane, examined Philadelphia prior to the “Great Migration” of southern blacks to the North. Lane concluded that the social and economic conditions of northern urban life bred black violence. City life, he argued, transformed the behavior of newcomers.9 The regimen of the factory and the school as well as the active hand of the State (through the police and the courts) encouraged immigrants and other migrants to become more orderly and less violent.10 For Philadelphia’s black residents, however, the process worked differently. Excluded from industrial work, mired in poverty, and confronted with rising levels of racism, the city’s blacks became accustomed to “self-help” solutions and reliant on violent methods of dispute resolution. During the late nineteenth century, the black homicide rate was five times that of white Philadelphians, and as the exclusion and isolation of black residents increased, the gap widened. By the middle of the twentieth century, according to Lane, the black homicide rate had risen to fourteen times the white rate.11 Other scholars, particularly criminologists and sociologists, have also noted the unusually high homicide rate among blacks and have often formulated theories that complement Lane’s analysis.12

The most powerful analyses of the history of black violence rely on a conceptual model rooted in the dynamics of northern industrial society. Basic questions about black violence in the South remain largely unanswered. For example, were southern blacks unusually violent by the standards of the era and the region? Or were high levels of violence a response to northern conditions? How did urbanization in the New South affect violent behavior? Finally, and perhaps most important, the paucity of research on the history of black violence has prevented historians from understanding the ways in which white perceptions may have influenced black violence.13 An exploration of black violence in the late nineteenth century promises to shed light on southern race relations. Such an analysis might suggest the ways in which the social and institutional changes of the New South, particularly the rise of Jim Crow, affected twentieth-century patterns of black violence.

Late-nineteenth-century Tampa is a good setting in which to explore these issues. Like other New South cities, Tampa experienced explosive growth during the closing decades of the nineteenth century.14 Between 1880 and 1900 it grew from a small town with just over seven hundred residents to a bustling city of nearly 16,000. The black population surged as well, increasing by 168 percent during the final decade of the century. In 1900 black residents comprised almost 28 percent of the city’s population.15 Race relations in the city were badly strained; lynchings and other forms of brutality punctuated Tampa’s growth, as they did that of other cities in the region.16 Tampa also became an ethnically diverse city during this period, with sizable numbers of Italian, Spanish, and Cuban newcomers, and it grew to be an industrial center, with flourishing cigar factories.17

Relatively few sources provide detailed information on violent behavior.18 Coroner’s records contain data on homicides, though murder was—and is—an unusual and relatively infrequent outcome of violent behavior.19 For this reason, analyses of low-level violence are particularly useful.20 Police reports provide information on arrests for low-level violence, but, typically, police blotters merely list names and offenses. Similarly, court records often identify only the name of the defendant and the verdict; missing is any discussion of the context in which the violence occurred. Jurisdictional boundaries also make court records a difficult source. In cities such as Tampa, cases involving violence were divided among municipal, county, and federal courts, depending on the discretion of law enforcers and the nature of the offense. Seldom are the records for all of the courts either available or similar in form.

Newspapers are the best single source for studies of nineteenth-century violence.21 Accounts of fights and assaults in newspapers, such as the Tampa Morning Tribune, included not only the names of the participants but also the race and often the ethnicity, as well as the location of the altercation and the circumstances that sparked the battle.22 Furthermore, newspapers, particularly in their daily coverage of municipal courts, reported on violent behavior that did not result in criminal charges.23 Thus, newspapers contain more information on violent episodes than any other source. To be sure, late-nineteenth-century white newspaper editors and reporters seldom presented neutral or unbiased accounts of violence, particularly when blacks were involved. With rare exceptions, reports of black violence during this period were written by white journalists, and racist assumptions informed their accounts. The biases of editors and reporters, however, provide important clues about white perceptions of race relations and about the operation of the criminal justice system. Moreover, although police-beat reporters offered distorted explanations for black violence, these journalists provided relatively reliable data on the number of arrests, the nature of charges, and the names and backgrounds of those involved. When homicide rates computed from newspaper accounts are compared with those calculated from other sources, such as the reports of medical examiners, the figures are quite close.24 The foundation of this study, therefore, is an analysis of every incident involving black violence that was reported in the Tampa Morning Tribune between 1895 and 1897.25

*   *   *

At a time when violent behavior was becoming increasingly rare in other parts of the country, informal and aggressive methods of dispute resolution flourished in the South. Both contemporary observers and modern analysts have noted the enduring connection between the South and violence. According to an 1880 study, “the number of homicides in the Southern States is proportionately greater than in any country on earth the population of which is rated as civilized.”26 The homicide rate—perhaps the most objective measure of violence—in the South was between five and fifteen times greater than that of other parts of the United States during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.27 Florida was remarkably violent. Data for 1870 indicate that homicides in the state were “over one hundred and fifty times more frequent [per hundred thousand residents] than in New Hampshire and Vermont.”28

Southern cities experienced particularly high rates of violent crime. When homicide rates in northern cities varied from two per hundred thousand to twelve per hundred thousand residents and averaged approximately five per hundred thousand, the rates for southern cities often exceeded thirty and averaged approximately fifteen per hundred thousand residents.29 One study, based on data for the first decade of the twentieth century, revealed that the average homicide rates for southern cities were more than three times those for northeastern cities.30

But violence committed by southern blacks, particularly black city dwellers, far exceeded the norms for the region.31 In 1897 Cesare Lombroso, the leading authority on “scientific criminology,” argued that the “colored race furnishes to the statistics of this crime [homicide] proportionately more than five times as many cases as whites.”32 The gap proved to be greater, however, in southern cities. Studies of homicide in southern urban centers during the early twentieth century revealed that the rates for black city dwellers were often six or seven times greater than for white urbanites. In Atlanta during the early 1920s, the homicide rate per hundred thousand black residents exceeded 107, while the rate for white residents was 9.33 Tampa conformed to these patterns. The homicide rate for blacks in Hillsborough County during the mid-1890s was 112; according to local law enforcers, blacks killed 21 people in the county between 1895 and 1897.34 Although historians have not constructed standardized measures for other forms of violence, less serious violence was also widespread among black Tampans.

Residents of the city, both white and black, commented on the high level of conflict.35 Many white observers insisted that black Tampans were impulsive and hostile to whites. Thus, the editor of the Tampa Morning Tribune suggested in 1893, “It requires only the slightest provocation to kindle that fire into a burning flame which results in riot and bloodshed [by black residents].”36 Again and again, the newspaper urged blacks to stop “jerking out a pistol, or using a knife for the most trivial causes.”37 Black Tampans occasionally offered a similar explanation. During his trial for assault with intent to murder, Robert Miller, for example, argued that the “goosie,” a kind of reflex, caused him to draw his pistol and fire at a friend who had “playfully struck him in the back.” Black residents, Miller explained and a court reporter summarized, “are so constituted that if suddenly startled by a touch . . . the goosie will strike the nearest one in front of, or near him, involuntarily.” The jury accepted Miller’s analysis but nonetheless found him guilty of assault with intent to murder.38

More frightening to whites than Miller’s assault on his friend were incidents in which black Tampans seemed to have attacked whites.39 “Out of pure wickedness,” according to a local writer, John Towles shoved a white passerby off a sidewalk and struck, then choked him.40 Such reports sparked outrage and hysteria in the city. Black residents of Tampa, white journalists argued, seemed to be vicious and prone to unprovoked attacks on whites.

Black rapists generated particular concern. According to many white southerners, rape was the “most atrocious of all crimes.”41 Leading ministers, politicians, and newspaper editors insisted that an “epidemic” of black rape had hit the region during the 1890s.42 As a result of the end of slavery and the machinations of northern interlopers, they argued, the savage passions of blacks had been unleashed. Rape became the “New Negro Crime” and the “Black Shadow in the South.” Atticus Haygood reported in Forum, for example, that over “three hundred white women had been raped by negroes” during one three-month period in the South in 1893.43

This epidemic appeared to strike Tampa with enormous force. The Tampa Morning Tribune reported a dozen rapes or attempted rapes by blacks in the city between 1895 and 1897, and five of the victims were white. The newspaper also devoted considerable coverage to rapes and attempted rapes elsewhere in the South, adding to the local hysteria. No other crime sparked such an emotional response. “What has gotten in some negro men in this country,” the Tribune’s editor beseeched, “that a decent white woman cannot go by herself, or be out walking or riding, that some brutish, lustful black demon does not suddenly arise like a moving apparition from hell, burning with carnal passion.”44 “No Home is safe from invasion,” the newspaper warned in 1896, “if these things are allowed to go unrevenged.”45 Respectable residents, according to local editors, must be “ready with the rope.”46 George Hendry, in a letter to the Tribune, asserted that critics of lynching should persuade “negroes to stop murdering and raping our wives, daughters and sisters, and then we will stop lynching them and not till then.”47

The hysteria, however, made the fear of the black rapist self-perpetuating. Law enforcers treated nearly every episode of violence involving a black man and a white woman as an attempted rape. Tampa policemen, judges, and jurors assumed that the goal or purpose of every such encounter was an “unmentionable offense.” But seldom did the sexual assault in fact take place, and it is unlikely that many of the episodes were, in fact, attempted rapes.

Despite the widely celebrated strength and power of the “black beasts,” the “fragile and delicate” white women of Tampa almost always repelled the savage attack. A “negro brute” named Virgil Jones, the Tribune reported in 1897, forced his way into a Mr. Whitehead’s home. When the “black fiend” determined that Mrs. Whitehead was alone, he attempted to “accomplish his diabolical purpose.” After throwing Mrs. Whitehead to the floor, however, he heard a noise and fled. Jones then forced his way into the home of a Mrs. LaRosa, who resisted the attack. Once again, Jones fled.48 In other incidents, Mrs. Candido Alvarez successfully resisted an attempted rape, as did Mrs. Timberlake, and Mrs. Knowles.49 By contrast, when black men attempted to rape black women, their attempts more often succeeded, according to newspaper reporters.50 Law enforcers generally ignored these distinctions and treated all black men who assaulted white women as rapists.

The “evidence” against those charged with attempting to ravage white women was almost always the same. A black man, according to police-beat reporters, had grabbed or choked a white woman. Often he was alleged to have pushed her to the ground.51 It is unlikely that journalists simply omitted graphic descriptions of the crime, as editors were skilled at describing the details of a rape while protecting the sensibilities of their readers.52 One account of an intraracial rape, for example, noted that the victim’s “thigh was broken and badly mangled, her eyes were protruding, and there was every evidence of a fearful outrage having been committed.”53 When a black man was charged with raping a white woman, however, the Tribune usually indicated that the attacker fled immediately after choking his white victim. Rarely did such incidents involve sexual assaults. In one case, the Tribune acknowledged “a conflict of opinion as to the purpose of the negro. Some believe that the motive was robbery, as Mr. Pipkin [the victim’s father] had been robbed of some money a few days before.”54 White perceptions of black character, therefore, often transformed attempted robberies and assaults—as well as violations of racial conventions—into attempted rapes, thereby providing apparent confirmation of the epidemic and fueling the hysteria. The locations of the alleged sexual assaults intensified white fears as well. Attempted rapes most often occurred at the homes of white women. “Respectable” men believed that their homes and neighborhoods were being invaded.55
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The Tampa Police Department in 1899. The all-white municipal police force worked to establish order and preserve white supremacy in the face of rapid demographic and economic change in Tampa. Courtesy of the Tampa-Hillsborough County Public Library.



Sensational murders, which commanded enormous attention from local newspapers, reinforced white perceptions of the vicious black man. According to the editors of the Tribune and other observers, irrational young blacks, most of whom were newcomers to Tampa, committed the majority of the homicides in the city and comprised “about 90 percent of the criminals that crowd our courts.”56 Because these migrants tended to be highly impulsive and extremely violent, the editors proclaimed, no one was safe.57

Although the black homicide rate in the city was extraordinarily high, white Tampans misunderstood the nature of black violence in important ways. Murder rarely crossed racial lines in Tampa. In only one homicide of every six in which a black resident was charged was the victim white.58 Nor did lesser forms of black violence frequently involve whites. Even though residents reported black-on-white violence more consistently than black-on-black violence, only 24 percent of the black violence recounted in the Tribune had a white victim. Between 1895 and 1897 the newspaper reported thirty-three incidents in which blacks assaulted whites in the city; whites attacked other whites far more frequently than blacks attacked whites.

The particular details of newspaper accounts of interracial violence, however, shaped white reactions. The circumstances of black-on-white conflict reflected the strained nature of race relations in Tampa during the age of Jim Crow. While most fights in Tampa—and elsewhere—occurred between friends or relatives, black-on-white violence had a formal, stilted character, revealing the new and growing separation of the races. Black-on-white violence, which was committed by men in more than 97 percent of cases, most often occurred between strangers or acquaintances, individuals who had little or no personal relationship with one another.

More than 13 percent of black-on-white violence occurred in the workplace, when black men fought with their coworkers, employers, or former employers. John McDuffee, for example, slashed his former boss, Walter Spitler, during a dispute over wages.59 Similarly, “a negro named Stanley” crushed the skull of his supervisor at the docks with a cant hook, and Richard Webb, a black porter, ended an argument with the yard master by means of a “shooting bee.”60

Black men, according to police-beat reporters, also engaged in occasional rows with strangers. In fact, black men who fought with white men were seven times more likely to be involved in an altercation with a stranger than were black men who fought with other black men.61 Attacks against strangers occasionally occurred during robberies. On July 24, 1895, for example, “a big burly negro” robbed and shot an Italian grocer.62 Robberies, however, accounted for only 3 percent of the black violence reported in the Tampa Morning Tribune.63 Similarly, battles over control of the streets and sidewalks sparked skirmishes between strangers. White shopkeepers or policemen sometimes became involved in affrays with black men after attempting to displace pedestrians or vagrants from street corners or alleys.64 The night watchman José Martinez, for example, attempted to arrest Elijah Ferguson, “a colored rascal,” for “sitting on a box inside an enclosure.” Ferguson resisted the watchman’s efforts and struck Martinez with “a huge club.”65 Although such violence was hardly random, the participants were often strangers or, at best, acquaintances.
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Workers at Tampa cigar factory, ca. 1900. As they had in Cuba, black and white cigarmakers in Tampa worked side by side in the cigar industry, which dominated the city’s economy and was the largest single employer of black Tampans. Courtesy of the University of South Florida, Special Collections.



Because black Tampans neither lived near white residents nor spent private or leisure time in multiracial settings, contact between black and white residents of the city was confined to streets, alleys, markets, or other public places. Nearly 60 percent of black-on-white violence occurred on the street or in the workplace—compared with only 29 percent of black-on-black fights. Moreover, black-on-white conflict was concentrated in the central business district and other congested areas.

The physical setting in which interracial violence erupted distorted white images of black crime in two important ways. First, black-on-white violence was a public spectacle, unlike the overwhelming majority of intraracial violence, which occurred in more private settings.66 Although intraracial violence most often took place late at night, interracial violence usually occurred during the morning or early evening. In fact, over one-third of all black-on-white violence took place during the early evening, when the streets of the city were crowded—compared with 14 percent of black-on-black violence. White Tampans, therefore, often witnessed black violence, reinforcing and exaggerating perceptions of black aggressiveness. A crowd of “reputable” whites, for example, saw “a big burly negro” shoot Hosa Galinda on July 31, 1895.67 Second, black-on-white violence involved more bystanders or nonparticipants than other forms of violence. Stray shots occasionally struck or grazed passersby, adding to the belief that no white Tampan was safe from the random aggression of the city’s black residents.

Equally significant, black men disproportionately relied on weapons, particularly firearms, when they fought with white men. In late-nineteenth-century Tampa, the closer the relationship between offender and victim, the lower the level of firepower. Lovers, for example, most often used only their fists, and men engaged in barroom brawls with friends usually relied on fists or knives and rarely used lethal force. Casual acquaintances or strangers, however, were much more likely to use guns. The growing estrangement between the races in Tampa ensured that guns would become the weapons of choice in interracial battles, and black Tampans were nearly twice as likely to use firearms in fights with whites as in battles with other blacks.68 Similarly, the more public the setting, the greater the inclination to use deadly force.69 Fights between relatives usually occurred in the presence of other family members, some of whom were likely to intercede before the conflict escalated. Rows in saloons most often took place when friends were in close proximity. The presence of allies may have emboldened the participants in barroom brawls, but it also increased the chances that partisans—or anxious saloon keepers—would stop the battle before the level of carnage became too great. When black Tampans fought white Tampans in the streets, however, there were few friends or relatives to intercede.
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Tampa Urban League. Blacks in Tampa organized the Harlem Branch of the Urban League, which met in the Tampa Public Library. Courtesy of the Tampa-Hillsborough County Public Library.



The lack of alternatives seen by blacks contributed to the use of guns. Black Tampans recognized that the legal system, both criminal and civil mechanisms, offered scant protection.70 They knew that criminal courts sided with white residents as a matter of course.71 Thus, once a fight with a white man had begun, a black man in Tampa was in many ways doomed. If he relied on formal institutions to mediate the dispute, he placed his fate in the hands of a legal system rife with overt discrimination, and he might face a prison sentence or even hanging. Aggressive self-help seemed to be a more viable option. Guns, even if they were used only to intimidate, represented the great equalizer for members of a group denied access to formal means of redress.72 Racial discrimination, therefore, promoted self-help solutions and the use of lethal force.

These conditions also discouraged black men from engaging in spontaneous battles with white men. Contrary to white impressions that black Tampans were volatile and impulsive, black men, according to court testimony, often planned their encounters with white enemies and borrowed guns for the occasions.73 The resulting battles with whites tended to be rehearsed and purposeful. On April 20, 1897, for example, the Tampa Morning Tribune reported that “a Cuban negro who goes by the name of Juan Arango has held a grudge against a Spaniard for some time, and finding him out yesterday opened fire on him.”74

Ironically, the forces that encouraged black Tampans to rely on firearms limited the lethality of interracial fights. Considerable physical distances usually separated the participants. Angry black residents shot their weapons across streets and down alleyways. As a result, they fired much more often than they struck their enemies. Arango’s “hot lead,” for example, “went wide of the mark and no damage was done more than to create a great sensation.”75 Sam Gordon “pumped five shots” at a policeman in 1895. None of the bullets hit its mark, though the skirmish “made things rather lively,” the Tribune reported.76 Thus, while black men used guns more frequently when they fought with whites, they inflicted greater harm—drew more blood and committed a greater proportion of homicides—when they fought with one another, using fists, knives, or clubs at close proximity. Fifty-five percent of black-on-white violence resulted in injuries, compared with 60 percent of black-on-black violence; similarly, the ratio of homicides to total violent encounters was slightly greater for black-on-black fights.77 Nonetheless, the use of firearms in interracial violence “create[d] a great sensation” and contributed to the idea that black men were impulsive and violent.

If black-on-white violence was relatively uncommon and was likely to occur in downtown settings, involve firearms, entail planning, include strangers, and alarm white Tampans, black-on-black violence was, in every way, the opposite. The overwhelming majority of fights involving local blacks grew out of ordinary social relations; where social activities were most vigorous, violence flared most often.78 Black Tampans usually fought in the “Scrub” (the largest black neighborhood in the city). Moreover, violence occurred in settings in which black residents spent the majority of their time, particularly in the home and in the saloon. Fights usually erupted between relatives or friends, and the combatants relied on their fists more than any other weapons.

Black men committed nearly three-fourths of the violent acts, and in more than 71 percent of such episodes they fought with other men. Conflict between black men most often occurred during leisure hours. More than one-third of the fights took place between 8:00 P.M. and midnight, and more than 42 percent of such violence occurred in the streets—usually within the Scrub and close to “blind tigers” (saloons). Not surprisingly, men tended to fight on Saturday evenings, a traditional leisure time.79 They were nearly as aggressive, however, on Tuesdays.

The typical fight between black men, according to police-beat reporters, involved friends and occurred near a barroom. One Tampan, for example, received a cut during a “friendly scuffle” outside Salter’s saloon.80 Similarly, Jim Norman and William Williams traded punches in front of Balbentin’s saloon.81 White observers, insensitive to the complexities of black society, seldom fully understood the causes of such affrays, though many rows, the Tribune concluded, grew out of disagreements over money or out of drinking quarrels. Arthur Sapp fought with Edward Williams during a game of pool at the “colored bar in Mugge’s saloon.” Sapp quickly terminated the fight by cracking his “twenty ounce cue” over Williams’s head, hitting him with such force that bystanders “thought the latter’s skull was fractured.”82

Such extreme violence was not unusual. In fact, the level of injury was surprisingly high when men fought other men.83 Although brawls between men resulted in no injuries in 40 percent of episodes, the combatants drew significant amounts of blood in 31 percent of the fights. In part, the severity of the violence reflected the choice of weapons and the physical proximity of the participants. When black men fought other black men, they sometimes used knives or other sharp objects. For example, on April 14, 1897, Charley Osteen and Camico Bigtree had a dispute over money at the “colored department of the Turf Exchange Saloon.” Bigtree chased Osteen through the “white department” of the tavern, caught him, and “drove a big knife in the muscle of the left arm making a hole large enough to run three fingers into.”84 H. H. Jackson relied on a glass bottle when he slashed William Bell just outside the same saloon.85

Black violence often crossed gender lines. In more than 20 percent of the black violence reported in the Tribune during the mid-1890s, a man attacked a woman. Such fights almost always occurred between loved ones; men assaulted either their wives or their lovers. “A negro by the name of Hutchinson,” for example, “beat up his wife unmercifully” after she had “found him in company with another woman.”86 Similarly, Charles Kelly assaulted “an unfortunate creature” who “had the misfortune to be connected with him in some way.”87

Spouse abuse in late-nineteenth-century Tampa among black residents occurred in the home, during the early evening, and disproportionately on Thursdays. Husbands and wives (or lovers) spent the early evening hours together at home. During the morning and afternoon men, and many women, were at work, and black Tampans seemed to spend late evening hours engaged in public, leisure activities. The concentration of domestic violence on Thursdays, however, is less easily explained. More than 32 percent of assaults on women occurred on Thursdays. This pattern probably reflected the particular ways in which economic pressures affected family life.88

Although men rarely killed their wives or lovers, they often inflicted very serious wounds on the women. Over half of the assaults produced significant bloodshed. In part, this reflected the very personal nature of spouse abuse. Unlike other kinds of violence that occurred in the home, wife beating often took place beyond the gaze of bystanders who could intercede. Alternatively, reporting biases were enormous; only very severe beatings came to the attention of outsiders such as the police or newspaper reporters. In fact, many cases of spouse abuse resulted in criminal proceedings only because they sparked other fights. Neighbors who tried to stop the assaults sometimes became embroiled in the quarrels. Despite reporting biases, however, it is clear that domestic violence was both common and brutal.89

Black women also contributed significantly to the high level of violence in Tampa. Although they committed only 5 percent of the homicides in the city during the mid-1890s, women were responsible for 27 percent of the city’s black violence. Just as discord between black men reflected the rhythms of daily life, black women engaged in aggressive conduct in the settings where they spent the largest amounts of time and with the companions with whom they spent the majority of the day.

The aggressiveness of black women shocked white Tampans. Again and again, the Tribune commented on the willingness of these residents to fight. Reporters frequently described black women as “colored viragos” or “regular viragos.”90 To be sure, white commentators tended to view all aspects of black society with disdain. By comparison with women in other areas of the nation during the late nineteenth century, however, the black women of Tampa disproportionately resorted to violence.91

Nor did they refrain from attacking men. Nearly one-fifth of the violence committed by black women was directed against black men—such violence rarely crossed racial lines. Some women committed violent acts while defending themselves, doing so in remarkably aggressive ways. Laura Moore, for example, grew wary of the behavior of her abusive husband. One morning, as J. P. Moore lay asleep on a lounge, she resolved “to do something to make him treat her better.” Thus, she shot at her sleeping husband and “chased him out of the house” with another volley of shots. Moore explained to a local judge that she “only intended to frighten” her spouse.92 Sarah Dickerson demonstrated still greater tenacity. Dickerson quarreled with “a colored man named Bob Fisher.” The woman, however, abruptly suspended the altercation, explaining to Fisher that “if he would wait until she could go home and change her dress, she would fight him.” To Fisher’s astonishment, Dickerson returned some time later, wearing a different dress and brandishing a razor, with which she slashed Fisher’s face and arm.93

More often, however, black women fought with one another. More than 77 percent of women’s violence remained within gender lines, and such conflict occurred in ways that reflected social relations. Most of the fights between women took place in or around the home.94 Black women also battled only with people they knew. As a result, fights were common; bystanders were usually present to separate the combatants; and the level of hostility was relatively low. Over half of the fights between black women that were recounted in the Tribune resulted in no injuries, and only 7 percent ended in homicides—compared with 17 percent of the fights between black men and 11 percent of the fights between black men and white men.

These clashes, police-beat writers concluded, were often spontaneous, forcing women to use whatever weapons were readily available. Thus, they relied on their fists in half of the cases. Razors were present in every household, and more than one-fourth of the violence committed by women involved the use of a razor.95 Similarly, two-thirds of the conflicts in which razors were used involved women. Newspaper editors often began accounts of such episodes with the headline “The Razor Again.”96 Other household items, such as hot spoons and pans, were also frequently employed.97 Women, however, seldom used guns, which were reserved for the most serious and festering encounters.

Black women fought over romantic entanglements, the behavior of children, and the full range of other issues that arose between people living in close proximity. The high population density of the Scrub gave black women support networks, but it also increased the chances of friction between the residents, and many fights grew out of disputes between neighbors. Alice Gregory and Lettie Birts and their families shared a house and a close friendship. When Birts told Gregory’s husband that his wife had purchased whiskey in Ybor City, the women quarreled. Gregory reached for a “sad iron” and struck her neighbor on the forehead.98 Other disputes concerned sexual relationships. Amy Foster slashed Lizzie Gibbs with a razor because the latter had been “galavanting” with Sam Brown.99 Because many black women worked in the home (often taking in washing), work-related disputes tended to erupt in that setting.100

But black women also spent more time away from their homes than their white counterparts. As a consequence, the violence committed by black women occurred in a wide variety of settings. Occasionally romantic disagreements erupted in the streets. Ida Bird, for example, confronted Josephine Jackson on the corner of a busy street one evening. While they argued about the affections of Charles Thorton, Bird stabbed Jackson in the shoulder. When Victoria Bastian “attempted to interfere,” Bird sent the dagger into Bastian’s left breast.101 Moreover, black women often frequented saloons and became involved in barroom brawls, usually with other women. Fifteen percent of women’s violence took place in taverns. Mamie Carter and Minnie Eubanks, for example, fought at Mugge’s saloon, a frequent site of brawls between men.102 As with men, the barroom brawls involving women tended to occur late at night and on Saturdays. But unlike the violence committed by black men and the violence that crossed racial lines, fights between black women occurred throughout the day and throughout the week.

The range of settings and contexts of women’s violence no doubt reflected the expanded role that women played in black social life.103 More often than their white counterparts, black women worked and spent leisure time outside the home. Thus, they committed violent acts in a wide range of settings and engaged in aggressive behavior more often than white women, most of whom led more proscribed lives. Relatively greater autonomy in combination with high levels of poverty and a lack of access to the legal system produced high rates of violence for black women. Although black women’s violence differed from that of black men, the gap between the two was much smaller than that between white men and white women.

In short, black residents of Tampa were extremely violent, though the levels of violence occurred in inverse proportion to white perceptions. White Tampans most feared interracial conflict, which was rare. They cared little about black-on-black conflict, which was common. Measured against northern city dwellers, black Tampans committed violent acts at a considerably higher rate. Black Tampans were also more violent than black Philadelphians or New Yorkers. Furthermore, blacks in the Florida city were unusually violent by the standards of the South. Black Atlantans, black Memphians, black Tampans, and the black residents of other New South cities, however, engaged in violent encounters at roughly comparable rates. Thus, high levels of black violence preceded the Great Migration. Far from being exclusively a reaction to conditions in the northern ghetto, high rates of black violence were a part of urban life in the New South.

*   *   *

White perceptions of black social life in Tampa—and probably throughout the region—influenced black violence in two far-reaching ways. First, fears of the “black brute” ensured that whites would overreact to interracial conflict. White officials treated black assaults against white women as attempted rapes in nearly all cases. Such a reaction simultaneously inflated rape statistics and lent apparent credence to white fears, thereby reinforcing the hysteria that spawned the reaction. Similarly, fights between blacks and whites were typically transformed into black assaults. Policemen and prosecutors, already frightened by the specter of black-on-white violence, tended to hold black men responsible for interracial fights and to charge black men who fought white men with “assault,” a criminal offense. When whites fought other whites, law enforcers more often charged the combatants with “fighting” or disorderly conduct, both of which were violations of local ordinances. This tendency exaggerated perceptions of interracial violence, provided apparent evidence that white fears were well founded, contributed to the wave of lynchings that exploded during the 1890s, and generated support for efforts to segregate black Floridians.

Second, the criminal justice system distorted black social life. Policemen, judges, and prosecutors in late-nineteenth-century cities influenced social relations. Police efforts, for example, often discouraged certain kinds of conduct. To reduce public drunkenness, law enforcers in northern cities often arrested rowdy young men; to discourage casual prostitution, the police arrested streetwalkers, thereby privileging brothels and full-time, professional prostitutes. Moreover, the criminal justice system, by providing formal, bureaucratic mechanisms for defusing conflict, transformed the nature of dispute resolution. Civil and criminal courts, according to a host of recent studies, supplemented and gradually supplanted traditional, informal means of redress, particularly violence. Immigrants quickly learned that the courts and the political system, often through the intervention of the ward boss, offered an alternative to older methods of problem solving.104 For black Tampans, however, legal institutions provided no such alternatives.

Rather, the peculiar logic of the criminal justice system in late-nineteenth-century Tampa encouraged aggressive forms of dispute resolution among the city’s black population. The courts, for example, offered scant protection for black residents. When blacks fought with whites, the verdict in court proceedings was seldom in doubt. Nor was this fact unknown to black Tampans. From the gallows, for example, the convicted murderer Harry Singleton, who had killed a white resident while attempting to stop a man from beating a young woman, indicted the criminal justice system. “I am guilty,” Singleton charged. “But you are not hanging me because I was convicted by the court. You are hanging me because I am a negro and killed a white man.”105 Johnny Johnson echoed Singleton’s complaint. Pronounced guilty of raping a white woman and sentenced to hang, Johnson commented that “if God was black and came before this jury you would find him guilty.”106 By contrast, white Tampans often received “generous” treatment from local law enforcers. When Tom Kersey, a white resident, shot a young black man in the face during a scuffle, killing him instantly, the jury of inquest ruled the death a “suicide.”107 “Whenever a Negro feels himself grievously wronged by a white man and at the same time believes that an appeal to law will be worse than useless,” a leading writer on southern violence concluded in 1934, “the setting is prepared for an interracial homicide.”108 Thus, it was hardly surprising that black Tampans sometimes relied on firearms when they fought with white residents. Instead of looking to the legal system, a black man, according to another early-twentieth-century observer, recognized that he “must shift for himself.”109

At the same time, white law enforcers in late-nineteenth-century Tampa routinely ignored or minimized black-on-black violence.110 The police were often content to stop fights—without arresting the combatants. Furthermore, the courts imposed scant sanctions on black residents who assaulted “members of their own race.” For example, when Sophia Banks bit “a piece out of the physiognomy of one Sarah Simpson,” a neighbor, a local judge dismissed the charge.111 Similarly, John and Dan Patterson beat John Henderson with the butt of a gun; a municipal judge fined Dan Patterson $5. Alice Gregory, the woman who struck her neighbor with an iron, inflicting a gash on her former friend’s head “a couple of inches long clear to the bone,” was fined $12.85.112 Blacks who assaulted other blacks usually faced a fine of $5, and blacks who killed other blacks were often acquitted.113 The effect of such practices was to condone black-on-black violence.114 In the eyes of the law enforcers, black violence in general posed a threat to society only when the victim was white.115 Far from discouraging informal, aggressive mechanisms of dispute resolution, the legal system reinforced self-help methods among black Tampans.

Urbanization also affected black Tampans in unusual ways. Studies of migration indicate that as rural dwellers moved to cities during the late nineteenth century, the potential for violent behavior increased.116 Newcomers often arrived in the city accustomed to resolving disputes without the assistance of legal institutions. Moreover, the urban setting weakened many of the social patterns that limited violence in the country. If villagers were quick to come to blows, they were in familiar settings where relatives and neighbors could prevent an assault from becoming a homicide. Rural migrants, who brought an aggressive style into the city, found themselves without the social networks that reduced the severity of fights. The urban setting, thus, created the potential for conflict by placing violent newcomers in unfamiliar situations, isolated from the social context that limited violence. For most groups of newcomers, violent behavior increased immediately after their arrival in the city but fell sharply thereafter. The police, employers, property owners, and the courts discouraged aggressive, violent conduct; urban life gradually reduced violence.117

For southern blacks, however, only half of this process occurred.118 Like other Tampans, black residents, most of whom hailed from rural settings, found themselves in unfamiliar circumstances, which increased the likelihood for discord. But unlike other residents, black Tampans encountered a criminal justice system that failed to discourage the most common forms of violent conduct. Put differently, as a result of racial discrimination, formal constraints against violence were barely applied. Legal, bureaucratic mechanisms, therefore, failed to supplant informal, self-help mechanisms. Not only did the potential for conflict increase, but the constraints on violent conduct decreased. Black Tampans migrated from a rural setting with high levels of violence to an urban setting with even higher levels of violence.119 For blacks, perhaps unlike any other group of urban newcomers, city life exaggerated self-help remedies.

Sociologists, criminologists, and other social scientists have struggled to explain the high levels of black violence in modern America. Although scholars have not reached a consensus, the most influential model proposes that in some cultural settings aggressive behavior and violent means of dispute resolution are accepted and even expected.120 In such a “subculture of violence,” minor disagreements can spark explosions of rage and aggression. Critics of this theory note that the model devotes scant attention to structural or historical forces; the theory fails to account for the origin or source of the subculture.121 Perhaps the quick resort to intraracial violence described by late-nineteenth-century white Tampans represented the early stages in the development of a social and cultural milieu that encouraged aggression and self-help. As the police and the courts overreacted to some kinds of black violence and ignored other kinds of black conflict, aggression may have become an increasingly viable source of protection and form of dispute resolution. The world of the New South city, with its growing black population, its surging levels of racism and racial oppression, and its emerging arsenal of institutional mechanisms to enforce Jim Crow, may have produced a tradition of aggressive self-help among black residents and thus forged the roots of modern black violence.

To be sure, these interpretations are suggestive more than definitive. A larger sample would provide a clearer sense of the “sanctioning threshold”—the point at which formal constraints were imposed. Moreover, black violence should be analyzed within the context of black culture. In order to assess the relationship between aggressive behavior and black social life, research on violence needs to be wedded to work on black social networks, institutions, and family life. How, for example, did black religious and political leaders respond to aggressive methods of dispute resolution? And how did class and gender relations affect the character of conflict? Finally, other studies of black violence must be undertaken. Until scholars extend their frames of analysis beyond homicide (to examine behavior rather than the outcome of behavior) and until historians examine a broad range of cities and towns, it will remain difficult to interpret the significance of high levels of black violence in Tampa—or in Philadelphia. But despite the tentative nature of these conclusions, the larger pattern seems clear: Jim Crow and Judge Lynch promoted black violence in late-nineteenth-century Tampa.
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No Longer Denied

Black Women in Florida, 1920–1950

Maxine D. Jones

Whether it be my religion, my aesthetic taste, my economic opportunity, my educational desire, whatever the craving is, I find a limitation because I suffer the greatest known handicap, a Negro—a Negro woman.

Mary McLeod Bethune

ALTHOUGH PROGRESS has been made in recounting the history of blacks in Florida, the role of black women has long been neglected and remains, for the most part, unwritten. While the careers of Zora Neale Hurston and Mary McLeod Bethune are now well known, the achievements of thousands of other teachers, nurses, social workers, business owners, and activists are hidden from view. Yet they too have played a major role in the African American community and in the history and development of the Sunshine State. They not only constituted a large segment of the labor force, but they also facilitated the agricultural and industrial development of Florida. All these women shared in the social, political, and economic life of the state, and it is their lives and contributions from 1920 to 1950 that are recounted in this chapter.

In the 1920’s Florida’s population rapidly expanded and in the process the state became a major tourist center. Northerners traveled south to get away from harsh winters, but many also migrated to Florida for reasons other than climate, and by 1930 the state’s population was rapidly approaching 1.5 million. Florida’s African American population also expanded in this period. The 329,487 African Americans living in Florida in 1920 represented 34 percent of the population. Natural increase was responsible for only part of the growth, however, as large numbers of blacks migrated to Florida from Georgia, Alabama, and South Carolina in search of job opportunities and a better life.1

For African Americans, life had not changed much in the past half-century. They had discovered that surviving in freedom was almost as difficult as surviving slavery. They were reminded almost daily of their place in society, and the violence against the entire black communities of Ocoee in 1920 and Rosewood in 1923 remained permanently etched in their minds. Lynching and violence against African Americans remained a constant threat in the segregated communities of Florida. Often forced out of jobs that traditionally had been theirs, African Americans found it difficult to get ahead economically. In urban areas especially, black men had a hard time finding steady work. They faced discrimination and resentment from white competitors.4 Black women, however, remained a major part of the unskilled and semiskilled workforce in the South, including Florida. For example, the number of nonwhite women at least fourteen years old in Florida’s labor force in 1940 was 48.6 percent. This was higher than both the South’s (37.1 percent) and the country’s (37.3 percent) averages. Only New York (49.5 percent) had a higher percentage than Florida.5


Table 1. Florida Population, 1900–19502
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Table 2. Black Male and Female Population of Florida, 1900–19503
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Zora Neale Hurston. Hurston was born in the all-black town of Eatonville, Florida. She studied anthropology and used her training in writing about African American life in Florida. She won literary acclaim during the famous Harlem Renaissance, but died in poverty. Courtesy of the Carl Van Vechten Papers, Beinecke Rare Book Room, Yale University.



African American women performed essentially the same labor they always had. Racism and discrimination limited employment opportunities outside of agricultural, domestic, and personal service, thus continuing the longstanding pattern of relegating black women to the “more menial, the lower paid, the heavier and more hazardous jobs.”6 Black women undertook “a man’s share in the field, and a woman’s part at home,” working alongside their husbands as farmers and sharecroppers or as domestics, cooks, and personal servants for whites. After an exhausting day, whether working in the field or in someone else’s house, they returned to do the washing, sewing, cooking, cleaning, and nurturing in their own homes.7

Although Florida’s urban population outnumbered rural residents by 1930, it was not until 1940 that more black Floridians lived in urban rather than rural areas.8 Following the national trend, Florida’s black farm operators decreased in number between 1920 and 1950, but large numbers of black women continued to work on Florida’s farms.9

Approximately one-fourth of all black farm laborers worked on truck farms, which provided seasonal employment for thousands of black women in South and Central Florida. They harvested tomatoes, cucumbers, celery, beans, peppers, melons, cantaloupes, strawberries, corn, potatoes, and peanuts. During the 1930s and 1940s, blacks in the Boca Raton area were employed on the Butts, Raulerson’s, Strickland and Chesebro farms. Generally paid by the hamper when picking beans, workers could make between $10 and $15 dollars a day. One woman earned a reputation for picking fifty bushels of beans a day. Another woman reported making as much as $60 a week by bunching greens and celery on a muck farm.11 Since workers were often paid by the amount of vegetables they picked, some women earned as much as men.


Table 3. Negro Urban and Rural Population, 1920–195010
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Compensation varied from farm to farm. Martin Richardson of the Florida Writers Project reported that the strawberry farms in Hillsborough County paid above average wages, while those in Polk County paid at the subsistence level. Young girls and women in Plant City earned between $7 and $9 a week in 1939. Richardson found both the lowest and highest wages in St. Lucie County. Blacks in the Miami area, however, refused to pick tomatoes for $2.50–3.00 a day in 1934, and owners were forced to transport workers from Georgia. Wages were so poor in St. Johns County that blacks declined to work for one potato farmer. They could earn more for less work if they took relief jobs.12

Working conditions on truck farms varied significantly. Some truck farms, such as the Butts farm in Boca Raton, provided living quarters for their workers. Approximately three hundred African American workers and their families lived on the Butts farm, which was reputedly the third largest employer in the area. One tenant recalled that “living on Butts Farm there was no light bill, no rent, no nothing. You would just be ready to go to the bean field in the morning.”13 Most farms, however, were like those in St. Lucie County, where several hundred black men, women, and children worked long hours under appalling conditions. One farm laborer declined to work there not only because of the “sunup to sundown” working hours but also, as he said, “‘them people on that farm work so hard they look like African wildmen.’” It was rumored that those unable to do the work were beaten.14

Although the number of black female workers declined significantly after 1910, more than 12,000 black females at least ten years old were listed as agricultural workers in 1930. Of this number 1,247 were owners and tenants, and more than 11,000 were farm laborers.15 In 1950 17,605 nonwhite16 women, or 15.9 percent, toiled in some capacity at farm work in Florida. This was considerably higher than the national average of all females at least fourteen years old who either owned or worked on farms. In 1950 2.7 percent of the country’s females were owners or tenants and 6.3 percent were farm managers.17

Often gender played no role in the type of work done by farm laborers. “During potato season in Hastings or Bunnell one sees nearly as many women as men handling the heavy potato hoes,” an observer noted in 1937. One Marion County woman farmed thirty acres and looked forward to getting her crops in.18 As farmers, sharecroppers, and tenants, black women worked their own land or alongside their husbands trying to eke out a living. Growing cotton, tobacco, peanuts, and potatoes and raising livestock often proved unprofitable for many farmers and they generally lived from hand to mouth. Rarely paid in cash, their compensation was in livestock feed, fertilizer, seed, and other supplies, including cornmeal, salt pork, and molasses.19

Bessie and George Derrick were tenant farmers in Plant City, where they cultivated three acres rented from E. J. Marshall, overseer for the Swift Company, for $45 a year. The parents of four children, the Derricks struggled to make a decent living. They grew strawberries, cucumbers, beans, sugar cane, okra, tomatoes, and other vegetables. In a good year they cleared $100 after paying for their land, fertilizer, and seedlings. “The best I can do is keep some food on the table. If we have a good season we live nicely, if not we fare pretty hard. If I didn’t raise some vegetables on this place I couldn’t make a go of it,” George Derrick claimed. In spite of their difficulties, Bessie Derrick loved farming and professed that there was not a lazy bone in her body. “After all you get out of work what you put into it.”20

Ed and Ida Gray made enough to support themselves on their Beasville, Florida, farm. With the help of two of their daughters, nineteen-year-old Bessie and twenty-eight-year-old Rosa Lee, they grew strawberries and beans as their major cash crops. They raised hogs and chickens and grew Irish and sweet potatoes, corn, peppers, cucumbers, okra, and tomatoes to supplement their table fare, as well as peanuts to fatten their hogs. Another daughter, Fennie, liked farm work and cultivated three acres with her husband about a mile from her parents. They grew strawberries and other vegetables to sell. “Farming is nice when you have every thing to farm with,” Ed Gray declared, but concluded that “a poor colored man sees a hard time on the farm.”21

Not all farmers lived at the subsistence level. Luck and hard work produced a good crop and a profit for some. Mr. and Mrs. Haynes Brooks of Alachua County, who owned and operated a small poultry farm, in 1939 made $741 from selling eggs and poultry.22 Dairy farmer George Philpot of Hamilton County cleared $1,346.00 in 1939 and $1,963.91 in 1941.23 Octavia Hodges owned a hog farm in Marion County in the 1930s and grew peanuts to feed them. She got fifty tons of peanuts to the acre and could have made a sizable profit if she had sold them, but she boasted that if the price of pork remained stable she could double her profit by using the peanuts to fatten her hogs.24

African American Farm and Home Demonstration agents played a critical role in efforts to improve the lives of black farmers and their families. Home Demonstration agents such as Mary Todd McKenzie, Floy Britt, Idella R. Kelley, Diana Bouie, Ethel Powell, and Alice Poole spent many hours aiding rural black women. They gave lessons in nutrition, needlework, cooking, preserving and canning foods, health and sanitary measures, home improvement, and dressmaking. In addition, women were instructed and encouraged to raise poultry, while their husbands were advised on planting crops and other farm matters. These agents were instrumental in raising the standard of living for many farmers and other rural blacks.25

Although agriculture provided employment for thousands of African American women in Florida and across the South as a whole, the national trend was that more and more women, both black and white, were leaving the fields to work as domestics. In 1940 17.7 percent of the nation’s females at least fourteen years old worked as domestics and 11.3 percent as service workers. Florida’s figures were higher than both national and regional averages. Almost 30 percent of Florida’s females in that age bracket found employment as domestics, and 13.5 percent labored as service workers in 1940.26 Between 1920 and 1950 the majority of black women in Florida worked as domestics or personal servants. Florida employment statistics for 1930 show that, out of a total of 77,040 gainfully employed black females, 52,387 worked as servants.27 In 1950, 97,994 black women at least fourteen years old were employed in Florida, 42,913 of whom were private household workers and 16,646 service workers. Service workers included waitresses, practical nurses, midwives, cooks, janitors, charwomen, hotel housekeepers, and attendants in hospitals and other institutions.28

Service work was an occupational category dominated by black women. For example in the Tampa-St. Petersburg metropolitan area in 1940, 6,915 (out of 9,363) nonwhite but only 3,050 (out of 21,711) white women fourteen and older worked in personal services.29 In 1950 more than half (5,260) of the 10,278 employed black females fourteen and older were private household workers. Only 850 (out of 36,543) white women were thus employed.30 The same held true in other areas. In Jacksonville in 1940, 9,375 (out of 13,557) nonwhite women worked in personal service, as compared with 1,847 (out of 14,729) white women. In 1950, 6,175 (out of 13,305) black women worked as domestics but only 399 (out of 25,226) white females. This trend was also evident in the Miami and Orlando metropolitan areas.31

The average salary for domestics and personal servants varied from city to city. In Tampa during the 1920s, the average weekly salary for domestic servants was $8.50, but maids at the local tourist hotels generally made more. The Tampa Floridan Hotel employed fifteen chamber maids in 1927 at $10 a week. However, black women employed as maids in dormitories at the University of Florida in Gainesville in 1932 earned $5 a week.32 As late as 1940, domestics and maids in Tallahassee received only $4 to $6 a week. Cooks and maids in Jacksonville earned between $15 and $22 a week in 1946.33 Sometimes employers supplemented these low salaries with bus fare, old clothes, furniture, and meals.34

Relationships between black women and their white employers probably did not differ much from the master-slave relationship of the antebellum South. A study conducted in 1927 found that many employers expressed a “genuine interest” in their employees, but many of the relationships were paternalistic, with blacks going to their white employers for financial and other help during emergencies.35 This sometimes continued long after the employer-employee relationship had ended. Mandy MaQuay remained in close contact with her former employer, Mrs. L. A. Fraleigh of Madison County, long after she retired. Even though teased by some in the black community for doing so, Mrs. MaQuay frequently visited the Fraleighs and referred to them as her “white folks.” When MaQuay died, Mrs. Fraleigh attended her funeral and identified herself as MaQuay’s “faithful friend and employer.”36

Most private household workers did not live in the homes of their employers. Of the 6,972 private household workers in the Miami area in 1950, only 529 lived in. The same was true in Orlando, where only 31 of 2,198 lived.37 Mrs. Rosa Lee Henry lived on the premises of four Tallahassee families. She recalls living on Mitchell Street with Irene Wells, her three children, and her father during the 1940s. While Mrs. Wells worked at a local department store, Mrs. Henry took care of her children and their invalid grandfather, besides cleaning, cooking, and doing laundry. She received $6 a week plus meals and accommodations and was generally given Sundays off to attend church.38 The majority of black women, no doubt, preferred living in their own communities among family and friends, with time away from their white employers. Often, however, salaries were so low that some could not afford to live off premises.39

The hours of work varied for domestics and personal servants. Those who lived in were basically on call twenty-four hours a day. Some employers even placed buzzers or bells in their servants’ quarters so that they could easily summon them when needed. In Tampa during the 1920s, the average workday was eleven and a half hours for a cook, ten hours for a nurse, and eight hours for maids. Some domestics received two afternoons off during the week. Those in Jacksonville had Sunday and either Thursday or Saturday afternoons off.40

Domestic work was often seasonal and irregular. Many found steady employment with whites who came South for the winter but still had to find other means of support for the remainder of the year. Women who picked vegetables on truck farms during the winter months worked as domestics during the summer, when farm work was slow. Some women performed what was referred to as “days work,” working for several white women on different days of the week.41

In addition to domestic positions, black women filled other unskilled positions in the area of personal service. They even assumed several posts that had been traditionally held by black men. During World War I, when black men entered the military, and during the 1930s, when many migrated North, women replaced them as chauffeurs, laundry workers, and, in Miami and Tampa, as elevator operators.42

Although black women labored as charwomen, cleaning office buildings at night, as well as kitchen workers, cooks, and maids in many of Florida’s year-round establishments, most women employed in the seasonal businesses, according to a study in 1928–29, were northern and white. Employers believed that northern whites preferred having other whites wait upon them. In seasonal establishments only 17.9 percent of the women workers were black, while 82.1 percent were white. Conversely, black women represented 56 percent and white women 44 percent of those who worked in year-round businesses.43 The median weekly wages for black women, $8.80, were higher than the $7.05 for whites employed in Florida’s hotels and restaurants, for several reasons, including compensation for the likelihood that white women would receive tips, lodging, and meals in addition to wages.44

While African Americans had difficulty locating work in seasonal industries, some found steady employment in Florida industries. Although the phosphate industry was a male-dominated field, a few African American women worked in a phosphate rock mill near Dunnellon in 1936–37. For ten hours a day these women sat over a chute picking foreign substances out of a passing stream of rocks. Even though they did not complain about the difficulty of the job, their foreman considered the work too “gruelling” for women and threatened to quit if the women stayed on. The women averaged between $4 and $7 a week, while men earned between $8 and $10.45 Women typically lived with their husbands in company towns operated by phosphate companies, such as the American Agricultural Chemical Company in Polk County, and eventually began doing manual labor. Since they could be hired at lower wages, they began gradually to replace men especially in the processing of phosphate.46

According to Martin Richardson, the citrus industry was the “mainstay of Negro employment,” with “whole communities of Negroes liv[ing] on citrus work for a few months, each year, then ‘Relief’ until citrus season returns.”47 However, state figures reveal that most workers in Florida’s citrus industry were white. The 1935 state census shows that, of the 11,260 persons employed in the citrus industry, 8,176 were white men, 1,301 black men, 1,548 white women, and only 44 black women.48
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African American women working on the Johnson-Wolfe Tobacco Company farm, four miles north of Tallahassee, ca. 1910. Field labor was still a way of life for many African Americans in Florida well into the twentieth century. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Women did not pick fruit, as the work was considered too strenuous. They were more likely to be packers, graders, and canners.49 However, even these positions were dominated by white women. Blacks generally were not hired even for menial tasks in the packinghouses and canning plants.50 A few black women were observed working as graders and a few as separators or peelers in canning plants. Although rarely hired as “cold peelers,” several black women found employment as “hot peelers,” in a process that steamed the fruit before the peel was removed.51 Wages varied across the citrus belt, but they were as characteristically low as the hours were long.52

The tobacco industry in Florida employed the greatest number of African American women. In North and West Florida women labored on tobacco plantations, growing and harvesting shade and bright tobacco. Born in 1929, Lucille Love of Quincy went to work on a tobacco plantation when she was only thirteen. For 15 cents a day she pulled weeds and worked as a “toter,” carrying tobacco leaves to a wagon stationed at the end of a row for transport to the barn.53 In 1944, when she was fifteen, she earned 75 cents a day wrapping and pushing down tobacco loops, a task she described as particularly strenuous:

Yeah, pushing them [loops of string] down from around the stalk so that the tobacco could grow up and you could wrap that string around that tobacco so it wouldn’t fall down as it growed up. You know the wind blow against it and would blow it down. But you see, if you had it wrapped when the wind and rain would fall that string what we had wrapped around it would help support it and Lord Have Mercy in looping tobacco those that wrapped and pushed down that loop went behind the person that was wrapping. Now that’s up and down, up and down looping all day handing the person what’s on a bench above you looping that stalk with that string bring it up to the fellow up there he tie it and you go back down the loop, that’s all day.54

Lucille Love received her social security card at age sixteen and joined some seventy-five other women in making cigars and cigarillos at the Florida Cigar Company in Quincy. This was considered a good job, at top pay. A relative taught her how to roll cigarillos:

My aunt taught me because I never would have learned if I had went there not knowing. But my aunt, Leola Watson, taught me how to make those cigarillos. You know she would slip and bring them home and she would teach me how to roll them. She would slip and bring home the wraps and the paste and the blade. We had to have a blade to cut that wrapper with and she would slip and bring home because she would say that way I . . . wont have to go to the farm if you learn how to make, to roll those cigarillos and that’s what she did she would bring it home in her hand bag and would teach me all afternoon how to do it. . . . If I had to wait for an instructor I never would have learn how to do it.

When the Florida Cigar Company closed, she returned to work on tobacco farms until the early 1950s.55
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Women tobacco workers, Havana, Florida, 1956. Gussie Richardson is shown packing tobacco and Annie Lee Jones is “lugging,” or carrying tobacco leaves. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



According to the 1930 census, fewer than seven hundred black women worked in the state’s cigar and tobacco factories. Cigar manufacturing was largely concentrated in Tampa, Jacksonville, and Quincy. In one Jacksonville establishment, African American women performed more than 75 percent of the tasks. Cubans, both black and white, dominated the industry in Tampa, where women accounted for 43 percent of the employees in 1930 and 55 percent in 1939; the numbers of blacks are not known. The majority of the women labored as cigar makers or strippers. In 1927 most blacks in Tampa’s cigar industry worked in the factories that produced the “cheap and medium” price products.56

A study of women in Florida’s industries conducted by the Women’s Bureau during 1928–29 identified 155 (8.2 percent) black and 2,680 (45 percent) white women employed in the cigar industry. More than a third of the black women were under twenty years of age. Black women generally worked as strippers and worked longer hours and earned less than their white counterparts. The median weekly earnings were $16.65 for white women but only $7.10 for blacks.57

Although African American women constituted a majority of those employed in the laundry business, they also worked longer hours for less pay than their white counterparts. In 1928 75.3 percent of African Americans and 61.1 percent of white women worked at least ten hours a day. Median weekly earnings were $7.85 for black women and $12.30 for white.58 Statistics from the 1950 census showed 2,992 white and 5,511 black women working in laundries and dry cleaners statewide.59 More black women than white labored as pressers and hand ironers, while white women were employed as flatwork ironers, shakers, feeders, folders, and markers and sorters.60

Not all African American women were sentenced to a lifetime of menial tasks. The teaching profession called many women of color. There were 539 black teachers in 1930 and 3,796 in 1950. Many also served as principals and administrators in segregated schools. There were at least eight female principals in Miami in 1942 and some five in Pensacola in 1950.61 Since state funds for education were not distributed equally, African American teachers had to work with inadequate facilities and insufficient supplies. Black women received less pay, not only because of their color but also because of their gender. In 1930, the average monthly salary for white males was $169.20, for black males $84.20, white females $115.80, and black females $61.60. In spite of salary increments in following years, the gap remained and discrimination continued. The average annual salary for whites in 1939–40 was $1,145 but for blacks $583. Salaries during the 1949—50 school year averaged $3,030 for white teachers and $2,616 for African Americans.62
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Warnell Lumber and Veneer Company No. 17 Laundry, ca. 1890s. This unidentified woman was employed as a laundress for the company in the 1890s. Here she beats the clothes while keeping an eye on her young daughter. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Various organizations and individuals condemned the low wages that black teachers received. A study of blacks in Tampa commissioned by the Tampa Welfare League, the Urban League, and the Tampa Young Men’s Christian Association in 1927 denounced the unfairness:

The negro teacher must keep neat, clean, and wear good clothes. The teacher’s position demands that he conform to certain standards in society, and this he cannot do with such meager income. Furthermore, the times demand that teachers attend summer school and improve themselves. This they can hardly do, in view of the fact that it takes all they earn teaching, and more besides, to meet the ordinary requirements of life. The salaries should be large enough to induce the best minds to qualify for a teacher’s position, and to make it possible for teachers to devote themselves wholly to their work and not have to worry about ‘wherewithal shall they be clothed.’63

D. E. Williams, the superintendent of Negro Schools in Florida, considered the salaries of black teachers “appallingly low.” Acknowledging that salaries in general were poor, Williams pointed out that it was easier for white teachers to supplement their income than it was for blacks. Many jobs were not open to blacks because of their color, and competition was so keen, Williams claimed, that it was impossible for black teachers to work on a part-time basis. In addition, many of the state’s black teachers had to attend school during the summer.64

African American educators in Escambia, Brevard, Duval, Hillsborough, and Palm Beach counties filed salary equity suits during the 1940s. Two women were among them. In 1941 sixty-nine-year-old Mary Blocker of Jacksonville became the third African American and the first woman to file a lawsuit against Duval County for discrimination in teacher salaries. Even though she was forced to retire, the court ruled in her favor the following June. In appreciation of her tenacity, the Duval County Teachers’ Association, composed of African American teachers, voted to continue Blocker’s salary. They did so for more than twenty years. Similarly, Hilda Turney Turner sued the Hillsborough County School Board in November 1942, but the court ruled against her.65

Beyond teaching, black women found remarkably few opportunities in the professional fields. Their lack of success was due in part to traditional views about the role of women in such fields and in part to discrimination against blacks who sought advanced degrees and training in such fields. Nevertheless, as early as 1908 Dr. Effie Carrie Mitchell Hampton became the first black female physician to practice in Florida. Born in Fernandina in 1886, Mitchell grew up in Ocala and attended Howard Academy and the Orange Park School for girls at Orange Park. She entered Meharry Medical School in 1904 and received her medical degree in 1908, then set up practice in Ocala. She reputedly practiced only until her marriage in 1915 to a dentist, L. R. Hampton, but in 1916 she served as secretary for the Florida Medical, Dental and Pharmaceutical Association.66 Census records show that there were only 257 African American women medical doctors in the United States in 1950, of whom 103 practiced in the South. There were no female physicians in the state in 1930, but four in 1950. Two of the four practiced in Miami.67
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This unidentified woman was the oldest member of the adult education classes at Washington School in Pensacola, 1935. African Americans of all ages recognized the value of education. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Black women were also represented in small numbers in other medicine-related fields, including pharmacy, dentistry, and nursing. In 1942 Dr. Henrietta Jones worked as a pharmacist in what was billed as “the largest drug store owned by a Negro in Florida,” the Economy Drug Store in Miami. Mabel Ervin Latson was a dental hygienist in Jacksonville in 1942, and more than twenty-two black women practiced as medical and dental technicians in the state in 1950.68 By 1930 273 trained or professional black nurses worked in Florida, including Clara Draughan Frye, the Sunshine State’s most famous African American nurse. The daughter of a southern black man and a white woman from England, Frye was born in New York in 1872. When she was ten, her family moved to Montgomery, Alabama. She studied nursing in Chicago for two years and practiced her profession for sixteen years in Montgomery. In 1908 she moved to Tampa, where she earned a reputation as the city’s “best fever nurse.”69

Frye opened Tampa’s first hospital for blacks in 1908 in a rented building on Lamar Avenue. Aided by both blacks and whites, she was able to expand the facility and to purchase the property. Both black and white patients were admitted and treated by both black and white doctors. In 1930–31, the City of Tampa took over the hospital and changed the name to Municipal Hospital for Negroes. Frye died penniless in 1937, but a new medical facility for blacks was built in 1938 and dedicated as the Clara Frye Municipal Negro Hospital in honor of her remarkable service.70

By 1950 423 African American professional nurses practiced in Florida, out of 12,550 nationwide. Most were employed in the larger metropolitan areas, where job opportunities were greatest and where they were less likely to encounter racial discrimination. Ninety-six worked in Jacksonville, 95 in Miami, 57 in Tampa-St. Petersburg, and 18 in Orlando. African American nurses worked in many of the black hospitals across the state, including Brewster Hospital in Jacksonville, the Clara Frye Tampa Municipal Negro Hospital, Mercy Hospital in St. Petersburg, and the Pine Ridge Hospital in West Palm Beach.71 They also found employment in private establishments, as well as county health departments.72 Unfortunately, trained black and white nurses did not receive the same pay. In 1953 the annual salary for a white general-duty hospital nurse in Tampa ranged from $2,401 to $2,518 but was only $1,984 for black nurses. Several nurses of color in the Tampa Bay area protested the lower salaries, and in 1953 a suit was filed in their behalf against the City of Tampa.73

Most African American women working in medical care were practical nurses and midwives. According to the 1950 census, more than 450 worked in these two fields.74 The “Granny” midwife, however, had to struggle against racism and the increasing professionalization of medical practice. A study of midwives in Tampa in 1927 concluded, “The average Negro Midwife is illiterate, and coupled with this illiteracy, is obscessed [sic] with ideals and methods regarding the practice of midwifery that too often prove detrimental to mother and child.”75 Many in the health profession agreed. A statewide effort was made to regulate and ultimately to eliminate the practice of midwifery.76 Florida’s black midwives came under scrutiny and were required to take courses and attend midwives institutes such as those held at Florida Agricultural and Mechanical College in Tallahassee from 1933 to 1946.77

After a 1931 law required that midwives be licensed, more than seven hundred black midwives registered with the state. According to Debra Susie, who has studied midwifery in Florida, “It was never the state’s objective to enhance the midwife profession. Midwives would be tolerated where the poor needed medical care.” This increased control meant that the number of black women practicing midwifery steadily decreased. For the most part, midwives were allowed to practice where they would not compete with physicians and medical establishments.78

Highly respected in the black community, midwives provided a service that many poor rural blacks and whites could not do without. In many areas of Florida there were no medical facilities for blacks and, in any case, a midwife’s services were certainly cheaper than a physician-attended birth. Hillsborough County midwives charged $25 for their services as compared with the $35 fee for a doctor in 1927. As late as 1952, midwives delivered more than one-fourth of all black infants not born in a hospital in Hillsborough County.79
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Professional midwives attending a seminar at Edward Waters College in Jacksonville, ca. 1940s. African American midwives were respected members of their communities. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Black women also toppled barriers and created their own opportunities in fields unrelated to health care. Arnolta Johnson of Jacksonville worked as a reporter and served as her city’s representative for the Associated Negro Press. She also anonymously reported news of the Jacksonville black community for the Pittsburgh Courier. Margaret Simms, also of Jacksonville, was editor of the “colored page” of the Jacksonville Journal in 1939.80

Despite the enormous disadvantages they faced, a few black women also entered the art world. Augusta Savage was Florida’s best-known artist, but others, including Savanna Roy of Pensacola, attempted to make a living from their work. Roy had received training at Florida Agricultural and Mechanical College, and during the 1930s her paintings included still scenes done in oils and watercolors that were both “striking in their blending and subject material.”81

Although segregation was an enormous obstacle to black opportunity, it also ensured black business owners a clientele. Thriving black business districts developed in Miami, Jacksonville, Tampa, and other Florida cities, and some African American women operated successful enterprises. Several, including Pauline Pratt and Mrs. R. H. Walker of Jacksonville, Mrs. Preston Pughsley of Tampa, and Mrs. M. L. Rogers of Bradenton, were owners and managers of funeral homes.82 Among the female business owners in Jacksonville in 1942 were Anna Reed, who owned and operated a tailor’s shop; Mabel L. McClendon, owner and manager of Broad Street Cleaners; florist Alex Skinner; and Mrs. Alice Kirkpatrick, who operated the forty-eight room Richmond Hotel.83 Tampa black business-women operated dry cleaners, florist shops, beauty parlors, and rooming houses in 1950. Photographer Amelia J. Hicks owned the Harlem Studio in West Palm Beach during the 1940s, and Mrs. M. D. Potter, along with her husband, owned and edited the Tampa Bulletin.84

In spite of the success experienced by some black women, the majority remained mired in poverty, even while they worked long hours. Black women were often forced to search for ways to supplement their low salaries. Many took in laundry and worked at more than one job away from home. They lamented that their sons and daughters had to quit school to work as domestics, servants, and unskilled laborers to supplement the family income.85

Tallahassee teachers, disturbed by the widespread poverty in the black community and the increase in marriage among the city’s youth in 1945, charged that “the wages earned by mothers and fathers are often too low to provide all of the home comforts and other things needed by large families.” As a result “many girls drop out of school before completing the 9th grade. They take jobs in order to increase the family earnings.” The teachers concluded that adult responsibilities at such an early age led to a “mature social life and eventually [too-early] marriage.”86

Poor people were often ingenious in finding ways to make ends meet. To raise additional money, black women and their families gathered and cured Spanish moss, which was used to stuff mattresses. During the Depression years, Moss sold for between 2 and 4 cents a pound, and some families received as much as $70 at a time.87 Miami women supplemented their incomes by making baskets, brushes, jams, and jellies and selling them to tourists and white residents of the area. Others fished in Florida’s bountiful lakes and along the coastline, not only to provide food for their own table but also to sell. Those who lived near the coast hunted turtles for food and gathered their eggs, which were considered a delicacy and brought a good price.88
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African American women working at the Jacksonville Negro Mattress Factory, 1935. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



Black heads of households struggled to improve their circumstances and to provide a decent life for their families, but often they could afford little more than food on the table and a roof over their heads. They had little money for medical care and other necessities. Unsatisfactory working conditions and subsistence wages contributed to the poor health of African Americans. E. H. DeBose, a black dentist in Gainesville, contended that the low wages and long hours were responsible for the undernourishment and general unhealthiness apparent among blacks in that city.89 Similarly, physician C. Frederick Duncan singled out three factors largely responsible for the poor health of African Americans in Jacksonville—politics, economic conditions, and ignorance:

The latter may well be classified as the central point from which the other two radiate. State vital statistics harp upon the proneness to disease and numerical surplus of Negro mortality in comparison to that of whites. Yet the state politics through individuals who are armed with state authority mercilessly and consistently relegate the Negro into a situation of impotence in denying him the practical means of protection by disfranchising him. The municipality steals from him his right to go to the polls to vote, thus denying him a voice in the formation of laws which concern him. Therefore we have the segregated Negro districts and Negro ghettos, the former characterized by poorly laid out, unpaved, sandrutted, and non-lighted streets; inadequate and poor sanitary conditions; lack of properly arranged playgrounds and swimming pools; lanes that are physical and moral hazards. Moreover, almost all the Gehennas [places of misery] are in the Negro sections of the community. With such state and municipal settings, is it to be wondered at that Negroes are more exposed to contagious and infectious diseases than are the non-Negro groups?90

Ignorance, hazardous working conditions, and the long hours that women were compelled to work—all contributed to a large number of stillbirths. Black women accounted for 96 of the 204 stillbirths in Tampa in 1926. Of the 1,753 stillbirths in the state in 1930, 1,006 were among black women; in 1931, the figure for blacks was 833 of 1,523.91 Maternal and infant deaths were twice as high among African Americans as among whites in Jacksonville in 1943, and Jacksonville statistics mirrored those of the state. In 1947 more nonwhite females died of diseases of pregnancy, childbirth, and the puerperium than did whites.92

African Americans never placidly accepted poverty, substandard living conditions, and resulting poor health. Women such as Eartha White of Jacksonville, Viola T. Hill of Orlando, Alice Mickens of West Palm Beach, and Tampan Blanche Armwood Beatty made valiant efforts to improve the quality of life among their sisters. As president of the Florida Baptist Convention, Viola Hill labored for the “uplift and advancement” of her people. She organized girls and women according to age and marital status into clubs, including the Matron’s Circle, Young Women’s Auxiliary, and the Young Women’s Business and Professional Association. She stressed leadership training, raised scholarship money, and led a movement to provide more recreational opportunities for African American youth. In 1941 she was appointed supervisor of the National Youth Administration project among blacks in Orlando.93

Blanche Armwood Beatty devoted herself to making life better for downtrodden blacks in Tampa and Hillsborough County. For eight years she served as supervisor of Negro schools and brought about major changes in black education. She secured new facilities, increased the length of the school year, organized parent-teacher associations in the black community, and established a vocational school for blacks. Beatty was also largely responsible for the opening of the first secondary school for blacks in Tampa. In 1931 she relinquished her position as supervisor of Negro schools to work with the city’s unemployed black women.94 In doing so she organized successful schools of household arts and played a pivotal role in the organization of the Tampa Gas School, which helped black women make the transition from wood to gas stoves. Beatty also established a branch of the American Red Cross in the black community and set up a family welfare program with a trained social worker. She secured a cemetery for World War I veterans and organized the Helping Hand Day Nursery and Kindergarten for working mothers. The Blanche Armwood Comprehensive High School opened in 1984 and was dedicated in February 1985.95

Eartha White’s work in Jacksonville to ameliorate conditions in the black community is well documented. Referred to as the “Jane Addams” of her race and as the “Angel of Ashly Street,” White was an indefatigable social worker. In 1922 she established the Clara White Mission, where thousands of needy blacks found clothing, food, and shelter. White also operated an orphanage, a rest home for the elderly and the tubercular, and a day nursery. She earned the admiration of whites as well as blacks and played a role in maintaining peaceful race relations in the city.96

While some black women worked within the system to improve the quality of life for their race, others challenged segregation. Blanche S. Brookins of Orlando sued the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad and the Pullman Company in 1926 after she was arrested and jailed in Palatka for refusing to ride in the car for blacks. Brookins, on a return trip from New York to Orlando, encountered no trouble until the train left Jacksonville. When she refused to ride in the “colored” car, the conductor wired officials in Palatka, where she was arrested, tried, found guilty and fined $500 and court costs.97 Aided by the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) through a defense team led by Arthur Garfield Hayes, who argued that passengers in interstate commerce were not subject to segregation laws in southern states without equal accommodations, Brookins won her case and was awarded $2,750.98 Berta Mae Watkins won a similar petition in 1946 against the city of Jacksonville, when she was removed from a train and arrested for not moving to the “colored” section.99

Although Virgil Hawkins is generally recognized as the first to challenge the Jim Crow system in higher education when he applied and was denied admission to the University of Florida’s law school in 1949, he was only one of several African Americans who sought entrance into the state university’s professional schools that year. Rose Boyd sought admission to the University of Florida’s pharmacy school in April 1949. Denied entrance on the basis of her skin color, she appealed to the Florida Supreme Court. In State ex rel. Boyd v. Board of Control et al., the court offered Boyd the option in August 1950 of attending pharmacy school in another state or of enrolling in the recently established school of pharmacy at Florida Agricultural and Mechanical College for Negroes.100

Not only did African American women in Florida use the legal system to fight their own personal battles against discrimination, but they were also active in organizations that attempted to bring an end to racism and color discrimination. Black women in Florida were extensively involved in the state chapter of the NAACP as members, recruiters, and officers. Mary McLeod Bethune, for example, served as vice president of the NAACP in 1940. Bethune, Eartha White, and Blanche Armwood Beatty also worked for organizations such as the National Association of Colored Women (NACW) whose purpose was to combat racial discrimination. From 1924 to 1928 Bethune served as president of that organization.101

Bethune, Beatty, and White vigorously fought racism and discrimination and campaigned for equal opportunity in Florida and throughout the nation. In many of Bethune’s talks, the New York Times reported, she “went straight to the heart of the race problem, pleaded for social justice, pointed out injustices being practiced upon her race, and did it with such sincerity and zeal that her remarks were followed by applause, instead of the derogatory comment that often follows when a Negro speaks with such candor.”102 In a speech entitled “The High Cost of Keeping the Negro Inferior,” Bethune stressed how much it cost Florida in dollars and cents to keep the Negro in his place. No doubt Bethune’s steadfastness and refusal to submit to the segregated South played a part in her being named the recipient of the prestigious Spingarn Award in 1935.103

Considered aggressive and a rebel by some, Blanche Armwood Beatty fought for political, economic, social, and educational equality for blacks in Florida. A charter member and the first secretary of Tampa’s National Urban League, Beatty was forthright and quite outspoken on many issues. “She did not ask favors—she demanded rights—the same rights for all American citizens.”104 She joined Eartha White, the Florida director of the Anti-lynching Crusaders Committee in 1922, and Mary McLeod Bethune in denouncing lynching.105 She engaged in a debate on the editorial page of the Tampa Morning Tribune with a white reader who opposed the Dyer Anti-Lynching bill because he believed it would protect the “‘bad nigger’” rapists who were “usually of ‘high color’ and ‘high eddication.’”106 Beatty responded:

The premium that white men put on their womanhood is worthy of the commendation of any people. Making criminals of hundreds of fathers of the future womanhood of their race who participated in mob murders is rather inconsistent, however. Please let us say further, Mr. Editor, that we do not know any case where educated Negroes have been lynched save in race riots like the ones in Arkansas and Oklahoma, where the blood-thirsty mob found pleasure in destroying the lives and property of the best Negro citizens as a means of humiliating the entire race. Nor do we understand what is meant by the Negro of ‘high color.’ Surely, the writer does not refer to mulattoes whose color proves the disregard our Southern white men have had for racial purity and the value of virtuous womanhood even among the Negroes, their humble loyal friends. . . . Yours of peace and civic righteousness.107

White, Beatty, and Bethune were also active in politics. Eartha White served as a precinct worker for the Republican party in Jacksonville, headed the Negro Republican Women Voters in 1920, and was state chairperson of the National League of Republican Colored Women in 1928. At one point, White was the only female member of the Duval County Republican Executive Committee.108 The national Republican party took advantage of Blanche Beatty’s speaking ability and influence among blacks. She spoke on behalf of several Republican candidates around the country and in 1924 gave a speech on a Pittsburgh radio station entitled “The National Republican Convention from the American Negro’s Viewpoint.” She strongly endorsed the Republican platform against lynching and mob violence.109

Beatty, Bethune, and White all supported the right of women to vote and encouraged African American women to do so. When women of color were compelled to stand in long lines in the hot sun to register to vote in 1920, Eartha White kept their spirits high by serving them cold lemonade. Her efforts helped ensure that black female registrants outnumbered white women in four Jacksonville wards.110 In a sense all three women were patronage politicians, dependent upon those in office for support for their programs. Unlike Bethune and White, however, Beatty did not readily accept the policies of whichever party was in power. She remained a staunch Republican throughout her career.111

Because of their gender, the three African American women accomplished more than any black male could during their day. They were perceived as less of a threat than black men by the power structure, were allowed to say things that might have gotten a black man lynched or run out of town, and were occasionally praised by whites as outstanding citizens and peacemakers in race relations. Black men who won such praise from whites were generally more accommodating and less vocal in denouncing racism. The men who challenged the injustices and racism faced by blacks and who encouraged other blacks to do the same often lost their jobs or were even beaten or killed, like NAACP president Harry T. Moore.112

Bethune, Beatty, White, and hundreds of other strong and independent-minded women helped ameliorate the plight of African Americans in Florida and gave voice to their concerns. Although they were not able to relieve the oppression of segregation and the poverty faced by most black families, they refused to yield to racism. Augusta Savage, Effie Carrie Mitchell Hampton, and others turned deaf ears to those who told them they were powerless because they were black. The contributions of these and countless other, less noted women helped maintain the black family and set in motion after World War II efforts to dismantle segregation.

Although the vast majority of African American women remained mired in poverty and oppressed by segregation, they refused to accept white society’s view of them and their people. These women kept alive the hopes and aspirations of black Americans for racial change, accelerated the dialogue within the black community for racial advancement, and, by their labor, maintained some stability in the black family and the black community. Where the future would take them, their families, and members of their race was not clear in 1950, but these women were determined to persevere.
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Under a Double Burden

Florida’s Black Feeble-Minded, 1920–1957

Steven Noll

THE DECEMBER 19, 1921, edition of the Gainesville Sun proudly reported in a full-page article that the newly opened Florida Farm Colony for Epileptic and Feeble-Minded would make a “quaint and beautiful picture.” The institution opened as an all-white facility but administrators planned a “negro department . . . [which] will be located on the same tract of land about one mile from the white group.”1 In spite of this implied promise of erecting facilities for African American individuals on the grounds of Florida Farm Colony, the state of Florida took little notice of its black feeble-minded population. Fourteen years after the Sun article, Dr. J. H. Colson, the superintendent of the Florida Farm Colony, answered an application regarding admission for a black patient this way: “I regret to advise that we have no provisions for the care of colored patients at the Colony.”2 Indeed, throughout the first half of the twentieth century, African American feeble-minded residents of Florida suffered under the double burden of a debilitating mental condition and life within a system of enforced racial segregation.

From 1921 to 1957, Florida Farm Colony for Epileptic and Feeble-Minded operated as the state’s only public institution for the care and training of persons labeled feeble-minded, mentally defective, or mentally deficient.3 For all but the last four of those years, the facility served only white patients. In 1953, black patients were finally admitted to the Farm Colony, but only in segregated facilities located at the back of the institution’s grounds. Four years later, the state reached a turning point in its institutionalized treatment of mentally handicapped individuals. In 1958 state officials renamed the colony “Sunland Training Center,” and more important, the legislature authorized the establishment of a second public institution in Fort Myers. With that development, Florida Farm Colony was no longer the centerpiece of the state’s mental retardation policy.

Florida’s lack of concern about its black feeble-minded population reflected region-wide attitudes about the efficacy of providing facilities for their care and training. In the fifteen-year period from 1910 to 1925, nine southern states, including Florida, opened new institutions to house mentally handicapped individuals, and another state, Kentucky, enlarged and revamped drastically its existing structure. Only two of these facilities, the Kentucky Feeble-Minded Institute in Frankfort and the Louisiana State Training School in Alexandria, housed feeble-minded residents of both races, albeit in segregated quarters (see table 1). In 1939 Virginia became the only southern state to operate a separate institution “for the purpose of caring for and training mentally defective Negroes” when it opened the Petersburg State Colony.4 The remaining seven states, again including Florida, either housed African American feeble-minded individuals in institutions designed for the care of the black insane or made no provisions at all for their care and training. That exclusionary policy finally ended by the early 1950s, when all these states finally admitted black patients into their institutions, albeit in limited numbers and in segregated facilities.

The treatment of black patients in institutions for the feebleminded such as Florida Farm Colony generally followed the patterns of facilities throughout the South that were designed for the insane and mentally ill. Virginia’s Eastern State Hospital, founded in 1773 as the first public mental hospital in what would become the United States, admitted its first free black patient only a year after its opening. In 1846, the Virginia legislature voted to allow slaves admission to Eastern State in apparently nonsegregated quarters. This episode in racial liberalism was short-lived, however. By 1869 blacks were excluded from the institution and shipped to the new Central State Hospital in Petersburg, which housed only African American patients.5 The segregation of black mental patients reflected the hardening of racial attitudes in the postbellum South in the face of emancipation. No southern institution allowed integrated wards, and black patients remained isolated in separate wings and facilities. In Florida, the sprawling mental hospital in Chattahoochee, founded in 1867, relegated blacks to wards at the rear of the institution. By the 1920s, institutional segregation led Virginia, North Carolina, and South Carolina to open separate institutions for black mental patients. In a period when southern states provided a level of mental health care deemed “medieval” by a prominent southern psychiatrist, blacks received the lowest percentage of funding.6


Table 1. Institutions in the South for the Feeble-Minded
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1 Colony opened in 1908 as an institution for epileptic persons. Feeble-minded individuals were admitted in 1914.

2 Petersburg was the South’s only separate institution for black patients.

Southern treatment of feeble-minded individuals mirrored white attitudes toward blacks in the early years of the twentieth century. Historian George Fredrickson’s observation concerning upper-class whites and their relationship to black southerners could easily have been applied to the organizers and advocates of southern institutions for the feeble-minded. “This conservative ethos,” Fredrickson argued, “promoted Christian charity, noblesse oblige, and a quasi-parental form of guardianship over people who were thought of as inherently child-like.”7 Of course, this benevolent paternalism had another, darker side. Whites also viewed blacks as atavistic brutes, controlled by emotions and driven to sexual excess.

The two sides of this paternalist equation were also applied to feeble-minded individuals. In 1912 Dr. Ira Hardy, the first superintendent of North Carolina’s Caswell Training School for the Feeble-Minded, addressed the Southern Medical Association in Jacksonville, Florida. He exorted Floridians to follow North Carolina’s example and establish an institution for the feeble-minded as protection for society. “Take wise and prompt measures to prevent as well as mitigate,” he warned, “the great evils which already accrue or may accrue from the feeble-mindedness in your midst, so as to prevent its expression in pauperism, harlotry, and crime.”8

Florida legislators followed Hardy’s admonitions and passed a bill in April 1919 establishing the Florida Farm Colony for Epileptic and Feeble-Minded, to be located on the outskirts of Gainesville. The institution admitted its first patients, all of whom were white, in November 1921.9 While institutions such as the Farm Colony often served as agencies of social control, superintendents saw another function. Institutions offered the opportunity, according to Farm Colony superintendent Dr. J. H. Hodges in a 1922 speech, “to take these feeble-minded children while they are still young and trainable and guard their habits . . . , and if possible, teach them to do something useful.”10

As the southern color line solidified in the first two decades of the twentieth century, the state officials responsible for the establishment of Florida Farm Colony ignored the needs and concerns of black residents. In a state where spending for general social services was inconsequential and where race consistently influenced state spending policies, funding for the problems created by black feebleminded individuals simply was not made available. Feeble-minded black persons involved in antisocial or criminal behavior were often adjudicated through the criminal justice system and not considered for placement in Florida Farm Colony. Others, usually those causing no community problems, were provided for through African American charities and churches, were placed in the segregated back wards of the state insane asylum at Chattahoochee, or were simply cared for—or not cared for—at home by parents or other family members.

Public apathy and legislative penury toward the feeble-minded generally, and toward feeble-minded blacks specifically, frustrated the institutional leaders and social workers concerned about protection for and from these persons. Inability to define policy goals clearly, as well as the fetters of a strictly segregated society, characterized Florida’s public policy for the African American feeble-minded during the first sixty years of the twentieth century.11

By the second decade of the twentieth century, southern states, following their northern counterparts, established separate institutions for individuals labeled as feeble-minded. This trend represented both the increasing specialization and professionalization within the mental health field and the growing national fear of the threat posed by feeble-minded individuals. The movement to establish feebleminded institutions was anchored firmly to Progressive era beliefs in the uses of empirical scientific methodology and the efficacy of concerted state action to ameliorate social ills.12 The rediscovery of Mendelian genetics in 1900 and the implications of Francis Galton’s eugenic theories led many mental health professionals to call for permanent segregation of those whom a Georgia physician deemed “human rubbish.”13 “Such colonies are considered necessary by all enlightened countries,” concluded the Florida Farm Colony’s 1921–1922 Biennial Report, “as it is now well known that a large part of crime, immorality, and destitution is due to this cause.”14 While sometimes couched in humanitarian terms, the movement to establish institutions for the feebleminded clearly reflected a concern for social order.

Floridians involved in the movement to institutionalize feeble-minded individuals did not express this concern for social control in explicit racial terms. The apocalyptic expressions of physicians and superintendents concerning the “menace of the feeble-minded” rarely, if ever, mentioned race. In fact, at the institution’s founding in 1921, it was, according to Superintendent Hodges, “expected that these [facilities] will be provided for at a later date in a separate colony, situated on the same tract of land, about one mile distant from the white colony.”15 However, the establishment of rigid racial barriers in the 1890s and 1900s, which left the South as two separate and distinct societies, allowed white Florida state officials to conveniently forget Hodges’s expectations. The superintendent of the South Carolina Training School (that state’s only institution for the feeble-minded) expressed the belief in racial separation cogently in 1937 when he made the presidential address to the American Association on Mental Deficiency. “Tradition, custom, political determination, as well as other economic and social practices have set apart the colored people from the whites.”16 The policy of racial separation allowed white Floridians, and white southerners in general, to ignore the plight of feeble-minded black individuals. With control enforced by legalized segregation, there appeared little need to further control black deviants by way of institutions for the feeble-minded.

The development of institutions for the feeble-minded was not simply an exercise in social control, however. Humanitarian concern for the “unfortunate” feeble-minded individual, both black and white, also seemed important. Of course, by protecting “undesirables” within an institution, society itself would be protected, according to a North Carolina superintendent, from their “ever-increasing hordes.”17

In the 1910s, the Southern Sociological Congress, a prime example of formalized Southern humanitarianism, sponsored a forum where progressive southerners could express concern about social problems besetting their region. In a volume of its first-year proceedings in 1912, entitled appropriately The Call of the New South, the congress set out its goals for social uplift in the South. It called for “the proper care and treatment . . . of the feeble-minded,” as well as “the solving of the race question in a spirit of helpfulness to the negro,” but made no mention of the two as interrelated problems. In the eight-year life-span of the congress, no author noted the special needs of the black feeble-minded, or problems caused particularly by their presence.18

Progressive reform leaders in Florida and the rest of the South, therefore, established institutions for the feeble-minded as a means of protection both for and from the individuals they were expected to house. During a time period in which a North Carolina official announced that “society must look upon germ plasm as belonging to society, not solely to the individual who carries it,” individual rights were subsumed under society’s needs.19 In Florida, separation of the races appeared paramount among societal needs. This separation carried over into the institutionalization of the feeble-minded.

After the Florida Farm Colony for Feeble-Minded and Epileptic opened its doors to white patients in 1921, plans to house black patients in a segregated facility gradually collapsed. On December 19, 1921, the Gainesville Sun reported, “As yet, no funds have been provided for the negro department.”20 Thereafter, no legislature until the 1950s appropriated monies for the anticipated black facilities. Legislators, bureaucrats, and institutional administrators made no mention of the desirability of serving black patients, or of the needs of the black feeble-minded population of the state. In 1945, a Special Survey, authorized by the legislature and Governor Millard Caldwell to investigate conditions at the Farm Colony, concluded with a series of ten recommendations for the facility’s improvement, but made no mention of the lack of facilities for black patients nor gave any suggestions for ameliorating this problem.21

Florida, then, provides an example of one southern strategy for the treatment, or rather the nontreatment, of feeble-minded blacks. Florida Farm Colony, the state’s only public institution for feebleminded individuals in the first half of the twentieth century, made no provisions at all for black patients. In spite of the earlier plans for a “negro unit” on the grounds of the institution, Superintendent Dr. J. Maxey Dell simply reported in the institution’s 1939 annual report that “there are no facilities for the care of colored patients.”22

This lack of facilities, explicitly stated but codified in neither statute nor administrative regulation, was tested by Florida county and juvenile court judges. Between the years 1929 and 1940, these jurists, authorized under Florida law to implement commitments to the Farm Colony, initiated commitment proceedings for at least twenty-nine blacks to the institution.23 As a matter of course, superintendents did not accept any of them into Florida Farm Colony. In rejecting an application regarding a black Tampa youth in 1939, Superintendent Dell wrote Tampa’s chief probation officer that “we are not in a position to admit any colored cases to the institution.”24 Two years later, Dell succintly addressed the issue of black admissions for the first time in his official Biennial Report: “There are no facilities for the care of colored patients.” He offered no further explanation or elaboration.25

To Dell and the two previous Florida Farm Colony superintendents, the lack of facilities for black patients was singularly unimportant. There was little or no mention of it in their correspondence, their speeches, or their official reports. When confronted with the issue, as when they denied commitment applications for black patients, they simply stated that their facility didn’t accept black patients. They did not feel the need to either justify the ban or question it. This nondiscussion of the admission of African American patients represented a complete victory for the proponents of segregation. To the officials at the Florida Farm Colony, black Floridians simply functioned in another world—a world with which officials had little contact and even less interest.

State statutes authorized county judges to initiate commitment proceedings to state institutions, including Florida Farm Colony, at the behest of family members, school officials, or representative of social service agencies such as county welfare offices or probation departments. Many commitment requests to the institution for white persons concerned individuals involved in petty crimes, immorality, and status offenses. In his 1929 Biennial Report, Superintendent Hodges admonished judges that “we cannot agree that the institution should be used for unruly children who are not feeble-minded, however much of a problem they may be in the community.”26

Hodges’s expression of concern did not apply, however, to those African Americans for whom commitment was requested. The majority of those individuals appeared quite low in functional abilities and more a strain on family dynamics and structure than a problem either in school or in the streets. Sociologist Bernard Farber would label these persons “incompetent.”27 These black youths were not, then, delinquents to be committed to the Florida Farm Colony as an alternative to some other form of incarceration or punishment. Rather, institutionalization was sought as either a form of relief for beleaguered families or as a means of removing a child from a difficult or possibly abusive home situation.

A 1937 application regarding a twelve-year-old African American girl from Orange County seems typical. The document reported that the girl could not “feed herself, or sit, or walk, or talk.” It also revealed that she was not “troublesome” but “as she grows older, [she] is becoming more and more of a problem to the family. This is particularly trying during the school months as the mother cannot leave her alone while the other children are in school.” Replying in coldly bureaucratic terms, Superintendent Dell wrote that “this has been more or less a community problem and I am sorry that we are not able to help you further in regard to same.” Dell concluded by stating that “there is no Statewide place for such patients.”28 The Florida Farm Colony provided no follow-up studies for such rejected commitment cases, either black or white, so we have no knowledge of the eventual disposition of the adolescent girl. The “community” that Dell mentions, however, is undoubtedly the black community of Orange County. Reading Dell’s answer to the commitment request, one sees the racial bifurcation of the Depression-era South. The African American community would handle their feeble-minded cases, Florida Farm Colony would handle white cases, and the two worlds would not be allowed to intersect.

A year after the Orange County commitment request, a Pinellas County judge sought commitment for an even more distressing case. The City of Clearwater’s chief probation officer reported to Dell that “we have in our possession commitment papers for one K. L., colored age 10. The situation is pitiful as well as tragical. We found this child anchored with rope to an iron post in the yard. In some way the family is taking care of her at night. She has never been to school, cannot talk understandingly, and is a pronounced subject for your institution.” Again, Dell curtly responded that “we cannot take colored patients here.”29

The incompetent black individuals who were refused admission to Florida Farm Colony posed no threat to the social order of the state of Florida. Far from functioning as an instrument of social control in these cases, the institution would have served both as a last resort for beleaguered black families strapped with the burdens of a handicapped child and a place of refuge for children abused by parents unable to cope. An application by parents for their ten-year-old boy, initiated through the Hillsborough County Court, exemplified the former rationale. The boy did not appear troublesome, but had “had convulsions every night for four years.” The parents, the application continued, “appear tired and can no longer handle the child.” Superintendent Dell responded to the application in the manner that Farm Colony superintendents handled all black commitment requests: “We do not accept colored patients at the Colony.”30

While Florida made no provisions at all for African American feeble-minded individuals at Florida Farm Colony prior to 1953, it did admit a few feeble-minded blacks to the Florida Hospital for the Insane, located in Chattahoochee, which housed patients of both races in segregated wards. Those black feeble-minded individuals admitted to Chattahoochee appeared to be of a higher intellectual level and more likely to be involved in criminal offenses than the individuals for whom commitment to Florida Farm Colony was recommended.31 Chattahoochee officials, reflecting early-twentieth-century medical and psychological wisdom, opposed the housing of insane and feeble-minded patients in one facility. The 1915–1916 Biennial Report of the Florida Hospital for the Insane in Chatahoochee concluded that “we must find a way to remove the feeble-minded individuals from the hospital. They do not respond to treatment in the same way as our other patients.”32 In spite of such professional concerns, however, Florida made no efforts to place black feebleminded persons in a specialized institution such as the Florida Farm Colony.

During the 1930s, the federal government began to intervene in the previously state-controlled world of care for the feeble-minded. Florida welcomed the presence of funds from Washington, as the Depression-ravaged state budget could not provide for maintaining and improving the facilities at the Farm Colony. The colony erected several new wards and a hospital from 1937 to 1939 under the auspices of funds from the WPA and PWA.33 Initially at least, the federal dollars did not bring with them desegregation mandates, primarily because Franklin Roosevelt’s New Deal coalition depended on the votes of white southern politicians.

The inroads made by federal agencies in the 1930s, however, enabled the national government to play a more prominent role in southern life generally. With federal involvement came the possibility of forced change from the outside. The confining structures of a southern caste society based totally on race began to break down slowly, almost inperceptibly, during the 1930s as the initial stirrings of an activist federal government made small inroads into the legalized system of segregation.34 The effects of government policy and the liberating rhetoric of World War II quickened the pace of racial change even more. President Truman’s 1948 decision to desegregate the armed forces shook the segregated South to its very foundations. U.S. Supreme Court cases in the 1940s and in 1950 gradually dismantled white-only primaries and some forms of segregated higher education.35

In this atmosphere of federally directed change, state bureaucrats and Farm Colony officials made the decision to allow African American patients into the institution. Yet, it was a determination reached with little public fanfare. The seeming lack of importance that institutional staff placed on this momentous change masked the conflicts between state officials over how to comply with approaching federal desegregation mandates. On the one hand, the belated admission of a small number of African American patients to separate facilities within the Farm Colony simply verified the commitments of white Floridians to a segregated society in the early 1950s. Conversely, however, the mere fact that African Americans were finally admitted to Florida Farm Colony after thirty-two years of systematic exclusion opened cracks in that caste society that would eventually lead to its demise.

Florida Farm Colony records first mention of the need for facilities for African American patients in the 1949 Biennial Report of Superintendent Raymond Philips. Philips, appointed in 1945 as the first nonmedical superintendent of the colony, had worked as the institution’s business manager since 1932. A tireless crusader for the facility and an excellent legislative lobbyist, Philips oversaw the Farm Colony’s rapid expansion during the late 1940s and 1950s. Philips viewed the admission of African American patients as part of the larger process of institutional expansion and improvement. After making the usual statement in his Biennial Report that “there are no facilities for the care of colored patients,” Philips reported, “A recommendation has already been made by the State Budget Commission for an appropriation of $200,000 for the establishment of a negro unit at the Farm Colony. This is definitely a step in the right direction, as there are no State facilities for the Negro mentally deficient at this time.”36 Philips’s desire to admit African American patients was influenced by a major survey of Florida’s entire mental health programming, undertaken by the U.S. Public Health Services at the request of Governor Fuller Warren. The survey, conducted in the summer of 1949 by Dr. Riley Guthrie, a specialist in mental hygiene, recommended a series of fifteen steps to improve Florida’s care of feeble-minded patients. Number 12 on the list was: “Provisions should be made for the care and training of Negroes who are mentally defective or epileptic.”37 The report’s findings were disseminated widely throughout the state. The February 1950 issue of the Newsletter of the Mental Health Society of Southeast Florida reported, in commenting on the Guthrie Report, “We fail to provide for Negro children who are mental defectives and epileptics. They are chained up at home and Negroes comprise 25 percent of our [total state] population.”38

Philips’s request gained even more credence with the publication of the 1951 Report of the Florida Children’s Commission. The authors of the annual report, which in previous editions had made no mention of the need for black facilities at the Farm Colony, concluded, “Citizens showed deep concern that Florida made no institutional provision for these [African American] children. We recommend 150 beds for Negro children as a practical first step towards adequate institutional care for Florida’s mentally deficient children.”39

The addition of black units for Florida Farm Colony took place in a spurt of building on the facility grounds, raising the institutional population from approximately five hundred in 1945 to more than 1,200 by 1957. In addition to the anticipated construction of the units for blacks, Philips also lowered the age of admission for patients from six years to birth when nursery facilities were built on the institution’s grounds. Philips viewed the addition of black wards as but one piece of the larger expansion plans. “The state is definitely behind in its provision of proper and adequate facilities,” he reported in 1951. “Any plan for expansion should most certainly include facilities for negro persons.”40 By 1955 Philips was asking the legislature for $2.4 million in funds to increase the Farm Colony’s size to 2,000. Fully behind Philips’s ambitious plans, the legislature appropriated all but $200,000 of the request for the expansion program.41 Florida Farm Colony, soon to be renamed Sunland Training Center, had entered a new phase of its existence.

The Board of Commissioners of State Institutions, the state body overseeing the Farm Colony, voted in its October 2, 1951, meeting to construct “five negro low-grade buildings” at the facility.42 Philips pushed for this addition as a major part of his ambitious expansion plans. In a September 1951 address to the Gainesville Kiwanis Club, Philips publicly announced plans for an $890,000 building program to include “a negro unit to house about 100 persons, . . . [and] the construction of three more white wards for 120 additional patients.”43 Expanding on these comments in his 1953 Biennial Report, Philips stated that the funding for the black wards would include monies for “four ward buildings . . . [to house] approximately 150 colored patients [as well as] two wings to be added to the Hospital and Clinic to provide care for Negroes.” Philips added, “Applications for Negroes are now being received for patients to be admitted when the buildings are opened. . . . [They] indicate that the approximately 150 beds already provided will be filled very rapidly.”44

The black wards provided a new experience for the rapidly expanding institution. Philips needed help in the development of these new facilities, as he had never worked with African American patients before. He turned to the superintendents of similar southern institutions, who since the end of World War II had overseen the admission of black patients into segregated wards of their facilities. In July 1952, Philips wrote to the Board of Commissioners suggesting that “a visit to two or three institutions for negro defectives in the south would be very helpful to me in setting up our program here for our Negro Unit. . . . These visits would probably include institutions in Alabama, Mississippi, and possibly Georgia or South Carolina.” The board approved Philips’s request and he visited Partlow State School in Alabama, Ellisville State School in Mississippi, and Georgia’s Gracewood facility in August and September 1952.45

On July 15, 1953, the Negro Unit of Florida Farm Colony admitted its first fifteen patients. Located at the back of the institution’s grounds, the unit was a self-contained cluster of four buildings “of brick and concrete construction.” Food served in the dining room in each ward was cooked in a central kitchen built exclusively for the “colored” unit. In addition to the initial admissions, Philips had a “waiting list of approximately 80 Negroes at this time.” Separate ward space had been reserved for African Americans at the Farm Colony hospital and work had already started on a “small school for the Negroes,” to be located next to the black wards. Ten employees, all black, had been hired to work on the new wards, and Philips reported that “more will be added later as the number of Negroe patients is increased.” Philips was quite careful in his public pronouncements to tie the addition of the $195,000 African American wards to more general expansion, “an overall capital improvement program . . . [of] $890,000 to improve the institution.”46

The admission of African American patients to Florida Farm Colony did not take place in a political vacuum. Institutional officials and state bureaucrats were aware of the growing concern about equalization of treatment for blacks. The 1896 U.S. Supreme Court ruling in Plessy v. Ferguson had held that segregation was permissible as long as the same general rights, such as riding on a train or receiving an education, were applied to both races.47 By 1950, however, the decision itself, as well as the doctrine of “separate but equal” that underlay it, was under attack by African American plaintiffs who held that segregation was inherently unequal and should be set aside.

By systematically denying any services to black individuals simply by virtue of their race, state officials and Farm Colony administrators had relied on a policy that was legally untenable by the early 1950s. No lawsuits on behalf of potential black patients were ever filed, but state officials saw the direction the legal winds were blowing. They opened Florida Farm Colony to black patients as a sign of the state’s willingness to accommodate racial integration. As the first black patients arrived, Philips remarked that “the addition of Negro facilities to the Farm Colony is another step in the state’s plan to provide equal facilities for the two races.”48 In the broader picture of state policy, however, the Farm Colony decision seemed exceedingly insignificant—a small bone thrown to mollify the advocates of integration. On the major issues of public schools and public accommodations, Florida officials remained steadfast in their support of segregation.49

The initial flood of interest in the admission of blacks to the Farm Colony quickly faded. Philips made no mention of the black facilities in his biennial reports except to acknowledge their existence. The minutes of the meetings of the Board of Commissioners overseeing the institution also make little mention of the black wards, except periodically to approve the addition of more buildings for the black facilities.50 The Gainesville Sun made only one mention of the newly opened black units in its articles on the Florida Farm Colony from 1953 to 1957. The residents at the Negro Unit became simply patients at the colony who happened to be black. In a region where race was all-important, the lack of attention paid to it at the colony can best be demonstrated by monthly average attendance figures gathered by institutional staff for statistical purposes. On these sheets, reporting of patients was aggregately broken down by sex only, not by race. Within the confines of Florida Farm Colony, staff considered black patients as feeble-minded first and as members of a racial category second.51

With that said, it must be remembered that Florida Farm Colony remained a profoundly segregated institution after the admission of black patients. African American patients attended their own school, swam in their own pool, ate food prepared in separate kitchens, and participated in separate recreational activities. By 1954, when the population of the Negro Unit had increased to 119, the school there had enrolled six pupils, four males and two females. Two years later, the unit population exceeded two hundred and the school population had increased to twenty-six. The black students participated in the same activities as their white counterparts—producing mats, rugs, belts, and tea towels for use and sale, learning simple academic skills such as basic arithmetic and letter recognition, and participating in community activities. Of course, African American students had to confront the fetters of a segregated society outside the gates of the colony. When they participated in a high school homecoming activity, it was that of Lincoln High School, Gainesville’s black secondary school. Their Christmas pageants were held for the black patients only, in the small multipurpose room at the black school instead of the main auditorium at the white school.52 Though a part of the routine at Florida Farm Colony, African American patients remained unseen and separate. The dual burdens of being black and feeble-minded weighed heavily upon the African American patients at Florida Farm Colony.

In the first forty-five years of its existence, Florida Farm Colony had provided almost nothing in the way of care and training for blacks. Only in the last four years did the colony even admit African Americans, and then only in segregated quarters. Living in a state beset by endemic poverty and low social welfare expenditures, black feebleminded individuals and their families suffered more than most. The contours of a strict caste society based on race denied all but the minimum humanitarian care within institutional facilities. Trapped by a system of institutions that either treated them as deviants, trained them for increasingly obsolete occupations, or ignored them, feeble-minded African Americans and their families were left to fend for themselves. A 1926 special bulletin of the North Carolina State Board of Charities and Public Welfare accurately summarized the state of Florida’s position during this entire era regarding mentally handicapped blacks. The problem of feeble-mindedness, the report concluded, “is inherently a question for the Negro to solve for himself.”53
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Groveland

Florida’s Little Scottsboro

Steven F. Lawson, David R. Colburn, and Darryl Paulson

THE RESIDENTS of Lake County, Florida, awoke on the morning of July 16, 1949, to a drama that was hauntingly familiar, yet disturbingly different. Word passed quickly through the area of small towns and rural communities that before dawn on this summer Sunday a white woman had been attacked and raped by four black men near Groveland. In the past, such crimes had stirred lynch mobs into acts of vengeance, and this occasion proved no exception. In this instance, bloodthirsty vigilantes did not succeed in rendering summary punishment, but they partially achieved their objectives through lawful means. Although lynching diminished in the post-World War II South, public officials, responding to social and political pressures, accomplished the same goals in a legally sanctioned fashion.

Following the war, black veterans who returned home found the Jim Crow South virtually unchanged. They encountered hostile whites determined to preserve the rigid system of racial oppression. Despite the elimination of the white primary by the U.S. Supreme Court in 1944, southern politicians applied literacy tests, poll taxes, and other devices to keep blacks disfranchised. These official forms of discrimination were reinforced by private acts or threats of violence. In 1946 Senator Theodore Bilbo of Mississippi encouraged his “red blooded” constituents to prevent blacks from voting by paying them a visit “the night before the election.”1 During the first half of 1949, the Southern Regional Council reported 108 cases “in which southern private citizens and public officials attempted to usurp the functions of our legal institutions.”2

Florida also faced a stiff challenge to its defense of the racial status quo. Led by the state NAACP and local civic groups, black Floridians launched an assault on the edifices of discrimination. After the defeat of the white primary, Harry T. Moore formed the Florida Progressive Voters League to encourage blacks to register. Between 1947 and 1950, the number of blacks enrolled on the suffrage lists swelled from 49,000 to more than 116,000. Moore also served as president of the state conference of NAACP branches, and he initiated judicial action to equalize the salaries of underpaid black school teachers with those of whites. For his activities, he and his wife were fired from their teaching positions in Brevard County.3 In 1949 Moore turned his attention to the Groveland rape case, an episode that put Florida racial justice on trial before the nation and the world.

Nestled in the center of citrus and lake country in mid-Florida, Groveland became a home for blacks almost immediately after its establishment in 1910. Whites living in nearby Mascotte decided that they did not want blacks in their community, although they did want them sufficiently close at hand to work in the citrus groves. Because citrus tended to be a seasonal occupation, blacks were encouraged to develop small farms to feed their families during the off-season. Many of Groveland’s blacks resided in an area called Stuckey’s Still, where several owned their own homes. This measure of independence was tolerated, even supported by grove owners, as long as blacks remembered that when it came time to pick the fruit or fertilize the trees, they returned to the groves. This condition of dependency existed for many years, requiring little violence or intimidation to enforce it successfully.4

Following World War II, however, a number of young blacks returning home from military service were less acquiescent to this labor system. The threat to racial traditions in the community did not escape the attention of grove owners, who worked closely with county sheriffs to dissuade returning veterans from creating unrest. In 1945 the Workers Defense League, a group closely aligned with the Socialist party, accused the sheriff’s office in Lake County of actively supporting peonage in the orange groves. Thus, when Walter Irvin and Samuel Shepherd returned to Groveland from the military and seemed reluctant to work in the citrus industry, Sheriff Willis McCall reportedly told them to remove their uniforms and take their places in the groves where they belonged.5

A forty-year-old Lake County native, McCall liked to boast that he had received his education “mostly in the University of Hard Knocks.” He had prospered in the dairy business, served as the county inspector of fruit, and built a network of supporters who helped him win the sheriff’s post in 1944. Once in office, McCall clashed with labor union organizers and civil rights groups and blamed communists for stirring up trouble among black workers. In 1946 he personally chased a union representative out of the county.6

McCall had no use for an “uppity nigger” like Sammy Shepherd, the son of an independent farmer who had become embroiled in a series of altercations with his white neighbors. Since 1943 Sammy’s father, Henry Shepherd, had diligently worked his farm, which he had reclaimed from swampland. He had come into periodic conflict with whites who let their cows graze on his property and trample his crops. He put up fences to protect his land, only to have them torn down. The Shepherds belonged to the small group of black families that had raised their standard of living during the war. When the younger Shepherd returned from military service and declined to seek employment with the citrus growers, whites were reported to grumble “that it was time now that somebody put both Henry and Sammy in their places.”7

Soon afterward Sammy Shepherd and his army buddy, Walter Irvin, found themselves in the midst of a racial maelstrom that neither would be able to escape. Together for two hitches in the military, they had served a prison sentence during their second enlistment for “misappropriation of government property” and subsequently were discharged dishonorably from the army.8 This trouble behind them, they returned to their homes in Lake County to find that another shared ordeal was just about to begin.

In the early morning hours of July 16, 1949, Irvin and Shepherd, along with two other black men, Charles Greenlee and Ernest Thomas, stood accused of kidnapping and raping Norma Padgett and assaulting her husband, Willie Padgett. He told the police that he and his wife had left a dance and that his car had stalled on the road as he was turning around. Although he said that the four blacks who stopped had initially offered assistance, Padgett claimed that they soon turned on him, beat him, and drove off with his wife. Greenlee, Shepherd, and Irvin were arrested within hours of the incident. For over a week, Thomas eluded a posse led by McCall and three other sheriffs before being shot and killed in the woods of Taylor County, nearly two hundred miles northwest of where the search began.9

As news of the rape spread through the town and into Lake County, a caravan of more than two hundred cars, carrying five hundred to six hundred men, descended on Groveland during the evening of July 17. Unable to locate the defendants in the town jail, they drove to the county seat in Tavares. The mob gathered at the jail and demanded the release of the three prisoners. But Sheriff McCall persuaded the mob that the men had been transferred to the state penitentiary, although he had hidden them in the jail. The mob seemed satisfied after Norma Padgett’s husband and her father inspected the facility, and McCall promised that justice would be served. “This is a crucial moment that could cause a crisis here and throughout the state,” the sheriff admonished the crowd. “Let’s let the law handle this calmly.”10

Unable to get their hands on the accused but still eager to exact retribution, the caravan returned to Groveland, where it set fire to black homes and fired shots into them. Apparently local black families had recognized the impending danger and had departed with the assistance of several white residents. The following day, a mob from Mascotte waylaid cars on the highway outside Groveland in hope of intercepting any local black, but they went home frustrated. Responding to pleas from the NAACP and local black residents, Governor Fuller Warren, an opponent of the Ku Klux Klan, sent in the National Guard. Arriving on Tuesday, July 18, and leaving the following Sunday, the militia gradually restored order, though most black homes had been seriously damaged by this time. The house and other property of Samuel Shepherd’s father had been singled out by the mob and virtually destroyed.11

Why some white residents assisted blacks while others sought revenge remains uncertain. Perhaps the more prosperous local whites feared that violence against blacks would hurt business. “The Negroes are a vital part of our economy,” a Groveland merchant declared. “They spend a great percent of the money in local stores. They are badly needed by farmers and growers.”12 Though others may have been aware of the value of blacks as customers and laborers, they thought it more important to take action to keep blacks subservient. By resorting to violence and making an example of the accused rapists, whites who resented the economic strides some blacks had made were issuing a warning to “other Negroes [to] stay in line.” With racial barriers under attack throughout the South, whites felt extremely anxious and were inclined to preserve their supremacy through violent means if necessary. The presence of many out-of-state license plates among the automobiles transporting the vigilantes around the county demonstrated the widespread concern over perceived threats to white control of race relations.13

The image of the black rapist had long provoked the wrath of white mobs. In placing white women on a protected pedestal to keep them out of reach of “black beasts,” white males also kept their wives, sisters, and daughters in a separate and unequal sphere. “White women,” Jacqueline Dowd Hall has written, “were the forbidden fruit, the untouchable property, the ultimate symbol of white male power.”14 Chivalry, the code of honor that meant paternalistic rather than equal treatment for southern women, guaranteed swift retribution against blacks who were suspected of violating the purity of white womanhood. A Lake County resident explained the motivation of the frenzied mobs that burned black homes: “They had to protect their wives, or they couldn’t leave them alone at night.”15

Though the paternalistic ethos lived on, lynching as a response to rape had declined since the 1930s. This abatement was largely due to the educational campaigns of organizations such as the NAACP and the biracial Association of Southern Women for the Prevention of Lynching, both having active Florida branches.16 Increasingly, whites expected the judicial process to achieve those ends once gained through private acts of terror. Lake County residents reflected this new emphasis on legal revenge. The female editor of the Mount Dora Topic reminded the journal’s readers that the honor of the rape victim “will be avenged in a well-conducted court of law, and, if the facts are straight and a guilty verdict is returned—revenge will be accomplished by a more frightening and awful means than a mob has at its command.” Another newspaper summed up the more ambiguous sentiments of many people in the area: “We’ll wait and see what the law does, and if the law doesn’t do right, we’ll do it.”17

Prior to Groveland, the infamous Scottsboro case had shown that “due process of law” in southern courts might operate less savagely than vigilante actions for blacks charged with interracial rape, but it did not ensure them justice. In March 1931, nine young black men, out of work and drifting through the South, allegedly raped two white women aboard a train passing through the small Alabama town of Scottsboro. A white mob assembled shortly after the arrest of the nine youths, but a lynching was averted by the sheriff. Nevertheless, the trial was conducted in a hysterical and highly charged atmosphere, and the defendants were found guilty on very questionable evidence. The Communist party and the NAACP took up the cause of the “Scottsboro Boys,” and over a period of twenty years managed to win several landmark opinions from the U.S. Supreme Court and eventually obtain their release from prison.18

In May 1950, the last of the Scottsboro defendants walked out of jail, an outcome that seemed to suggest the South had taken a step forward, however shaky. The case also revealed the limits of southern justice, for it had taken two reversals by the Supreme Court, widespread public condemnation of the trials, and considerable selfdoubt in Alabama before the defendants escaped the death penalty. If the case had not captured national headlines, eight of the nine men almost certainly would have been executed. Had the South and southern justice, then, truly moved forward with the Scottsboro case? Groveland, Florida’s “Little Scottsboro,” provided some answers to that question.

Shortly after the charges were filed against the four Groveland defendants on July 17, the president of the Orlando branch of the NAACP telephoned the national office to request legal assistance. Franklin Williams, a young attorney on the Legal Defense Fund staff, answered the phone and said he would fly down the next day. Upon arriving in Orlando, Williams began to hear evidence suggesting that the case was highly suspect. From a meeting with Irvin, Shepherd, and Greenlee he learned that despite the sheriff’s announcement that the accused had admitted their guilt, they had been badly beaten by the deputies until they had agreed to confess. Their story was corroborated when an examination completed by Williams several days after their arrest revealed numerous cuts and bruises all over their bodies. The three men said they had been suspended from pipes along the ceiling and cut glass had been scattered on the floor underneath. Whenever they moved, their feet were cut by the glass. They were also beaten with clubs around the chest and head. The journalist Stetson Kennedy claimed that Jefferson Elliott, Governor Warren’s special investigator, had told him that it was evident from the wounds and scars on Greenlee, Irvin, and Shepherd “that they had been beaten around the clock.” Even so, Irvin had refused to admit his guilt.19

Further investigation by Williams disclosed other problems with the prosecution’s case. While Irvin and Shepherd were good friends and acquaintances of Thomas, they did not know Greenlee, who had arrived in Groveland from Gainesville only hours before the rape. Thomas apparently had brought Greenlee to town to help him with his bolita (gambling) business. Rumors persisted in the black community that Thomas had pocketed some bolita receipts rather than turn them over to his reputed boss, Henry Singleton, a local black. These charges were never substantiated, but Sheriff McCall regarded Thomas as a troublemaker who needed disciplining.20

Perhaps even more disturbing, Williams and many black residents doubted that Norma Padgett had been raped. Only seventeen years old, she and her husband had been married for a brief period of time when she returned to her parents’ home because her husband had beaten her. Padgett had been warned by his in-laws not to hit Norma again. On the evening of July 15, Padgett had persuaded his estranged wife to attend a dance with him in an attempt to reconcile their differences. On the way to the event, Padgett bought a bottle of liquor which he and his brother-in-law subsequently consumed. Following the dance, the Padgett couple planned to have dinner near Groveland but changed their minds. Instead, Padgett turned the car around to take his wife home, but what happened after that remains a mystery. Padgett claimed his car had stalled because of a weak battery, and four blacks stopped their car to offer assistance. According to his own testimony, he was assaulted by the men, who then kidnapped and raped his wife. Norma Padgett was next seen early the following morning standing near a restaurant on the outskirts of Groveland, where she was spotted by the restaurant owner’s son. He gave her a ride into town, and he noted that she did not appear unusually concerned or upset and did not mention being raped. Willie Padgett had in the meantime been able to start his car and drive it to a gasoline station in Leesburg, where he told attendant Curtis Hunter that he had been assaulted and his wife kidnapped.21

Norma did not claim that she had been raped until she encountered her husband and a deputy sheriff, who were searching for her. Willie took his wife aside, spoke alone with her for several minutes, and then she told her story. Franklin Williams speculated that the Padgetts had fabricated this tale on the spot to protect Willie. He guessed that following the dance, Willie had beaten Norma for refusing to grant him his “matrimonial rights,” then implored his wife to claim she had been raped by blacks so that family would not take revenge upon him.22

When Norma and Willie Padgett first saw Greenlee, who had been arrested at a gasoline station during the early morning hours for vagrancy, they did not implicate him. In fact, they disagreed whether he was one of the culprits. Willie Padgett did, however, identify Shepherd and Irvin when he accompanied sheriff’s deputies to Irvin’s home and the home of Shepherd’s brother. He also contended that the car owned by Shepherd’s brother was the one used in the crime.23

The circuit court judge and county attorney quickly assembled a grand jury to hear the charges. In a move calculated to show that the defendants could receive a fair trial, Lake County Attorney Jesse W. Hunter impaneled a black resident on the jury. According to the local newspaper, he was “the first ever to serve on a Lake County Grand Jury.” Emotions ran very high in the county, however, and it was not likely that any black in such a position could exercise much independence of judgment. On the day before the grand jury convened, the Orlando Morning Sentinel, the largest newspaper in central Florida, ran a front-page cartoon depicting a row of four electric chairs with the headline “The Supreme Penalty” and the caption “No Compromise!” Not surprisingly, the jury ruled quickly and unanimously that there was sufficient basis for indicting the three men.24

When the grand jury met, Franklin Williams, who lacked a license to practice in Florida, had yet to find a Florida attorney to defend Shepherd, Irvin, and Greenlee. He had hoped to find a white lawyer from the area to improve their chances of receiving a fair hearing. Williams approached Spessard Holland, Jr., the son of one of Florida’s U.S. senators, who had represented some black migrant workers in peonage cases. Though sympathetic, Holland declined, explaining: “My wife is a typical flower of southern womanhood and this is a rape case and I can’t take it.”25 Instead, Williams secured the services of Alex Akerman, Jr., of Orlando, who had recently completed a term as the only Republican in the state legislature. Akerman chose his assistants—Joseph L. Price, Jr., and Horace Hill, a black attorney from Daytona Beach—to help with the defense.26

A trial date was set for August 29, but Akerman asked for a month’s extension because he had just been hired and had not had ample time to prepare a defense. Circuit Judge Truman G. Futch, a native of Lake County, refused his request, contending that Williams had been involved in the case since July. Futch also commented that since Akerman was convinced of his clients’ innocence, he must have sufficient evidence to go to trial. Futch did agree, however, to delay the trial for three days.27

When the trial opened, Akerman petitioned for a change of venue, arguing that a fair trial in Lake County was impossible because of the negative publicity surrounding the case. But the mayor of Tavares, E. L. Burleigh, and a black insurance agent, F. L. Hampton, testified that race relations in Lake County were “the best in Florida.” Akerman also moved to quash the indictments because blacks had been systematically excluded from grand juries in Lake County for twenty-five years, arguing that the one black who had been placed on the grand jury was there “for the sole purpose of creating the impression of compliance with the 14th Amendment.” The voting rolls showed 802 blacks in the county, but only one had previously been called to serve on a grand jury. Futch rejected both appeals, ruling that the first motion did not comply with the laws of Florida and that no evidence had been introduced that suggested a fair trial could not be held in Lake County. Futch denied Akerman’s second motion, pointing to the presence of a black on the grand jury as a fair and lawful impaneling of this jury.28

Testimony began on the third day of the trial with Norma Padgett taking the stand as the state’s star witness. She repeated her story as she had reported it to the county attorney’s office. After the four kidnapped her, she asserted, they drove her to a small road off the highway and took turns raping her. She then recalled, “They asked me if I wanted them to take me to town, and I told them I’d rather walk.” This seemed like a curious question from four blacks, three of whom resided in Groveland, after they had just finished raping a white woman. Charles Greenlee later testified that if he had known at the time that a white woman had been raped he would have left the county immediately. The four had allegedly released Norma in a field, and she swore she hid in the woods until daylight.29

Willie Padgett followed his wife to the stand and repeated her testimony. He also declared that the blacks who had overpowered him were driving a 1941 or 1946 Mercury with a prefix number on the license plate that indicated it came from Lake County. As had his wife, he identified the three black defendants and the deceased as the men who had kidnapped and raped Norma. Padgett also stated that they stole his wallet which contained a driver’s license and $20.30

Besides the Padgetts’ testimony, that provided by Deputy Sheriff James L. Yates proved most crucial to the state’s case. According to Yates, footprints and tireprints left at the scene of the crime were directly traceable to Irvin and the car owned by Shepherd’s brother. The prosecution presented plaster casts that Yates supposedly had made at the crime scene and later matched to Irvin’s shoes and the Mercury sedan. When Akerman asked Yates where he learned to make plaster moldings, the deputy replied that he had been doing it for years. A handkerchief that belonged to Norma had also been found by Yates, and according to his testimony the lint on it was similar to that discovered in the rear of the Mercury and on Norma Padgett’s dress.31

The state rested its case following Yates’s testimony. Significantly, it had not introduced any medical evidence to show that Norma had been raped. Nor did it introduce the confessions of Greenlee and Shepherd. County Attorney Jesse Hunter believed that he could win a conviction without the confessions, and that they would damage the state’s case on appeal because the defense could produce evidence showing that the defendants had been beaten.32 At the same time, the defense did not attempt to break down Norma Padgett’s story of the rape or introduce medical evidence to refute it. As Akerman recalled, cross-examination “had to he handled delicately—you couldn’t have gotten anywhere by roughing her up.”33 Given the inflammatory nature of the rape charge, defense counsel thought it prudent not to risk arousing further sympathy for Norma.

All three men accused of the rape testified on their own behalf. Shepherd and Irvin recounted their trip to Orlando on the evening of the crime and told of their visit to a series of bars. Both testified that they had not seen Norma and Willie Padgett that evening, nor did they know Greenlee. Shepherd’s brother testified that he had let Sammy borrow his car and that when the younger Shepherd returned it, he was not nervous nor did he act as if he were trying to hide something.34 Greenlee admitted that he had been arrested in the early morning hours, just prior to the rape, at a closed gasoline station in Groveland. He said he had left Gainesville because his mother cried constantly over the deaths of his two sisters, who had been run over by a train. Greenlee added that he had not known the Padgetts nor his fellow-defendants.35

Despite the defense team’s efforts to show that Greenlee could not have been at the scene of the alleged rape when it occurred, and the testimony of all three about their innocence, the jury returned a guilty verdict only ninety minutes after it had been charged by the judge. Irvin and Shepherd were sentenced to death, but the jury recommended mercy for the sixteen-year-old Greenlee, presumably because of his youth. Franklin Williams remarked that the trial had “all the characteristics of a dime store novel . . . a perfect frameup.” The Mount Dora Topic vigorously disagreed and declared that the “county can well be proud of the conduct of its officers of the law, its prosecutor and its judge from the start to the finish of the Groveland Story.”36

The defense immediately filed an appeal to the Florida Supreme Court amidst rumors of a federal inquiry. In response to a series of articles written by Ted Poston, a black reporter covering the trial for the New York Post, U.S. Attorney General J. Howard McGrath ordered an investigation into charges that the three defendants had been tortured while in custody. A surgeon and a dentist had examined the trio at Raiford State Prison and reported that all showed signs of brutal beatings. The investigation collapsed, however, when U.S. District Attorney Herbert Phillips of Tampa inexplicably refused to call either the surgeon or the dentist. With the case against the sheriff and his deputies resting on the unsupported testimony of the defendants, the federal grand jury dismissed the charges.37

In this instance, as well as others, the federal government proved less than helpful. Although President Harry Truman had committed his administration to advancing the cause of civil rights, the Justice Department exercised restraint in prosecuting criminal cases involving racial discrimination. With considerable justification, federal lawyers believed they could not win such litigation before southern white juries, which were not inclined to convict their neighbors for violating black civil rights. The Justice Department might instruct the FBI to investigate thoroughly “whether or not a violation of federal criminal law was committed,” but the bureau did not accord these matters a high priority.38 Its director, J. Edgar Hoover, had little sympathy for the civil rights cause, and he was reluctant to assign the needed manpower to cases with little likelihood of success. Moreover, because the agency depended on the cooperation of local law enforcement officials in investigating what they judged to be their primary concerns, such as bank robberies and other thefts of cash, it was usually cautious in taking action that might upset indigenous racial customs. This approach drew criticism from civil rights groups. The NAACP said it could not understand how the FBI had “maintained a world-wide reputation for great efficiency in the investigation, apprehension, and successful prosecution of the cleverest criminals in history,” but was “unable to cope with violent criminal action by bigoted, prejudiced Americans against Negro Americans.”39

Though federal agencies failed to shed fresh light on the Groveland case, a crusading and unusually progressive Florida newspaper did so. In April 1950, the St. Petersburg Times published an investigative series demonstrating that it was physically impossible for Charles Greenlee to have been at the scene of the crime. Indeed, he had been arrested nineteen miles away during the time the assault allegedly occurred. The article also raised a number of questions about the fairness of the trial and the charges against Shepherd and Irvin. In the second of three articles, the reporter, Norman Bunin, observed that all the jurors were aware of the pretrial publicity surrounding the case and had read about the confessions of the defendants. The reporter also painstakingly traced the steps of Irvin and Shepherd during the evening of the rape. They were last seen at Club 436 in Altamonte Springs after midnight, according to two witnesses. Irvin and Shepherd claimed they started for home around 12:30 A.M. and drove directly to Groveland, a trip of nearly forty miles and a considerable distance from the place where the assault was said to have occurred. Both men testified that they never drove near the area of the alleged rape, although, in contrast to Greenlee, they would have had sufficient time to do so. The Times did report that on a tape recording provided by Sheriff Willis McCall, Greenlee acknowledged that all four had committed rape. Yet when asked about the confession while in prison, Greenlee charged that McCall had taken him into his office, held a gun to his head, and told him what to say. At various points in the “confession,” McCall turned off the recording machine and gave Greenlee instructions on how to proceed.40

These revelations had no influence on the Florida Supreme Court, however, when it heard the appeal. The litigation involved only Shepherd and Irvin because their counsel feared that if Greenlee was also granted a new trial, a white jury might sentence him to death this time. Yet on the long shot that Shepherd and Irvin were subsequently acquitted, the attorneys could then seek to reopen Greenlee’s case. Akerman based the appeal on five conditions: widespread publicity that prejudiced the case; lack of sufficient time to prepare an adequate defense; cruel and illegal treatment of the prisoners; failure of the state to prove its case; and absence of blacks on the jury. Three months later, the state justices found no reason to overturn the convictions, writing that “all legal rights of the appellants were ably and thoroughly presented in the lower court.” Though acknowledging that race relations had been strained in Lake County as a result of the crime, the justices asserted that “our study of the record reflects the view that harmony and good will and friendly relations continuously existed between the white and colored races in all other sections of Lake County.” In concluding, the court found that “the inflamed public sentiment was against the crime . . . rather than [the] defendants’ race” and that there was no evidence of any intentional discrimination against blacks in the selection of persons for jury duty.41

Less than one year later, the U.S. Supreme Court unanimously overturned the convictions of Shepherd and Irvin. In a blistering opinion delivered by Robert Jackson, the justices called the pretrial publicity “one of the best examples of one of the worst menaces to American justice.” Jackson found numerous examples of prejudicial influences outside the trial courtroom that warranted a change of venue, including the Orlando Sentinel political cartoon picturing the row of four electric chairs and its report of the alleged confessions of the defendants. Noting that neither the county attorney nor the sheriff had ever repudiated the confessions, Jackson observed that prospective jurors all assumed them to be true. He added that such confessions either did not exist or had been “obtained under circumstances which made [them] inadmissible.” A majority of the seven justices were also prepared to overturn the verdict because no blacks had been included on the jury. But as Justice Jackson pointed out, even if blacks had been allowed to serve on the jury, the pretrial publicity had prevented the defendants from obtaining a fair hearing, and he did not see “how any Negro on the jury would have dared to cause a disagreement or acquittal.”42

Lake County officials denounced the Supreme Court’s decision, and Sheriff McCall commented that “the mere fact that mercy was recommended for Greenlee is proof that the jury was fair and impartial.” Despite the Court’s pronouncement, County Attorney Jesse Hunter did not believe that the merits of his case had been weakened, and he was eager to retry it and obtain another conviction. A former schoolteacher, railroad mail clerk, and self-taught lawyer, the seventy-year-old Hunter was a folksy character with a cracker-barrel wit, whose participation in this celebrated legal affair would climax what had been a very popular public career.43

In November 1951, while the defense submitted a petition for a new trial site and also sought to disqualify Hunter as prosecuting attorney, Sheriff McCall went to Raiford State Prison to transfer Irvin and Shepherd to Tavares for the pretrial hearing. Transporting both prisoners in his automobile, McCall followed Deputy Yates’s patrol car to the county seat. While driving along a back road near his home town of Umatilla, McCall complained to his prisoners that the air in his right front tire was low. He also alleged later that Irvin had asked to relieve himself. As a result, McCall said, he pulled to the side of the road to let Irvin do as he asked, but first instructed Irvin and Shepherd to get out and change the tire, though they remained handcuffed together. When McCall opened the door, he claimed, Shepherd hit him with a flashlight. Fending off Shepherd’s alleged attack, McCall pulled his gun and shot both prisoners, apparently killing them. According to this version, McCall radioed Deputy Sheriff Yates, who went into town after checking with McCall and returned with Hunter and several others. To their surprise, they discovered that, although Shepherd was dead, Irvin was still alive.44
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Samuel Shepherd and Walter Irvin lie alongside the highway after being shot by Sheriff Willis McCall in November 1951. Irvin recovered from his wounds and accused McCall of deliberately trying to kill them. McCall claimed they had tried to overpower him and he had shot in self-defense. AP World Wide.



Despite two serious bullet wounds, Irvin survived and told his lawyers a substantially different story from McCall’s. He claimed under oath that after McCall pulled his car over to the side of the road, he ordered the prisoners from the car and without provocation shot Shepherd and then shot Irvin himself in the upper right chest. Irvin, pretending to be dead, heard McCall mutter, “I got rid of them; killed the sons of bitches.” He then called Yates on his car radio and informed him that the two had “tried to jump me and I did a good job.” When Yates arrived he turned his flashlight on Irvin, who had opened his eyes. “That son of a bitch is not dead, let’s kill him,” Yates shouted. When he pulled the trigger, his revolver misfired. He and McCall examined the gun almost nonchalantly in the automobile headlights, apparently exchanged weapons, and Yates turned and shot Irvin in the neck.45

If McCall at that point chose to practice vigilante justice, why had he saved the two from a lynch mob earlier? Initially McCall may have felt confident that the accused would be sentenced to death, especially after he had extracted confessions from them. Perhaps he believed that a lynching would tarnish his record. When the U.S. Supreme Court overturned the case, however, McCall probably began to have second thoughts. Having promised the lynch mob and local residents that justice would be done, McCall may have decided on the road to Tavares that the circumstances were convenient for him to take summary action. Mabel Norris Reese, editor of the Mount Dora Topic and a strong supporter of McCall prior to the shooting, also claimed that the fruit growers were anxious for the issue to be settled because their black workers were becoming afraid to go to work as the trial approached. McCall may have thought that his action would return the county more quickly to normal.46

A coroner’s inquest into the death of Shepherd and the wounding of Irvin exonerated McCall, praising him for “acting in the line of duty.” The NAACP denounced the verdict and called on Governor Fuller Warren to order the arrest or at least the suspension of McCall. A special investigator appointed by Warren concluded that McCall had not used “maximum precaution” in transporting his prisoners, but he found no evidence of criminal wrongdoing.47 Accordingly, Judge Truman Futch dismissed the grand jury that had been called after the coroner’s inquest. Nevertheless, this inquiry left many questions unresolved. Why had McCall driven the prisoners at night along an out-of-the-way backroad instead of along the main highway? Why did the sheriff transport Irvin and Shepherd alone in his car? Why did McCall have to use deadly force against two men who were handcuffed together? An FBI probe of this shooting revealed no answers to these questions, and Sheriff McCall was never indicted on federal charges.

Despite Judge Futch’s decision to clear McCall, for the first time a number of people began to question whether justice was being served. Mabel Norris Reese doubted the sheriff’s version of the shooting and began reexamining the evidence in the first trial. She deplored the “black mark etched on the night of November 6 by the gun of a man who lost his head.”48 Reese also discovered that Jesse Hunter had developed some misgivings about the case. Before Irvin’s retrial, Hunter offered the defendant a life sentence if he would acknowledge his complicity in the rape. Akerman and Thurgood Marshall, the future U.S. Supreme Court justice, who had replaced Franklin Williams as chief counsel, discussed Hunter’s offer with Irvin, but he insisted on his innocence and refused to negotiate with the county attorney.49


[image: image]

Sheriff Willis McCall checks moonshine in Lake County in 1963. McCall was accused of murdering Samuel Shepherd and seriously wounding Walter Irvin while transporting them to trial in the Groveland case. McCall was subsequently removed by Governor Reubin Askew in the early 1970s for brutality against black prisoners in his custody. Courtesy of the Orlando Sentinel.



The shooting not only embarrassed some of Lake County’s leading citizens but the rest of the United States as well. McCall’s brand of justice sparked an international incident at the height of the cold war. Andrei Vishinsky, the chief Soviet delegate to the United Nations, declared that the United States “had a nerve talking about human rights and upbraiding other nations while Negroes were shot down by an officer of law while in custody.” Though not unmindful of the lack of freedom in the Soviet Union, the NAACP picked up its line of argument. “Samuel Shepherd is no better off for this American hypocrisy,” the organization asserted, “nor are his fifteen million fellow Americans who happen not to be white.”50

The glare of such unfavorable publicity prompted a shift in the course of the litigation. In December 1951 Judge Futch approved a motion by the defense to remove the location of the trial from Lake County. It was rescheduled for Marion County, a curious choice because the sheriff there had been murdered the previous spring by a young black.51

Before the new trial could begin, another act of violence cast a bloody stain on Florida race relations. On Christmas Eve 1951, dynamite blasted the house of Harry T. Moore, the NAACP statewide coordinator, killing him and mortally wounding his wife. Moore had been active in raising funds for the Groveland defendants, and following the shooting of Shepherd and Irvin, he had led a campaign urging Governor Warren to remove McCall from office.52 The NAACP believed Moore’s “death fits into the pattern of terror which has centered around the town of Groveland . . . and advertises to the world that though we preach democracy abroad we cannot practice it at home.”53 Despite a reward offered for the capture of Moore’s killers and an FBI investigation, the murderers were never apprehended.54

The latest outrage, however, did not keep Irvin from his scheduled court appointment. Recovered enough from his wounds to stand trial on February 13, 1952, Irvin watched as his defense counsel sought a change of venue and introduced the results of an Elmo Roper survey showing that residents of Marion County were prejudiced against the defendant. However, Hunter was able to convince Judge Futch that the public opinion poll had attempted to deceive people who were questioned and therefore was biased and unreliable. Futch also refused to suppress the introduction of Irvin’s clothes as evidence, notwithstanding charges by the defense that they had been seized illegally. Mrs. Delilah Irvin, Walter’s mother, told Judge Futch that Deputy Yates had said he was coming for “that black Nigger boy’s clothes” and later warned her that “there may not be no trial.”55

The second trial produced a few surprises. The prosecution’s case relied heavily on the testimony of the Padgetts and Yates as it had the first time, but the defense added two new witnesses to its presentation. The first, Herman V. Bennett, a former law enforcement official for the federal government, stated that the plaster cast of footprints made by Deputy Yates had not been made while Irvin was wearing the shoes in question. The witness pointed out to the jury that footprints would be concave if made by a person standing on a soft spot, but they would be convex, as those in question were, if made by an empty shoe. Attorney Hunter could not shake the testimony, but he did note that this witness was being paid by the defense counsel. The other key witness for the defense was Lawrence Burtoft, the first person to encounter Norma Padgett walking along the road after the original incident. As he stopped his car to offer assistance, she called “Good morning” and asked if she could get a ride to town. Burtoft stated that she seemed calm and unruffled. As he drove her toward town, Mrs. Padgett told Burtoft that “she had been abducted by four Negroes, and said she could not identify them.” He added that “she made no complaint of having been attacked.” During the cross-examination, Burtoft declared he had brought this to Hunter’s attention during the first trial and had been subpoenaed as a witness, but Hunter had not asked him to testify. Irvin once again testified in his own behalf and maintained his innocence.56

Later, during the 1960s, information came to light in another rape case that raised serious doubts about the veracity of Yates’s testimony in the 1950s. In circumstances very similar to those of the Groveland case, Lake County deputies had made a plaster molding of a shoe print that Yates insisted had been taken at the scene of the crime. Testimony revealed, however, that the shoe print had been made by Yates in the sheriff’s office.57

But these revelations were yet to come, and despite the questions raised by the testimony of Bennett and Burtoft, the Marion County jury deliberated only an hour and a half before finding Irvin guilty and recommending a death sentence. The defense immediately filed an appeal, arguing that numerous errors in the trial, especially the unlawful search and seizure of Irvin’s clothes, warranted overturning the verdict. The appeal stood pending before the U.S. Supreme Court for a year until January 1954, when the Court declined to rehear it.58

With Irvin facing the death penalty in November 1954, his lawyers petitioned Governor Charley Johns for clemency. Some white Floridians also joined the campaign to spare Irvin’s life. On its editorial page, the St. Petersburg Times noted the doubts that surrounded the conviction of Irvin and declared: “Both compassion and calm judgement argue for his sentence to be changed to life imprisonment.”59 The Reverend Ben Wyland of the United Churches of St. Petersburg agreed, as did Jesse Hunter, the prosecutor who had won the conviction in the first place.60 Nevertheless, Governor Johns, an outspoken segregationist, denied the petition. The NAACP, however, won a stay from the U.S. Supreme Court just two days before the scheduled execution.

A change in governors finally saved Irvin. As a result of the election in November 1954, LeRoy Collins, a moderate on racial issues, replaced Johns and asked his assistant, Bill Harris, to reexamine the case. Harris found numerous errors in the investigation of the crime. In his report to Collins, Harris emphasized the questionable nature of the plaster cast moldings that Deputy Yates had produced at the first trial. He observed that Yates had testified he did not understand what “integrity of footprints” meant and that several hours had passed before he made a set of the plaster casts. He had also waited several hours before making moldings of the tire tracks. Harris went on to raise questions about the entire inquiry conducted by state and county officials. He noted that no effort was ever made by the state to explain what had happened to Willie Padgett’s wallet or Norma’s perfume, which remained missing since the morning of the alleged rape. Unexplainedly, the prosecution had also failed to introduce medical testimony establishing conclusively that a rape had occurred. On the basis of Harris’s investigation, Governor Collins commuted Walter Irvin’s sentence to life imprisonment, informing the State Pardon Board that Irvin’s guilt had not been established “in an absolute and conclusive manner.”61

Collins’s decision was angrily denounced by Lake County officials. Judge Futch was so upset that he ordered a grand jury investigation of the commutation proceedings. Collins refused to participate in the hearing. The jurors’ report charged that the governor had mistakenly reached the wrong conclusions, but it exonerated him of malfeasance. Feelings still remained high in the county, however. In February 1956, Collins and his wife took part in a parade in Eustis, Florida, when Norma Padgett, escorted by two of McCall’s deputies, approached his car. She yelled at the governor, “You’re the one who let out the nigger that raped me. Would you have done that if it had been your wife?”62

Norma Padgett was not alone in expressing anger against Collins. Sheriff McCall left no doubt about how he felt, viewing the commutation as a threat to the preservation of law and order. He admonished that in the future “all a negro criminal would need to do would be pick out some innocent helpless white woman as a target to satisfy his ravishing sexual desires, keep his mouth shut, proclaim his innocence and let the NAACP furnish the money and lawyers and beat the rap.”63 Seconding the sheriff’s opinion, Herbert S. Phillips predicted the governor’s action would produce dire consequences. In his capacity as U.S. district attorney in 1950, Phillips had failed to obtain an indictment from a federal grand jury investigating McCall for beating the Groveland prisoners in his custody. His sympathies apparently rested with the sheriff rather than the defendants. Six years later, in retirement, he called Collin’s handling of the case “a victory for the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People [that] is bound to encourage lynchings in rape cases.”64

These warnings notwithstanding, the Groveland case gradually drifted from public view in the late 1950s, with the accused staying behind bars despite widespread doubt about their guilt. Greenlee was not paroled until 1962, and Irvin remained incarcerated until 1968, when he was paroled by Claude Kirk, Florida’s first Republican governor in the twentieth century. After his release, Greenlee left the state permanently, settling in Tennessee. Irvin moved to Miami but returned to Lake County for a visit in 1970 and died there of an apparent heart attack. Meanwhile, Sheriff Willis McCall continued in office despite the deaths of three black prisoners in his jail and numerous charges of corruption and abuse of office against him and his deputies. After Governor Reubin Askew suspended McCall for kicking a black prisoner to death, he resigned in 1973.65

Like its predecessor in Scottsboro, Groveland was a “tragedy of the American South.” In both instances, alleged rapes of white women by blacks occurred amidst circumstances that raised serious questions about their guilt and about the fairness of the southern judicial system. Despite the intervening war years and the precedent of the Alabama case, the four black Floridians were presumed guilty once a white woman had identified them as culprits. The interval between Scottsboro and Groveland did not diminish the white southern response to allegations of rape. The crime remained an emotionally charged one. Clearly, the accusation of rape by a white woman against a black man carried a special burden that could not be readily dismissed; the protection of southern white womanhood was held to justify racial control. However questionable in specific cases, the word and sexual morality of southern daughters were considered equally pure. The fear of rape and the threat of menacing blacks provided a potent rationale for keeping all blacks subordinate.66

Without outside intervention, the situation for the surviving Groveland defendants would have been even worse. The NAACP waged a national fund-raising campaign to conduct the defense and assigned some of its best legal talent to plead the case. Along with the Workers Defense League, it gathered information and testimony and extensively publicized the plight of the defendants. Though unsuccessful in the trial courtroom, the NAACP managed to convince the U.S. Supreme Court to overturn the original verdict. When the second trial failed to change the outcome, the NAACP persuaded the high tribunal to issue a stay of execution. However, the civil rights organization was less successful in getting the executive branch in Washington to act forcefully. In response to NAACP protests, the Justice Department and the FBI investigated the violence against the black prisoners and against Harry T. Moore, but they were unwilling or unable to press charges.

Left on its own, the state of Florida would have quickly electrocuted Irvin and Shepherd. Neither all-white juries nor state supreme court justices hesitated to conclude that the defendants had been proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Similarly, when called upon to judge the actions of Sheriff McCall, a coroner’s jury of Lake County residents cleared him of wrongfully killing one prisoner in his custody and seriously wounding another. In the end, only the governor could spare Irvin’s life. Convinced that too many questions remained unanswered, LeRoy Collins issued a reprieve. Nevertheless, it had taken appeals to two governors to gain the reprieve and even Collins acted cautiously. In announcing his decision, the governor emphasized that he was not bowing to outside pressure, and considering it politically expedient, he denounced the NAACP’s handling of the case.67

Like most areas confronting racial conflicts in the postwar South, Lake County intended to preserve white supremacy, legally or otherwise. The old order of lynching may have passed, but as one reporter observed after the second Groveland trial, the “rope and faggot is giving way to the even more deadly and unobtrusive deputations of one or two persons, who do the job with less notoriety and greater impunity.”68 The social changes and ideological battles surrounding World War II and the cold war made little difference to the Lake County officials charged with trying the Groveland case. Attacks by black men upon white women, or even the suspicion of such assaults, could not be tolerated or second-guessed. To do so would pose a challenge to the traditional assumptions governing race relations in the postwar South, assumptions that remained little changed as Florida prosecuted the Groveland case.
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The Pattern of Race Relations in Miami since the 1920s

Raymond A. Mohl

SEVERAL YEARS AGO, in her provocative book on Miami, writer Joan Didion noted with more than a little sarcasm that it was “a city in which black people and white people viewed each other with some discontent.”1 Few would disagree. But it is also worth remembering that it is only three decades since the walls of legal segregation began to crumble in South Florida. Legalized discrimination is now part of the past, and blacks exert a degree of political influence unknown prior to the civil rights legislation of the 1960s. Nevertheless, interracial and interethnic tensions remain high in late-twentieth-century Miami.

The city’s racial and ethnic tension is evident in a variety of contexts. Most blacks, whites, and Hispanics live in racially distinct neighborhoods, a form of de facto residential segregation perpetuating the racial patterns of the past. As in most other large metropolitan areas, the level of black “spatial isolation” in contemporary Miami is quite high. Recent studies have also demonstrated that as a group, blacks in Miami, as elsewhere, remain economically disadvantaged. On most measures of civic and social well-being-schooling, housing, income, occupation, health, crime, government services, and the like—blacks fare poorly compared with whites and with Cubans.2 Police-community relations have suffered as a result of serious racial violence and rioting in the Miami area in 1968, 1980, 1982, and 1989. Moreover, the massive influx of Cuban newcomers after 1959 has raised questions of fairness and equity among blacks, who tended to resent the government support and favoritism displayed toward the Cuban exiles. Thus, even as the civil rights movement of the 1960s ended the official segregation of the Jim Crow era, the legacy of the past lingers uncomfortably on in the Miami region. “You have in South Florida,” as one urban sociologist summed it up early in 1990, “the worst example of black, white, and Hispanic race relations in the country.”3 Little has happened in the Miami area in the past few years that would challenge that judgment.

Ethnic and Racial Diversity

Florida has always had a diverse, multicultural population base. In the 1930s, for instance, researchers on the Florida Writers Project working on ethnic culture and folklore could report that “Florida has a great conglomeration of people hardly equalled anywhere in America.” Cuban exiles in the late nineteenth century and in the 1930s, black migrants from Georgia, black immigrants from the Bahamas, Jews from the Northeast, Italians in Tampa, Greeks in Tarpon Springs—all contributed to Florida’s diverse cultural pattern even before 1940. In particular, the Miami Herald reported in 1939, Miami’s black population was “a melting pot of individuals from virtually every island of the Caribbean, the Bahamas, the cotton belt, Washington, D.C., and Harlem.”4

The new Latin and Caribbean immigration of the past several decades has strengthened those early patterns of cultural, racial, and ethnic diversity. Haitians, Jamaicans, Cubans, Puerto Ricans, Nicaraguans, Colombians, and innumerable other smaller groups of newcomers from the Caribbean basin have revolutionized the demographic structure of South Florida over the past thirty years. The United States historically accommodated and ultimately assimilated (or mostly assimilated) tens of millions of European immigrants in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, before the end of open immigration in the 1920s. This “melting pot” model has not worked well in South Florida, however. Immigrant cultural, linguistic, and familial traditions remain deeply entrenched in South Florida’s ethnic communities. Exile groups such as Cubans, Nicaraguans, and Haitians, in particular, have retained more than a tenuous relationship with their native lands, and they have resisted assimilating forces. For these peoples, some social scientists say, the immigration process has been one of “adjustment without assimilation.” The maintenance of strong ethnic identities has also contributed to powerful interethnic rivalries and conflicts.5

Race, as well as ethnicity, has been a powerfully divisive issue in South Florida. Florida has been a “Deep South” state for much of the twentieth century, and blacks who migrated or immigrated to the South Florida area early in the twentieth century encountered Jim Crow in law and in custom.6 Legal segregation and racial discrimination prevailed in every aspect of life. For South Florida blacks, reality meant residential segregation and substandard housing; it also entailed job discrimination and economic marginality. It often meant that blacks suffered from the white terrorism of the Ku Klux Klan and from brutal treatment at the hands of the local police. It meant that political leaders paid little attention to the needs of black communities, and that government policy-making usually served other groups. This essay explores some of these issues in more detail and discusses the black activism and civil rights efforts that challenged the system of segregation.

Residential Segregation

One legacy of the segregation era has been deeply etched on the urban landscape of South Florida. Residential segregation has achieved a special sort of permanence in the Miami area, stemming partially from the influence of the local real estate industry on the urban land market, and partially as a consequence of the cumulative impact of public policy decisions on racial zoning, annexation, public housing, and highway building. In Miami’s earliest years, for instance, blacks were clustered residentially in a confined, inner-city area known at the time as “Colored Town” and now called Overtown. By 1930, most of Miami’s black population of approximately 25,000 was crowded into an area of about fifty small blocks covered over mostly with shotgun shacks and slum housing. Racial zoning policies kept blacks confined to Overtown and a few other areas of the city.7

Given the nature of race relations in South Florida, shifts in black residential patterns usually were dictated by public policy decisions. By the 1930s, white business leaders were interested in pushing outward the boundaries of the relatively confined downtown business district, at the expense of Miami’s black community. New Deal public housing programs during the Depression decade provided the first such opportunity. A New Deal public housing project for blacks named Liberty Square was completed in 1937 on undeveloped land five miles northwest of the central business district. The city’s white civic elite saw the availability of federal housing funds for this project as an opportunity to push blacks out of the downtown area and permit downtown business expansion.8

Other efforts were under way during the 1930s to achieve the same goal. In 1936, for instance, the Dade County Planning Board proposed a “negro resettlement plan.” The idea was to cooperate with the City of Miami “in removing [the] entire Central Negro town” to three “model negro towns” on the distant agricultural fringes west of Miami. A year later, in a speech to the Miami Realty Board, former Coral Gables developer George Merrick proposed “a complete slum clearance effectively removing every negro family from the present city limits.” The idea of black removal from the central district died hard. In 1945 Miami civic leaders were still discussing “the creation of a new negro village that would be a model for the entire United States.” Although never implemented, slum clearance plans in 1946 called for the removal of Miami blacks from the central area to a distant new housing development west of Liberty City. As late as 1961, the Miami Herald was reporting on new plans to eliminate Overtown to facilitate downtown business expansion.9

These proposals were never implemented, but New Deal housing agencies such as the Home Owners Loan Corporation and the Federal Housing Administration contributed to changing racial patterns. Through their appraisal policies, both agencies “redlined” Miami’s black community and nearby white areas of “transition,” thus hastening the physical decay of the inner-city area. Until the 1950s, the Dade County Planning Board permitted the gradual and “controlled” expansion of black residential areas. In actual practice, the Liberty Square housing project became the center of a new and rapidly growing black ghetto now known as Liberty City. A tacit agreement among city and county officials, real estate developers, and some black leaders designated the northwest area of Miami and Dade County for future black settlement.10
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Aerial view of the Liberty Square housing project, completed in 1937. In the mid-1930s, Miami civic leaders sought to move all blacks outside the Miami city limits. This housing project was conceived as the nucleus of a new and distant black community. White property owners profited from the development of the surrounding land. Courtesy of the Historical Association of Southern Florida, Miami.



Interstate-95 and the Black Community

Liberty City became the nucleus of a new black ghetto, as Miami’s white business leaders of the 1930s had anticipated. But their plans to eliminate Overtown—to move all the blacks out of Miami and beyond the city limits—were still unfulfilled by midcentury. In the late 1950s and early 1960s, the federal interstate highway program provided a new opportunity to tear down the Overtown community and remove the blacks to more distant residential areas on the northwest fringe of the metropolitan area. At the same time, Miami’s white civic leadership perceived the new urban interstate as a massive building project that might revitalize the languishing central business district and permit future expansion and redevelopment.

In retrospect, it is clear that the construction of the interstate highway system had an enormous impact in reshaping the spatial order of urban America. The interstates not only linked far-flung cities but also pierced into their commercial centers. In the process, they destroyed wide swaths of built-up urban land, often uprooting entire communities—usually black or working-class ethnic neighborhoods. A general pattern developed of using highway construction to eliminate “blighted” neighborhoods and to redevelop or “reconvert” valuable inner-city land. In most big cities, the forced relocation of blacks and other low-income urbanites intensified the spatial reorganization of residential neighborhoods that had been underway since the end of World War II. This process of residential movement and change underlay the creation of what historian Arnold R. Hirsch has called, in a study of postwar Chicago, the “second ghetto.”11

The building of Interstate-95 in the Miami area provides a devastating example of the human and social consequences of urban expressway construction. As early as 1956, the Florida State Road Department, in conjunction with local officials and business leaders, routed Interstate-95 directly through Overtown and into downtown Miami. Alternative plans using the FEC Railroad corridor were rejected in order, as the planners stated, to provide “ample room for the future expansion of the central business district in a westerly direction.” When the downtown leg of the expressway was completed in the mid-1960s, it ripped through the center of Overtown, wiping out massive amounts of housing as well as Overtown’s main business district, the commercial and cultural heart of black Miami. One massive expressway interchange alone (I-95 and I-395) took up twenty square blocks of densely settled land and destroyed the housing of about 10,000 people. Some 40,000 blacks had made Overtown home before the interstate came, but less than 8,000 now remain in what is an urban wasteland dominated by the physical presence of the expressway. By the end of the expressway building era, little remained of Overtown to recall its days as a thriving center of black community life, when it was known as the Harlem of the South.12

The Second Ghetto

By the time the Miami expressway system tore through Overtown in the early 1960s, the process of second-ghetto growth had been underway for almost two decades. Liberty City began pushing out its boundaries into nearby white neighborhoods by the mid-1940s, eventually absorbing separate, smaller black communities such as Brownsville, also on Miami’s northwest side. Punctuated by white protest marches, Klan bombings, cross burnings, and racial violence, the process of residential turnover was not an easy one. In August 1945, for instance, two black families crossed the “red line” and purchased homes in a white residential area adjacent to Brownsville. The blacks were harassed by county health, zoning, and police officials and eventually jailed for zoning violations. Once blacks were released on bond, the Ku Klux Klan burned a fiery ten-foot cross in their neighborhood—a warning, a black reporter wrote, “to prevent Negroes from expanding their residential section.” Three months later, the Klan struck again, burning five crosses in the same neighborhood while armed whites drove through the area in cars and trucks. It was a classic second-ghetto confrontation, as tersely reported in the Pittsburgh Courier: “Tension has been mounting in this section . . . for quite some months, as whites started fighting expansion of adjoining Negro sections.” In November 1947, the Klan burned not only a cross but also the homes of two black families that had moved near “the dividing line between the two races.” According to John A. Diaz, the Miami correspondent of the Pittsburgh Courier, these incidents “signalled the beginning of a concerted Ku Klux Klan drive in the neighborhood.” The campaign of intimidation and violence continued in 1948, as fiery Klan crosses illuminated night skies in Miami’s black districts in May, October, and November of that year.13

Racial skirmishing on the frontiers of the ghetto persisted well into the 1950s. The black population of the Miami metropolitan area was increasing rapidly, rising by 31 percent in the 1940s and 111 percent in the 1950s. Hemmed in for decades by race and custom, Miami’s blacks how now pushed out of the inner-city ghetto into new housing areas. Numerous white real estate developers directed the process, buying up large tracts for future black housing and successfully challenging Dade County’s racial zoning ordinance in the Florida courts. City and county officials, by contrast, fought to retain the residential color line in South Florida.14 Similarly, several white neighborhood groups and homeowners associations actively lobbied local government agencies and engaged in protest demonstrations as blacks began to push out of Overtown and Liberty City into nearby areas. Not coincidentally, the Ku Klux Klan experienced a resurgence in the Miami area in the postwar era, as it did throughout the rest of the South.15
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So This Is Miami, 1938. Throughout the 1930s, the Miami Police Department often looked the other way when the Ku Klux Klan made an appearance in Miami. This cartoon makes obvious the apparent connection between the Klan and the police. Originally printed in the Miami Daily News, May 8, 1938.



Second-ghetto tensions flared once more in 1951, when the owners of the Knight Manor apartment complex, a rental property for whites located in Edison Center on the eastern fringes of Liberty City, began renting some apartments to blacks. The Dade County Property Owners Association complained to Governor Fuller Warren that “by vacating white tenants and replacing them with colored tenants,” the owners were disturbing the peace of “a long established white neighborhood.” A local Citizens Action League sprang up “to protect our Southern way of life.” Others complained that “the negro area is to be extended into what has always been a white area.” The Klan injected itself into the controversy, distributing hate literature and organizing white motorcades through the area. Leaving little to the imagination, the Klan torched giant wooden Ks around the black apartment section of Knight Manor.16
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This Nigger Voted, 1939. During the 1939 municipal elections in Miami, blacks registered to vote in unprecedented numbers. The Ku Klux Klan sought to discourage the black vote by hanging effigies such as this one from lampposts in the black community, but to no avail. Originally printed in Life, May 15, 1939.
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Ku Klux Klan highway sign, 1946. The Klan was rejuvenated in Miami after 1945, as cross-burnings and Klan parades became commonplace. This sign on the Dixie Highway welcomed visitors to postwar Miami. Courtesy of the Stetson Kennedy Collection.



A series of dynamite bombings in late 1951 brought the Knight Manor conflict to a head, as militant whites sought to scare off their new black neighbors. Massive dynamite blasts on September 22, on November 30, and again on December 2 left the black section of the complex, which had been renamed Carver Village, virtually unlivable. Jewish synagogues and schools and a Catholic church in Miami were also bombed during this period, suggesting the coordinated work of white hate groups such as the Ku Klux Klan.17
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Ku Klux Klan parade, Miami. Courtesy of the Historical Association of Southern Florida.



Behind the scene, however, other forces were at work in reorganizing the racial characteristics of Miami’s residential space. The owners of Knight Manor, John A. Bouvier and Malcolm B. Wiseheart, were well-known Miami slumlords with investments in Overtown, Coconut Grove, Brownsville, and Liberty City. Bouvier was also a member of the Dade County Zoning Board during this period. Through several real estate development companies, notably South Kingsway Corp. and Fiftieth Street Heights, Inc., Bouvier and Wiseheart were actively buying property in transitional areas for black housing. Edison Center whites believed, apparently with good reason, that the movement of blacks into Knight Manor was the opening wedge for designating the entire area for black residency, with the landowners and realtors profiting immensely. In fact, property transfer records in Miami indicate that Bouvier and Wiseheart had purchased a large amount of vacant land in the Edison Center neighborhood. They were well positioned to profit from any racial transition of the area. Numerous other real estate developers and speculators were engaged in the same process throughout the Miami metropolitan area. As the Carver Village bombings suggest, the efforts of blacks to challenge the residential color line in Miami was a difficult process, punctuated during the 1950s by hostility, racial conflict, and violence. But often managing the process of residential change were real estate people such as Bouvier and Wiseheart.18

The controversy over race and space did not end with the 1950s. In the next two decades, a large and still expanding corridor of black residential housing emerged in the northwest quadrant of Dade County, reaching beyond Liberty City to Opa-locka and Carol City. An extensive housing development in the Bunche Park section of Opa-locka, mostly built in the 1950s by white developers Milton H. Davis and Julius Gaines, set the stage for second-ghetto development in Opa-locka in the 1960s and 1970s. Carol City, an overbuilt white residential area begun in 1954, experienced a high rate of recession-induced mortgage foreclosures, “block-busting” by realtors, and pervasive white flight by the 1960s. The Miami Herald reported in 1971 that the “next ghetto is Carol City.”19

The Carol City story typified the rapid racial turnover of northwest Dade County neighborhoods. The concentration of blacks in this second-ghetto area stemmed from the racial zoning and housing decisions of earlier decades. The outflow of black population from Overtown resulting from expressway construction and other urban redevelopment in the 1960s intensified the racial transformation of Miami’s residential space. Throughout the period, white real estate developers and slumlords were actively managing the process of residential “transition.” The arrival and settlement of about 800,000 Cubans between 1959 and 1980 also shaped the local housing market, effectively limiting the housing choices of blacks displaced from Overtown by redevelopment activities.20

In recent years, urban redevelopment policies in South Florida have begun yet again to redefine areas of black residence. In Miami, urban redevelopment continues to chip away at what is left of Overtown, as city, county, and state office buildings, a new sports arena, high-rise and townhouse housing for middle-class professionals, and innumerable parking lots push into the area. Other black communities in Dade County have faced the same redevelopment pressures. In the black area of Coconut Grove, citizens recently fought off a proposal to build a highway through a historic black residential district. In the only black area of upscale Coral Gables, city commissioners in 1987 proposed a redevelopment plan that would raze and replace multifamily housing with single-family residences, meaning that “some people will have to move out of the area.” In 1985 in northwest Dade County, middle-class blacks in the Crestview, Lake Lucerne, and Rolling Oaks Estates subdivisions unsuccessfully fought against the construction of the new Joe Robbie football stadium, which they claimed would destroy their neighborhoods.21

Thus, black residential patterns in South Florida continue to shift in response to governmental decision making and land market factors. Usually these changes have reinforced historic patterns of residential segregation throughout the South Florida area. The consequence, as several sociological studies have demonstrated, was that between 1940 and 1960 Miami had the highest degree of residential segregation among more than one hundred large American cities. This was not a racial pattern that happened by accident, but one that reflected the controlled expansion of black residential areas throughout that entire period. Miami’s “index of residential segregation” has improved modestly since 1960 compared with other southern cities. Nevertheless, in 1980 and again in 1990, after thirty years of civil rights activism in urban America, Miami still ranked in the high range, compared with other large metropolitan areas, in the extent of black residential segregation.22

The city’s segregated black ghettos had also become slums. Reports by the Greater Miami Urban League in 1953 and 1954, for example, confirmed what most blacks already knew. Slum housing conditions were pervasive in most Miami-area black communities. Density was extremely high—as much as 1,000 percent higher for some black neighborhoods than for whites generally. Overcrowded apartments, excessive rents, inadequate plumbing, deteriorating buildings, few municipal services, and rampant public health and social problems characterized black Miami in the 1950s. A third Urban League report issued ten years later revealed little improvement in housing and social conditions. Black housing in Miami, according to Urban League researcher James W. Morrison, was twice as crowded and ten times more dilapidated than that of whites in 1960.23
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Slum housing, 1950. Using dramatic posters such as this one, Miami housing reformers led by Elizabeth Virrick successfully pushed slum-clearance and public-housing ordinances through a local referendum in 1950. Courtesy of the Elizabeth Virrick Papers.



In an effort to address these problems, some Miami area social activists initiated housing reform for blacks as early as the post-World War II period. For instance, in the late 1940s, a black Baptist preacher named Edward T. Graham led the Negro Service Council, the Miami Urban League affiliate at the time, in pushing for federal action for housing and social reform in Miami.24 Similarly, the biracial Coconut Grove Citizens’ Committee for Slum Clearance was organized in 1948 under the leadership of local civic activist Elizabeth Virrick. Working with black community leaders, such as the Reverend Theodore Gibson, an Episcopal priest, Virrick launched a vigorous movement against Miami slumlords and for improved housing and social conditions in the black section of Coconut Grove. By the 1950s, Virrick’s group expanded its scope of action to Overtown and Liberty City, successfully guiding passage of referenda on public housing and urban renewal issues.25 But governmental inaction, public inertia, and virulent opposition from the local real estate industry meant that the Virrick housing reform group achieved only minor improvements in a few isolated places. Meanwhile, the slum and the ghetto expanded apace at the end of the segregation era.

Economic Discrimination

Historically, blacks in South Florida have also faced a substantial degree of economic discrimination, particularly in the local job market. Blacks in South Florida had historically been concentrated in unskilled, agricultural, heavy labor, and domestic jobs. A small professional and entrepreneurial group served the black community, but this sector was too small to provide jobs for many blacks. Job discrimination was the order of the day. In the 1920s, Miami had ordinances prohibiting black skilled artisans and tradesmen from working in white neighborhoods. The city of Miami was still enforcing this ordinance in the 1940s. A 1953 Miami Urban League survey of thirty-seven large private firms employing more than 12,000 workers revealed that only one black among those served in a supervisory position, and “possibly” only one—a chef—held a skilled position. Few labor unions in South Florida admitted black laborers or craftsmen.26

Job discrimination extended to the public sector, as well. No blacks were hired for the police force until the mid-1940s, when a completely segregated black police unit was created to patrol Overtown; this segregated police unit continued to function into the 1950s. As late as 1953, there were no black firemen in Miami. About 850 blacks worked for the city of Miami in 1953, and about 500 for Dade County, but almost all of these municipal workers were employed in laboring, custodial, and service positions. Blacks composed 16 percent of the Dade County teaching force, but all served in black schools, and job discrimination kept them from promotion within the school system. In the 1940s, the Negro Service Council, which later became the Miami branch of the Urban League, began pushing local businesses and government agencies to hire black workers, but with little success. Racial discrimination in employment remained a deeply ingrained tradition in this part of the Deep South at the end of the segregation era. Indeed, as one scholar has noted, Florida by the mid-1950s “retained nearly all the Jim Crow aspects of the Deep South. . . . Floridians were segregated in schools, churches, public facilities, job opportunities, and almost all other significant ways.”27

The discriminatory job pattern continued even as the civil rights movement got underway. The Greater Miami Urban League, in its 1962 report, documented the economic disadvantages suffered by Miami area blacks. Inadequate education and racial discrimination in employment condemned most blacks to low-income jobs as unskilled laborers, service workers, and domestic servants. Black unemployment also surpassed that of white Miamians by a considerable margin. Consequently, the median income level for Miami blacks was about half that of whites in 1960.28

A separate study by the Florida Council on Human Relations, also published in 1962, painted an equally stark picture of the economic prospects for blacks in South Florida. Despite a few success stories, the council reported that in the Miami area “the great majority of Negroes work as garbage collectors, cooks, kitchen helpers, porters, maids, bellboys, elevator operators, household domestics, dry cleaning pressers, and helpers in the construction trades.” In Broward and Palm Beach counties, blacks were also heavily concentrated in low-wage service, agricultural, and unskilled labor jobs. African Americans in South Florida seemed permanently lodged at the bottom of the region’s economic structure as the civil rights movement began. Moreover, little had changed by the end of the 1960s, when a Miami Herald report noted that job opportunities for Miami blacks were “still severely limited.” The Herald also suggested that black aspirations exceeded available opportunities in South Florida—a consequence of the civil rights movement that had ominous implications during a decade of intense racial violence.29

White Terrorism and Black Response

Residential segregation and job discrimination had become central elements in the pattern of race relations in South Florida by midcentury. Harassment, violence, and terrorism against blacks by such white groups as the military, the Ku Klux Klan, and the Miami Police Department had also become part of the order of the day. During the Spanish-American War of 1898, some of the 7,000 soldiers stationed in Miami “invaded the colored settlement and terrorized the negroes,” apparently simply “to keep up the excitement” of wartime. A few years later, in 1908, after police killings of Bahamians in Miami and Key West, a British consular official reported that “it is a common occurrence for negroes to be shot” by police while evading arrest. In Florida, he wrote, “the killing of a man for practically no reason whatever is a common occurrence.”30

Blacks in South Florida resisted white supremacy and white terrorism in a variety of ways. In 1919, for example, Miami blacks formed the militant Negro Uplift Association to protest routine police invasions of black neighborhoods and to demand better treatment.31 The black nationalist ideology of Marcus Garvey, in particular, had great appeal in South Florida. By 1921, Garvey’s Universal Negro Improvement Association (UNIA) had about 1,000 members in Miami and another 700 in Key West. According to an agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation in Miami, most of the UNIA members in Miami were Bahamians, who “bitterly resent[ed] the color line as drawn in Florida.” A resurgent white racism in Miami threatened racial peace, according to this federal agent, and Miami blacks apparently were arming themselves in defense. Mass meetings sponsored by the UNIA in Miami in 1927 brought eight hundred new members to the organization, and a black reporter for Garvey’s Negro World noted that “Garveyism is spreading like wild fire down here in Miami.” As many as 3,000 blacks gathered at one big UNIA meeting in 1927, reflecting the widespread support for the organization in Miami’s black community, but the movement also suffered internal divisions that blunted its effectiveness.32 Despite black flirtation with Garveyite nationalism in the 1920s, white terrorism continued without any serious interference from, and sometimes with the participation of, the local police.

The ubiquitous pattern of police harassment of blacks in South Florida communities persisted for decades. One recent study has demonstrated that Miami police killed blacks at an extremely high rate during the 1920s. In 1928 Miami’s police chief himself was indicted for ordering the 1925 beating and murder of a black hotel worker. Although ultimately acquitted, Chief H. Leslie Quigg was dismissed as chief because he had condoned rampant police brutality. But Quigg’s removal brought little change; in fact, Quigg was back as Miami’s police chief by the end of the 1930s. In the 1940s, according to one black professional man, the Miami police were “full of intolerance, bigotry, and sadism. . . . These policemen liked to see blood run; they were overly aggressive.” Another black leader in Miami reported that “our police protection consisted of a reign of brutality. Beatings and killings by the white police officers were common place.” A third black Miamian in the 1940s portrayed white policemen as “trigger happy”—“there was a great deal of promiscuous killing, and they had no respect for Negro life at all.”33 Actor Sidney Poitier, who arrived in Miami from the Bahamas in 1943 as a fifteen-year-old, wrote in his autobiography, This Life, “I decided that Miami wasn’t so good for me when I began to run into its not so subtle pattern of racism.” The Miami police played a powerful role in maintaining the color line through midcentury.34

In response to police violence, blacks armed themselves, eventually posing such a potential threat that white policemen were characterized by one black leader as “insecure and afraid” and rarely entered black neighborhoods. By the early 1940s, only two police officers at a time, riding in a patrol car, were assigned to Overtown to provide police protection for a community of about 40,000 people. White police entered the area only when actual crimes had been reported, but they were reluctant to patrol black neighborhoods on a regular basis as they did in white communities—a pattern that had long been commonplace in the urban South. Ultimately, the dangers posed to white officers patrolling black areas led to the creation of an entirely separate black police unit in Miami in 1944.35

Although blacks may have exercised some degree of control within their segregated communities, they faced white hostility and terrorism whenever they ventured beyond the color line. Poitier’s encounters with police, for instance, all came while he was working or traveling outside the black community. On matters of race relations, the Miami police differed little from the Ku Klux Klan. Both adhered strongly to white supremacy, and both used violence and terrorism to maintain Jim Crow segregation. With about 1,500 members in Miami during the mid-1920s, and with about 30,000 members statewide by the 1930s, the Ku Klux Klan acted with impunity throughout the Depression decade. As one black writer cynically noted of Miami during that period, “The Ku Klux Klan had begun to subsidize the sheet industry.” The Klan’s Imperial Wizard in the late 1930s and early 1940s, James A. Colescott, devoted considerable attention to organizing activities in Florida. Between 1939 and 1942, for example, the Klan’s monthly paper, The Fiery Cross, focused on Colescott’s speaking tours in Florida and the Klan’s membership drives in the Sunshine State. By the early 1940s, two separate KKK klaverns, along with women’s auxiliaries, had sprouted in Miami.36

The Klan adopted a low profile during World War II, partially because it faced charges of federal tax evasion. But it roared back to life in Miami after 1945. Imperial Wizard Colescott, a veterinarian in Atlanta, retired to Miami after the war. It was no coincidence that the KKK in Miami resurfaced at about the same time. Cross burnings periodically flamed over the next decade as blacks began crossing the color line into new residential areas. By 1946, Miami’s John B. Gordon Klan No. 5, named after a Confederate general, welcomed travelers to the city with several huge billboards at the city limits. As was true in Atlanta and other southern cities, the Klan drew membership from the Miami police department, which helps to explain the absence of police during cross burnings and the vigorous police enforcement of the color line.37

The Ku Klux Klan remained dangerously active in Florida throughout the 1950s, when segregation was coming under increasing attack. In 1951, as noted earlier, the Klan organized the bombing of Carver Village, as well as the murder of Harry T. Moore, state NAACP president, who had organized the Florida Progressive Voters League and conducted voter registration drives among blacks in Miami and elsewhere in Florida.38 By 1952, the Florida Klan’s Grand Dragon, Bill Hendrix, announced the formation of the American Confederate Army, a group “sworn to uphold segregation by force.” Bombings of schools, churches, and synagogues in Miami, Jacksonville, and other cities occurred as late as 1958. A “Confederate Underground” took credit for the 1958 bombings; its leaflets promised “Regular bombings . . . Negroes and Jews our Specialty.”39 Even more insidiously, the Klan wrapped itself in the mantle of true patriotism and anticommunism during the McCarthy period of the 1950s, tarnishing the NAACP and civil rights groups as dangerously left-wing and un-American. The White Citizens’ Council movement also had its advocates in the Miami area, especially as the school integration issue heated up in the mid-1950s. These groups, which claimed 15,000 members in Miami, distributed segregationist and anti-Semitic literature, resisted school integration, and generally stirred racial hatred. For the Klan and those with Klan mentalities, white terrorism and Red-baiting propaganda went hand in hand.40
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The dynamited Knight Manor Apartment in Miami, 1951. When blacks began moving into the white apartment complex in 1951, the Klan responded with dynamite attacks on three separate occasions. Courtesy of the Florida State Archives.



The Political Context

African Americans in South Florida found little solace in the political system. For much of the twentieth century, Florida politicans have held firmly to the color line. Segregation and white supremacy were enforced not just through the terrorism of the Ku Klux Klan but also through the political decision-making process in the state legislature and in city and county governments. Prior to the 1950s, blacks made little political progress in the Miami area. The state poll tax (repealed by the Florida legislature in 1937), the white primary system (outlawed by the U.S. Supreme Court in 1944), and other, later registration restrictions and voting procedures, such as at-large elections, effectively excluded blacks from the political process for many decades.41

Miami blacks generally remained politically quiescent during the segregation era, except in some local city elections. In the early 1930s, a few Miami blacks paid poll taxes and sought to vote in Democratic primaries, but they were often harassed by the Klan and turned away from the polls by voting officials. Only a handful regularly voted, as one black Miamian reported to the NAACP, “when conditions are favorable.” Miami had a nonpartisan city commission, so the white primary did not apply. As early as 1939, however, with the poll tax gone, Miami blacks began organizing politically and voting regularly in city elections. Sam B. Solomon, who headed Miami’s Negro Citizens Service League at the time, spearheaded a voter registration campaign among blacks, eventually registering about 1,500 blacks for the May 1939 city commission primary election. With Solomon and other black leaders pressing the need for better municipal services in the black community, Miami blacks voted in record numbers.42

This display of black political activism was not without its costs. On election eve in May 1939, the Ku Klux Klan organized a massive downtown rally, followed by a Klan motorcade through black neighborhoods; some of the seventy-five cars and trucks in the motorcade had thick hangman’s nooses dangling menacingly from their windows. The Klan burned twenty-five crosses at one-block intervals in the black district and hung black effigies from lampposts, labeled “This Nigger Voted.” Leaflets were distributed with an ominous KKK warning: “Respectable negro citizens are not voting tomorrow. Niggers stay away from the polls.” Suggesting the links between the Klan and the Miami police, the Miami Herald comented on “the absence of policemen from the scene during the Klan’s night parade through the heart of the negro section.” Blacks remained undeterred, however, and challenged the Klan with an unprecedented voter turnout.43

White supremacists in Florida were alarmed over black political participation. Within a week of the 1939 election, white political leaders sought to add a white primary rule to the Miami city charter and thus prevent blacks from voting.44 Later in the year, a proposed Miami charter “reform” that would have replaced at-large elections with a district system was defeated, partially because of white fears that at least one of the new districts would have a majority black population. As one writer noted in the Miami Herald, under the new district system, “You are sure to have at least one negro councilman and you might have two. Do the people of Miami want that?” Advocates of the charter reform promised to amend the district boundaries so that there would be “absolutely no possibility of a negro ever being elected to the city commission under any circumstances.” But it was too late. The injection of the racial issue into the charter-reform debate dictated the outcome, as Miami voters clung to white supremacy by more than a four-to-one margin. These incidents in 1939 set the stage for the racial politics of the next two decades, as Florida politicians persistently sought to deter blacks from voting and to “preserve the purity of the ballot.”45

With only a few exceptions, Florida’s political leaders through the 1960s strongly supported segregation and black political exclusion. Running successfully for the U.S. Senate in 1950, Miami’s George Smathers typically blasted a black voter registration drive in Florida as a “dangerous invasion of carpetbaggers” and insinuated that his opponent, Claude Pepper, was a Communist. Smathers successfully ran, one scholar has written, “a nigger- and red-baiting” campaign against Pepper. Florida’s twentieth-century governors enthusiastically supported white supremacy, even after the barriers of segregation began falling in the mid-1950s. Only LeRoy Collins, first elected governor in 1954, followed a more moderate path on race relations. During the period from 1954 to 1960, he abandoned his support of segregation and came to advocate a program of racial justice for blacks.46

At the local level, county and municipal officials throughout Florida held firmly to the color line during the 1950s. One Dade County legislator, John B. Orr, however, spoke out often against segregation as “repugnant to our great democratic principles” and voted against every segregation measure before the Florida House of Representatives in 1956. But Orr was atypical. The white supremacist views of the Ku Klux Klan retained widespread support in Florida well past midcentury.47 Some white liberal and leftist groups—the Anti-Defamation League, the American Jewish Congress, the National Conference of Christians and Jews, and the Civil Rights Congress, among others—were actively promoting better race relations in South Florida as early as the late 1940s, but these groups had little impact in the years before the civil rights movement. In fact, left-wing groups such as the Civil Rights Congress were targeted for harassment and eventually driven underground by the Klan, the Miami police, and the FBI. Black voter registration drives in South Florida, promoted by the Greater Miami Urban League, the Congress of Racial Equality, and the NAACP, picked up steam at the end of the 1950s, but as late as 1962, not a single black held elective public office anywhere in the state of Florida.48

The Civil Rights Movement

The civil rights era for blacks in Florida began in the mid-1950s. The 1954 U.S. Supreme Court decision outlawing school segregation, of course, was a turning point in race relations in South Florida, as elsewhere. But school desegregation was implemented very slowly in Florida. Dade County voluntarily integrated its schools in 1959 but only in token fashion. After much preliminary study, the Orchard Villa School in Miami admitted four black students when school opened in the fall of 1959, but the neighborhood was already in the midst of rapid racial transition. By the end of the school year in 1960, most of the whites had already moved from the Orchard Villa neighborhood. Liberal critics at the time described as “phony” the school board’s public embracement of desegregation. The fact was that deeply imbedded patterns of housing segregation in the Miami area produced a form of de facto school segregation that continued for many decades.49

Despite the slow pace of school integration, the barriers of racial segregation in South Florida had begun to fall by the end of the 1950s. Legal challenges by the NAACP, economic pressure by the Urban League, and militant activism by the Congress of Racial Equality (CORE) began to produce results. Local black activists and white liberals, especially Jewish liberals, worked together to challenge the color line. Several Miami Beach hotels and restaurants, generally those owned by Jews, desegregated as early as 1956, when they accommodated 15,000 black delegates to an African Methodist Church convention. Voter registration drives among South Florida blacks, particularly those led by CORE between 1958 and 1964, brought a new sense of empowerment.50 The civil rights legislation of the mid-1960s speeded the end of Jim Crow, as white politicians began to solicit black votes and a few blacks were elected to city and county commissions and to the state legislature. In Miami, voters sent a black woman, Athalie Range, to the city commission in 1967, and she was succeeded in the 1970s by black activist clergymen Edward T. Graham and Theodore R. Gibson.51

Many political and social gains came as the result of persistent black activism. As early as 1945, for instance, Miami blacks led by Edward T. Graham of the Negro Service Council successfully conducted a “wade-in” on Miami Beach, demanding beach access to the Atlantic Ocean for the first time.52 By the early 1960s, new black wade-ins signaled the demand for integrated beaches. Black activists from the Fort Lauderdale NAACP also conducted wade-ins in 1961, successfully integrating public beaches in Broward County.53 Black activism brought integration in other areas as well. The Urban League facilitated the integration of the medical staff at Miami’s Jackson Memorial Hospital in 1952. The Miami NAACP threatened a bus boycott in 1956, following a successful transit boycott in Tallahassee, and eventually used legal challenges to end the Miami Transit Company’s segregated bus system in 1957.54

The civil rights movement in South Florida moved to a new level in April 1959, when the Miami affiliate of the Congress of Racial Equality conducted its first lunch-counter sit-ins in downtown “five and dime” stores. CORE targeted Miami for direct action as early as 1958, sending field operatives to the city and conducting “action institutes” in 1959 and 1960. As CORE executive secretary James R. Robinson put it in a letter to a Miami activist, “I have been interested in Miami because it is strategic and yet basically not so intolerant as most cities of the Deep South; it is South of the South and could play an important role from that side.” CORE’S 1959 Miami sit-ins, or “testings” as they were called, did not produce immediate results, but the power of direct action had been demonstrated. Over the next two years, CORE’S nonviolent direct action successfully integrated downtown lunch counters, restaurants, hotels, and theaters.55 The relative ease of the desegregation process, as compared with that in other southern cities, owed much to behind-the-scene negotiations among business leaders, black representatives such as Gibson and Graham, and state and city officials, particularly Miami Mayor Robert King High. Mayor High and Governor Collins were both heavily involved in negotiating the end of segregated public facilities in South Florida in 1960.56
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After successful bus boycotts in Montgomery, Alabama, and Tallahassee, Florida, the Miami NAACP used legal challenges to force the desegregation of transit in Miami. Here, the Reverend Theodore Gibson of the Miami NAACP sits at the front of the bus after transit service became integrated in 1957-Courtesy of the Historical Association of Southern Florida, Miami.



There were other gains, too. A CORE-sponsored economic boycott of local supermarkets that refused to hire blacks ended successfully in 1960. Black activists in the Urban League and the NAACP integrated Dade County beaches, parks, swimming pools, and golf courses by 1960. In Broward County, the Fort Lauderdale NAACP picketed and boycotted supermarkets, department stores, and utility companies to open up employment for blacks. Because of the heavy in-migration of northerners, white resistance to desegregation was weaker in South Florida by the 1960s than elsewhere in the state, but blacks had to march, picket, boycott, demonstrate, litigate, speak out, sit-in, stand-in, kneel-in, wade-in, and use their collective economic and political clout to banish Jim Crow.57

Blacks and Hispanics

The civil rights movement thus held out some hope to the South Florida black community by the early 1960s. In the Miami area, however, the civil rights movement coincided with the Cuban Revolution of 1959 and the subsequent exile migration to South Florida. Some have argued, in fact, that the Cuban migration short-circuited the economic, political, and social gains blacks were making elsewhere in the civil rights era. The exile “invasion,” as it increasingly came to be called in the 1960s, touched off thirty years of competition and conflict between blacks and Hispanics over jobs, residential space, government services, and political power in the South Florida area.58

The subsequent economic and political success of the Cubans contributed to a pervasive sense of powerlessness, resentment, and despair in black Miami. Often penniless on arrival, many Cuban immigrants moved at first into the low-paying service jobs traditionally held by blacks, particularly in tourist hotels and restaurants in Miami and Miami Beach. They also competed with black workers in the garment industry, construction, and other areas of blue-collar employment. In 1963, Ebony magazine wrote that “the economic penetration of the refugees is now universal,” creating serious social and economic problems for the black community. By the early 1960s, the Greater Miami Urban League noted unhappily that blacks were “systematically being pushed out of [jobs] to make room for Cubans.” Similarly, the Miami branch of the NAACP protested in 1965 to Governor Haydon Burns over the “economic oppression” created by the Cuban exile migration. Donald W. Jones of the NAACP also complained about job competition to Florida’s U.S. Senator George A. Smathers, hinting of “inevitable friction” between Miami blacks and the Cuban newcomers. African Americans in Miami, Jones wrote, were tired of being the “sacrificial lamb,” offered up by the government “for the extension of freedom and democracy to refugees from another land.” In 1965, a Dade County representative to the Florida legislature warned that the continuing Cuban influx was “creating a powder keg that could blow at any moment.” By the end of the 1960s, of course, Miami’s black community had exploded in racial violence. Close observers attributed Miami’s 1968 race riot in part to economic competition with the new Cuban exiles.59
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Overtown shotgun houses, ca. 1960. Miami’s inner-city community of Overtown was covered with small “shotgun” houses such as these until the urban renewal and highway building of the late 1950s and 1960s ripped the neighborhood apart. From the Miami Herald, ca. 1960.
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Aerial view of Interstate-95 Downtown Interchange. The construction of the interstate highway system provided a new opportunity to destroy Overtown and force blacks to more distant neighborhoods. This massive I-95 interchange, completed in the mid-1960s, sprawled over twenty square blocks and destroyed the housing of about 10,000 people. Courtesy of the Florida Department of Transportation, Tallahassee.



During the 1960s and 1970s, as earlier Cubans moved upward economically and professionally, newer exiles from Cuba and elsewhere in Latin America took their places at the bottom end of the Miami economy. Over time, Hispanics replaced blacks in the low-wage service economy where they had formerly predominated. Despite the area’s growing economy over three decades, blacks have remained on the economic margins, with poverty-level incomes, high levels of unemployment, and little economic opportunity. “By all social indicators,” the U.S. Civil Rights Commission reported in 1982, “blacks have been excluded from the economic mainstream in Miami.” Despite the gains of the civil rights era, the commission contended, “generations of explicit and race-based employment discrimination have left a legacy that continues to infect the labor market.”60

The Cuban exiles have also been energetic entrepreneurs, having a dramatic impact on business activity in the South Florida area. It is now clear that the Cuban exiles created a self-sufficient “enclave economy,” one entirely separate from the mainstream white business community and separate as well from the peripheral black minority economy.61 Some evidence suggests that Cuban entrepreneurial success often came at the expense of black-owned businesses. For example, blacks owned 25 percent of all the gas stations in Dade County in 1960. By 1979, black ownership of service stations had dropped to 9 percent, while Hispanic stations numbered 48 percent of the total. Cuban business formation was aided substantially by almost $50 million in loans from the federal Small Business Administration between 1968 and 1980, while black businesspeople in the Miami area received a miniscule amount by comparison.62 The emerging Cuban enclave economy absorbed hundreds of thousands of Hispanic newcomers over the years, but did little to advance the economic position of the black community. As writer David Rieff recently put it, “The blacks were frozen out” by the Cubans, who “saw no particular reason to have to assume the burden of America’s historical obligation to black people.”63

*   *   *

Race relations in the South Florida area, particularly in Miami, remain in severe disarray, despite the racial reforms of the 1960s. Black resentment continues to fester over the economic success of the Cubans, their dominance of the job and housing markets, their newly developed political power, and the preferential treatment they have received from government. Other issues such as police harassment and violence, or the perception of police violence, in the ghetto combined to produce racial explosions that have symbolized Miami race relations since 1968. Behind these overt incidents lie thirty years of ethnic and racial competition between South Florida’s blacks and their new Hispanic neighbors from the Caribbean basin. The persistent failure of the system to deliver often-promised social and economic improvements—better housing, improved schools, job training, better services—has kept blacks in Miami and elsewhere in South Florida on the edge of rage and despair. When the Miami city commission, dominated by three Hispanic commissioners, snubbed the visiting Nelson Mandela in 1990, few Miami blacks were surprised.64

The civil rights movement, especially as it gained strength in the late 1950s, seriously challenged the legal and social bases of the Jim Crow society for the first time, but even the gains of the civil rights movement have been transitory. Blacks now have some political power, but housing and schooling remain mostly segregated. New immigrants to Florida, such as the Cubans and other Hispanics, have been successful economically, while blacks seem confined to menial jobs. Since Miami’s first ghetto riot in 1968, black discontent and despair have boiled to the surface on numerous occasions. For much of this century, government policy and decision-making have had a profound impact on the role and position of blacks in South Florida. Activism in the black community has periodically produced positive change, but government at varied levels often has responded more readily to countervailing pressures from land developers, real estate interests, white community organizations, and new immigrant political and economic pressure groups.

As the twentieth century draws to a close, it seems clear that racial change is a slow process. Indeed, the historical record suggests that only persistent black activism or significant shifts in government policy will produce lasting change. The 1992 federal court decision throwing out the Dade County at-large election system will empower blacks as never before in the Miami metropolitan area; the implementation of the new district election system ultimately may produce positive changes at the local level similar to those of the civil rights revolution of the 1960s.65 Yet few black residents are satisfied with the state of race relations in South Florida today, and much remains to be accomplished before the legacy of racism is completely overcome.
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Single 43 (79.6) 8 9.4) 29 (26.8)
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Divorced 0 0 1 (0.9)
Unknown 0 8 (9.4) _6 (5.5)

Total 54 (100.0) 85 (100.0) 108  (100.0)
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Skilled 24 (8.2) 60 (11.5) 158 (18.9)
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Domestic service _ﬁ (24.7) ﬁ (21.6) ﬁ (22.5)
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Year Total White Black

1900 528,542 297,333 230,730
1910 752,619 443,634 308,669
1920 968,470 638,153 329,487
1925 1,263,549 854,585 401,733
1930 1,468,211 1,035,205 431,828
1935 1,606,842 1,139,063 463,205
1940 1,897,414 1,381,986 514,198
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1950 2,771,305 2,166,051 603,101
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Year Male Female Total

1900 120,199 110,531 230,730
1910 161,362 147,307 308,669
1920 167,156 162,331 329,487
1930 215,148 216,680 431,828
1940 252,799 261,399 514,198
1950 293,137 309,964 603,101
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Industry 1870 1880 1887

Civic/

professional 4 (1.3) 18 (3.4) 27 (3.2)
Business/

artisan 6 (2.0 52 (10.0) 122 (14.6)
Railroad 1 0.3) 36 (6.9) 114 (13.7)
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First First
White Black

State Institution Patients  Patients

Alabama Partlow State School for Mental 1919 1947
Defectives, Tuscaloosa

Florida Florida Farm Colony for Epileptic 1921 1953
and Feeble-Minded, Gainesville

Georgia Georgia Training School for 1921 1951
Mental Defectives, Gracewood

Kentucky State Institution for the 1860 1887
Feeble-Minded, Frankfort

Louisiana State Colony and Training School, 1922 1922
Alexandria

Mississippi  Ellisville State School, Ellisville 1923 1951

North Caswell Training School, Kinston 1914 1948

Carolina

South State Training School, Clinton 1920 1950

Carolina

Tennessee State Home & Training School for 1923 1953
Feeble-Minded Persons, Donelson

Virginia Lynchburg State Colony, Colony 19141 1961
Petersburg State Colony, Petersburg 1961 19392
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TEN DOLLARS REWARD.

AN AWAY from the sub-
scriber, a Negro man na-
med Charles, and a Negro wo-
man named Dorcas. The man
is about forty years old, and
the woman thirty-eight. The
man is.very black—about five
feet nine inches in height,—
with the African marks on his face of his na-
tive countty. The woman is about five feet
nime incltes, and rather thick set. Any per-
son returning them shall receive the above
reward. HENRY W. MAXEY.

Cedar Point, March 4. 1wl0
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Occupation

Office Black White
Mayor Dray proprietor Lawyer
Brick manufacturer
Merchant
Tax collector Blacksmith Merchant
Furniture dealer
Tax assessor Carpenter Merchant
Clerk
Treasurer Clerk Real estate agent
Alderman Laborer Laborer
Carpenter Carpenter-builder
Stevedore Contractor
Clerk Clerk
Retail grocer Retail grocer
Brakeman Brakeman
Butcher Painter
Bricklayer

Railroad worker
Drayman
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Office Black White Unknown
Mayor 1 6 0
Marshal 6 0 0
Tax collector 6 0 0
Tax assessor 1 3 2
Treasurer 4 1 0
Alderman 37 14 5
Clerk 5 0 1
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